

UNIVERSITAT DE BARCELONA

Mouse model of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders according to two human alcohol drinking patterns and the role of epigallocatechin gallate in their prevention. Epigallocatechin gallate bioavailability study in humans

Laura Almeida Toledano

ADVERTIMENT. La consulta d'aquesta tesi queda condicionada a l'acceptació de les següents condicions d'ús: La difusió d'aquesta tesi per mitjà del servei TDX (**www.tdx.cat**) i a través del Dipòsit Digital de la UB (**diposit.ub.edu**) ha estat autoritzada pels titulars dels drets de propietat intel·lectual únicament per a usos privats emmarcats en activitats d'investigació i docència. No s'autoritza la seva reproducció amb finalitats de lucre ni la seva difusió i posada a disposició des d'un lloc aliè al servei TDX ni al Dipòsit Digital de la UB. No s'autoritza la presentació del seu contingut en una finestra o marc aliè a TDX o al Dipòsit Digital de la UB (framing). Aquesta reserva de drets afecta tant al resum de presentació de la tesi com als seus continguts. En la utilització o cita de parts de la tesi és obligat indicar el nom de la persona autora.

ADVERTENCIA. La consulta de esta tesis queda condicionada a la aceptación de las siguientes condiciones de uso: La difusión de esta tesis por medio del servicio TDR (**www.tdx.cat**) y a través del Repositorio Digital de la UB (**diposit.ub.edu**) ha sido autorizada por los titulares de los derechos de propiedad intelectual únicamente para usos privados enmarcados en actividades de investigación y docencia. No se autoriza su reproducción con finalidades de lucro ni su difusión y puesta a disposición desde un sitio ajeno al servicio TDR o al Repositorio Digital de la UB. No se autoriza la presentación de su contenido en una ventana o marco ajeno a TDR o al Repositorio Digital de la UB (framing). Esta reserva de derechos afecta tanto al resumen de presentación de la tesis como a sus contenidos. En la utilización o cita de partes de la tesis es obligado indicar el nombre de la persona autora.

WARNING. On having consulted this thesis you're accepting the following use conditions: Spreading this thesis by the TDX (**www.tdx.cat**) service and by the UB Digital Repository (**diposit.ub.edu**) has been authorized by the titular of the intellectual property rights only for private uses placed in investigation and teaching activities. Reproduction with lucrative aims is not authorized nor its spreading and availability from a site foreign to the TDX service or to the UB Digital Repository. Introducing its content in a window or frame foreign to the TDX service or to the UB Digital Repository is not authorized (framing). Those rights affect to the presentation summary of the thesis as well as to its contents. In the using or citation of parts of the thesis it's obliged to indicate the name of the author.



Mouse model of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders according to two human alcohol drinking patterns and the role of epigallocatechin gallate in their prevention. Epigallocatechin gallate bioavailability study in humans.

Thesis submitted by Laura Almeida Toledano in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy from University of Barcelona

> Thesis directors María Dolores Gómez Roig Vicente Andreu Fernández

BCNatal | Barcelona Center of Maternal-Fetal Medicine, Hospital Sant Joan de Déu and Hospital Clínic Sant Joan de Déu Research Institute (IRSJD) Maternal and Child Health and Development Network (SAMID) Childhood and Environment Research Group (GRIE) August Pi i Sunyer Biomedical Research Institute (IDIBAPS)

> Programa de Doctorat en Medicina i Recerca Translacional Facultat de Medicina i Ciències de la Salut Universitat de Barcelona

> > April 2021



The thesis entitled "Mouse model of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders according to two human alcohol drinking patterns and the role of epigallocatechin gallate in their prevention. Epigallocatechin gallate bioavailability study in humans" is submitted by Laura Almeida Toledano for the PhD degree of Doctor of Medicine and Translational Research of the University of Barcelona under the direction of María Dolores Gómez Roig, Professor of Obstetrics and Gynecology at Barcelona University, and Vicente Andreu Femández, senior postdoctoral researcher at August Pi i Sunyer Biomedical Research Institute (*IDIPAPS*).

The co-directors declare that Laura Almeida Toledano has conducted the research work presented in this thesis at the Barcelona Center for Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Medicine (*BCNatal*) (Sant Joan de Déu Barcelona Hospital), the Sant Joan de Déu Research Institute (*IRSJD*), and the Childhood and Environment Research Group (*GRIE*) in *IDIBAPS*, under their supervision. Laura Almeida Toledano has substantially contributed to all the studies here presented. She was involved in the design of the studies, carried out experimental work, managed the databases, analyzed the results, wrote the manuscripts, and reviewed the final version of the articles submitted for publication and included in this thesis. The co-directors state that none of the co-authors has used or is going to use any of the articles here presented in future PhD thesis.

Barcelona, April 2021

Dr. María Dolores Gómez Roig

Dr. Vicente Andreu Fernández

Laura Almeida Toledano

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This PhD thesis would not have been possible without the people who have stood by my side along this experience.

I want to express my gratitude to my thesis supervisors for their trust in this project. To Lola for introducing me in her line of research, her follow-up, and support throughout all these years. I would like to give a special mention to Vicente for helping me bring this project to fruition when it seemed that it had no future, his perseverance, encouragement to reach perfection, and everything he has taught me over the years. Above all, for accompanying me on this *adventure*. Without his unconditional support and personal dedication this thesis would not have been possible.

My sincere thanks to Agueda for her dedication and good work, and to Mariona who has accepted the challenge of continuing this project for her own thesis. Thanks to Isabel and the people who work in the animal unit for their selfless dedication and making the work involving animals an easier task. Thank you to Oscar and Leopoldo for their help to complete the project and to all publication co-authors for their contributions. Thanks to the PhD students who have accompanied me throughout this journey, especially to Teresa, whom I have been fortunate to get to know better and shared sorrows and joys. Thank you Tere for your understanding, you are a wonderful person.

I cannot fail to express my appreciation to my previous head of service, Josep Maria Lailla, who encouraged me to pursue this degree, as well as to Justo Callejo, Cristina Salvador, and Santi Gonzalez for introducing me in the world of animal experimentation. Thanks to all my colleagues for their counselling, especially to Silvia and Miriam. A special thanks to Patricia who listened, as good friends do, to all my successes and misfortunes. You are a great woman.

Finally, mi deep and sincere gratitude to my family. My parents taught me to follow my dreams, the value of commitment, and that there are no limits if you keep going and never give up. A special thanks to Xavi and my children, Elena and Marc, for their loving patience and understanding during the endless hours of work. Xavi, you listened and helped me in all my decisions; you are a role model and I am grateful you have been a companion in this journey and in others to come.

Thank you all for your support!

FUNDING

Funding has been obtained from the Spanish Rare Diseases Federation (*FEDER*) and the Carlos III Institute of Health (*ISCIII*) through grants PI15/01179, PI16/00566 and PI19/01853, and the Maternal and Child Health and Development Network (*SAMID*) (RD12/0026/0003, RD16/0022/0014 and RD16/0022/0002) for the development of this Ph.D. thesis Laura Almeida Toledano has benefited from a Sant Joan de Déu research grant (BR201402), awarded by the Sant Joan de Déu Foundation (*FSJD*).

Real knowledge is to know the extent of one's ignorance

Confucius

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ററ		17		
		17		
		19		
1.				
	1.1. Alcohol and pregnancy			
	1.2. Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder-like animal models	32		
	1.2.1. Alcohol exposure patterns. Blood alcohol concentration	33		
	1.2.2. Control group	34		
	1.2.3. Routes of administration and dosage forms	35		
	1.3. Effects of alcohol on embryonic mouse brain developmental stages	36		
	1.3.1. Proliferation	39		
	1.3.2. Migration	41		
	1.3.3. Differentiation	42		
	1.3.4. Synaptogenesis	45		
	1.3.5. Gliogenesis and myelination	45		
	1.3.6. Trophic support	47		
	1.3.7. Synaptic plasticity	48		
	1.3.8. Apoptosis	49		
	1.4. Diagnosis of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders	49		
	1.4.1. Craniofacial anomalies	49		
	1.4.2. Brain and neurobehavioral deficits	51		
	1.4.3. Fetal growth restriction	52		
	1.5. Alcohol-induced oxidative stress	53		
	1.6. Antioxidant strategy in fetal alcohol spectrum disorders			
	1.6.1. Endogenous and exogenous antioxidant mechanisms	56		
	1.6.2. Natural antioxidants: green tea	57		
	1.6.3. Epigallocatechin gallate	57		
	1.6.3.1. Metabolism and bioavailability	58		
	1.6.3.2. Antioxidant activity	59		
	1.6.3.3. Neuroprotective effect	60		
2.	HYPOTHESIS	65		
3.	OBJECTIVES	69		

4.	METHODS AND RESULTS				
	Article 1: Epigallocatechin gallate ameliorates the effects of prenatal				
	alcohol exposure in a fetal alcohol spectrum disorder-like mouse model	75			
	Article 2: Bioavailability of epigallocatechin gallate administered with				
	different nutritional strategies in healthy volunteers	101			
5.	DISCUSSION	125			
6.	CONCLUSIONS	137			
7.	REFERENCES	141			
APPENDIX I					
	Ethics committee approvals	167			
APPENDIX II					
	Copy of the published review: Murine models for the study of fetal				
	alcohol spectrum disorders: an overview	175			
APPENDIX III					
	Other articles published during the development of this thesis	205			

COMMON ABBREVIATIONS

COMMON ABBREVIATIONS

AC	Adenylyl cyclase
ADH	Alcohol dehydrogenase
ALDH	Aldehyde dehydrogenase
ARBD	Alcohol-related birth defects
ARND	Alcohol-related neurological disorders
Bak	Bcl-2 antagonist/killer
Bax	Bcl-2-associated X protein
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma 2 protein
Bcl-xL	B-cell lymphoma-extra-large protein
Αβ	β-amyloid peptide
BAC	Blood alcohol concentration
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
BrdU	Bromodeoxyuridine
CaMKII	Ca ²⁺ /calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II
CNS	Central nervous system
COX-2	Cyclooxygenase-2
P450 2E1	Cytochrome P450 2E1
CREB	Responsive element binding protein
cAMP	adenosine 3',5'-cyclic monophosphate
Cdk5	Cyclin-dependent kinase 5
CA1	Cornu ammonis 1
DG	Dentate gyrus
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DCX	Doublecortin
DYRK1A	Dual specificity tyrosine phosphorylation regulated kinase 1A
EC	Epicatechin
ECG	Epicatechin-3-gallate
EGC	Epigallocatechin
EGCG	Epigallocatechin-3-gallate or epigallocatechin gallate
FAS	Fetal alcohol syndrome
pFAS	Partial fetal alcohol syndrome
FASD	Fetal alcohol spectrum disorders
FGR	Fetal growth restriction
GABA	Gamma-aminobutyric acid
GDs	Gestational days
GDNF	Glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor
GFRα1	GDNF family receptor-α 1
GFAP	Glial fibrillary acidic protein
GSH	Antioxidant molecule glutathione
GSK-3	Glycogen synthase kinase 3
GSK-3β	Glycogen synthase kinase-3β
GAP-43	Growth associated protein 43
HMGB1	High mobility group box 1 protein
HNK-1	Human natural killer-1
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide

OH-	Hydroxyl radicals
iNOS	inducible nitric oxide synthase
IGF	Insulin-like growth factor
IQ	Intelligence quotient
L1	Neural cell adhesion molecule-L1CAM
MDA	Methylenedioxyamphetamine
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
MMP-9	Matrix metalloproteinase-9
MAP1B	Microtubule Associated Protein 1B
MAP 2	Microtubule-associated protein 2
MeCP2	Methyl-CpG binding protein 2
MAPK	Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinases
NGF	Nerve growth factor
NCAM	Neural cell adhesion molecule
NeuN	Neuronal nuclei
NT	Neurotrophin
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
NLRP3	NOD-, LRR- and pyrin domain-containing protein 3
Nrf2	Nuclear erythroid 2-related factor 2
NFκB	Nuclear Factor κΒ
PLGF	Placental growth factor
PNs	Postnatal days
PAE	Prenatal alcohol exposure
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SD	Standard deviation
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
3D MicroCT	3D Micro-computed tomography
Tlr4	Toll-like receptor 4
Trk	Tropomyosin-related kinase
TrkB	Tyrosine kinase B
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGF-A	Vascular endothelial growth factor A
VEGF-R	Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor

ARTICLES THAT MAKE UP THE THESIS

The thesis is structured following the guidelines provided by the University of Barcelona for the PhD degree Doctor in Medicine and Translational Research. It consists of three publications focused on five objectives in a single line of research, two original research papers and a review published in international peer-reviewed journals.

 In the first article, we assessed the prenatal use of epigallocatechin gallate for the treatment of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders in a mouse model and the effects produced by the two different human drinking patterns on fetuses. The results presented in this publication correspond to objectives 3, 4, and 5 of the thesis.
 Almeida-Toledano L, Andreu-Fernández V, Aras-López R, García-Algar O,

Martínez L, Gómez-Roig MD. Epigallocatechin Gallate Ameliorates the Effects of Prenatal Alcohol Exposure in a Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder-Like Mouse Model. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2021;22(2):715.

Impact factor: 4.556. Quartile: 1st (knowledge area: Biochemistry and molecular biology).

 In the second article, we evaluated human EGCG bioavailability under different nutritional conditions, covering objectives 1 and 2 of the thesis.
 Andreu-Fernández V, Almeida Toledano L, Pizarro N, Navaro-Tapia E, Gómez-Roig MD, de la Torre R, García-Algar O. Bioavailability of Epigallocatechin Gallate Administered with Different Nutritional Strategies in Healthy Volunteers. *Antioxidants* (*Basel*). 2020;9(5):E440.

Impact factor: 5.014. Quartile: 1st (knowledge area: Food science and technology).

3. Finally, a copy of a topical review on murine models in the FASD study is included in the annexes:

Almeida L, Andreu-Fernández V, Navarro-Tapia E, Aras-López R, Serra-Delgado M, Martínez L, García-Algar O, Gómez-Roig MD. Murine Models for the Study of Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders: An Overview. *Front Pediatr.* 2020;8:359. Impact factor; 2.634. Quartile: 1st (knowledge area: Pediatrics).

RESUMEN DE LA TESIS

RESUMEN DE LA TESIS

Introducción

Según la Organización Mundial de la Salud, la exposición prenatal a alcohol es la principal causa evitable de discapacidad intelectual en el mundo occidental, asociándose a diferentes alteraciones físicas y desórdenes neurológicos que conllevan alteraciones cognitivas y conductuales. El conjunto de estas alteraciones se denominan trastornos del espectro alcohólico fetal (TEAF). Los desórdenes relacionados con esta exposición a alcohol se asocian a importantes problemas en la esfera social y conlleva una serie de costes para el sistema de salud pública. Aunque el consumo del alcohol de forma aguda y compulsiva es el patrón de consumo más habitual, otros tipos de consumo, como el Mediterráneo (bajas dosis de forma continuada), son habituales en determinadas zonas geográficas. Sin embargo, se desconocen actualmente los mecanismos responsables de la toxicidad del alcohol.

Los roedores como la cepa de ratón C57BL/6 permiten evaluar los efectos teratogénicos del alcohol según la dosis y el momento del desarrollo en que se administra, analizando comportamientos complejos similares a los humanos y terapias experimentales prometedoras. Las similitudes en las etapas del desarrollo neurológico en los ratones y humanos permiten llevar a cabo estos estudios, pero hay que tener en cuenta que en el ratón el equivalente al tercer trimestre de gestación humana ocurre en la etapa postnatal. La dismorfología facial debida a la exposición prenatal a alcohol aparece durante el equivalente al primer trimestre de gestación humana, pero el desarrollo neurológico ocurre continuamente durante toda la gestación, por lo que el consumo en cualquier momento del embarazo puede conducir a alteraciones en procesos claves como la proliferación, la migración, la diferenciación, la sinaptogénesis, la gliogénesis, la mielinización y la apoptosis en los linajes neuronales, que conllevan alteraciones neurológicas y del comportamiento.

Por otro lado, el consumo prenatal de alcohol produce deficiencias nutricionales maternas y alteraciones en la angiogénesis e histología placentaria que conllevan a una restricción del crecimiento fetal. Actualmente no disponemos de ningún tratamiento específico para el TEAF, a parte del diagnóstico precoz y el tratamiento de los síntomas. La epigalocatequina galato (EGCG) es un flavonoide con poder antioxidante que se ha evaluado en el tratamiento de diversas patologías humanas. Dado que el alcohol produce un aumento de estrés oxidativo, la EGCG se plantea como una opción terapéutica para el TEAF. Algunos estudios han demostrado que la EGCG se puede distribuir en el cerebro embrionario y fetal mediante su administración a la gestante, pero es necesario conocer mejor su perfil farmacocinético. Actualmente no existe consenso

RESUMEN

sobre la concentración más adecuada de EGCG para obtener unos efectos terapéuticos óptimos. Conocer bien el perfil farmacocinético de la EGCG puede ser útil con el fin de utilizarlo en futuros ensayos clínicos.

Hipótesis

La exposición prenatal a alcohol produce diferente grado de restricción de crecimiento fetal, trastornos placentarios y desórdenes neurológicos según el patrón de consumo humano (agudo o *binge versus* moderado crónico o Mediterráneo). La terapia con EGCG administrada en las condiciones farmacocinéticas óptimas puede atenuar estas anomalías.

Objetivos

Los objetivos principales de esta tesis doctoral son evaluar el efecto protector de la terapia con EGCG en un modelo de TEAF en ratón de acuerdo con los dos patrones de consumo humano (agudo o *binge versus moderado crónico o* Mediterráneo), y analizar el perfil de biodisponibilidad específico de la EGCG en humanos bajo diferentes condiciones nutricionales.

Métodos

Para llevar a cabo los objetivos de esta tesis se realizó un estudio preclínico en modelo de ratón y un estudio prospectivo cruzado en humanos.

En el estudio preclínico se utilizó la cepa de ratón C57BL/6. Se realizaron los apareamientos y el diagnóstico de gestación se llevó a cabo mediante la visualización de tapón espermático. Las ratonas gestantes fueron asignados aleatoriamente a 6 grupos experimentales: (1) control Mediterráneo (1,38 mg/kg maltodextrina); (2) etanol Mediterráneo (0,75 mg/kg etanol); (3) etanol Mediterráneo + antioxidante (0,75 mg/kg etanol + 30 mg/kg EGCG); (4) control binge (5,52 mg/kg maltodextrina); (4) etanol binge (3 mg/kg etanol); (6) etanol binge + EGCG (0,75 mg/kg etanol + 30 mg/kg EGCG). Las gestaciones se finalizaron mediante cesáreas el día 19 y se realizaron necropsias con obtención de placenta y tejido cerebral. Se analizó el crecimiento fetal, se realizó estudio de los fenómenos de angiogénesis en placenta (VEGF-A, PLGF y VEGF-R), del estrés oxidativo (Nrf2), y los procesos del desarrollo neurológico que incluyen la maduración (NeuN, DCX), diferenciación (GFAP) y plasticidad neuronal (BDNF) mediante técnicas de Western blot e inmunohistoquímica. Por último, se realizaron los análisis estadísticos correspondientes.

En el estudio cruzado, se reclutaron prospectivamente diez voluntarios sanos (cinco mujeres y cinco hombres). Se realizaron tres series de experimentos clínicos con un período de descanso de siete días entre cada uno: (1) Teavigo[®] (extracto de EGCG) en ayunas; (2) Teavigo[®] con un desayuno estándar; y (3) FontUp[®] (Teavigo[®] en un

preparado comercial con suplementos nutricionales). Se realizaron extracciones de sangre en los minutos 0, 30, 60, 90, 120, 180, 240 y 360 después de la administración de EGCG. La determinación de EGCG en plasma se realizó mediante el método analítico de cromatografía y espectrometría de masas UPLC-ESI-MS/MS. Se analizaron estadísticamente las siguientes variables farmacocinéticas: AUC₀₋₃₆₀, C_{max}, C_{av}, C_{min}, T_{1/2} y T_{max}.

Resultados principales

Respecto al estudio en el modelo animal objetivamos que cualquier patrón de consumo de alcohol (Mediterráneo o *binge*) produce efectos no deseados en la descendencia. Con la administración de dosis elevadas de alcohol encontramos una restricción de crecimiento fetal importante, sin embargo, las dosis más moderadas no fueron suficientes para sobrepasar el umbral requerido para que se produjera un déficit de crecimiento. Cualquier patrón de consumo produjo desequilibrios en la expresión de los factores angiogénicos en placenta (VEGF-A, VEGF-R) y desórdenes en los procesos del desarrollo neuronal, incluyendo la pérdida de neuronas maduras (NeuN), retraso en la maduración neuronal (DCX) y desórdenes en la diferenciación astrocitaria (GFAP). La exposición a alcohol continuada durante el desarrollo fetal puede conducir a una habituación en determinados procesos como la plasticidad neuronal (BDNF). El tratamiento con EGCG fue capaz de revertir las alteraciones del crecimiento fetal y desarrollo neurológico fetal.

En el estudio cruzado para el análisis de la biodisponibilidad de la EGCG, con la administración de Teavigo[®] en ayunas se obtuvieron concentraciones más elevadas en plasma (evaluadas mediante AUC₀₋₃₆₀, C_{max} y C_{av}), tanto en hombres como en mujeres. Sin embargo, la variabilidad interindividual fue menor (T_{1/2} más elevada) con la administración de Teavigo[®] con un desayuno estándar y principalmente con el suplemento alimenticio FontUp[®].

Conclusiones

Los resultados presentados en esta tesis apoyan el uso de la EGCG como un potencial tratamiento prenatal para las alteraciones en los procesos neuronales fetales, el desarrollo placentario y el crecimiento fetal producidas por la exposición prenatal a alcohol. Estos hallazgos suponen el punto de partida para plantear nuevas investigaciones sobre el efecto de la EGCG sobre los trastornos del comportamiento relacionados con el TEAF en el adulto. El conocimiento sobre las características farmacocinéticas de la EGCG permitirá su uso en la población gestante humana como

25

una alternativa segura para el tratamiento de los problemas de salud derivados del consumo prenatal de alcohol.

1.1. Alcohol and pregnancy

Alcohol is the most known teratogen. Its frequent use during pregnancy affects normal development of human fetuses promoting severe developmental alterations causing a wide range of physical, behavioral, cognitive, and neurological impairments. In 1968, Lemoine *et al.* established an association between prenatal alcohol exposure (PAE) with certain neurodevelopmental disabilities¹. However, it was not until 1973 when Jones and Smith provided a first characterization of fetal alcohol syndrome (FAS)², defining it as growth restriction, facial dysmorphologies (wide-spaced eyes, mid-facial hypoplasia, and a smooth philtrum), and central nervous system (CNS) disorders, resulting in motor, cognitive and behavioral disorders³. Subsequent observational studies identified and characterized the umbrella term fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD)⁴ that includes: FAS (the most deleterious manifestation of FASD), partial FAS (pFAS) (an intermediate phenotype defined by the absence of some FAS characteristics), alcohol-related birth defects (ARBD) (certain physical impairments are exhibited), and alcohol-related neurological disorders (ARND) (behavioral and learning neuropsychological alterations, usually without facial dysmorphology⁵) (see Table 1)⁵.

Table 1. Updated criteria for the diagnosis of Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorce
--

DIAGNOSTIC CATEGORIES					
FAS	With or without documented prenatal alcohol exposure				
	A diagnosis of FAS requires all features, A–D:				
	A. A characteristic pattern of minor facial anomalies, including \geq 2 of the following:				
 Short palpebral fissures (≤ 10th centile) 					
		 A thin upper lip vermilion border (rank 4 or 5 on a racially normed lip/philtrum guide. if available) 			
3. Smooth philtrum (rank 4 or 5 on a racially normed lip/philtrum guide, i					
B. Prenatal and/or postnatal growth deficiency					
	 Height and/or weight ≤ 10th centile (plotted on a racially or ethnically appropriate growth curve, if available) 				
	Deficient brain growth, abnormal morphogenesis, or abnormal neurophysiology,				
	including \geq 1 of the following:				
	 Head circumference ≤ 10th percentile 				
2. Structural brain anomalies					
3. Recurrent non-febrile seizures (other causes of seizures having been rule					
D. Neurobehavioral impairment*					
1. For children \geq 3 years of age (a or b):		 For children ≥ 3 years of age (a or b): 			
a. With cognitive impairment:		a. With cognitive impairment:			
		 Evidence of global impairment (general conceptual ability ≥ 1.5 SD below the mean, or performance IQ or verbal IQ or spatial IQ ≥ 1.5 SD below the mean) OR 			
		 Cognitive deficit in at least one neurobehavioral domain ≥ 1.5 SD below the mean (executive functioning, specific learning impairment, memory impairment or visual-spatial impairment) 			
		b. With behavioral impairment without cognitive impairment:			
		 Evidence of behavioral deficit in at least one domain ≥ 1.5 SD below the mean in self-regulation impairments (mood or behavioral regulation impairment, attention deficit, or impulse control) 			
		· ·			

	2. For children < 3 years of age:
nEAS	– Evidence of developmental delay ≥ 1.5 SD below the mean For children with decumented property algorithm of DEAS requires
ρΓΑδ	features A and B:
	A. A characteristic pattern of minor facial anomalies, including ≥ 2 of the following:
	 Short palpebral fissures (≤ 10th centile)
	2. Thin upper lip vermilion border (rank 4 or 5 on a racially normed lip/philtrum guide, if available)
	 Smooth philtrum (rank 4 or 5 on a racially normed lip/philtrum guide, if available) Neurobehavioral impairment*
	 For children ≥ 3 years of age (a or b):
	a. with cognitive impairment:
	Evidence of global impairment (general conceptual ability ≥ 1.5 SD below the mean, or performance IQ or verbal IQ or spatial IQ ≥ 1.5 SD below the mean) OR
	- Cognitive deficit in at least one neurobehavioral domain ≥ 1.5 SD below
	the mean (executive functioning, specific learning impairment, memory impairment or visual-spatial impairment)
	b. With behavioral impairment without cognitive impairment:
	 Evidence of behavioral deficit in at least one domain ≥ 1.5 SD below the mean in self-regulation impairments (mood or behavioral regulation impairment, attention deficit, or impulse control)
	2. For children < 3 years of age:
	- Evidence of developmental delay \ge 1.5 SD below the mean
	For children without documented prenatal alcohol exposure, a diagnosis of PFAS requires all features, A–C:
	A. A characteristic pattern of minor facial anomalies, including ≥ 2 of the following:
	1. Short palpebral fissures ($\leq 10^{\circ\circ}$ centile) 2. This upper lip vermilion border (rank 4 or 5 on a racially normed lip/obiltrum guide
	if available)
	3. Smooth philtrum (rank 4 or 5 on a racially normed lip/philtrum guide, if available)
	B. Growth deficiency or deficient brain growth, abnormal morphogenesis, or abnormal neurophysiology
	 Height and/or weight ≤ 10th centile (plotted on a racially or ethnically appropriate growth curve, if available)
	 Deficient brain growth, abnormal morphogenesis or neurophysiology, including ≥1
	of the following:
	a. Head circumference $\leq 10^{th}$ percentile
	b. Structural brain anomalies
	c. Recurrent non-reprire seizures (other causes of seizures having been ruled
	C. Neurobehavioral impairment*
	1. For children \ge 3 years of age (a or b):
	a. With cognitive impairment:
	 Evidence of global impairment (general conceptual ability ≥ 1.5 SD below
	the mean, or performance IQ or verbal IQ or spatial IQ ≥ 1.5 SD below the mean)
	OB
	- Cognitive deficit in at least one neurobehavioral domain ≥ 1.5 SD below
	the mean (executive functioning, specific learning impairment, memory impairment or visual-spatial impairment)
	b. With behavioral impairment without cognitive impairment:
	 Evidence or benavioral deticit in at least 1 domain ≥ 1.5 SD below the mean in self-regulation impairments (mood or behavioral regulation)
	impairment, attention deficit, or impulse control)
	2. For children < 3 years of age:
	Evidence of developmental delay \ge 1.5 SD below the mean
ARND	Requires features A and B (definitive diagnosis cannot be made in children < 3 years of
	age):
	A. Documented prenatal alconol exposure B. Neurobehavioral impairment*
	For children \geq 3 years of age (a or b):
	a. With cognitive impairment:

		 Evidence of global impairment (general conceptual ability ≥ 1.5 SD below th mean, or performance IQ or verbal IQ or spatial IQ ≥1.5 SD) OR 			
		 Cognitive deficit in at least two neurobehavioral domains ≥ 1.5 SD below the mean (executive functioning, specific learning impairment, memory impairment or visual-spatial impairment) 			
	b. With behavioral impairment without cognitive impairment:				
		 Evidence of behavioral deficit in at least two domains ≥ 1.5 SD below the 			
		mean in self-regulation impairments (mood or behavioral regulation			
		impairment, attention deficit, or impulse control)			
ARBD	Require	es features A and B:			
	Α.	Documented prenatal alcohol exposure			
	В.	One or more specific major malformations demonstrated in animal models and			
		human studies to be the result of prenatal alcohol exposure: cardiac: atrial septal			
		defects, aberrant great vessels, ventricular septal defects, conotruncal heart			
		defects; skeletal: radioulnar synostosis, vertebral segmentation defects, large joint			
		contractures, scoliosis; renal: aplastic/hypoplastic/dysplastic kidneys, "horseshoe"			
		kidneys/ureteral duplications; eyes: strabismus, ptosis, retinal vascular anomalies,			
		optic nerve hypoplasia: ears: conductive hearing loss, neurosensory hearing loss			

*Adaptive skills should be assessed, but such deficits cannot stand alone for diagnosis.

Thus, there is a relationship between behavioral deficits in FASD subjects with structural changes in brain organogenesis: the *corpus callosum* may lose its structure (agenesis) and generate cognitive deficits linked to attention, executive and psychosocial functions, language and reading comprehension⁶; the cerebellum and anterior part of the vermis may suffer hypoplasia and affect motor skills and learning capacity⁷. Moreover, asymmetry of the hippocampus in FAS children may also affect their memory⁸. The degree of structural abnormalities in the brain correlates with the severity of FAS-like facial features, and in turn, with more serious behavioral problems⁹. Human socialization begins at an early age and continues throughout life. Social behavior in adults is the result of a complex combination of genetics, brain development, childhood experiences, and learning. Changes in social behavior in adults with FAS may be triggered by an interaction of their genetic background, alcohol-induced alterations in specific brain structures, abnormal early socialization processes, and disabilities in social learning processes throughout their life¹⁰.

According to the World Health Organization, PAE is the main preventable cause of intellectual disability in the western world^{11–13}, with FAS being the most common non-hereditary cause of intellectual disability¹⁴. A recent meta-analysis estimated global prevalence of alcohol use during pregnancy to be 9.8%¹⁵. Furthermore, a study carried out in 2018 on Spanish population showed a prevalence of 64.7% in pregnant women for any intake of alcohol in any trimester of pregnancy, although prevalence of FASD in this population was unknown¹⁶. Alterations grouped within FASD affect 1% of the world's pediatric population and the estimated prevalence of FAS in the general population is 14.6 per 10,000 people¹⁵. In the USA, the prevalence of FAS is 1.3 to 4.6 per 1,000 births, increasing to 9.1 per 1,000 births for FASD¹⁴. Based on reports from studies using physical examinations, experts estimate that the full range of FASDs in the USA and

some Western European countries reaches 2 to 5% among school children (or 2 to 7 per 1,000 in the general population)^{17,18}. The highest rates of FAS and FASD are found in South Africa, a heterogeneous ethnic population with high prevalence of alcohol abuse, where rates between 68 to 89 per 1,000 births have been described^{9,19}. Moreover, increased incidence of PAE and risk of FASD has been reported in children adopted from Eastern European Countries (EEC)²⁰, FASD reaching a prevalence of 52% in Swedish children adopted from EEC²¹. Although acute and binge alcohol intake is the most common pattern of consumption, other types such as the Mediterranean (continuous low doses), are common in certain geographical areas.

Therefore, PAE-related disorders may lead to major problems within social environments, as well as economic setbacks for the public health system. Many of these costs could be reduced with effective social policies and intervention programs aimed at improving the lives of people with FASD and their families, and the prevention of further alcohol-exposed pregnancies.

1.2. Fetal alcohol spectrum disorders-like animal models

FASD studies in humans have common limitations due to the complexity in correctly measuring certain variables such as maternal diet or health, or the volume and timing of ethanol exposure during pregnancy. It is possible to overcome these difficulties by using animal models, simple, effective and reliable tools for alcohol research. These models are useful for understanding the molecular mechanisms underlying alcohol teratogenicity and monitoring cognitive and behavioral changes. Moreover, animal models allow assessing different therapeutic approaches in preclinical studies, initial screening of compounds, and as a previous phase for future human clinical studies.

The invertebrate *Caenorhabditis elegans* is a simple animal model to study developmental processes and is commonly chosen to study the effects of ethanol on molecular pathways. However, the embryos develop outside the body and precise ethanol concentrations administered cannot be finely controlled²². On the other hand, alcohol metabolism differs substantially from that in humans²². The zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) has several physiological and genetic similarities with humans²³, which makes it a suitable vertebrate alternative model. There are further advantages regarding the effects of ethanol: extensive knowledge of all developmental stages, short development time, and large number of offspring²⁴. Zebrafish eggs and embryos are transparent (just like nematodes), making embryonic development easy to follow, facilitating exposure to alcohol of the embryos during different and precise developmental stages, and easy determination of physical malformations and simple behavioral changes^{23,25}. By contrast,

the chorion of the egg acts as a barrier and large volumes of ethanol are necessary to ensure its penetration²⁴.

Mammals offer significant advantages in the study of brain structures or complex behaviors²⁶. Although primates could be the gold standard, there are some disadvantages, mainly the long duration of the studies and ethical limitations²⁶. Rodents are frequently used in FASD research because they are easy to handle, have a short gestational period, and produce large numbers of offspring. Rats offer the advantages of being larger and show a more sophisticated behavior in comparison to mice. Regardless, mice (particularly the C57BL/6 strain) are the most commonly used mammals due to their ease of care, availability of transgenic and disease models, short lifespan, basic physiology, and genetics similar to that of humans. Teratogenic effects of alcohol exposure in mice have been reported, including craniofacial malformations, altered neurogenesis processes, fetal growth restriction and soft-tissue and skeletal abnormalities^{27,28}. The main disadvantage in using rodents for FASD research is that the third trimester equivalent to human development in rodents occurs after birth. Thus, there are differences in the processes of absorption, distribution, metabolism and elimination in rodents in comparison to the human utero, with no influence of the placental barrier. Interestingly, C57BL/6J is the strain with the highest preference for alcohol²⁹.

In following sections, we discuss details that need to be considered when a murine model is chosen for a FASD study.

1.2.1. Alcohol exposure patterns. Blood alcohol concentrations

Drinking patterns are characterized by the amount and frequency of ethanol taken. This is measured by blood alcohol concentration (BAC) and expressed as weight of alcohol per unit of volume of blood. BAC depends on factors such as dosage, pattern of exposure, metabolic rate, food consumption, tolerance, and genetics^{30,31}.

In animal models, BAC is defined as the amount of ethanol per unit of blood (usually mg/dL), measured when ethanol reaches the highest concentration in peripheral circulation³². In rodents, peak concentration is detected between 30-150 minutes (50-100 minutes in mice and 50-150 minutes in rats) following administration. The timeline of BAC depends on the administration route, dosage, and species (rate of ethanol metabolism is 550 mg/kg/h and 300 mg/kg/h in mice and rats, respectively)³³. Severe neurotoxicity is typically linked to binge-like episodes causing higher BACs (e.g., BAC > 300 mg/dl in rats).

Kelly et al. showed that binge-like alcohol exposure is more harmful than non-binge exposure in rat brain development with the same dose of ethanol. The authors administered 6.6 g/kg/day of ethanol to neonatal rats using artificial rearing, following one of two possible patterns: a continuous pattern (24 hours per day) for several days,

33

which resulted in an average BAC peak of 79-97 mg/dL, or an acute exposure pattern (eight hours per day) for the same length of time, resulting in an average BAC peak of 56-415 mg/dL. Lower brain growth was observed in the acute exposure group in comparison to the continuous pattern³⁴. Other findings support the hypothesis that lower daily doses of ethanol following a binge-like pattern leads to lower brain weight and cell loss in different brain areas than higher non-binge doses. Three groups of ethanolexposed rat pups were compared. One group was exposed to 4.5 g/kg/day in a condensed pattern (four hours per day), the second group was exposed to the same dose although administered in a less condensed pattern (eight hours per day), and the third group was exposed to a higher dose of alcohol (6.6 g/kg/day) administered in a continuous pattern (24 hours per day). The resulting average BAC peaks were 361 mg/dL, 190 mg/dL, and 39 mg/dL, respectively. The authors found that pups exposed to 4.5 g/kg/day over four hours had the lowest brain weight, followed by the second group. The animals that ingested highest doses of ethanol throughout 24 hours had the highest brain weights³⁵. These findings demonstrate that binge-like pattern ethanol intake is more harmful than higher doses taken for longer periods due to higher BAC peaks for shorter periods. It is also important to mention that continuous alcohol exposure, reaching lower BAC levels (i.e., BAC < 40 mg/dl in rats) despite higher doses, induces more subtle brain injuries^{34,35}.

1.2.2. Control group

Several studies have assessed the influence of nutritional intake on the teratogenic effects of alcohol^{36,37}. Alcohol can replace other nutrients because of its caloric content and may interfere with the absorption of other nutrients due to its inflammatory effects on the stomach³⁸.

Pair-fed control has been used in some FASD-like animal model experiments, since it acts as a calorie-matched control group. A carbohydrate substance (e.g., maltose dextrin or sucrose) is usually employed to replace ethanol-derived calories in the diet³⁹. A pair-fed group may also allow monitoring stress conditions. On the other hand, the pair-fed group is considered an imperfect control group, since the pattern of food consumption in this group is different from a physiological intake. Individuals in pair-fed controls consume the assigned food as soon as it is available, creating additional stress associated to food restriction. In addition, in the pair-fed group it is not possible to match the effect of alcohol on the absorption of other nutrients because of its inflammatory effects. Thus, some researchers have suggested the use of a control group (baseline) known as non-handled, *ad libitum*, or *sham*, in which the intake of nutrients resembles the physiological one. This is useful to avoid biases caused by ethanol interference in nutrient absorption⁴⁰. Consequently, the use of a pair-fed group and an *ad libitum* control

group should be considered as an alternative when designing a FASD murine model study.

1.2.3. Routes of administration and dosage forms

Several modes of ethanol administration methods have been described, particularly in rodent gestation. Ethanol delivery methods directly affect variables such as the alcohol exposure pattern, exact amount of alcohol taken, and generated stress. These variables must be taken into account during the experimental design. Voluntary ethanol feeding and intragastric gavage are the most physiological administration methods. Voluntary ethanol feeding^{41,42} is a safe technique when low stable BAC levels want to be reached. Conversely, intragastric gavage⁴⁰ offers a more accurate control of doses and timing, and higher BACs. Inhalation⁴³ or injection⁴⁴ offer some advantages compared to voluntary ethanol drinking and intragastric gavage due to their time efficiency. Artificial rearing is a useful method when the aim of the study is alcohol administration in a third trimester equivalent model^{40,45,46}. Briefly, the choice of method must consider the purpose of the experiment and the researcher's experience. Table 2 (based on a previous review⁴⁷) summarizes the characteristics of the main routes of alcohol administration in rodents and dosage forms, focusing mainly on mice.

ADMINISTRATION ROUTE	CHARACTERISTICS	REACHED BAC	ADVANTAGES	DISADVANTAGES
VOLUNTARY ETHANOL FEEDING	Oral, self-administration. Pre-gestational alcohol consumption is usually introduced ⁴⁸ . Sometimes, ethanol is added to flavored liquid nutritional formulas (Liquid-diet or Sustacal) to allow easy self- administration ^{49,50} . 10-20% (vol/vol) ethanol solution ⁴⁸ . Possibility of isovolumetric and isocaloric pair-fed diet (e.g., maltose-dextrin) in controls ³⁹ . Drinking in the dark (DID) mimics a binge- like pattern ⁵¹	50-100 mg/dL when ethanol intake is 1-2 g/kg [10% (vol/vol) ethanol solution]	Prevents the stress caused by other invasive methods. Safe technique. Easy to carry out. Gradual BAC increase. Low, stable BAC levels. Used prenatally	Lower ethanol BAC are achieved in comparison to other administration routes. Not useful for binge drinking pattern. Difficult control of dose and timing. No proper control of dose in breastfeeding pups. Not recommended postnatally. Lower BAC achieved if saccharin or a sucrose-sweetened solution is added to the alcohol
INTRAGASTRIC GAVAGE	Administration of ethanol into the stomach using a gavage needle. Administered volumes < 2 mL/100 kg body weight ⁵² . Allowed alcohol concentration < 31.5% (vol/vol) ⁵² . Ethanol dose 2-6 g/kg/day ³⁹ .	250-300 mg/dL (60 minutes) for administration doses of 3.8 g/kg [21% (wt/vol) ethanol solution]	Useful for binge drinking pattern. Accurate control of dose and timing. Reliable high BAC. Useful for pre- and postnatal administration	Inhibition of suckling behavior in neonates. Stressful procedure for animals. Invasive procedure

Table 2. Characteristics of the different routes of ethanol administration in mice. Own authorship.
	Ethanol vehicle (water, saline solution or nutritional formula) ³⁹			
INHALATION	Inhalation chamber filled with ethanol vapor ⁵³ . Sometimes, administration of pyrazole to obtain stable BACs ^{43,54}	150-250 mg/dl when volatized ethanol (ethanol 95%) is delivered into the chamber at a rate of 10 liters/min	Reliable high BACs. Not a stressful technique for animals. Time and labor efficient. Useful for pre- and postnatal administration. Higher BACs in neonates than in mothers	Does not mimic human intake routes. Special equipment required. Interindividual variations
INTRAPERITONEA L INJECTION	Ethanol solution injection into the intraperitoneal space ⁵⁵ . Single or multiple doses for several days during pregnancy	350-400 mg/dL (60 minutes) for administration doses of 3.8 g/kg [21% (wt/vol) ethanol solution]	Rapid increase in BACs. Time efficient. Useful for pre- and postnatal administration. Useful for binge drinking pattern	Handling-induced stress. Different to human intake routes This administration route produces higher BACs in fetuses than other routes using the same PAE. Higher incidence of malformations when used during first trimester equivalent.
ARTIFICIAL REARING	Intragastric gavage ethanol discharge in pups while being kept in a special setting to mimic maternal environment ^{40,45,56} . Placement of gastrostomy catheters.	150 mg/kg when ethanol solution of 2,5 g/kg is administered or 420 mg/kg when ethanol solution of 7,5 g/kg is administered*	Accurate control of dose and timing. Useful for postnatal administration. Mimics human third trimester	Invasive and expensive technique. Social factors removed due to isolation of pups.

1.3. Effects of alcohol on embryonic mouse brain developmental

stages

During the development of the CNS throughout pregnancy, there are vulnerable periods sensitive to environmental insults. PAE affects brain organogenesis differently depending on the dosage, timing, developmental stage (moment), and location of the cell types involved in the biological stages (Figure 1). Key processes such as proliferation⁵⁷, migration⁵⁸, differentiation⁵⁹, synaptogenesis^{60,61}, gliogenesis, myelination⁶², and apoptosis^{63,64} are altered by PAE leading to congenital abnormalities and functional deficits in the CNS during fetal development (Figure 2)^{65,66}.



Figure 1. Timeline of neurodevelopmental processes and brain neurogenesis in rodent embryos by areas sensitive to alcohol injury. Proteins in neurulation, proliferation, migration, differentiation, synaptogenesis, gliogenesis, and myelination neurodevelopmental processes. Changes in the levels of these biomarkers (up- or down-regulation) caused by prenatal alcohol exposure are represented by arrows. Stages of neurulation: (1) Neuroectodermal tissues differentiate from the ectoderm and thicken into the neural plate. The neural plate border separates the ectoderm from the neural plate. (2) The neural plate bends dorsally, with the two ends eventually joining at the neural plate borders, forming the neural crest. (3) The closure of the neural tube disconnects the neural crest from the epidermis. Neural crest cells differentiate to form the peripheral nervous system. Own authorship.



Figure 2. Harmful effects of prenatal alcohol exposure in mice according to human trimesters equivalents⁶⁷. First trimester equivalent: cranial dysmorphologies^{68,69}, brain malformations^{68,70}, and altered grey and white matter tracts⁷¹. Second trimester equivalent: craniofacial and brain malformations^{70,72,73}, neurodevelopmental disorders^{74,75}, and fetal growth restriction^{76,77}. Third trimester equivalent: brain abnormalities^{78–80}, neurodevelopmental disorders^{78,81}. GD: gestational day. PND: postnatal day. Own authorship.

The anatomies of human and rodent brains show analogous structures and similar stages of development, but exhibit some anatomical and functional differences. Human pregnancy consists of three prenatal trimesters in which the brain rapidly grows between weeks 25 and 38. Several differentiation and proliferations processes occur in the third trimester of gestation, with maximum brain growth rate at birth and gradual decrease in early life^{67,82}. Pregnancies in rats and mice are shorter than in humans (rats: 21–23 days; mice: 20–22 days) and newborns undergo substantial brain development following birth^{62,63}. The first⁶⁷ and second equivalent trimesters in a human pregnancy correspond to gestational days (GDs) 1–10/11 and 11–21/22, respectively, in rats and mice (mice usually give birth on GD 21 and rats on GD 22). The third trimester equivalent in humans correlates to postnatal days (PNDs) 1–10. The ontogeny of specific behaviors

may be used to draw inferences regarding the maturation of specific brain structures or neural circuits in rodents and humans. Despite the similarities between human and rodent brain development it is important to consider that rodents do not exactly mimic the developmental phases of human gestation (Figure 1).

Cellular precursors of the brain and the spinal cord develop through neurulation in early embryogenesis (Figure 1). The cellular fate of neurulation is the formation of the notochord, which defines the primitive axis of the embryo and determines the vertebral system. The neural tube closure starts in the hindbrain area above the origin of the notochord, and continues anteriorly and posteriorly, making a caudal-to-rostral gradient in the developing brain. Neural tube formation finishes at GD 10–11 in rodents⁸³. Early in the second week of pregnancy (GD 7 in mouse, GD 9.5 in rats), neurogenesis and subsequent cell migration shape specific areas of the CNS in the forebrain, midbrain, and hindbrain, promoting distinct series of developmental processes⁸³. Therefore, the first critical developmental stage for PAE occurs between GD 5 and 11, implying alterations in organogenesis, neural tube formation, and proliferation of neuronal precursors in areas adjacent to the neural tube. High levels of alcohol exposure during this stage not only cause major neural tube defects, but also lead to facial dysmorphologies similar to those observed in children affected with FAS.

The second critical developmental stage occurs between GD 11 and 21. During this period, most CNS areas are involved in distinct differentiation processes and several neuronal cell types emerge and migrate to specific areas of the brain (including the cerebral cortex and the hippocampus) (Figure 1). The developmental phase of the different cell lineages varies according to their spatial location in distinct brain areas. PAE particularly affects the neurulation, proliferation and migration processes of the neocortex, cerebellum, hippocampus, and the basal ganglia. The last decisive developmental period occurs from GD 18 to PND 9 and is characterized by the proliferation of astroglial and oligodendroglial cells, synaptogenesis, and dendritic arborization, which produce an increase in brain weight. At the same time, neurogenesis continues in the cerebellum and the dentate gyrus (DG) of the hippocampus. Alcohol exposure during the third trimester induces severe neuronal loss, reactive gliosis, impaired myelination, as well as damage to the prefrontal cortex, and hippocampal and cerebellar regions^{72,84,85}.

1.3.1. Proliferation

Neurogenesis is a highly regulated process whose timing and phases depend on the anterior-posterior gradient in the neuronal axis and regions of the brain formed during organogenesis. Most cell proliferation processes take place throughout all

neurodevelopment stages⁸⁶, although the most expansive phase occurs in the second half of pregnancy (mice: GD 10-21, rats: GD 11-22). This is a key developmental period due to the vulnerability of neuronal precursors and brain structures to ethanol toxicity⁵⁷, which may cause permanent alterations and profound behavioral deficits. For that reason, the effect of PAE on proliferation and differentiation processes are assessed not only during fetal development but also later in life. As shown in Figure 1, several biomarkers help identify and evaluate neurogenesis and proliferation processes during neurodevelopment.

NeuN is expressed in nearly all postmitotic neurons, representing a reliable marker of mature neurons⁸⁷. This protein may also act as a biomarker of neuronal integrity, as it decreases in brain regions, e.g., the hippocampus, following ethanol exposure in rats^{87– ⁸⁹. Ki67 has been thoroughly analyzed as a proliferation biomarker during neurogenesis in PAE studies.}

Several groups have studied the effect of PAE on distinct hippocampal regions, with different results. Reduced number of granular cells in the DG and pyramidal cells have been reported in specific regions of the rat hippocampus after GD 1-20 plus PND 4-10 of ethanol exposure^{35,90}, and on the third trimester equivalent^{35,89,90}, with no changes in the number of hippocampal neurons with ethanol exposure during GD 1-20^{90,91}. Komada *et al.* showed a reduced proliferation rate (measured by Ki67) in mouse telencephalon after PAE on GD 6-18⁹². Conversely, West *et al.* report an increase in the number of granular cells of the DG in rat hippocampus after ethanol exposure during the third trimester equivalent⁹³. Thus, early disturbances in proliferation after PAE may differ depending on the developmental period at which ethanol exposure occurs.

Some of the effects of PAE on the hippocampus can be identified from birth, but others are more subtle and difficult to detect in early stages. The consequences of PAE on hippocampal cell proliferation and survival in young adult animals are not always persistent^{40,46,94}. Interestingly, no changes in hippocampal cell proliferation (assessed by Ki67 and BrdU), but an increase in immature neurons of adult hippocampus in rats prenatally exposed to alcohol, have been described, probably due to a compensatory mechanism against PAE effects⁴⁰. Other authors have shown alterations in cell proliferation (measured by Ki67⁴⁶ and BrdU^{46,94}) and increased neuronal maturation in the DG of the hippocampus in young adult rats prenatally exposed to ethanol. More recently, Mohapel-Gil *et al.* described significant decreases in adult hippocampal neurogenesis in aged rats after PAE (during the first and second trimester equivalent), not previously seen in younger animals. These findings suggest a more conserved neurogenesis capacity in early stages of life⁹⁵. Moreover, Delatour *et al.* analyzed Ki67 levels in pyramidal cells in adolescent mice exposed to ethanol on GD 13.5-16.5, and

showed there were no changes when compared to controls⁹⁶. Once again, it seems that alterations in hippocampal neurogenesis vary according to the timing of ethanol exposure.

Coleman *et al.* examined the long-term effects on adult hippocampal neurogenesis after ethanol exposure in PND 7 in male and female mice. Increased Ki67 levels were found in the DG in males but not in females⁸⁰. This reveals gender differences regarding susceptibility to PAE.

PAE also affects the activity of enzymes involved in neurogenesis and proliferation, promoting hippocampal function behavioral disorders. Glycogen synthase kinase-3 β (GSK-3 β) is highly expressed during brain development (from GD18 to PND10 in rats⁹⁷ and GD16 to PD18 in mice⁹⁸), modulating different developmental processes such as neurogenesis, differentiation, and neuronal survival. GSK-3 β activation sensitizes neurons to ethanol-induced injury, deregulating cell proliferation mechanisms⁹⁹. Increased levels of GSK-3 β post-PAE activates apoptosis in neural progenitor cells, decreasing neurogenesis and differentiation in immature brains. Additionally, ethanol reduces insulin-like growth factor (IGF) receptor signaling, affecting neural proliferation and decreasing the transcription of c-myc, c-fos, and c-jun51 in cell cultures¹⁰⁰.

Current evidence indicates that prenatal and neonatal alcohol exposure reduces the number of mature and immature neurons. Interestingly, this reduction is subtle when ethanol exposure is not continuous. Nonetheless, brain region, developmental stage, and cell type are key factors when analyzing proliferation processes.

1.3.2. Migration

Migration from ventricular and germinal layers occurs radially in the medial/dorsal neocortex and tangentially in other regions of the forebrain¹⁰¹. On GD 5, superficial layers are still not clearly defined¹⁰². On GD 14.5 (mice) or GD17 (rats), first cell lineages reach the area that will form the laminae of the cortical plate. Throughout the rest of the gestation period until adulthood, the cortical plate gets thicker and more cells migrate from the ventricular zone¹⁰³. When proliferation is disrupted, migration is also affected (Figure 1). PAE alters proliferation and migration⁵⁸, affecting neural crest migration and causing cytoskeletal rearrangements. These phenomena destabilize the formation of focal adhesions in cell lineages, reducing their capacity for directional migration. Moreover, the activity of glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK-3) and cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (cdk5) modulate microtubule-associated protein 1B (MAP1B) phosphorylation, involved in the regulation of microtubules and actin filaments in neurons needed in migration processes¹⁰⁴. In vitro, ethanol inhibits neurite outgrowth by activating GSK-3β¹⁰⁵. Conversely, PAE promotes GABAergic interneuron migration by inducing epigenetic alterations in the methylation pattern of the MeCP2-BDNF/DLX5 pathway.

MeCP2 regulates expression of the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), a marker of neuronal plasticity and cellular survival known to influence GABAergic interneuron migration¹⁰⁶. MeCP2 has been shown to regulate DLX5 transcription, a transcription factor involved in the migration and maturation of GABAergic interneurons in mouse models¹⁰⁷. The human natural killer-1 (HNK-1) carbohydrate is also used as a biomarker in migration processes studies involving cranial neural crest cells¹⁰⁸. Results indicate reduced levels of HNK-1 in a model of chick embryos exposed to 2% ethanol, which suggests that PAE may disrupt cranial neural crest cell migration.

Long-term effects of PAE on migration have also been evaluated. Miller *et al.* describe the harmful effects of alcohol on proliferation and migration in rats prenatally exposed to alcohol. The authors found a delay in migration of early and late-generated neurons in rats following PAE between GD 6 and GD 21. Ethanol blocks neuronal migration probably by leading to a desynchronization of cortical development that interferes with the establishment of a normal neural network⁵⁸. Skorput *et al.* studied the effects of PAE on GABAergic interneurons in mice. They found an increase in BrdU labelling in the medial ganglionic eminence showing an increase in neurogenesis, as well as an increase in parvalbumin-expressing GABAergic interneurons in the medial prefrontal cortex in adults. These findings support the contribution of GABAergic interneuron migration disorders to persistent alterations in cortical development in adulthood¹⁰⁹.

In summary, migration is a set of complex processes regulated by different molecular pathways that are disrupted in several checkpoints when ethanol exposure occurs.

1.3.3. Differentiation

Processes of neuroblast differentiation initiate after neuronal precursors have completed their last division and are ready to migrate to a specific area^{110–112}. Depending on the fate (brain area) of migration, neuronal precursors will differentiate into neurons, astrocytes, or oligodendrocytes¹¹³. The differentiation of the cerebral cortex implies the formation of laminae in the radial domain from the ventricular zone to the pial surface and the subdivision of functional areas in the tangential domain, in rostrocaudal and mediolateral axes. During this process, the laminar fate is determined by cell-to-cell interactions and cell autonomous restriction¹¹⁰.

Several proteins, used as biomarkers, are involved in the differentiation processes. Doublecortin (DCX) has been studied in depth as an endogenous marker of immature neurons. The effects of prenatal chronic ethanol consumption on adult neurogenesis (PND 56) has been assessed in C57BL/6J mice, revealing a decrease of DCX in the hippocampus after PAE⁸⁸. Quantification of immature neurons labelled with DCX in

mouse was lower in the group of individuals exposed to alcohol in the prenatal period compared to controls. Moreover, DCX levels were lower in males than in females¹¹⁴. Broadwater et al. obtained similar results after PAE by oral gavage on PND28-48, with decreased DCX levels in the DG of adolescent mice. Furthermore, after interrupting ethanol exposure, less differentiated neurons in adulthood were found in rats¹¹⁵. Elibol-Can et al. observed slight changes in the number of granular cells labelled with DCX in hippocampal DG on PND 30. The authors reported a decrease in the volume of the hippocampus in rats after a daily ethanol dose of 6 g/kg during the second trimester equivalent¹¹⁶. Likewise, Hamilton et al. studied the long term-effects of single or continuous exposure to alcohol during the third trimester equivalent in mice and the effect of voluntary exercise as a therapy. Mice were exposed to ethanol on PND 7 or PND 5, 7, and 9 and DCX measured in adulthood. No differences in DCX levels were found in ethanol-exposed groups. Nevertheless, changes were seen in the group exposed to ethanol during PND 5, 7, and 9 with the Rotarod method and passive avoidance behavioral tests, which measure motor coordination and memory, respectively¹¹⁷. Conversely, Coleman et al. observed increased levels of DCX after ethanol exposure in the DG on PND 7 in adult male mice, but not in females⁸⁰.

Long-term effects of PAE have also been studied using other biomarkers. Choi *et al.* assessed the effects of PAE on BrdU levels in adult mice exposed to ethanol during the two first trimester equivalents. No differences in neuronal proliferation nor differentiation were found after evaluating BrdU levels⁴². Boehme *et al.* studied BDNF levels of rats exposed to ethanol during the three trimester equivalents. They found no changes in BDNF levels of animals exposed to ethanol in the prenatal period. However, increased BDNF levels were observed in groups assigned to voluntary exercise⁴⁶. Gil-Mohapel *et al.* reported increases in NeuroD levels in adult rats exposed to ethanol during the three trimester equivalents. Speeding up of differentiation processes is probably due to the increase in immature neurons showed in prenatally exposed groups⁴⁰. The changes observed in the differentiation processes in adult rodents exposed to ethanol during the prenatal period vary depending on the used biomarker. The increase in neuronal differentiation may occur as a compensation of the cellular loss in fetal life.

The cAMP responsive element binding protein (CREB) is directly correlated to neurogenesis, differentiation, neuronal connectivity and plasticity¹¹⁸. Ethanol exposure disrupts the activity of adenylyl cyclase (AC), reducing cAMP/CREB signaling and altering the differentiation processes during neurodevelopment¹¹⁸. *In vivo* and in vitro studies have shown that acute alcohol exposure enhances agonist-stimulated AC catalytic activity, while chronic alcohol exposure produces adaptive changes in AC^{119–}

¹²¹. Additionally, GSK-3 β over-expression in neural cells disrupts CNS maturation and the differentiation processes in mouse at PND 60-120¹²².

The glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) is a growth factor necessary for the development, differentiation, proliferation, and function of midbrain dopaminergic neurons. The signaling pathway for GDNF is initiated by the binding of GDNF to its coreceptor, GDNF family receptor- α 1 (GFR α 1), which leads to the recruitment of the RET receptor tyrosine kinase. The activation of RET promotes the up-regulation of downstream signaling pathways such as ERK1/2¹²³ and P13K¹²⁴, firing the activity of dopaminergic neurons. Moderate administration of alcohol increases GDNF expression, exerting a protective function against PAE. However, after acute (binge) ethanol exposure in rats, GDNF expression decreases and its protective function is diminished¹²⁵. A recent study performed in adult rats exposed to alcohol showed a decrease in DNA methylation as the leading cause of GDNF epigenetic changes following alcohol exposure¹²⁶.

Alcohol has deleterious effects on astrocytes despite them being less susceptible than neurons to moderate alcohol consumption¹²⁷. Glial cell alterations due to PAE lead to changes in neuron-glia interactions, which causes developmental defects of the brain¹²⁸. The glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) is a biomarker of mature astrocytes, commonly evaluated in differentiation processes during development. In vitro studies using primary cultures of astrocytes from 21-day old fetuses show initial increased values of GFAP levels post-ethanol exposure¹²⁹, although these GFAP values decrease after three weeks¹²⁹. GFAP levels in rat neonates have been shown to increase following ethanol exposure in different brain areas, e.g., the hippocampus, cerebellum, and cortex, as per different administration routes^{130–132}. Results in *in vitro* models suggest different effects of ethanol on astrocytes depending on the neurodevelopmental stage. Moreover, some researchers have found increased GFAP expression associated to gliosis after chronic (moderate) and acute low ethanol exposures, in mice^{133,134}. These results indicate a high risk of neurodevelopmental disease in acute PAE or heavy drinkers. Conversely, no changes were observed in GFAP expression after low chronic ethanol exposure¹³³. S100β is a classical biomarker for astrocytes, as the expression levels of S100ß in these glial cells is very high. During neurite outgrowth, S100ß is also secreted by proliferating astrocytes from cortical neurons. The accumulation of this protein in mature glial cells is associated with the microtubule network and neurotrophic activity¹³⁵. Reduced levels of S100^β were reported in mice after ethanol exposure¹³⁶, indicating a depletion in the number of proliferating astrocytes and impairment in the differentiation processes. Otherwise, Sox2 and Oct4 transcription factors regulate the embryonic stem cell pluripotency and the fate of cell lineages by a narrow dose-effect range¹³⁷. Excess

of Oct4 compared to Sox2 leads cells to mesoendoderm differentiation, while the other way round, i.e., higher levels of Sox2, promotes neuroectoderm formation. Ethanol exposure of embryonic stem cells in early differentiation generates imbalances between Oct4 and Sox2, which modifies the cellular fate from neuroectoderm to mesoendoderm, altering the formation of the ectoderm lineage and its derived progenitors. The Oct4/Sox2 imbalance is considered one of the leading causes of developmental delay and anatomical disabilities of the CNS observed in FAS phenotypes¹³⁷.

1.3.4. Synaptogenesis

The developmental process of synaptogenesis involves biochemical and morphological changes in pre- and postsynaptic components. In rodents, maturation of synaptic connections occurs during the postnatal period (Figure 1)¹³⁸ and depends on the physicochemical compatibility of pre- and postsynaptic components and the exclusion of inadequate connections. Less harmful effects of alcohol exposure on synaptogenesis have been observed when administered after birth^{60,61}, although during neuronal development ethanol seriously alters some mechanisms related to synaptogenesis^{60,61}. In a study using a rat model in which individuals were exposed to ethanol four weeks before and during pregnancy, the ultrastructural analysis of the cerebellum at PND 7 showed a delayed synaptogenesis and immature appearance of the presynaptic grid⁶¹. PAE affects the expression levels of synaptic proteins such as synapsin 1 and of other proteins of the presynaptic (GAP-43, synaptophysin, synaptotagmin) or postsynaptic machinery (MAP 2 and neurogranin). Moreover, ethanol interferes with the function of adhesion molecules such as NCAM (in a chick embryo model)¹³⁹ and L1 (in a mouse model)¹⁴⁰ involved in cell-cell interactions. During the neural processes of migration and morphogenesis, both proteins are involved in the organization and function of synaptic networks, which determine neuronal plasticity. Several studies in animal models (zebrafish) and cell cultures show decreased levels of NCAM after ethanol exposure^{141,142}. In other studies, different patterns of NCAM expression were detected according to the developmental stage on which PAE occurs¹³⁹ or the NCAM isoform analyzed. For example, the highly sialylated form of NCAM is overexpressed after ethanol exposure but the NCAM 180 and NCAM 140 isoforms appear down-regulated in a rat model¹⁴³. Other studies in animal models (mice and rats) have shown down-regulation of L1 following ethanol exposure^{140,144}.

1.3.5. Gliogenesis and myelination

Glial cells provide nutrients and physical support to neurons and regulate the presence of different proteins and components in the extracellular fluid surrounding neurons and synapses in the brain. They are essential for the normal development and function of the CNS¹⁴⁵. Neuroblast migration occurs through a scaffold provided by radial glia¹⁴⁶. Microglia have macrophage functions and astrocytes preserve the ionic and trophic balance of the extracellular medium¹⁴⁷. Oligodendrocytes synthesize myelin, therefore, this cell lineage preserves the myelin sheath and provides trophic support¹⁴⁸. Schwann cells and oligodendrocytes are in charge of the isolation and myelination of neuronal axons¹⁴⁹. Oligodendrocyte progenitor cells proliferate and differentiate into mature oligodendrocytes capable of myelinogenesis¹⁵⁰. Thus, myelination begins later in neurodevelopment than in other processes, such as proliferation and migration, and progresses throughout adolescence in rodents^{151,152}. The development of these cell lineages occurs in parallel to neurogenesis in several areas of the CNS¹⁴⁷. These lineages are characterized by distinct developmental stages and sequential expression of different developmental biomarkers such as the nerve growth factor (NGF), neurotrophins (NT-3 and NT-4), the brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), and the IGF-1 and IGF-2 factors. The BDNF is one of the most studied neurotrophins. Alcohol alters the levels of BDNF and its receptor tyrosine kinase B (TrkB). PAE induces a reduction of BDNF levels in the cortex and the hippocampus in rats at PND 7-8¹⁵³. Some studies in rats show that TrkB levels decrease in specific brain regions, e.g., the hippocampus^{153,154} and increase in the cortex¹⁵⁴. The BDNF and its receptor are targets for ethanol damage. Consequently, imbalances between them may contribute to the development of FASD-like phenotypes, even in cases in which the levels of either compound remain unaltered. In general, the up-regulation of these neurotrophic factors show protective effects during development, promoting myelination, cell survival, and neural regeneration in pathological conditions¹⁵⁵.

Lancaster *et al.* showed that PAE reduces myelinogenesis and its persistence after birth in a rat model⁶². Severe gliosis and reduction of proteins related to myelin integrity (myelin-associated glycoprotein, myelin basic protein, myelin proteolipid protein, and myelin regulatory factor) were observed in male adult mice exposed to a binge (acute) pattern of PAE during gestation and lactation. This was followed by behavioral alterations in executive function and motor coordination⁸⁵. These changes could be associated to the behavioral disabilities observed in FASD individuals. It has also been shown that exposure to alcohol activates toll-like receptor 4 signaling pathways (MAPK, NFkB) in a mouse model, leading to increased expression of pro-inflammatory mediators (COX-2, iNOS, HMGB1) and cytokines. Inflammation processes cause imbalances in myelinogenesis, impairments in synaptic links, and activation of the cell death mechanism¹⁵⁶.

1.3.6. Trophic support

CNS remodeling is a continuous process that not only takes place during development, but also throughout adulthood in response to environmental influences or genetically programmed events. Alcohol alters synaptic plasticity and neural function¹⁵⁷. Several proteins used as biomarkers participate in neural plasticity processes. Histone deacetylase 2 alters the GluN2A/GluN2B balance (the major subunits of functional Nmethyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors) through changes in GluN2B expression, which leads to memory-impairing effects¹⁵⁸. The neurotrophin family of proteins includes NGF, BDNF, NT-3, NT-4/5, and NT-6. It is well known that NGF and BDNF play important roles in PAE- and FASD-related pathogenesis. Various studies have shown that PAE disrupts neurotrophin pathways, thus affecting the organogenesis and development of brain structures in rodents^{159,160}. NGF and BDNF exert their biological effects by activating some members of the tropomyosin-related kinase (Trk) family. NGF activates TrkA and BDNF binds to TrkB¹⁶¹. Stressful events, neurological injuries, or neuroendocrine alterations in rats increase blood levels of NGF¹⁶⁰. Thus, NGF expression and the functional activity of NGF-target cells in the CNS are seriously affected by alcohol consumption. BDNF regulates neural cell survival and differentiation, as well as several functions related to neural plasticity such as learning and memory¹⁶². A recent study found that BDNF levels in the prefrontal cortex were significantly lower in the group of mice treated with ethanol in comparison to the control group¹⁶³. The study concluded that the impairment in learning and memory observed in mice exposed to ethanol was associated to changes in BDNF levels. Stragier et al. showed that chronic and moderate alcohol consumption in C57BL/6J mice promotes a chromatin-remodeling process, leading to up-regulation of BDNF signaling. The authors suggest that this epigenetic regulation is an adaptive process to balance alcohol-induced cognitive disorders¹⁶⁴. Another study in mouse reports a reduction of ethanol dependence after BDNF infusion in the prefrontal cortex¹⁶⁵, evidencing that BDNF levels in specific brain areas play a role in alcohol dependence. Boehme et al. studied the changes produced by voluntary exercise in hippocampal BDNF levels. Ethanol was delivered by intragastric gavage during the three trimester equivalents and individuals had free access to voluntary exercise on a running wheel during adulthood. Results showed increased BDNF levels in young adult females after voluntary exercise⁴⁶. Recent studies suggest that matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9), a Zn²⁺ dependent extracellular endopeptidase, participates in neuronal plasticity, specifically in memory and learning^{166,167}. Acute and chronic ethanol exposure up-regulates MMP-9 levels in the brain, particularly in the medial prefrontal cortex and hippocampus, in rats¹⁶⁸. The vascular endothelial growth

factor (VEGF) is involved in the activity, plasticity, and survival of microvessels. Mice prenatally exposed to alcohol have reduced cortical vascular density, affected microvascular structure, and altered expression of VEGF and its receptor. VEGF may prevent microvessel plasticity disorders and death. As a mouse model shows, PAE exerts deleterious effects on the microvascular network, which suggests that vascular defects contribute to alcohol-induced brain injury¹⁶⁹. *In vitro* studies show that ethanol also alters the expression and function of IGF-1 and IGF-2, leading to birth defects such as low head circumference at birth and microcephaly. These insulin-like growth factors are used by the organism as a general signal of cell survival, so that reduced IGF-I or IGF-II signaling by PAE in neurons activates cell death mechanisms by apoptosis or necrosis¹⁷⁰. Other biomarkers such as DYRK1A act as general inhibitors of neural plasticity. Their over-expression in different brain areas due to environmental insults or stress situations, reduces neural plasticity in neurons promoting cognitive problems and intellectual disability¹⁷¹⁻¹⁷³. Recent studies have demonstrated that some DYRK1A inhibitors such as the antioxidant epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG) improve long-term outcomes related with memory and executive function in individuals with Down's syndrome^{171–173}. Although it is currently under study, the inhibition of DYRK1A might improve cognitive performance in pathologies associated to the loss of neuronal functions and plasticity, e.g., FASD, autism, or Down's Syndrome¹⁷⁴. Furthermore, EGCG increases NGF expression by downregulating MMP-9. These proteins have been associated with FASD alterations during neurodevelopment¹⁷⁵.

1.3.7. Synaptic plasticity

Synaptic plasticity is the process through which long-term changes in synaptic communication occur¹⁷⁶.

Fontaine *et al.* studied the effect of prenatal exposure to ethanol in a rat model during the two trimester equivalent and PND 21 to 28 on long-term potentiation and depression, and depotentiation in the medial perforant path input to the hippocampus DG. Impairment of long-term potentiation was seen in both males and females, while long-term depression was only observed in males. These results suggest that PAE causes gender-impairment in synaptic plasticity in long-term depression¹⁷⁷. Wong *et al.* focused their study on the contribution of microglia in synaptic plasticity. Using a third trimester equivalent mice model, ethanol was injected simulating a binge-drinking pattern. The authors found a deficit in experience-dependent synaptic plasticity in the visual cortex with no correlation to microglial function¹⁷⁸. Shivakumar *et al.* administered ethanol to mice at PND 7 and showed that ethanol exposure produces epigenetic

changes that inhibit the activation of several synaptic plasticity genes. Combination with trichostatin A prevents learning and memory disorders in adult mice¹⁷⁹.

PAE negatively affects synaptic plasticity. Epigenetic changes, as well as damage to the microglia, may partially explain synaptic plasticity disorders in FASD models.

1.3.8. Apoptosis

Apoptosis is a critical pathway in fetal neurodevelopment. Programmed cell death systematically removes a large number of neural precursors from embryonic structures formed during development. PAE activates and deregulates cell death mechanisms, leading to the loss of cell lineages in the hippocampus, basal ganglia, or cerebellum and disappearance of critical structures in the brain such as the corpus callosum^{63,64}. Activation of apoptosis is produced by an increase of reactive oxygen species (ROS) generated in ethanol metabolism (see section 4.1). ROS activate intrinsic and extrinsic apoptotic pathways, reducing the expression and function of the anti-apoptotic proteins Bcl-xL and Bcl-2 in a rat model¹⁸⁰. A study using a mouse model shows that the function of the pro-apoptotic effectors Bak and Bax is directly affected by alcohol due to alterations in mitochondrial membrane fluidity and mitochondrial respiration dysfunctions, leading to the activation of the caspase cascade and subsequent generation of the active form of the effector caspase 3¹⁸¹. Consequently, some researchers have developed mitochondrial protective strategies to prevent alcoholinduced damage. Certain molecules, e.g., nicotinamide¹⁸², stabilize mitochondrial membranes while others, e.g., antioxidants, prevent mitochondrial dysfunction induced by the production of ROS following ethanol exposure, in mouse. In addition, ethanol activates specific cell death pathways. More specifically, ethanol induces c-jun Nterminal-kinase phosphorylation, a mitogen-activated protein kinase associated with apoptosis, and GDNF may interfere with the activation of the c-jun N-terminal-kinase molecular pathway to prevent ethanol-induced apoptosis. Unlike other neurotoxic substances, ethanol does not interfere with the phosphorylation of extracellular signalregulated kinases involved in the regulation of cell survival¹⁸³.

1.4. Diagnosis of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders

PAE results in a wide range of phenotypic manifestations and behavioral deficits in the offspring as described below.

1.4.1. Craniofacial anomalies

The key facial features used for a clinical diagnosis of FAS in humans include short palpebral fissures, thin upper lip vermilion, and smooth philtrum¹⁸⁴. Based on human studies^{218,219}, in 2009 Fang *et al.* described a validated facial image analysis method for first time, based on a multi-angle image classification using micro-video images of mouse

embryos. This method, validated later by other researchers, allows discerning between embryos that have been exposed to ethanol from those who have not^{185,186}. The use of a validated model in rodents is not only useful to study how PAE alters morphogenetic processes, but it also allow making associations between a change in a facial feature and the structure/function in the CNS.

Alcohol exposure during essential periods of embryonic development results in craniofacial dysmorphology (Figure 3). Several studies have used chick and murine PAE models to demonstrate the correlation between craniofacial anomalies, apoptosis induction, and altered migration of neural crest cells^{187–189}. A series of facial anomalies may present in FASD associated to PAE during the premigratory period of neural crest cells (Figure 2). At this stage, ethanol induces calcium transients that activate CaMKII that mediates the loss of transcriptionally active β -catenin, triggering the apoptosis of populations of neural crest cells. Genetic factors play an important role in the vulnerability to alcohol-induced craniofacial dysmorphology. Sonic Hedgehog signaling, platelet-derived growth factor subunit A, Vang-like protein 2, or ribosomal biogenesis genes are of special relevance in neural crest development¹⁹⁰. Studies using FASD-like phenotype rodent models, in which dose and timing of ethanol exposure is controlled, show structural alterations in the head and face^{191,192} resembling the anomalies observed in humans under PAE situations¹⁹³.



Figure 3. Facial dysmorphology induced by prenatal ethanol exposure. Representative examples of a control animal (A) and a fetus severely affected by ethanol exposure (B). Microcephaly, short palpebral fissures, thin upper lip vermillion, and smooth philtrum define the FAS-like phenotype (B). FAS-like facial features are induced in the mouse by maternal alcohol exposure on gestational day 7 and 8.5 (equivalent to the third gestational week in humans). Courtesy of Prof. Kathie Sulik, University of North Carolina-Chapel Hill (271) (https://www.teratology.org/primer/fas.asp).

Several studies have examined the craniofacial anomalies in FASD-like rodent models. According to Godin et al., intraperitoneal administration of two injections of ethanol at 2.9 g/kg in mice on GD 7 (equivalent to post-fertilization week 3 in humans), causes a series of facial dysmorphologies similar to those seen in FAS children. These defects include median facial cleft, cleft palate, micrognathia, pituitary agenesis, and third ventricular dilatation and heterotopias⁴⁴. However, intraperitoneal alcohol exposure of two 25% dosages of ethanol at 2.9 g/kg delayed to GD 8.5 in mice produces a different pattern of dysmorphologies, such as shortening of the palpebral fissures, mild hypoplasia, and shortened upper lip, but a preserved philtrum⁶⁹. Variations in FAS-like facial phenotypes depend on exposure timing, implying different facial features when considering this variable (Figure 2). New techniques for FASD diagnosis include methods to identify potentially at-risk individuals based on the identification of subtle and subclinical facial characteristics¹⁹⁴. A computerized system for detecting facial characteristics using three-dimensional facial imaging and computer-based densesurface modelling has been developed^{194,195}. This approach has been compared against standard dysmorphology physical examination for FAS diagnosis showing high similarities¹⁹⁶. More recently, a new technique based on 3D MicroCT scan performed on pups prenatally exposed to alcohol has been created¹⁹⁷. This method shows that craniofacial bones might be reliable and sensitive indicators of PAE in mouse pups exposed to 4.2% alcohol v/v for two weeks before pregnancy and GD 7-16. The same study confirmed that the neurocranium (cranial skeleton) is more sensitive to alcohol than the viscerocranium (facial skeleton). Other researchers characterized concurrent face-brain phenotypes in mouse fetuses exposed to two 25% intraperitoneal dosages of ethanol at 2.9 g/kg on GD 7 or GD 8.5 using MRI imaging and dense surface modelingbased shape analysis⁶⁹. Differences in facial phenotype linked to ethanol exposure GD were found, being more subtle when the exposure was on GD 8.5. Both phenotypes were associated with unique volumetric and shape abnormalities of the septal region. pituitary, and olfactory bulbs. These findings justify the need to improve the current diagnostic criteria to better capture the full range of facial and brain dysmorphology in FASD.

1.4.2. Brain and neurobehavioral deficits

Brain organogenesis is the most severely affected process by alcohol exposure¹⁹⁸ and there is a general consensus in relation to the effects of PAE on the hippocampus, cerebellum, and the *corpus callosum*^{199,200}. Important asymmetry of the hippocampus is observed in FAS children, with the left lobe being smaller than the right lobe⁸. The

cerebellum, associated with balance, coordination, and learning capacity, and the anterior part of the vermis develop hypoplasia when exposed to ethanol⁷.

The *corpus callosum* is particularly vulnerable to ethanol exposure and, in some cases, may lead to total (agenesis) or partial (hypoplasia) loss of structure²⁰¹. The most affected areas of the *corpus callosum* are the front (genu) and back (splenium and isthmus), appearing smaller and displaced from their usual spatial location in the brain⁶. Basal ganglia is responsible for motor and cognitive abilities, presenting a smaller size in patients with FAS, particularly the area of the caudal nucleus associated to cognitive abilities such as spatial capacity²⁰². A recent study using 3D surface MRI techniques showed abnormalities in the cortical folding (gyrification) in FASD children. These findings are directly correlated with the intelligence quotient (IQ)²⁰³. Future research with MRI techniques to evaluate rodent gyrification may prove to be useful to further understand the relationship between cortical development and cognitive disorders in humans.

Broadly, timing of ethanol exposure²⁰⁴ has a clear impact on the CNS and elicits specific brain and behavioral deficits and disorders in motor and cognitive functions²⁰⁵ (Figure 2).

Different standardized tests in rodents have been used to assess FASD-related abnormalities. The hippocampus is one of the most damaged structures with ethanol exposure, for which reason many studies assess hippocampal function. Spatial learning is commonly evaluated to demonstrate hippocampal disorders^{47,85,206}. Different authors describe long-term motor coordination impairments learning and memory deficiencies in adult male mice prenatally exposed to alcohol⁸⁵, behavioral effects in rats following short-term PAE²⁰⁷, or depressive-like behaviors in adult rats exposed to ethanol throughout the three-trimester equivalents²⁰⁸. Understanding the characteristics of behavioral disorders in mice is necessary to identify the effects of PAE in these models.

1.4.3. Fetal growth restriction

Interference of ethanol on maternal nutrition may differ. Being a source of energy, alcohol blocks the absorption of other nutrients, including proteins, and hinders intestinal transport of essential nutrients. Due to its effects on the liver, alcohol causes changes in metabolic and nutrient utilization. PAE leads to maternal nutritional deficiencies that result in fetal growth impairments³⁷.

PAE also impairs placental angiogenesis²⁰⁹ leading to fetal growth restriction (FGR)¹⁶. The growth curves defined by Dilworth *et al.* are a useful tool to define the frequency distribution of mouse weight. Any fetus with a weight below the fifth centile was considered growth restricted⁷⁶. Middaugh *et al.* characterized the impaired growth of C57BL/6 mice prenatally exposed to alcohol²¹⁰ and showed the effect of alcohol on

fetal growth when administered in the second and third trimester equivalents²¹⁰. Tran et al. used a FAS-like rat model that equalizes BAC peak in the different developmental periods. Pups prenatally exposed to ethanol for all trimesters equivalent or for the second trimester equivalent showed significantly lower body weights²¹¹. The latter stages of pregnancy, rather than early pregnancy, appear to be more sensitive to PAE in terms of postnatal growth. Thus, the growth deficit produced by PAE depends on the timing of the insult during gestation, which will affect certain neural or neuroendocrine systems at that stage of development.

Other authors have described the effects of ethanol on trophoblasts and placental permeability. Alcohol exposed placentas showed altered branching morphogenesis in the labyrinthine zone and suppression of invasive trophoblastic precursors⁷⁷. Permeability was also affected by the altered structures in the barriers that separate fetomaternal blood circulation²¹². This altered process compromised fetal growth and placentation in a dose-response manner⁷⁷. The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), a regulator of angiogenesis and permeability inducer, was up-regulated in mouse placentas after occasional acute alcohol exposure²¹². On the other hand, continuous exposure throughout the perigestational period up to early organogenesis produces a reduction of VEGF expression and up-regulation of the vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGF-R), a negative regulator of embryogenic angiogenesis²¹³. These alterations contribute to a deficient decidual angiogenesis. Finally, the placental growth factor (PLGF), a member of the VEGF family, also involved in angiogenesis and vasculogenesis during the embryonic period, is regulated in a different manner depending on the developmental stage²¹². In addition, insulin-like growth factors (IGFs), especially IGF-II, are critical regulators of fetal growth and placentation. Although IGF-II levels were found to be increased in placentas of a FASD-like rat model, its bioavailability is reduced as a result of IGF receptor overexpression, which contributes to disorders in placentation and FGR²¹⁴. PAE produces an increase of placental Bax and Bak proapoptotic proteins and a decrease of the anti-apoptotic Bcl-e protein, promoting fetal loss²¹⁵. Therefore, altered growth factors in conjunction with malformations of the placental barrier may contribute to placental malfunction and permeability alterations in the feto-maternal barrier.

1.5. Alcohol-induced oxidative stress

Multiple pathological effects derived from alcohol exposure during fetal development have been described, which depend on the studied organ, region and cell type, and the stage of pregnancy at which the fetus is exposed to ethanol²¹⁶. Teratogenic effects of PAE include oxidative stress damage and other pathophysiology mechanisms, e.g.,

dysregulation of the neuroimmune system, neurotransmitter disorders, and epigenetic modifications.

Free radicals are highly reactive molecules, many of which contain oxygen. They are able to produce oxidative stress, subsequent damage to cellular components, including membranes, proteins and DNA, and can induce apoptosis. There is evidence supporting a role for oxidative stress in alcohol teratogenesis²¹⁷.

Many pathways may contribute to the ability of alcohol to induce a state of oxidative stress. Ethanol is metabolized in the liver of adult individuals via the alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH) and aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) families of enzymes (Figure 4), leading to moderate ROS production, e.g., hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) and hydroxyl radicals (OH-). ROS are eliminated by endogenous antioxidant mechanisms directed by catalase, superoxide dismutase (SOD), and the antioxidant molecule glutathione (GSH)²¹⁸. After high alcohol intake, the catalytic activity of ADH and ALDH becomes saturated and an alternative pathway mediated by the cytochrome P450 2E1 enzyme is up-regulated to metabolize ethanol to acetaldehyde, producing high amounts of ROS. ROS-sensing transcription factors, such as the nuclear erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2), activate the oxidative stress response mechanisms when moderate levels of alcohol-derived ROS are present, up-regulating antioxidant enzymes and proteins involved in DNA repair. Imbalances between ROS-producing pathways (following PAE) versus the endogenous antioxidant and DNA repair mechanisms promote downregulation of the detoxification pathways^{218,219}. NADPH oxidase (NOX) also plays an important role in alcohol teratogenicity. Alcohol exposure induces NOX enzyme activity and increases mRNA expression of the NOX regulatory subunits. NOX inhibitors, e.g., diphenyleneiodonium, have shown to be protective, diminishing the generation of alcohol-induced ROS, caspase-3 activity, and apoptosis²²⁰. The decrease of the antioxidant system affects specific regions of the CNS such as the cerebellum, hippocampus and cortex, as well as the placenta^{221,222}. The fetal brain is particularly sensitive to PAE because the ADH isoform expressed in this tissue during development is a class II isoenzyme (ADH4). This isoform is less efficient for alcohol catabolism than other isoforms expressed in adults²²³. The mechanisms involved in antioxidant response are physiologically downregulated during development²²⁴⁻²²⁷, increasing brain's vulnerability to ethanol. The excess of ethanol also activates the lactate pathway in fetal liver, generating a deficit of glucose in the bloodstream that affects nervous tissues especially²²⁸. Imbalances of ROS activate the mechanisms of inflammation²²⁹ mediated by cytokines such as IL-6 or the NLRP3 inflammasome, a multi-protein intracellular complex responsible for processing and secretion of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1β and IL-18²³⁰.



Figure 4. Alcohol metabolic pathway in the liver. ADH: alcohol dehydrogenase. ALDH: aldehyde dehydrogenase. ROS: reactive oxygen species. SOD: Superoxide Dismutase, GPX: Glutathione peroxidase. GR: Glutathione reductase. The ADH, ALDH enzymes and the P450 2E1 cytochrome participate in the oxidative metabolism of alcohol. The activity of the P450 2E1 cytochrome in alcohol metabolism and re-oxidation of NADH via the electron transport chain in the mitochondria results in the formation of ROS. Catalase in peroxisomes, SOD in mitochondria and GPX-GR in cytosol are activated by an increase of oxidative stress to reduce the levels of ROS. High amounts of ROS lead to a down-regulation (negative feedback) of the antioxidant response. Own authorship.

Tissue homeostasis is also affected by ROS²³¹, which cause changes in critical cell functions as signal transduction related to the metabolism of macromolecules (lipids, proteins, RNA, and DNA)²²⁹. E.g., ROS promote the modification of 8-oxoguanine in DNA during embryogenesis^{232,233}, corrected by the enzyme oxoguanine glycosylase 1²³⁴. Calcium homeostasis and protein folding, modification, and secretion in the endoplasmic reticulum are also altered by ROS, as well as mitochondrial respiration, affecting its morphology and function. Moreover, activation of autophagy, programmed (apoptosis) and non-programmed (necrosis) cell death are promoted by oxidative stress^{231,235,236}.

Some studies have assessed the long-term consequences of PAE on oxidative stress and the intracellular redox state. Dembele *et al.* found an relation between continuous administration of PAE with increased levels of oxidative stress in adult rats (PND 90), characterized by high levels of protein carbonyls, lipid peroxides, high expression of SOD, and low levels of GSH²³⁷. Similar results have been reported by other authors, who showed an association between chronic PAE at different concentrations

with increased levels of distinct oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation markers in adolescent and adult rodents^{238,239}. Chu *et al.* found a correlation between PAE and apoptotic (p53) and DNA oxidation markers (8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine) in adult rats²³⁹. Brocardo *et al.* reported depressive and anxiety-like behaviors and high levels of lipid and protein peroxidation in adult rats (PND60) who were given ethanol throughout the three-trimester equivalents²⁰⁸. Their findings also indicate an association between voluntary exercise, which increased the endogenous antioxidant pathways in brain, and reduced oxidative stress and depressive/anxiety-like behaviors. Similarly, binge PAE (GD 17–18) increased the levels of lipid peroxidation and oxidative stress, apoptotic activation via caspase-3 activity, and DNA fragmentation, decreasing antioxidant molecules as GSH^{240,241}. Alcohol exposure induces the activity of the NADPH oxidase (NOX) and increases mRNA expression of NOX regulatory subunits.

1.6. Antioxidant strategy in fetal alcohol spectrum disorders

There are no specific treatments for FASD. Alcohol abstinence during pregnancy is the only effective recommendation against FASD. The physical defects and mental disorders typically persist for a lifetime. However, early interventions, e.g., nutritional strategies and environmental enrichment, may help reduce some FASD effects and prevent some secondary disabilities. Although the underlying mechanisms of ethanol neurotoxicity are not completely determined, the induction of oxidative stress is considered one of the central processes linked to the development of this disease²⁴². Different strategies based on treatments with nutritional supplements such as natural antioxidants are currently under study to determine their role in reducing PAE-related oxidative stress damage.

1.6.1. Endogenous and exogenous antioxidant mechanisms

An antioxidant is a molecule capable of slowing down or preventing the oxidation of other molecules. Oxidation is a chemical reaction of electron transfer from a substance to an oxidizing agent. Oxidation reactions can produce radicals that are able to damage cells. Antioxidants prevent these reactions by removing intermediates from the radical and inhibiting other oxidation reactions by oxidizing themselves. Oxidative stress is promoted by low levels of antioxidants or inhibition of antioxidant enzymes, which causes severe damage in the cells and/or leads to cell death.

Knowledge on the mode of action of antioxidants may support their use to reduce the teratogenic effects of alcohol. Antioxidants can be divided into three large groups:

- Antioxidant enzymes that catalyze ROS degradation. SOD, peroxidases, and the enzyme catalase are antioxidant enzymes.
- Antioxidants that prevent chain reactions. When a free radical interacts with

another molecule, secondary radicals are generated that in turn can react with other targets so that chain reactions are triggered with other targets producing even more radical species. Antioxidants interrupt these chain reactions because they receive or give electrons to a radical, forming a stable intermediate compound. As a result of the reaction, the antioxidant oxidizes and must be regenerated or replaced in order to become active again. Some examples of antioxidants are tocopherols, flavonoids, carotenoids, and vitamin C.

Transition metal binding proteins sequester iron and copper ions so that they are not available to react with radicals such as SOD and hydrogen peroxide. This prevents the formation of the highly reactive hydroxyl radical. Some examples of this type of proteins are transferrin, ferritin, lactoferrin, and ceruloplasmin.

Oxidative stress has been associated with the pathogenesis of many human diseases. For this reason, there is special interest in the use of antioxidants for the treatment or prevention of various pathologies, e.g., neurodegenerative diseases²⁴³.

1.6.2. Natural antioxidants: green tea

Tea is the second most consumed drink in the world, after water²⁴⁴. It is extracted from the leaves of *Camellia sinensis* and mainly produced in four varieties, white, green, oolong, and black, depending on the level of oxidation and fermentation²⁴⁵. Daily intake of green tea provides several health benefits, e.g., anti-inflammatory, anti-cancer, antimicrobial, and antioxidant, helping reduce the risk of developing certain diseases²⁴⁶. The health benefits of green tea are mainly attributed to its antioxidant properties²⁴⁷. For that reason, green tea extracts have been evaluated in diseases associated with the increase of ROS and oxidative stress, such as cancer and cardiovascular diseases^{248,249}. Moreover, other molecular mechanisms such as signaling pathways, modulation of the activity of certain enzymes, and several interactions with membrane receptors related to cognitive functioning have also been described for green tea components in the treatment of neurodegenerative pathologies as Alzheimer's disease^{243,250}.

Most of the health-promoting effects of green tea are associated to its polyphenol content²⁵¹, particularly flavonoids. The main flavonoids in green tea, catechins, make up to 30%–40% of its solid components. The major catechins in green tea are epicatechin (EC), epicatechin-3-gallate (ECG), epigallocatechin (EGC), and epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG).

1.6.3. Epigallocatechin gallate

EGCG (Figure 5), the most abundant flavonoid, represents approximately 59% of total catechins in green tea²⁴⁶. Many of the beneficial properties of green tea are

attributed to this compound, so that EGCG has recently been put forward as a potential therapeutic agent^{252,253}. Some of the health effects are related to the antiproliferative activity of EGCG, as it interferes with intracellular signaling cascades inhibiting cell growth at the G1 phase, triggering apoptosis. In this framework, EGCG has been proposed as a cancer chemopreventive compound^{254,255}. Other beneficial properties of EGCG have been described: its metabolic effects in reducing the risk of type 2 diabetes and associated cardiovascular complications²⁵⁶; its antimicrobial activity by preventing bacteria to bind to their host cells; catechins bind to the lipid bilayer and alter the bacterial cell membrane; its role in preventing and reducing viral infections. EGCG also exhibits a protective role in some neurodegenerative diseases, e.g., Alzheimer's disease²⁴⁶ or after a neural injury²⁵⁷. Additionally, a recent research has demonstrated that this flavonoid improves cognitive performance and adaptive functionality in individuals with Down's syndrome by modulating the overexpression of the dual specificity tyrosine phosphorylation regulated kinase 1A (Dyrk1A)¹⁷¹. This protein is encoded by the DYRK1A gene, involved in signaling pathways that regulate cell proliferation, neural plasticity, and neurogenesis²⁵⁸.



Figure 5. Molecule model of epigallocatechin gallate. Colour code: carbon (C), black; hydrogen (H), white; Oxygen (O), red. Creative Commons license.

1.6.3.1. Metabolism and bioavailability

The eight free hydroxyl groups of the bioactive EGCG compound, favor its biological functions²⁵⁹. Like other phenolic compounds, EGCG shows low bioavailability, 0.1-0.3% in humans^{260,261}. EGCG availability depends on the absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion processes, reaching peak plasma concentration after one to five hours²⁶² and being undetectable 24 hours after oral dosing²⁶³. The acidic pH

environment in the stomach favors the structural stability of EGCG²⁶⁴. In its transit through the duodenum, EGCG goes through the digestion process mediated by the pancreas and neutralization by the secretion of bile salts^{263,265}. Next, a fraction of EGCG is absorbed by the enterocytes in the small intestine. Low concentrations of EGCG reach peripheral blood because of the passage from the small to the large intestine. Once in the intestine, EGCG is catabolized by local microbiota through deconjugation and degradation processes²⁵⁹. Gut microbiota promotes up to eleven catechin products by ring fission in different species, present in free and conjugated forms in the plasma. *In vitro* data suggest that EGCG forms cross the blood-brain barrier and reach the brain parenchyma. Once distributed throughout the brain, EGCG promotes neuritogenesis, showing an important role in suppressing neurodegenerative diseases²⁶⁶. Finally, liver cells metabolize the remaining EGCG, transforming methylated, sulfate, and glucuronide intermediates that will be excreted in urine²⁶⁷.

Moreover, stability of EGCG is affected by various factors, with notable differences in pharmacokinetic parameters among individuals^{256,268}; for example, alkaline pH and high temperatures affect its structural stability, promoting degradation and thus reducing absorption²⁶⁹. Studies on EGCG bioavailability in humans show contradictory results. Some reports conclude that the intake of EGCG in combination with specific nutrients, such as omega-3 fatty acids²⁷⁰, vitamins as ascorbic acid²⁷¹, and minerals as selenium or chrome, improve the bioavailability of EGCG enhancing its antioxidant properties. Conversely, recent studies conclude that EGCG oral bioavailability in humans is low when administered with food^{263,272}.

The hydrophilic-lipophilic balance of EGCG restricts its bioefficiency in lipophilic environments affecting its conformation and effectiveness. Modifying its structure through esterification with aliphatic molecules, such as long-chain fatty acids, may improve absorption and boost its bioavailability²⁷³. Moreover, these ester derivatives have shown higher antiviral and antioxidant properties than the non-esterified EGCG molecule^{273–275} and more effective neuroprotection than non-modified EGCG in cellular models of neurological diseases²⁷⁶. Thus, EGCG esters may be used in nutrition as lipophilic alternatives without hampering its beneficial properties.

1.6.3.2. Antioxidant activity

EGCG is a powerful antioxidant. Under pathological conditions with increased oxidative stress (e.g., ischemia/reperfusion, alcoholic fatty liver, or obesity-induced inflammation), EGCG supplementation may provide protection against cell damage caused by free radicals.

Green tea polyphenols scavenge ROS by generating more stable phenolic radicals. The B and D rings of EGCG have a galloyl group. In vitro studies show how EGCG reacts with O2-, leading to oxidation of the D ring; thus, EGCG scavenges OH and O2-²⁷⁷. Furthermore, some studies show positive correlations between the phenolic content in green tea and antioxidant activity, measured by ferric reducing/antioxidant power and oxygen radical absorbance capacity assays^{278,279}. EGCG inhibits the increase of H_2O_2 and MDA in murine models²⁸⁰, arranges its phenolic groups to contribute to its antioxidant activity²⁸¹, protects against ROS-mediate DNA damage²⁸², and potentiates the cellular defense capacity against oxidative stress via Nrf2-mediated synthesis of antioxidant enzymes such as hemeoxygenase-1, glutamate cysteine ligase, glutathione peroxidase, and glutathione S-transferase ²⁸³.

In addition, EGCG directly interacts with proteins and phospholipids in the plasma membrane regulating signal transduction pathways, transcription factors, DNA methylation, mitochondrial function, and autophagy to exert many of its beneficial biological actions²⁸⁴. These effects depended on cell type, stress conditions, and EGCG concentration²⁸⁴.

1.6.3.3. Neuroprotective effect

Different studies show the benefits on cognitive function of diet plans that include tea²⁸⁵. Recent research suggests that EGCG in green tea may play a role in improving neurological cell function and preventing degenerative brain diseases as in Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, or Down's syndrome. The targets of green tea catechins include the abnormal accumulation of fibrous proteins (e.g., A β and α -synuclein), pro-inflammatory and pro-apoptotic proteins, as well as oxidative stress response transcription factors, which are associated (all of them) with neuronal cell dysfunction and cell death in the cerebral cortex²⁸⁶.

Alzheimer's disease is a neurodegenerative disorder characterized by β -amyloid peptide (A β) accumulation and neurofibrillary tangle formation. Some studies have reported that tea consumption is inversely associated with the risk of developing Alzheimer's disease²⁸⁷. The expression of the disease depends on the amount and distribution of A β . A β induces synaptic dysfunction, disrupts neural connectivity, and induces brain region-specific neuronal death²⁴⁶. Several studies show the beneficial effect of EGCG on soluble A β levels and A β -induced behavioral, memory, and coordination impairment in murine models ^{288,289}.

On the other hand, Parkinson's disease is a neurodegenerative disease caused by the loss of dopamine-producing nerve cells. Several studies suggest that the intake of tea has a protective effect on this disorder²⁹⁰. Flavonoids may stimulate the

phosphorylation of the transcription factor cAMP-response element-binding protein, a regulator of neuronal viability and synaptic plasticity, and inhibit NADPH oxidase activity²⁹¹.

Finally, Down's syndrome is characterized by altered neuro-architecture, deficient synaptic plasticity, and excitation-inhibition imbalance in critical brain regions for learning and memory. A combined therapy with environmental enrichment and EGCG, improved cortico-hippocampal-dependent learning and memory. Possible mechanisms for cognitive improvement was a rescue of cornu ammonis 1 (CA1) dendritic spine density and normalization of the proportion of excitatory and inhibitory synaptic markers in CA1 and the DG²⁹². In addition, overexpression of DYRK1A (an inhibitor of neural plasticity) has been found in individuals with Down's syndrome. Recent studies have demonstrated that some DYRK1A inhibitors, such as the antioxidant EGCG, improve long-term outcomes related with memory and executive function in this population^{171–173}

EGCG has been shown to help prevent and treat neurodegenerative diseases and may be useful for the therapeutic management of Fetal Alcohol Syndrome neurological effects.

HYPOTHESIS

2. HYPOTHESIS

Prenatal alcohol exposure produces different degrees of fetal growth restriction, placental disorders, and brain impairments in humans depending on the type of exposure (acute or binge versus chronic moderate or Mediterranean). EGCG therapy administered under optimal pharmacokinetic conditions may attenuate these abnormalities.

The specific hypotheses of this doctoral thesis are:

- 1. Binge human-like pattern of PAE produces more severe fetal growth restriction and placental disorders than Mediterranean PAE
- 2. Binge human-like pattern of PAE produces more severe brain impairment in comparison to Mediterranean PAE
- EGCG therapy administered under optimal pharmacokinetic conditions may mitigate placental and brain alterations produced by PAE according to the two human-like drinking patterns (binge versus Mediterranean)
- 4. Highest plasma concentrations are reached with oral EGCG administration without food supplements
- 5. Food supplements improve the stability of oral EGCG administration

OBJECTIVES

3. OBJECTIVES

The main objectives of this thesis are to evaluate the protective effect of EGCG on a FASD-like mouse model exposed to two human-like drinking patterns (acute or binge versus chronic moderate or Mediterranean) and assess the specific EGCG bioavailability profile in humans under different nutritional conditions.

The specific objectives of this doctoral thesis are:

- To assess the effects of binge versus Mediterranean alcohol exposure on fetal growth and placenta, based on fetal and placental weight and placental angiogenesis biomarkers
- 2. To analyze the effects of binge versus Mediterranean alcohol exposure on maturation, differentiation, and plasticity in fetal brain processes based on specific neuronal biomarkers
- 3. To study the protective effect of EGCG on fetal growth, placental development, and neurogenesis processes
- 4. To analyze the bioavailability of oral EGCG administered alone or with different food supplements in healthy volunteers
- 5. To evaluate the pharmacokinetic parameters of EGCG in healthy volunteers

METHODS AND RESULTS
4. METHODS AND RESULTS

Article 1. Epigallocatechin gallate ameliorates the effects of prenatal alcohol exposure in a fetal alcohol spectrum disorder-like mouse model

In this publication, we evaluated the protective effect of EGCG on a FASD-like mouse model based on the two human-like drinking patterns (binge versus Mediterranean). The aims in this work were:

- To assess the effects of binge versus chronic alcohol exposure on fetal growth and placenta, based on fetal and placental weight and placental angiogenesis biomarkers
- 2. To analyze the effects of binge versus chronic alcohol exposure on maturation, differentiation, and plasticity in fetal brain development based on specific neuronal biomarkers
- 3. To study the protective effect of EGCG on fetal growth, placental development, and neurogenesis processes





Article Epigallocatechin Gallate Ameliorates the Effects of Prenatal Alcohol Exposure in a Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder-Like Mouse Model

Laura Almeida-Toledano ^{1,2,3,†}, Vicente Andreu-Fernández ^{4,5,*,†}, Rosa Aras-López ^{3,6}, Óscar García-Algar ^{1,3,4,7}, Leopoldo Martínez ^{3,6,8,‡} and María Dolores Gómez-Roig ^{1,2,3,*,‡}

- ¹ BCNatal-Barcelona Center for Maternal Fetal and Neonatal Medicine, Hospital Sant Joan de Déu and Hospital Clínic, 08950 Esplugues de Llobregat, Spain; lalmeida@sjdhospitalbarcelona.org (L.A.-T.); ogarciaa@clinic.cat (Ó.G.-A.)
- ² Institut de Recerca Sant Joan de Déu, 08950 Esplugues de Llobregat, Spain
- ³ Maternal and Child Health and Development Network II (SAMID II), Instituto de Salud Carlos III (ISCIII),
- 28029 Madrid, Spain; rosam.aras@salud.madrid.org (R.A.-L.); leopoldo.martinez@salud.madrid.org (L.M.)
 ⁴ Grup de Recerca Infancia i Entorn (GRIE), Institut d'investigacions Biomèdiques August Pi i Sunyer (IDIBAPS), 08036 Barcelona, Spain
- ⁵ Valencian International University (VIU), 46002 Valencia, Spain
- ⁶ Congenital Malformations Lab, Institute of Medicine and Molecular Genetic (INGEMM), Institute for Health Research of La Paz University Hospital (IdiPAZ), 28046 Madrid, Spain
- ⁷ Department of Neonatology, Hospital Clínic-Maternitat, ICGON, IDIBAPS, BCNatal, 08028 Barcelona, Spain
- ⁸ Department of Pediatric Surgery, Hospital Universitario La Paz, 28046 Madrid, Spain
- Correspondence: viandreu@clinic.cat (V.A.-F.); lgomezroig@sjdhospitalbarcelona.org (M.D.G.-R.);
- Tel.: +34-609709258 (V.A.-F.); +34-670061359 (M.D.G.-R.)
- + These authors share first authorship.
- ‡ These authors share last position.

Abstract: Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder is the main preventable cause of intellectual disability in the Western world. Although binge drinking is the most studied prenatal alcohol exposure pattern, other types of exposure, such as the Mediterranean, are common in specific geographic areas. In this study, we analyze the effects of prenatal alcohol exposure in binge and Mediterranean human drinking patterns on placenta and brain development in C57BL/6J mice. We also assess the impact of prenatal treatment with the epigallocatechin-3-gallate antioxidant in both groups. Study experimental groups for Mediterranean or binge patterns: (1) control; (2) ethanol; (3) ethanol + epigallocatechin-3gallate. Brain and placental tissue were collected on gestational Day 19. The molecular pathways studied were fetal and placental growth, placental angiogenesis (VEGF-A, PLGF, VEGF-R), oxidative stress (Nrf2), and neurodevelopmental processes including maturation (NeuN, DCX), differentiation (GFAP) and neural plasticity (BDNF). Prenatal alcohol exposure resulted in fetal growth restriction and produced imbalances of placental angiogenic factors. Moreover, prenatal alcohol exposure increased oxidative stress and caused significant alterations in neuronal maturation and astrocyte differentiation. Epigallocatechin-3-gallate therapy ameliorated fetal growth restriction, attenuated alcohol-induced changes in placental angiogenic factors, and partially rescued neuronal nuclear antigen (NeuN), (doublecortin) DCX, and (glial fibrillary acidic protein) GFAP levels. Any alcohol consumption (Mediterranean or binge) during pregnancy may generate a fetal alcohol spectrum disorder phenotype and the consequences may be partially attenuated by a prenatal treatment with epigallocatechin-3-gallate.

Keywords: FASD-like mouse model; prenatal alcohol exposure (PAE); binge alcohol drinking pattern; moderate alcohol drinking pattern; neural plasticity; angiogenesis; neural maturation; neural differentiation; neurodevelopmental disorders; natural antioxidants; epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG)



Citation: Almeida-Toledano, L.; Andreu-Fernández, V.; Aras-López, R.; García-Algar, Ó.; Martínez, L.; Gómez-Roig, M.D. Epigallocatechin Gallate Ameliorates the Effects of Prenatal Alcohol Exposure in a Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder-Like Mouse Model. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 2021, 22, 715. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms22020715

Received: 13 November 2020 Accepted: 7 January 2021 Published: 13 January 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

1. Introduction

Alcohol, the most commonly used teratogen, triggers many deleterious effects in the offspring when consumed during pregnancy, with the consequences falling under the umbrella of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD) [1], of which fetal alcohol syndrome (FAS) is the most severe form of prenatal alcohol exposure (PAE) impairment. FAS is characterized by craniofacial dysmorphology, growth retardation, and central nervous system dysfunctions [1].

Different factors contribute to the pathophysiology of FASD. The teratogenic effects of PAE have great impact on the placenta, the central regulator of the intrauterine environment [2]. FASD in vitro and animal model studies have shown the detrimental effects of PAE on placental size, structure, and function [3] and alterations in the methylation pattern of placental genes affecting its growth and on fetal development [4–6]. Moreover, ethanol alters the expression of several placental angiogenic factors, e.g., the vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A), its receptor VEGFR, and the placental growth factor (PLGF) [7]. Ethanol diffuses through the placenta and rapidly distributes into the fetal compartment, accumulating in the amniotic fluid [8]. The efficiency of the alcohol dehydrogenase isoforms and aldehyde dehydrogenases enzymes expressed by the fetus for alcohol metabolization is limited. Furthermore, CYP2E1 activity, the alternative pathway to metabolize alcohol, is upregulated during development, generating high levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which intensify the damage caused by alcohol. In addition, the fetal brain is particularly vulnerable to alcohol due to the downregulation of the antioxidant response in this tissue [9,10]. Thus, PAE affects the central nervous system in all stages of brain development (neurulation, proliferation, migration, differentiation, synaptogenesis, gliogenesis, myelination, apoptosis, and plasticity) through a variety of mechanisms that include oxidative stress and the direct alteration of the epigenetic pattern in the neural lineages [11,12]. Therefore, ethanol may alter the expression of a wide range of neural biomarkers, e.g., the neuronal nuclear antigen (NeuN) [13], doublecortin (DCX) [14], glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) [15], and the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) [16], as well as of the oxidative stress biomarkers, e.g., the nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) [17].

There is a direct association between the dose and timing of PAE and FAS characteristics [18]. FAS phenotypes are reported in the offspring of mothers who consume high doses of alcohol (acute or binge models) during different stages of pregnancy [19]. Binge drinking is defined by the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA) as a drinking pattern that brings blood alcohol concentration (BAC) to 0.08 g/dL [20] (this typically occurs with four/five drinks in women/men, respectively, in about two hours) [20]. In Mediterranean countries, mild or moderate patterns of alcohol consumption (chronic model) are more frequently seen, with reduced prevalence of FAS compared to European Eastern countries. However, nearly one out of 14 children diagnosed with FASD were exposed to only one drink per day during their fetal development [21]. Moderate drinking is defined by the NIAAA as up to one/two drinks a day in women/men, respectively [20].

Animal models allow the control of variables linked to FAS phenotypes, e.g., dose, timing, and developmental stage of alcohol exposure during pregnancy. High BACs (\geq 100 mg/dL), similar to the levels reached in humans [22,23], can be achieved with mouse models of alcohol exposure, to mimic the human binge-drinking pattern. The FAS-like phenotype is easily identified in the mouse offspring when using an alcohol binge-drinking pattern. However, the human moderate drinking pattern is not well established in mouse models, and causal relations between moderate PAE and FASD manifestations are difficult to determine due to the incomplete phenotype and the confounding factors [24].

To date, the evidence indicates there is no safe amount of alcohol consumption during gestation [25]. Furthermore, there is no treatment for FASD, no early intervention for the off-spring, and no long-term follow-up to improve behavioral disabilities [26]. FASD research focuses on the underlying mechanisms of ethanol teratogenesis, such as the oxidative stress generated by alcohol metabolism [27]. Moreover, PAE epigenetic changes are the leading

cause of the alterations produced by PAE in the neurobiological system [28]. Potential therapies to reduce oxidative stress and epigenetic alterations include natural antioxidants such as epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG), which has been used as a therapeutic tool in oxidative stress-related pathological processes such as cardiovascular diseases, cancer, and Alzheimer's disease [29]. Recent studies have shown that EGCG administration in fetuses affected by PAE decreases neuronal apoptosis of the rhombencephalon, ameliorates neurogenesis processes, improves fetal growth restriction (FGR), and increases the effect of the endogenous antioxidant defense systems [30]. Additionally, EGCG improves the neuronal plasticity in Down's syndrome patients, blocking the overexpression of the Dyrk1A protein, a general inhibitor of neuronal plasticity [31].

In this study, we compare the effects of PAE on the placenta and fetal brain development in two humanlike patterns of alcohol exposure, binge and Mediterranean drinking, in a C57BL/6J mouse model. We also describe the effect of EGCG administration on oxidative stress, fetal growth, placental development, and neurogenesis processes in both patterns.

2. Results

Two hundred and eighty-three mouse fetuses were included in the study (42 Mediterranean (Med) control, 47 Med ethanol (EtOH), 45 EtOH Med+EGCG, 54 Binge (Bin) control, 44 Bin EtOH, and 47 Bin+EGCG EtOH) from 36 dams. Two hundred and seventy-nine were alive by Day 19 (cesarean section) (one fetal demise in the Med control group, one in the Bin EtOH group, and two in the Bin+EGCG EtOH group). Mean litter size was 8.2 ± 1.9 for the Med control, 7.8 ± 1.3 for the Med EtOH, 7.2 ± 1.9 for the Med+EGCG EtOH, 8.2 ± 1.9 for the Bin control, 7.3 ± 1.6 for the Bin EtOH, and 7.8 ± 1.5 for the EtOH groups.

2.1. Blood Alcohol Concentrations and Epigallocatechin-3-Gallate Determination

BACs were first measured from maternal blood samples obtained by cardiac puncture. Table 1 shows BAC determinations under the various experimental conditions. As per the NIAAA definition [20], BACs were above 0.8 g/L in the Bin EtOH and Bin + EGCG EtOH groups. For the Mediterranean groups, BACs were between 0.12 g/L in the Med EtOH and 0.32 in the Med + EGCG EtOH, three to four times less concentrated than for the binge pattern.

Table 1. Blood alcohol concentrations for the various experimental conditions.

Condition	Sample Size	nmol/uL (Mean \pm SD)	g/L (Mean \pm SD)
Med EtOH	4	2.69 ± 0.80	0.12 ± 0.04
Med + EGCG EtOH	5	6.94 ± 2.36	0.32 ± 0.11
Bin EtOH	4	24.03 ± 1.64	1.11 ± 0.08
Bin + EGCG EtOH	4	32.22 ± 7.24	1.48 ± 0.33

EtOH Med: 10% (v/v) of ethanol solution in tap water (0.75 g/Kg) in two administrations; Med + EGCG EtOH: ethanol 0.75 g/Kg + EGCG 30 mg/Kg in two administrations; Bin EtOH: 20% (v/v) of ethanol solution (3 g/Kg/day) once a day; Bin + EGCG EtOH: ethanol 3 g/Kg/day (30 mg/Kg/day) once a day. Med: Mediterranean pattern; Bin: binge pattern; EtOH: ethanol; EGCG: epigallocatechin-3-gallate; SD: standard deviation.

EGCG concentrations in plasma were analyzed using ultra-performance liquid chromatography electrospray tandem mass spectrometry (UPLC-ESI-MS/MS) under the various experimental conditions (EGCG alone, Bin EtOH + EGCG, and Med + EGCG EtOH) 40 min after EGCG administration. Similar intergroup results were obtained (mean \pm SD: 31.5 µg/mL \pm 7.8 µg/mL) comparable to concentrations reported elsewhere [32].

2.2. Fetal Growth

Fetal and placental weight were analyzed at gestational Day 19 to evaluate the impact of binge and Mediterranean drinking patterns on fetal growth, as well as the effects of EGCG coadministration during pregnancy. Figure 1 summarizes fetal and placental weights of the mice under the various experimental conditions. No significant differences in placental weights were found in any of the evaluated groups. However, fetal weights were significantly lower in the Bin EtOH group (p < 0.0001) compared to the Bin control or Med EtOH groups (Kruskal–Wallis analyses; p < 0.05). Interestingly, similar weights were observed in the Bin + EGCG EtOH and Bin control groups, with significant differences when compared to the Bin EtOH group (p < 0.0198), indicating complete recovery of fetal weight in presence of the antioxidant. No fetal weight differences were found for the Mediterranean groups.



Figure 1. C57BL/6J mouse placental (**A**) and fetal (**B**) weight at gestational Day 19 under the various experimental conditions. Administered once a day: Binge (Bin) control: isocaloric maltodextrin solution (5.52 g/Kg/day); Bin EtOH: 20% (v/v) of ethanol solution in tap water (3 g/Kg/day); Bin + EGCG EtOH: ethanol 3 g/Kg/day + EGCG 30 mg/Kg/day. Administered twice a day: Med control, Med: isocaloric maltodextrin solution (1.38 g/Kg/day); Med EtOH: 10% (v/v) of ethanol solution (0.75 g/Kg); Med + EGCG EtOH: ethanol 0.75 g/Kg + EGCG 30 mg/Kg. For intergroup comparisons, the Kruskal–Wallis test was used. Asterisks denote the level of significance: * *p*-value < 0.05, *** *p*-value < 0.005

2.3. Placental Angiogenic Factors

Immunohistochemistry (IHC) and Western blot (WB) were used to determine the effect of different ethanol doses and EGCG treatment on placental tissue vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. Figure 2 shows the effect of PAE on placental VEGF-A levels. IHC assays (Figure 2A) showed a downregulation of VEGF-A, significant in the Mediterranean (p = 0.02) and binge (p = 0.001) drinking patterns (Kruskal–Wallis test, Dunn's correction for multiple comparisons). Additionally, significant increase in VEGF-A levels were observed for the Med EtOH (p = 0.02) and Bin EtOH (p = 0.002) groups treated with EGCG in comparison to the Med EtOH and the Bin EtOH group, respectively (Figure 2A). WB results were similar to the IHC in both EtOH groups in comparison to the controls; a statistically significant decrease was found for the Med EtOH group (p = 0.002) (Figure 2B). As in the IHC, WB measurements showed statistically significant higher expression of VEGF-A in the Med EtOH group treated with EGCG (p = 0.03) and a slight trend in the Bin EtOH groups.

Figure 3 shows PLGF expression as per IHC and WB analysis of placentas. No significant differences were found in PLGF quantification neither in the immunostaining of placental tissues nor in WB analyses for the experimental groups for the Med EtOH and Bin EtOH groups (Figure 3A,B). However, WB revealed a significant increase in PLGF levels (p = 0.004) for the Bin + EGCG EtOH group in comparison to the Bin EtOH group (Figure 3B).

The effects of PAE on the VEGF-R1 antiangiogenic factor is shown in Figure 4. WB analysis showed an increase in placental VEGF-R1 expression for the Med EtOH and Bin EtOH groups, with no significant differences (Figure 4B). However, EGCG rescued VEGF-R1 expression in the Med EtOH (p = 0.0001) and Bin EtOH (p = 0.005) groups (Figure 4B). Surprisingly VEGF-R1 expression increased in presence of EGCG in both EtOH groups, as confirmed by the immunostaining results (Figure 4A).



Figure 2. Representative vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A) immunostaining of placenta sections (**A**) and Western blot VEGF-A protein analysis in placental lysed samples (**B**) for prenatal alcohol exposure (PAE) and EGCG treatment for binge and Mediterranean patterns. (**A**) Boxed VEGF-A immunostaining sections represent the enlarged image of the labyrinth zone. VEGF-A quantification at two different fields ($40 \times$) per section. (**B**) Representative Western blot of VEGF-A expression observed in all analyzed samples under the various experimental conditions. Protein levels were normalized using α -tubulin as load control. Arbitrary units express "fold change". At least five samples from different litters were used from each group. For intergroup comparisons, the Kruskal–Wallis test (Dunn's test for multiple comparisons) was used. Asterisks denote the level of significance: * *p*-value < 0.05, ** *p*-value < 0.01, *** *p*-value < 0.005. M: maternal blood; F: fetal blood; C: cytotrophoblast; arrows: VEGF-A positive staining.



Figure 3. Representative placental growth factor (PLGF) immunostaining in placenta sections (**A**) and Western blot PLGF protein analysis in placental lysed samples (**B**) for PAE and EGCG treatment for binge and Mediterranean patterns. (**A**) Boxed sections in placental growth factor protein immunostaining represent an enlarged image of the labyrinth zone. PLGF protein quantification for two different fields ($40 \times$) per section. (**B**) Representative Western blot of PLGF protein expression observed in all samples analyzed under the various experimental conditions. Protein levels were normalized using α -tubulin as load control. Arbitrary units express "fold change". At least five samples from different litters were used from each group. For intergroup comparisons, the Kruskal–Wallis test (Dunn's test for multiple comparisons) was used. Asterisks denote the level of significance: ** *p*-value < 0.01. M: maternal blood; F: fetal blood; C: cytotrophoblast; arrows: PLGF positive staining



Figure 4. Representative vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 1 (VEGF-R1) immunostaining in placenta sections (**A**) and Western blot VEGF-R1 protein analysis in placental lysed samples (**B**) for PAE and EGCG treatment binge and Mediterranean experimental conditions. (**A**) Boxed sections in VEGF-R1 immunostaining are shown an enlarged image of the labyrinth zone. VEGF-R1 quantification in placental sections in two different fields ($40 \times$) per section. (**B**) Representative Western blot of VEGF-R1 expression observed in all samples analyzed for the different experimental conditions. Protein levels were normalized using α -tubulin as load control. Arbitrary units express "fold change". At least five samples from different litters were used in each group. Kruskal–Wallis test (Dunn's test for multiple comparisons) was used for inter-group comparisons. Asterisks denote the level of significance: ** *p*-value < 0.01, *** *p*-value < 0.005. M: maternal blood; F: fetal blood; C: cytotrophoblast; arrows VEGF-R1 positive staining.

2.4. Effect of Ethanol on Oxidative Stress

We assessed the effects of PAE and EGCG treatment on fetal brain oxidative stress by measuring the levels of the Nrf2 transcriptional factor, a key regulator of oxidative stress response. Immunofluorescence of the dentate gyrus (DG) of the hippocampus and cerebellum revealed no significant changes in Nrf2 expression in the Med EtOH group; similar results were obtained with WB analysis (Figure 5A–C). However, a slight increase in Nrf2 levels was found in the DG for the Bin EtOH group (Figure 5A) in comparison to the controls, with no statistical significance (Kruskal–Wallis test). Similar results were observed with the WB analysis (Figure 5C): no differences between the Mediterranean groups and a nonsignificant increase in the Bin EtOH group compared to the control. Interestingly, reduced levels of oxidative stress were observed with EGCG treatment in the DG for the Bin EtOH group (p = 0.001) (Figure 5A). Similar findings were found with the WB analysis (p = 0.007) (Figure 5C).



Figure 5. Cont.



Figure 5. Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) immunofluorescence (Alexa 488 in green for the Nrf2 biomarker, and 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) to stain the nuclei in blue) in the hippocampus (**A**) and cerebellum (**B**). Boxed regions in the hippocampus and cerebellum are shown at higher magnification using $63 \times$ Oil Immersion. Nrf2 protein analysis in brain lysed samples (**C**) under the selected experimental conditions (PAE and EGCG treatment). (**A**) Nrf2 quantification in whole sections of the dentate gyrus using a $10 \times$ objective lens. (**B**) Nrf2 quantification in whole sections of the dentate gyrus using a $10 \times$ objective lens. (**B**) Nrf2 quantification in whole sections of the various experimental conditions. Protein levels were normalized using α -tubulin as load control. Arbitrary units express "fold change". At least five samples from different litters were used from each group. For intergroup comparisons, the Kruskal–Wallis test (Dunn's test for multiple comparisons) was used. Asterisks denote the level of significance: ** *p*-value < 0.01. *** *p*-value < 0.005.

2.5. Neuronal Maturation

NeuN and DCX were chosen as representative biomarkers of neural maturation to assess the effects of PAE and EGCG therapy on these processes during fetal brain organogenesis. Similar results in neuronal nuclei quantification were obtained for IHC staining (Figure 6A for DG, Figure 6B for cerebellum) and WB analysis (Figure 6C). PAE caused a decrease of mature neurons in both types of maternal drinking patterns compared to the controls. NeuN⁺ neurons in the DG and in the cerebellum of the Med EtOH group (p < 0.05) and in the cerebellum of the Bin EtOH group (p < 0.01) were significantly lower than in the control groups (Dunn's test). Moreover, EGCG treatment in PAE groups led to a recovery of NeuN levels. NeuN expression was significantly higher in the EGCG-treated Med EtOH and Bin EtOH groups compared to the Med EtOH and Bin EtOH groups not treated with EGCG (p < 0.05 in all cases).



Figure 6. Cont.



Figure 6. Representative neuronal nuclear antigen (NeuN) immunostaining in the dentate gyrus (**A**) and cerebellum (**B**), and NeuN protein analysis in whole brain lysed samples by Western blot (**C**) for PAE and EGCG treatment for the binge and Mediterranean patterns. (**A**) NeuN⁺ cell quantification in whole sections of the dentate gyrus using a 10× objective lens, (**B**) NeuN⁺ cell quantification in cerebellum sections in two different microscopic fields using a 40× objective lens, and (**C**) Representative Western blot of NeuN expression observed in all analyzed samples under the various experimental conditions. Protein levels were normalized using α -tubulin as load control. Arbitrary units express "fold change". At least five samples from different litters were used from each group. For intergroup comparisons, the Kruskal–Wallis test (Dunn's test for multiple comparisons) was used. Asterisks denote the level of significance: * *p*-value < 0.05, ** *p*-value < 0.01.

Representative results of doublecortin (DCX) immunoreactive (IR) cells in the DG and cerebellum are shown in Figure 7, as well as the levels of DCX in whole fetal brain extracts by WB. Immunostaining of the DG of the hippocampus (Figure 7A) showed significant increase of immature neurons in the Med EtOH and Bin EtOH groups compared to the control groups (p < 0.005) (Kruskal–Wallis test). DCX levels in the Bin EtOH and Med EtOH groups decreased with EGCG treatment, the latter being statistically significant (p < 0.05) in comparison to the controls. Quantification of doublecortin-immunoreactive (DCX-IR) neurons in the cerebellum (Figure 7B) revealed no statistical significant differences in any of the experimental groups. According to the WB immunoassay (Figure 7C), quantification of immature neurons was higher for the Bin EtOH and Med EtOH groups compared to the controls, with statistical significance for the Bin EtOH group (p < 0.05). Interestingly, the levels of DCX were significantly lower in the EGCG-treated Bin EtOH and Med EtOH groups (p < 0.001), indicating a partial recovery of the PAE phenotype. Brains prenatally

exposed to alcohol showed an increase of immature neurons, being more pronounced in specific brain areas, such as the DG. This effect may be partially counterbalanced with EGCG treatment.

2.6. Astrocyte Differentiation

The analysis of the glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) allowed to assess glial cell to astrocyte differentiation in PAE fetal brains and the effects of EGCG cotreatment in brains prenatally exposed to alcohol. In spite of the trend towards a reduction of GFAP levels after PAE observed in the DG in WB and immunofluorescence, statistical significance in the results were only confirmed for the Bin EtOH group in comparison to the controls (p = 0.046) in WB assays (Figure 8C) (Kruskal–Wallis test). However, a clear and significant increase in the EGCG cotreatment groups (Med EtOH+EGCG and bin EtOH+EGCG) was observed for IHC (DG and cerebellum) (Figure 8A–C), as well as for whole fetal brain WB experiments. Interestingly, GFAP levels were higher in presence of EGCG in comparison to the control groups in these series of experiments (Figure 8A–C).



Figure 7. Cont.



Figure 7. Representative doublecortin (DCX) immunostaining in the hippocampus (**A**) and cerebellum (**B**), and Western blot DCX protein analysis in whole brain lysed samples (**C**) for PAE and EGCG treatment. (**A**) DCX⁺ cell quantification in whole sections of the dentate gyrus using a $10 \times$ objective lens. (**B**) DCX⁺ cell quantification in sections of the cerebellum in two different microscopic fields using a $40 \times$ objective lens. (**C**) Representative Western blot of DCX expression observed in all analyzed samples for the various experimental conditions. Protein levels were normalized using α -tubulin as load control. Arbitrary units express "fold change". At least five samples from different litters were used from each group. Kruskal–Wallis test (Dunn's test for multiple comparisons) was performed for inter-group comparisons. Asterisks denote the level of significance: * *p*-value < 0.05, ** *p*-value < 0.005.

2.7. Neuronal Plasticity

The brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) is a widely distributed neurotrophin in the central nervous system (CNS) and a classical marker of neural plasticity. We selected the BDNF as biomarker to assess trophic support and synaptic plasticity. Immunostaining of the DG of the hippocampus (Figure 9A) and cerebellum (Figure 9B) showed no statistically significant differences in BDNF levels neither in the EtOH nor the EtOH + EGCG groups in comparison to the controls. Similar results were obtained for the WB analyses (Figure 9C).



Figure 8. Cont.



Figure 8. Glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) immunofluorescence (Alexa 488 in green for the GFAP biomarker and DAPI to stain the nuclei in blue) in the hippocampus (**A**) and cerebellum (**B**). Boxed regions in hippocampus and cerebellum are shown at higher magnification using $63 \times \text{Oil}$ Immersion. Glial fibrillary acidic protein analysis in brain lysed samples (**C**) for PAE and EGCG treatment under the selected experimental conditions. (**A**) GFAP quantification in whole sections of the dentate gyrus using a $10 \times \text{objective}$ lens. (**B**) GFAP quantification in whole sections of the cerebellum using a $10 \times \text{objective}$ lens. (**C**) Representative Western blot of GFAP expression analyzed under the various experimental conditions. Protein levels were normalized using α -tubulin as load control. Arbitrary units express "fold change". At least five samples from different litters were used from each group. For intergroup comparisons, the Kruskal–Wallis test (Dunn's test for multiple comparisons) was used. Asterisks denote the level of significance: * *p*-value < 0.05, ** *p*-value < 0.01.



Figure 9. Cont.



Figure 9. Representative brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) immunostaining in the hippocampus (**A**) and cerebellum (**B**), and Western blot BDNF protein analysis in whole brain lysed samples (**C**) for PAE and EGCG treatment in the binge and Mediterranean patterns. (**A**) BDNF quantification in the dentate gyrus whole sections using a $10 \times$ objective lens. (**B**) BDNF quantification in the cerebellum sections in two different microscopic fields using a $40 \times$ objective lens. (**C**) Representative Western blot of BDNF expression observed in all samples analyzed under the various experimental conditions. Protein levels were normalized using α -tubulin as load control. Arbitrary units express "fold change". At least five samples from different litters were used for each group. For intergroup comparisons, the Kruskal–Wallis test (Dunn's test for multiple comparisons) was used.

3. Discussion

Our results support EGCG as a promising antioxidant therapy to attenuate the consequences of prenatal alcohol exposure. Antioxidant therapy may ensure proper development of the placenta and fetal growth. Additionally, the prenatal effect of EGCG on neural maturation and differentiation processes may lead to normal neurodevelopment, improving behavioral and cognitive outcomes in children.

Fetal development is closely linked to placental formation. PAE exerts a negative influence on placentation and leads to FGR [4,33]. In Figure 1, fetuses exposed to high doses of alcohol show lower fetal weights compared to controls, demonstrating the inverse relation between fetal growth and PAE. Our results are in line with previous studies that report FGR on fetuses prenatally exposed to ethanol [33] and the dose-dependent effects of PAE on fetal weight [4]. The expression of angiogenic factors follows dynamic patterns according to the gestational stage to address metabolic requirements. Moreover, PAE produces an imbalance of the expression of these angiogenic factors with the consequent abnormal placental development [34,35]. Downregulation of VEGF-A (Figure 2), a regulator of angiogenesis and vascular permeability, is seen in placentas from fetuses prenatally exposed to ethanol in Mediterranean and binge human drinking patterns. These results reveal the deleterious effect of any type of alcohol consumption during pregnancy on placental angiogenesis. Similarly, decreased levels of placental VEGF with PAE have previously been reported by other authors [34]. Moreover, our study shows an increase in the expression of VEGF-R1, a negative regulator of embryonic angiogenesis, after continued PAE (Figure 4). This increase may be responsible for the abnormal angiogenesis of the placenta. Other authors reported discordances in the expression of VEGF-R1 according to the timing of PAE. Venture rate al. report similar results to the presented in this study when PAE occurs until GD10 [34], while Lecuyer et al. show a down-regulation of placental VEGF-R1 in ethanol treated mice for the second trimester equivalent [7]. Oxidative stress may be the main cause of the findings [34,36]. Conversely, PLGF is a member of the VEGF family and a key factor in angiogenesis and vasculogenesis during embryogenesis, and is highly regulated depending on the developmental stage [35]. In our study, there are no differences in PLGF levels at GD19 in the different groups after continued PAE (Figure 3). An upregulation of placental PLGF levels in response to PAE in the early stages of pregnancy may promote placental permeability [35] showing a progressive decrease [7] comparable to controls in later stages of pregnancy (when vasculogenesis is completed) such as seen in this work. Alterations in the VEGF-VEGF-R and/or in the VEGF-R1/PLGF ratio produce important imbalances in angiogenesis [37], which are responsible for placental disorders and FGR. In addition, PAE-related oxidative stress also contributes to angiogenesis deregulation and FGR. EGCG (an antioxidant tested in pathologies related to oxidative stress [29]) is a potential therapeutic candidate for FASD. In our study, EGCG ameliorates FGR produced by PAE and attenuates ethanol-related changes in VEGF-A and VEGF-R1 expression, partially restoring the imbalance produced by PAE. Overall, EGCG exerts positive effects on the placenta and fetal growth in all ethanol exposed groups, more evident in the binge drinking group when VEGF-A, VEGF-R, PLGF, and fetal growth were analyzed. In this context, EGCG may be a therapeutic option to maintain adequate vascularization and promote a correct angiogenesis [38] necessary for proper fetal growth.

As previously mentioned, PAE boosts the production of ROS and the dysregulation of the antioxidant systems, being one of the leading causes of FASD physiopathology [17]. Under oxidative stress conditions, Nrf2 is released from its inhibitor Keap-1, translocated from the cytoplasm to the nucleus where it triggers the expression of genes encoding antioxidant proteins and detoxifying enzymes as catalase, superoxide dismutase, and the glutathione peroxidase families [39] by binding to the antioxidant responsive elements located in the promoter region of these detoxifying enzymes. GSK-3β interacts with Nrf2, inhibiting its function and promoting Nrf2 degradation in the oxidative stress delayed response [40] and acting as an Nrf2 regulator when this molecule is accumulated in the cell. In this study, we observe that the intake of high doses of ethanol during fetal development increases the levels of the Nrf2 antioxidant response, being the DG the target for oxidative stress damage. Moreover, EGCG therapy restores Nrf2 expression to levels that are comparable to those of controls. However, no differences are observed in Nrf2 expression in the Med EtOH group (Figure 5). The protective response of Nrf2 towards oxidative stress has been widely studied in adults, but studies in fetal life are limited.

A previous study shows increased Nrf2 levels in the brains of mice embryos prenatally exposed to ethanol, similar to those determined in the Bin EtOH group [39]. Moreover, EGCG upregulates Nrf2 expression after different oxidative stress insults [41,42]. However, to date no studies have been performed on the effects of EGCG on Nrf2 in PAE. Our results indicate that with PAE, Nrf2 is upregulated and the presence of EGCG not only does not increase these levels but it also reduces Nrf2 to physiological levels to avoid a pathologic accumulation of Nrf2.

Oxidative stress and the generation of ROS are key factors in FASD neurologic manifestations [43]. In addition to its antioxidant effect, EGCG has neuroprotection properties that include iron-chelation mediated by the hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF-1 α) [44] or the induction of neurite outgrowth and differentiation through the protein kinase C pathway [45]. During pregnancy, the CNS has vulnerable periods sensitive to alcohol damage, which affect the developmental processes. Our data reflect the loss of mature neurons (NeuN biomarker, Figure 6), statistically significant in the DG and cerebellum in fetuses at GD19, in both the Mediterranean and binge drinking patterns. Loss of mature neurons in the DG after alcohol exposure has been analyzed in previous studies with contradictory results depending on the moment of ethanol exposure [46,47]. Based on these findings, the timing of exposure during fetal development may be a key factor for neuronal maturation. Our study demonstrates that alcohol-related reduction of mature neurons already occurs during fetal development. Further research is necessary to evaluate neurological and behavioral alcohol-related disorders secondary to the neuronal loss in the DG and cerebellum during fetal development. In the same line, DCX is expressed by neuronal precursor cells and immature neurons in the embryonic and adult brain. Our study shows an increase of DCX+ neurons, particularly in the DG, in the Mediterranean and the binge drinking patterns (Figure 7). Elibol-Can et al. showed similar results in the different hippocampal regions after PAE according to the binge drinking pattern during the second trimester equivalent [46]. In contrast, lower DCX quantification in the DG has been reported in comparison to the controls in adult mice prenatally exposed to ethanol [48]. Increased signaling in immature neurons during fetal life may indicate a delay in the maturation processes produced by the oxidative damage generated by PAE on the organogenesis processes [49,50]. As for the effect of EGCG therapy in fetal neurogenesis, our results show an improvement in maturation and differentiation processes. The expression of NeuN and DCX in the treated groups are comparable to that in the controls (Figures 6 and 7), which indicates that EGCG may exert a beneficial effect on fetal neurogenesis. Studies with natural antioxidants in fetal life are scarce. Similar effects were shown on hippocampal neurogenesis from a neuroinflammation model in adult mice, where EGCG treatment appears to be beneficial [51]. Consistently, a study in ethanol exposed adult mice demonstrated the compensatory effect of EGCG therapy on the affected immature neurons [51]. EGCG also seems to promote proliferation and differentiation, as evidenced by increased Ki67 and neuron specific enolase expression [52,53]. These findings support EGCG as a potential therapeutic compound to prevent the delay in the neurogenesis processes produced by ethanol in fetal life.

Regarding GFAP (a glial cell to astrocyte differentiation biomarker), astrocyte differentiation is reduced following PAE, reaching statistical significance in fetuses exposed to a binge drinking pattern (Figure 8), as reported in previous studies [54]. EGCG therapy elicited a recovery of GFAP to levels comparable to that of controls (Figure 8). Although there are no previous studies on the effect of EGCG on astrocyte differentiation in FASDlike animal models, results from other studies on neurodegenerative diseases show the neuroprotective effect of EGCG on astrocyte differentiation processes [55]. In vitro models also show EGCG neuronal differentiation involvement through the protein kinase C pathway [45], the inhibition of the glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) pathway [56], or the modulation of S100B [57].

BDNF is involved in cell survival, development, and function of the CNS, and represents one of the main biomarkers of neuronal plasticity during early development [58].

EGCG has been selected as a potential pharmacological tool against FASD due to its ability to interact and inhibit neuronal plasticity inhibitors such as Dyrk1A [31] and potentiate NGF-induced neurite outgrowth [59,60]. Our study shows no statistically significant differences in BDNF levels after neither PAE nor EGCG administration. In contrast, Feng et al. report a decrease in BDNF levels in rats prenatally exposed to a binge drinking pattern from GD5-GD20, but no differences when alcohol doses are lower [61]. Similarly, Haun et al. show a down-regulation in BDNF expression after the intake of large doses of alcohol in an adult mouse model of four-day ethanol exposure and a significant ethanol consumption decrease in the established model of alcohol dependence after BDNF administration [62]. Our experimental design ensures continued alcohol exposure, which would lead to habituation to ethanol and therefore, no changes in BDNF expression. Further research would be useful to test the effects of EGCG therapy on BDNF expression in FASD-like models with not-continuous ethanol administration.

This article proposes a prenatal intervention in mice exposed to alcohol during development to attenuate the FASD phenotype. One limitation of our study is the experimental design based on continued ethanol exposure during the 19 days of pregnancy. This may lead to an alcohol exposure adaptation in some critical processes related to FASD pathophysiology; however, we consider this continuous 19-day ethanol exposure similar to the alcohol abuse in humans. Additionally, the effects of PAE that contribute to FASD in the third trimester were not considered in this study due to the above-mentioned experimental design.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first in vivo study that shows the differences in the FASD-like phenotype based on binge and Mediterranean human drinking patterns. Interestingly, any drinking pattern (Mediterranean or binge) produces alcohol relatedeffects in the offspring. The binge-drinking pattern leads to effects that are more substantial on the different processes, i.e., oxidative stress, neuronal maturation and differentiation, as well as in fetal growth. Nevertheless, the effects of the Mediterranean drinking pattern on angiogenic factors are comparable to binge drinking. Fetal growth is probably preserved in the Med EtOH group because lower doses of ethanol do not reach the threshold to produce a FASD phenotype. Finally, in the present study we evaluate the consequences of PAE based on different patterns of alcohol consumption, as well as the effect of EGCG treatment examining a wide range of FASD manifestations (placental development, fetal growth, angiogenesis, oxidative stress, and neurodevelopmental processes), and show the potential role of EGCG as a pharmacological tool during fetal development.

4. Materials and Methods

4.1. Animals, Housing, and Ethical Statement

Eight-week-old male (n = 20) and female (n = 45) C57BL/6J mice were purchased from Charles River (Barcelona, Spain) and housed in the facilities of Sant Joan de Déu Hospital, University of Barcelona. Animals were housed in standard conditions at 21 ± 1 °C, $55 \pm 10\%$ relative humidity under a controlled 12 h light/dark cycle and had free access to water and standard chow. Animal procedures were approved by the Animal Experimental Ethics Committee of the University of Barcelona (23 January 2016) and were registered on the Generalitat de Catalunya, Serveis Territorials d'Agricultura, Ramaderia, Pesca i Alimentació a Barcelona (identification code: 713/15-8744) and carried out in accordance with the recommendations in the ARRIVE guidelines for the care and use of experimental animals and the U.K. Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act, 1986 and EU Directive 2010/63/EU for animal experiments.

4.2. Prenatal Alcohol Exposure and Epigallocatechin-3-Gallate Treatment

Pure absolute ethanol (ethyl alcohol, EtOH, 1000 mL) was provided from PanReac AppliChem ITW Reagents (Dublin, Ireland), maltodextrin (100% Maltodextrin Powder, Pure series[®]) was purchased from Bulk Powders (Essex, UK) and EGCG (Teavigo[®], 94% EGCG, 150 mg, 60 Count) was provided by Healthy Origins (Pittsburgh, PA, USA).

Mice were left to acclimatize, and then matched 2:1 (female:male). Pregnant mice (determined by observing sperm plugs) were individually housed in standard plastic cages to avoid any additional stress, and randomly allocated to one of the six experimental groups: (1) Mediterranean (Med) control: isocaloric maltodextrin solution (1.38 g/Kg/day) given in two administrations (eight-hour dosing interval); (2) EtOH Med pattern: 10% (v/v)of an ethanol solution (1.5 g/Kg/day) in two administrations (eight-hour dosing interval); (3) EtOH Med and EGCG: ethanol (1.5 g/Kg/day) in two administrations (eight-hour dosing interval) and EGCG (30 mg/Kg/day) once a day with the first dose of ethanol; (4) Binge (Bin) control: isocaloric maltodextrin solution (5.52 g/Kg/day) once a day; (5) EtOH Bin pattern: 20% (v/v) of ethanol solution in tap water (3 g/Kg/day) once a day; (6) EtOH Bin and EGCG (ethanol 3 g/Kg/day and EGCG 30 mg/Kg/day) once a day. All administrations were performed via oral gavage. An isocaloric maltodextrin solution equivalent to the calorie intake of alcohol was administered to each control group. All animals had free access to water. At Day 19 of pregnancy, mice were terminally anesthetized with pentobarbital, maternal blood samples obtained using cardiac puncture, and fetuses delivered by cesarean section. Fetal and placental weights were obtained before collecting placental and brain tissue. All tissue samples were frozen in liquid nitrogen prior their storage at -80 °C. The design of the study is summarized in Figure 10.



Figure 10. Flowchart of the experimental design. Sample size and doses of maltodextrin, alcohol, and epigallocatechin-3-gallate are specified for each experimental group. Maternal blood sampling to determine blood alcohol concentration and birth by cesarean section were obtained on gestational Day 19. The gestational period of the mice corresponds to the first and second human equivalent. EtOH: ethanol; Bin: binge; Med: Mediterranean; EGCG: epigallocatechin-3-gallate; GD: gestational day; BAC: blood alcohol concentration.

4.3. Reagents and Antibodies

VEGF-A (ref. SC-7269, 21 kDa monomer) was purchased from Quimigen SL (Madrid, Spain); PLGF (ref. ab180734, 25 kDa), VEGFR (ref. ab32152, 150 kDa (Flt1), NeuN (ref. ab177487, 48.5 kDa), doublecortin (ref. ab135349, 49 kDa), GFAP (ref. ab7260, 55 kDa),

and BDNF (ref. AB226843, 17 kDa) from Abcam (Cambridge, MA, USA); Nrf2 (ref. sc-722, 61 and 68 kDa) from Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc. (Dallas, TX, USA); Alfa-tubulin (ref. T8203, dil 1:2000, 50 kDa), beta-actin (ref. A3854, 42 kDa, dil 1:2500), and Anti Rabbit IgG secondary (ref. A0545, dil 1:2000) from Sigma-Aldrich (Sant Louis, Missouri, USA), and goat antimouse IgG (ref. G21040, dil 1:10,000) from Thermo Fisher Technologies (Waltham, MA, USA).

4.4. Blood Alcohol Concentration and Epigallocatechin-3-Gallate Determination in Pregnant Mice

One milliliter of maternal blood was collected in heparin BD Vacutainers[®] by intracardiac puncture 45 min post-treatment. Samples were incubated at room temperature for five minutes and then centrifuged at $1750 \times g$ at 4 °C for 20 min. Serum was isolated and BAC measured using the Ethanol Assay Kit (MAK076) purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. A master reaction mix (50 µL per well) containing two microliters of serum sample was performed following the recommendations of the supplier. Wells were mixed using a horizontal shaker and the reactions were incubated for 30 min at 37 °C or 60 min in the dark. Finally, measurements of absorbance at 570 nm were carried out.

The remaining serum was stored at -80 °C to evaluate EGCG concentration. For analytical purposes aliquots of serum containing EGCG (0.350 mL) were stored in Eppendorf LoBind tubes (Sarstedt 72,706,600) at -80 °C containing 20 µL of vc-EDTA (1.38 g NaH₂PO₄: H₂O, 5 g ascorbic acid, and 25 mg EDTA in 25 mL H₂O miliQ, pH 3.8) until further analysis. Samples were analyzed by the department of pharmacology of Institut Hospital del Mar d'Investigacions Mèdiques (Barcelona, Spain) following a previously published methodology [63].

4.5. Western Blot Analysis

Protein extractions were performed by mechanical tissue rupture using the Politron device (Omni Tissue Homogenizer, Omni International, Kennesaw, GA, USA) after introducing the samples in RIPA buffer (Life Technologies S.A, 89900, Carlsbad, CA, USA), using three cycles of 30 s per sample. Samples were then quantified with the DC Protein Assay kit (Bio-rad Laboratories S.A., Madrid, Spain) and absorbance measured at 780 nm (the Lowry test). After quantification, 40 μ g of total protein were loaded in a volume of 30 μ L per well in RIPA buffer by adding 6 μ L of Loading Buffer 5× (3.125 mL 1 M Tris-HCl (pH = 6.8), 5.75 mL glycerol 87%, 1 g SDS, 1 mL β -mercaptoethanol, and 1 mL 5% bromophenol blue), heating the samples on a thermoblock (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) at 95 °C for protein denaturation. Electrophoresis was then performed on a 12% acrylamide gel using the molecular weight marker (precision plus protein dual color standard from BioRad, 1610374). An electric current was next applied to the electrophoresis cuvette with running buffer (3.03 g/L of Tris Base, 1.44 g/L of glycine, 1 g/L of SDS). Next, proteins were transferred to a polyvinylidene fluoride membrane (Bio-Rad Laboratories SA, 162-0177) that had been previously activated five minutes in methanol, five minutes in distilled H_2O , and five minutes in transfer buffer (3.03 g/L of Tris-Base, 14.4 g/L of glycine and 200 mL/L of methanol). Protein transfer was performed in transfer buffer at 4 $^\circ$ C in a cold chamber for two to three hours depending on the molecular weight of the proteins. Subsequently, three five-minute washes with tris-buffered saline (TBS-T) were performed (2.4 g/L Tris-HCl pH = 7.6 and 8.8 g/L NaCl and 1 mL Tween 20); membranes were blocked with BSA 5% diluted in TBS-T for 30 min. Finally, the membranes were incubated with the primary antibody overnight at 4 °C with stirring; 1:1000 dilutions in BSA 2% were used for primary antibody incubation. The next day, the primary antibody was collected and membranes washed three times (for five minutes) with TBS-T; the secondary antimouse or antirabbit antibody was then added for two hours at room temperature with stirring. Membranes were developed with a 1: 1 mixture of the Pierce ECL WB Substrate (Cultek S.L., Madrid, Spain) in the dark using the iBright CL1000 (Invitrogen, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Cornellà de Llobregat, Spain) device. Densitometric analysis was performed to determine the intensity of the bands using the Image J program. The intensity values

obtained from the quantification were normalized with respect to the values obtained from the bands of the control protein (tubulin or actin), expressed at equal levels in all situations.

4.6. Immunohistochemistry

Fetal brain and placenta samples were fixed in 10% buffered formalin and next embedded in paraffin. Sagittal 5-µm-thick brain and transversal placenta sections were prepared, mounted on glass slides, and allowed to dry. They were next deparaffinized, unmasked, and peroxidase blocked before applying the primary antibodies. The following primary antibodies were used at the indicated dilutions: anti-VEGF-A (1:1000), anti-PLGF (1:100), anti-VEGF-R (1:200), anti-NeuN (1:700), anti-DCX (1:1500), and anti-BDNF (1:250). Slides were incubated overnight at 4 °C and then washed and incubated with the secondary horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated antibodies: anti-IgG-rabbit (1:200) and anti-IgGmouse (1:200) for one hour at room temperature. Finally, slides were visualized with diaminobenzidine and lightly counterstained with hematoxylin before being dehydrated, cleared, and mounted. The same steps were followed without the primary antibodies for negative controls; no staining was observed. Staining specificity was established by staining run simultaneously for each slide under the six experimental conditions. VEGF-A, PLGF and VEGF-R counts were carried out by selecting two center areas in the labyrinth; NeuN, and DCX counts were carried out by selecting two center areas in the cerebellar vermis and a whole area in the DG of the hippocampus from 6–10 different samples for each group. Images were captured with an Olympus light microscope using $10 \times$ and $40 \times$ magnifications. Images were obtained with a specific image software (Image ProPlus) and quantification carried out using an Image J Analysis Software and a color deconvolution algorithm to determine the percentage of positive immunostaining. Immunohistochemical staining was analyzed establishing a positive area/total area ratio (%).

4.7. Immunofluorescence

Five-micrometer-thick brain sections were prepared, mounted on glass slides, and allowed to dry. Slides were next deparaffinized, unmasked, and peroxidase blocked before applying the primary antibodies to Nrf2 (1:250) or GFAP (1:250) for one hour at room temperature. The following steps were performed in the dark: slides were incubated with the secondary antibody, a goat antirabbit IgG, coupled to Alexa Fluor-488 (1:1000) for one hour at room temperature; next, they were mounted and the nucleus stained using VectashieldR Antifade Mounting Medium with DAPI. Immunofluorescence was performed simultaneously for all histological sections of each antibody and pictures acquired the same day. Image acquisition conditions were set according to the brightest sample (exposure time, contrast and color balance) for all pictures. Nrf2 and GFAP counts were carried out by selecting two center areas in the cerebellar vermis and a whole area in the DG of the hippocampus from 6–10 different samples in each group. Images were captured using the same imaging settings for all experimental conditions and acquired with the confocal microscope Leica TCS SP5 (Leica Microsistemas S.L.U., objective 10 and 63x). GFAP and Nrf2 signals were quantified using the Image J Analysis Software. The following quantification settings for all immunofluorescence images were used: background correction was performed selecting a region of interest (ROI) in the background applying the command Proces/Math/Subtract, which subtracted the mean of the ROI plus an additional value equal to the standard deviation of the ROI multiplied by 3; the intensity of fluorescence quantification was then measured using the command Analyze/Measure and limiting to a threshold of 100 to 255 for Nrf2 and GFAP quantifications. For immunofluorescence evaluation, cerebellum and DG were analyzed establishing a positive fluorescence signal area/total area ratio (% area).

4.8. Statistical Analyses

Database management and statistical analyses of the variables were performed using the SPSS v.22 (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA) and the GraphPad (Prism, San Diego, CA, USA)

software v.6.0. For descriptive statistics, means and standard deviations (SD) were used. Intergroup comparisons were performed using the non-parametrical Kruskal–Wallis test (Dunn's correction for multiple comparisons) to analyze the differences in placental and brain protein expression. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05 for all the analyses. At least three different experiments were performed to obtain the mean for each sample and at least five different samples from different litters were used in the statistical analyses.

5. Conclusions

The harmful effects of ethanol on fetal development are well known. However, few studies compare the consequences of ethanol intake considering the different patterns of human alcohol consumption. In this study, we analyze the effects of PAE on fetal growth, placenta, and neurodevelopment and show that no amount of alcohol may be considered safe during pregnancy. The timing of ethanol exposure is a key factor in FASD pathophysiology. PAE promotes alterations in placental angiogenesis, fetal growth restriction, and disorders in neuronal maturation and astrocyte differentiation processes. Furthermore, the binge drinking pattern generates the most harmful effects on the fetus. Finally, EGCG as a potential antioxidant, appears to be a safe nutraceutical option to ameliorate FASD manifestations in exposed individuals. EGCG reduces the oxidative stress generated by alcohol exposure mitigating its teratogenic effects. More studies are needed to evaluate the possible beneficial effects of the antioxidant therapy on fetal angiogenesis and neurogenesis, and the molecular pathways related to these outcomes. Finally, the results of this study need to be tested in humans to translate these findings to women that drink alcohol during pregnancy.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, Ó.G.-A., M.D.G.-R., L.M., V.A.-F., L.A.-T. and R.A.-L.; methodology, V.A.-F. and L.A.-T.; laboratory analysis, V.A.-F. and R.A.-L.; analytical quantifications, V.A.-F. and R.A.-L.; statistical analysis, investigation, V.A.-F. and L.A.-T.; writing-original draft preparation, L.A.-T. and V.A.-F.; writing-review and editing, Ó.G.-A., M.D.G.-R., L.M., V.A.-F., L.A.-T. and R.A.-L.; visualization, V.A.-F. and L.A.-T.; supervision, Ó.G.-A., L.M. and M.D.G.-R.; project administration, Ó.G.-A., L.M. and M.D.G.-R.; funding, Ó.G.-A., L.M. and M.D.G.-R. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by grants from Red de Salud Materno-Infantil y del Desarrollo (SAMID) (RD12/0026/0003 and RD16/0022/0002), from Instituto de Salud Carlos III, and from Instituto de Salud Carlos III (PI15/01179, PI16/00566 and PI19/01853) and from FEDER and Instituto de Salud Carlos III (PI15/01179, PI16/00566 and PI19/01853).

Institutional Review Board Statement: The study was conducted according to the ARRIVE guidelines for the care and use of experimental animals and the U.K. Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act, 1986 and EU Directive 2010/63/EU for animal experiments, and approved by the Animal Experimental Ethics Committee of the University of Barcelona (identification code: 713/15-8744; 23 January 2016).

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: The data presented in this study are available on request from the corresponding author.

Acknowledgments: The authors acknowledge Mariona Serra Delgado, Agueda García Meseguer, and Isabel Salas for technical and facilitative assistance.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Hoyme, H.E.; Kalberg, W.O.; Elliott, A.J.; Blankenship, J.; Buckley, D.; Marais, A.-S.; Manning, A.M.; Robinson, K.L.; Adam, P.M.; Abdul-Rahman, O.; et al. Updated Clinical Guidelines for Diagnosing Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders. *Pediatrics* 2016, 138, e20154256. [CrossRef]
- Carter, R.C.; Wainwright, H.; Molteno, C.D.; Georgieff, M.K.; Dodge, N.C.; Warton, F.; Meintjes, E.M.; Jacobson, J.L.; Jacobson, S. Alcohol, Methamphetamine, and Marijuana Exposure Have Distinct Effects on the Human Placenta. *Alcohol Clin. Exp. Res.* 2016, 40, 753–764. [CrossRef]

- Burd, L.; Roberts, D.; Olson, M.; Odendaal, H. Ethanol and the placenta: A review. J. Matern. Neonatal. Med. 2007, 20, 361–375. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 4. Gundogan, F.; Gilligan, J.; Qi, W.; Chen, E.; Naram, R.; De La Monte, S.M. Dose effect of gestational ethanol exposure on placentation and fetal growth. *Placenta* 2015, *36*. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rosenberg, M.J.; Wolff, C.R.; El-Emawy, A.; Staples, M.C.; Perrone-Bizzozero, N.I.; Savage, D.D. Effects of moderate drinking during pregnancy on placental gene expression. *Alcohol* 2010, 44, 673–690. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Joya, X.; Salat-Batlle, J.; Velezmoro-Jáuregui, G.; Clavé, S.; Garcia-Algar, O.; Vall, O. Prenatal ethanol exposure and placental hCG and IGF2 expression. *Placenta* 2015, *36*, 854–862. [CrossRef]
- 7. Lecuyer, M.; Laquerrière, A.; Bekri, S.; Lesueur, C.; Ramdani, Y.; Jégou, S.; Uguen, A.; Marcorelles, P.; Marret, S.; Gonzalez, B.J. PLGF, a placental marker of fetal brain defects after in utero alcohol exposure. *Acta Neuropathol. Commun.* **2017**, *5*, 44. [CrossRef]
- 8. Clarke, D.W.; Steenaart, N.A.; Breedon, T.H.; Brien, J.F. Differential pharmacokinetics for oral and intraperitoneal administration of ethanol to the pregnant guinea pig. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* **1985**, *63*, 169–172. [CrossRef]
- 9. Agarwal, D.P. Genetic polymorphisms of alcohol metabolizing enzymes. Pathol. Biol. 2001, 49, 703–709. [CrossRef]
- 10. Sanchis, R.; Guerri, C. Alcohol-metabolizing enzymes in placenta and fetal liver: Effect of chronic ethanol intake. *Alcohol Clin. Exp. Res.* **1986**, *10*, 39–44. [CrossRef]
- 11. Goodlett, C.R.; Horn, K.H.; Zhou, F.C. Alcohol teratogenesis: Mechanisms of damage and strategies for intervention. *Exp. Biol. Med.* **2005**, 230, 394–406. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Almeida, L.; Andreu-Fernández, V.; Navarro-Tapia, E.; Aras-López, R.; Serra-Delgado, M.; Martínez, L.; Garcia-Algar, O.; Gomez-Roig, M.D.M. Models for the Study of Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders: An Overview. *Front. Pediatrics* 2020, *8*, 359. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Powrozek, T.A.; Zhou, F.C. Effects of prenatal alcohol exposure on the development of the vibrissal somatosensory cortical barrel network. Dev. Brain Res. 2005, 155, 135–146. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sari, Y.; Zhang, M.; Mechref, Y. Differential expression of proteins in fetal brains of alcohol-treated prenatally C57BL/6 mice: A proteomic investigation. *Electrophoresis* 2010, *31*, 483–496. [CrossRef]
- 15. Amiri, S.; Davie, J.R.; Rastegar, M. Chronic Ethanol Exposure Alters DNA Methylation in Neural Stem Cells: Role of Mouse Strain and Sex. *Mol. Neurobiol.* **2019**, *57*. [CrossRef]
- 16. Ceccanti, M.; Mancinelli, R.; Tirassa, P.; Laviola, G.; Rossi, S.; Romeo, M.; Fiore, M. Early exposure to ethanol or red wine and long-lasting effects in aged mice. A study on nerve growth factor, brain-derived neurotrophic factor, hepatocyte growth factor, and vascular endothelial growth factor. *Neurobiol. Aging* **2012**, *33*, 359–367. [CrossRef]
- 17. Shanmugam, S.; Patel, D.; Wolpert, J.; Keshvani, C.; Liu, X.; Bergeson, S.E.; Kidambi, S.; Mahimainathan, L.; Henderson, G.I.; Narasimhan, M. Ethanol Impairs NRF2/Antioxidant and Growth Signaling in the Intact Placenta In Vivo and in Human Trophoblasts. *Biomolecules* **2019**, *9*, 669. [CrossRef]
- 18. Astley, S.J. Validation of the fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD) 4-Digit Diagnostic Code. J. Popul. Ther. Clin. Pharmacol. 2013, 20, e416–e467.
- 19. O'Leary, C.M.; Bower, C. Guidelines for pregnancy: What's an acceptable risk, and how is the evidence (finally) shaping up? *Drug Alcohol Rev.* **2012**, *31*, 170–183. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 20. National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA). *Drinking Levels Defined*; National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism: Bethesda, MD, USA, 2017.
- Kesmodel, U.S.; Nygaard, S.S.; Mortensen, E.L.; Bertrand, J.; Denny, C.H.; Glidewell, A.; Astley Hemingway, S. Are Low-to-Moderate Average Alcohol Consumption and Isolated Episodes of Binge Drinking in Early Pregnancy Associated with Facial Features Related to Fetal Alcohol Syndrome in 5-Year-Old Children? *Alcohol Clin. Exp. Res.* 2019, 43, 1199–1212. [CrossRef]
- 22. Thiele, T.E.; Crabbe, J.C.; Boehm, S.L. "Drinking in the dark" (DID): A simple mouse model of binge-like alcohol intake. *Curr. Protoc. Neurosci.* **2014**, *68*, 9–49. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 23. Carson, E.J.; Pruett, S.B. Development and characterization of a binge drinking model in mice for evaluation of the immunological effects of ethanol. *Alcohol Clin. Exp. Res.* **1996**, *20*, 132–138. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 24. Becker, H.C.; Diaz-Granados, J.L.; Randall, C.L. Teratogenic actions of ethanol in the mouse: A minireview. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* **1996**, *55*, 501–513. [CrossRef]
- 25. Charness, M.E.; Riley, E.P.; Sowell, E.R. Drinking During Pregnancy and the Developing Brain: Is Any Amount Safe? *Trends Cogn. Sci.* **2016**, *20*, 80–82. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Wilhoit, L.F.; Scott, D.A.; Simecka, B.A. Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders: Characteristics, Complications, and Treatment. Community Ment. Health J. 2017, 53, 711–718. [CrossRef]
- Joya, X.; Garcia-Algar, O.; Salat-Batlle, J.; Pujades, C.; Vall, O. Advances in the development of novel antioxidant therapies as an approach for fetal alcohol syndrome prevention. *Birth Defects. Res. Part A Clin. Mol. Teratol.* 2015, 103, 163–177. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Lussier, A.A.; Bodnar, T.S.; Mingay, M.; Morin, A.M.; Hirst, M.; Kobor, M.S.; Weinberg, J. Prenatal Alcohol Exposure: Profiling Developmental DNA Methylation Patterns in Central and Peripheral Tissues. *Front Genet.* 2018, *9*. [CrossRef]
- 29. Zaveri, N.T. Green tea and its polyphenolic catechins: Medicinal uses in cancer and noncancer applications. *Life Sci.* **2006**, *78*, 2073–2080. [CrossRef]
- Zhang, Y.; Wang, H.; Li, Y.; Peng, Y. A review of interventions against fetal alcohol spectrum disorder targeting oxidative stress. *Int. J. Dev. Neurosci.* 2018, 71, 140–145. [CrossRef]

- 31. De la Torre, R.; de Sola, S.; Hernandez, G.; Farré, M.; Pujol, J.; Rodriguez, J.; Espadaler, J.M.; Langohr, K.; Cuenca-Royo, A.; Principe, A.; et al. Safety and efficacy of cognitive training plus epigallocatechin-3-gallate in young adults with Down's syndrome (TESDAD): A double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 2 trial. *Lancet Neurol.* **2016**, *15*, 801–810. [CrossRef]
- 32. Li, J.; Zeng, J.; Peng, J.; Jia, Y.; Li, C.M. Simultaneous determination of the pharmacokinetics of A-type EGCG and ECG dimers in mice plasma and its metabolites by UPLC-QTOF-MS. *Int. J. Food Sci. Nutr.* **2019**, *71*, 211–220. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Lo, J.O.; Schabel, M.C.; Roberts, V.H.J.; Wang, X.; Lewandowski, K.S.; Grant, K.A.; Frias, A.E.; Kroenke, C.D. First trimester alcohol exposure alters placental perfusion and fetal oxygen availability affecting fetal growth and development in a non-human primate model. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 2017, 216, 302.e1–302.e8. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 34. Ventureira, M.R.; Sobarzo, C.; Argandoña, F.; Palomino, W.A.; Barbeito, C.; Cebral, E. Decidual vascularization during organogenesis after perigestational alcohol ingestion. *Reproduction* **2019**, *158*, 109–122. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 35. Haghighi Poodeh, S.; Salonurmi, T.; Nagy, I.; Koivunen, P.; Vuoristo, J.; Räsänen, J.; Sormunen, R.; Vainio, S.; Savolainen, M. Alcohol-induced premature permeability in mouse placenta-yolk sac barriers in vivo. *Placenta* **2012**, *33*, 866–873. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Coll, T.A.; Chaufan, G.; Pérez-Tito, L.G.; Ventureira, M.R.; de Molina, M.D.C.R.; Cebral, E. Cellular and molecular oxidative stress-related effects in uterine myometrial and trophoblast-decidual tissues after perigestational alcohol intake up to early mouse organogenesis. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 2018, 440, 89–104. [CrossRef]
- 37. Helske, S.; Vuorela, P.; Carpén, O.; Hornig, C.; Weich, H.H.E. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor receptors 1, 2 and 3 in placentas from normal and complicated pregnancies. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.* **2001**, 7. [CrossRef]
- 38. Morbidelli, L.; Terzuoli, E.; Donnini, S. Use of nutraceuticals in angiogenesis-dependent disorders. Molecules 2018, 23, 2676. [CrossRef]
- 39. Dong, J.; Sulik, K.K.; Chen, S.Y. Nrf2-mediated transcriptional induction of antioxidant response in mouse embryos exposed to ethanol in vivo: Implications for the prevention of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 2008, 10, 2023–2033. [CrossRef]
- 40. Jain, A.K.; Jaiswal, A.K. GSK-3β acts upstream of Fyn kinase in regulation of nuclear export and degradation of NF-E2 related factor 2. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2007**, *282*, 16502–16510. [CrossRef]
- 41. Han, X.D.; Zhang, Y.Y.; Wang, K.L.; Huang, Y.P.; Yang, Z.B.; Liu, Z. The involvement of Nrf2 in the protective effects of (-)-Epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) on NaAsO2-induced hepatotoxicity. *Oncotarget* **2017**, *8*, 65302–65312. [CrossRef]
- 42. Sun, W.; Liu, X.; Zhang, H.; Song, Y.; Li, T.; Liu, X.; Liu, Y.; Guo, L.; Wang, F.; Yang, T.; et al. Epigallocatechin gallate upregulates NRF2 to prevent diabetic nephropathy via disabling KEAP1. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* **2017**, *108*, 840–857. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 43. Wells, P.G.; Bhatia, S.; Drake, D.M.; Miller-Pinsler, L. Fetal oxidative stress mechanisms of neurodevelopmental deficits and exacerbation by ethanol and methamphetamine. *Birth Defects Res. Part C Embryo Today Rev.* **2016**, *108*, 108–130. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 44. Siddiq, A.; Ayoub, I.A.; Chavez, J.C.; Aminova, L.; Shah, S.; LaManna, J.C.; Patton, S.M.; Connor, J.R.; Cherny, R.A.; Volitakis, I.; et al. Hypoxia-inducible factor prolyl 4-hydroxylase inhibition: A target for neuroprotection in the central nervous system. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2005**, *280*, 41732–41743. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Reznichenko, L.; Amit, T.; Youdim, M.B.H.; Mandel, S. Green tea polyphenol (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate induces neurorescue of long-term serum-deprived PC12 cells and promotes neurite outgrowth. J. Neurochem. 2005, 93, 1157–1167. [CrossRef]
- 46. Elibol-Can, B.; Dursun, I.; Telkes, I.; Kilic, E.; Canan, S.; Jakubowska-Dogru, E. Examination of age-dependent effects of fetal ethanol exposure on behavior, hippocampal cell counts, and doublecortin immunoreactivity in rats. *Dev. Neurobiol.* **2014**, *74*, 498–513. [CrossRef]
- 47. Klintsova, A.Y.; Helfer, J.L.; Calizo, L.H.; Dong, W.K.; Goodlett, C.R.; Greenough, W.T. Persistent Impairment of Hippocampal Neurogenesis in Young Adult Rats Following Early Postnatal Alcohol Exposure. *Alcohol Clin. Exp. Res.* 2007, *31*, 2073–2082. [CrossRef]
- 48. Olateju, O.I.; Spocter, M.A.; Patzke, N.; Ihunwo, A.O.; Manger, P.R. Hippocampal neurogenesis in the C57BL/6J mice at early adulthood following prenatal alcohol exposure. *Metab. Brain Dis.* **2018**, *33*, 397–410. [CrossRef]
- 49. Shnitko, T.A.; Liu, Z.; Wang, X.; Grant, K.A.; Kroenke, C.D. Chronic Alcohol Drinking Slows Brain Development in Adolescent and Young Adult Nonhuman Primates. *Eneuro* 2019, 6. [CrossRef]
- 50. Arain, M.; Haque, M.; Johal, L.; Mathur, P.; Nel, W.; Rais, A.; Sandhu, R.; Sharma, S. Maturation of the adolescent brain. *Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat.* 2013, *9*, 449. [CrossRef]
- 51. Seong, K.J.; Lee, H.G.; Kook, M.S.; Ko, H.M.; Jung, J.Y.; Kim, W.J. Epigallocatechin 3 gallate rescues LpS impaired adult hippocampal neurogenesis through suppressing the TLR4 NF-κB signaling pathway in mice. *Korean J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* **2016**, 20, 41–51. [CrossRef]
- 52. Bai, Q.; Lyu, Z.; Pan, Z.; Lou, J.; Dong, T. Epigallocatechin-3-gallate promotes angiogenesis via up-regulation of Nfr2 signaling pathway in a mouse model of ischemic stroke. *Behav. Brain Res.* 2017, 321, 79–86. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 53. Hossain, M.M.; Banik, N.L.; Ray, S.K. Survivin knockdown increased anti-cancer effects of (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate in human malignant neuroblastoma SK-N-BE2 and SH-SY5Y cells. *Exp. Cell. Res.* **2012**, *318*, 1597–1610. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 54. Vallés, S.; Pitarch, J.; Renau-Piqueras, J.; Guerri, C. Ethanol exposure affects glial fibrillary acidic protein gene expression and transcription during rat brain development. *J. Neurochem.* **1997**, *69*, 2484–2493. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Renno, W.M.; Al-Khaledi, G.; Mousa, A.; Karam, S.M.; Abul, H.; Asfar, S. (-)-Epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) modulates neurological function when intravenously infused in acute and, chronically injured spinal cord of adult rats. *Neuropharmacology* 2014, 77, 100–119. [CrossRef]
- Koh, S.H.; Kim, S.H.; Kwon, H.; Park, Y.; Kim, K.S.; Song, C.W.; Kim, J.; Kim, M.; Yu, H.; Henkel, J.S.; et al. Epigallocatechin gallate protects nerve growth factor differentiated PC12 cells from oxidative-radical-stress-induced apoptosis through its effect on phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Akt and glycogen synthase kinase-3. *Mol. Brain Res.* 2003, *118*, 72–81. [CrossRef]

- 57. Biasibetti, R.; Tramontina, A.C.; Costa, A.P.; Dutra, M.F.; Quincozes-Santos, A.; Nardin, P.; Bernardi, C.L.; Wartchow, K.M.; Lunardi, P.S.; Gonçalves, C. Green tea (-)epigallocatechin-3-gallate reverses oxidative stress and reduces acetylcholinesterase activity in a streptozotocin-induced model of dementia. *Behav. Brain Res.* **2013**, *236*, 186–193. [CrossRef]
- Popova, N.K.; Morozova, M.V.; Naumenko, V.S. Ameliorative effect of BDNF on prenatal ethanol and stress exposure-induced behavioral disorders. *Neurosci. Lett.* 2011, 505, 82–86. [CrossRef]
- Liu, M.; Chen, F.; Sha, L.; Wang, S.; Tao, L.; Yao, L.; He, M.; Yao, Z.; Liu, H.; Zhu, Z.; et al. (-)-Epigallocatechin-3-gallate ameliorates learning and memory deficits by adjusting the balance of TrkA/p75NTR signaling in APP/PS1 transgenic mice. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 2014, 49, 1350–1363. [CrossRef]
- Gundimeda, U.; McNeill, T.H.; Schiffman, J.E.; Hinton, D.R.; Gopalakrishna, R. Green tea polyphenols potentiate the action of nerve growth factor to induce neuritogenesis: Possible role of reactive oxygen species. J. Neurosci. Res. 2010, 88, 3644–3655. [CrossRef]
- 61. Feng, M.J.; Yan, S.E.; Yan, Q.S. Effects of prenatal alcohol exposure on brain-derived neurotrophic factor and its receptor tyrosine kinase B in offspring. *Brain Res.* 2005, 1042, 125–132. [CrossRef]
- Haun, H.L.; Griffin, W.C.; Lopez, M.F.; Solomon, M.G.; Mulholland, P.J.; Woodward, J.J.; McGinty, J.F.; Ron, D.; Becker, H.C. Increasing Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor (BDNF) in medial prefrontal cortex selectively reduces excessive drinking in ethanol dependent mice. *Neuropharmacology* 2018, 140, 35–42. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 63. Fernández, V.A.; Toledano, L.A.; Lozano, N.P.; Tapia, E.N.; Roig, M.D.G.; Fornell, R.D.L.T.; García, A.O. Bioavailability of epigallocatechin gallate administered with different nutritional strategies in healthy volunteers. *Antioxidants* 2020, *9*, 440. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

Article 2: Bioavailability of epigallocatechin gallate administered with different nutritional strategies in healthy volunteers

In this article, we assessed EGCG bioavailability in humans under different nutritional conditions. The aims in this work were:

- 1. To analyze the bioavailability of oral EGCG administration alone or with different food supplements in healthy volunteers
- 2. To evaluate the pharmacokinetic parameters of EGCG in healthy volunteers



Article

Bioavailability of Epigallocatechin Gallate Administered with Different Nutritional Strategies in Healthy Volunteers

Vicente Andreu Fernández ^{1,2,3,4,*,†}, Laura Almeida Toledano ^{3,4,5,†}, Nieves Pizarro Lozano ^{6,7}, Elisabet Navarro Tapia ^{1,3,4}, María Dolores Gómez Roig ^{3,4,5}, Rafael De la Torre Fornell ^{6,8} and Óscar García Algar ^{1,4,9,*}

- ¹ Grup de Recerca Infancia i Entorn (GRIE), Institut d'investigacions Biomèdiques August Pi i Sunyer (IDIBAPS), 08036 Barcelona, Spain; elnavarro@clinic.cat
- ² Department of Nutrition and Health, Valencian International University (VIU), 46002 Valencia, Spain
- ³ Institut de Recerca Sant Joan de Déu (IR-SJD), 08950 Barcelona, Spain; lalmeida@sjdhospitalbarcelona.org (L.A.T.); lgomezroig@sjdhospitalbarcelona.org (M.D.G.R.)
- ⁴ Maternal and Child Health and Development Network II (SAMID II), Instituto de Salud Carlos III (ISCIII), 28029 Madrid, Spain
- ⁵ BCNatal—Barcelona Center for Maternal Fetal and Neonatal Medicine, Hospital Sant Joan de Déu, Esplugues de Llobregat, 08950 Barcelona, Spain
- ⁶ Integrative Pharmacology and Systems Neurosciences Research Group, IMIM-Hospital del Mar Medical Research Institute, 08003 Barcelona, Spain; npizarro@imim.es (N.P.L.); rtorre@imim.es (R.D.I.T.F.)
- ⁷ Department of Pharmacology, Therapeutics and Toxicology, Autonomous University of Barcelona, 08193 Bellaterra, Spain
- ⁸ CIBER of Physiopathology of Obesity and Nutrition (CIBEROBN), University Pompeu Fabra (CEXS-UPF), 08002 Barcelona, Spain
- ⁹ Department of Neonatology, Hospital Clínic-Maternitat, ICGON, IDIBAPS, BCNatal, 08028 Barcelona, Spain
- * Correspondence: viandreu@clinic.cat (V.A.F.); ogarciaa@clinic.cat (Ó.G.A.);
- Tel.: +34-609-709-258 (V.A.F.); +34-639-644-139 (Ó.G.A.)
- + Both Authors contributed equally to this work.

Received: 24 March 2020; Accepted: 14 May 2020; Published: 19 May 2020



Abstract: The flavanol epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG) is being tested for the treatment of several diseases in humans. However, its bioavailability and pharmacokinetic profile needs a better understanding to enable its use in clinical trials. There is no consensus on the most appropriate concentration of EGCG in the body to obtain the maximum therapeutic effects. Therefore, the aim of this study is to analyze the bioavailability of EGCG orally administered alone or with different food supplements after overnight fasting in order to determine its optimal conditions (high concentrations in blood and the lowest interindividual variations) to be used as a pharmacological tool in human trials. Ten healthy volunteers (5 men and 5 women) aged 25 to 35 years were recruited prospectively. Three series of clinical experiments with a washout period of seven days among each were performed: (1) Teavigo[®] (EGCG extract) alone, (2) Teavigo[®] with a standard breakfast, and (3) FontUp[®] (Teavigo[®] commercially prepared with fats, carbohydrates, proteins, vitamins, and minerals). Blood samples were collected at 0, 30, 60, 90, 120, 180, 240, and 360 min after EGCG intake. Free EGCG in plasma was measured using a liquid chromatography and mass spectrometry UPLC-ESI-MS/MS analytical method. The pharmacokinetic variables analyzed statistically were area under the curve (AUC₀₋₃₆₀), C_{max}, C_{av}, C_{min}, T_{1/2}, and T_{max}. EGCG (Teavigo[®]) alone was the group with higher AUC₀₋₃₆₀, C_{max} , and C_{av} both in men (3.86 ± 4.11 µg/mL/kg/6 h; 5.95 ng/mL/kg; 2.96 ng/mL/kg) and women (3.33 \pm 1.08 $\mu g/mL/kg/6$ h; 6.66 ng/mL/kg; 3.66 ng/mL). Moreover, FontUp $^{\textcircled{R}}$ was the group with the highest value of $T_{1/2}$ both in men (192 ± 66 min) and women (133 ± 28 min). Teavigo[®] intake after fasting overnight revealed the highest concentration of EGCG in plasma according to its pharmacokinetic profile, indicating that this is an excellent alternative of administration if the



experimental design requires good absorption in the gastrointestinal tract. Moreover, EGCG taken along with food supplements (FontUp[®]) improved the stability of the molecule in the body, being the best choice if the experimental design wants to reduce interindividual variation.

Keywords: epigallocatechin gallate; EGCG; catechins; polyphenols; green tea; Teavigo[®], bioavailability; pharmacokinetic profile; antioxidants; food supplement

1. Introduction

Tea is one of the most popular beverages consumed across the world. It is extracted from the unfermented leaves of *Camellia sinensis* and mainly produced in four varieties, white, green, oolong, and black, depending on the oxidation and fermentation techniques applied [1]. Daily intake of green tea provides several health benefits, such as anti-inflammatory, anticarcinogenic, antimicrobial, and antioxidant effects reducing the risk of various diseases [2]. The health benefits of green tea extracts have been evaluated in diseases associated with an increase of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and oxidative stress, such as cancer and cardiovascular diseases [4,5]. Moreover other molecular mechanisms like signaling pathways, the modulation of some enzyme activities, and several interactions with membrane receptors related to cognitive functioning and Alzheimer's disease have also been associated to green tea components [6,7].

Most of the health-promoting effects of green tea are associated to its polyphenol content [8], particularly flavonoids. The main flavonoids in green tea, the catechins, make up to 30%–40% of the solid components of green tea. The major catechins in tea are epicatechin (EC), epicatechin-3-gallate (ECG), epigallocatechin (EGC), and epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG). EGCG, the most abundant flavanol, represents approximately 59% of the total catechins [2]. Many of the beneficial properties of green tea are attributed to this compound so that, recently, EGCG has been raised as a potential therapeutic tool [9,10]. Some of these health effects are related to the antiproliferative role of EGCG by the interference of the intracellular signaling cascades, which inhibits cell growth at the G1 stage, triggering apoptosis. In this framework, EGCG has been proposed as a chemopreventative in cancer prophylaxis [11,12]. Other beneficial properties of EGCG are its metabolic effects reducing the risk of type 2 diabetes and its cardiovascular complications [13]; antimicrobial activity due to the damage produced in the bacterial cell membrane when catechins bind to the lipid bilayer, inhibiting the ability of the bacteria to bind to the host cells; and its role in prevention and reduction of viral infections. EGCG also exercises a protective role in neurodegenerative diseases like Alzheimer disease [2] or after a neural injury [14]. Additionally, a recent research has demonstrated that this flavonoid improves cognitive performance and adaptive functionality in individuals diagnosed with Down syndrome by modulating the overexpression of the dual specificity tyrosine phosphorylation regulated kinase 1A (Dyrk1A) [15]. This protein is encoded by the DYRK1A gene, involved in signaling pathways which regulate cell proliferation, neural plasticity, and neurogenesis [16].

EGCG disposition depends on the ADME (absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion) processes, reaching the plasmatic peak concentration at 90 min and being undetectable 24 h after its oral intake [17]. EGCG reaches the stomach after oral administration, where the acid pH favors the structural stability of this molecule [18]. Then, a fraction of EGCG is absorbed in the small intestine. However, the low concentrations of EGCG observed in peripheral blood are caused by the transit of a substantial fraction of EGCG from the small to large intestines, where this molecule is transformed by the enterocytes and catabolized by local microbiota, leading to the formation of up to eleven catechin ring-fission products in different species. The EGCG ring-fission metabolites produced by intestinal microbiota are present as free and conjugated forms in plasma. In vitro data suggested that EGCG forms could reach the brain parenchyma by crossing the blood–brain barrier (BBB). Once distributed

throughout the brain, EGCG promotes neuritogenesis, showing an important role in suppressing neurodegenerative diseases [19]. Finally, the liver cells metabolize the remaining EGCG, transforming into methylated, sulfated, and glucuronide intermediates which will be further eliminated in urine [20].

Moreover, several factors affect to the stability of polyphenols and promote remarkable differences in the pharmacokinetic parameters of EGCG among individuals [17,21]. The concentration of EGCG is reduced by high pH (4 or higher) and high temperatures (20 °C or higher), which directly affect its structural stability, promoting the chemical degradation of EGCG [22]. Recent studies postulate that the oral bioavailability of EGCG is low in humans and decreases if accompanied by food [17,23]. In contrast, others studies conclude that the intake of EGCG with some specific nutrients such as fish oil (omega-3 fatty acids) [24], vitamins as ascorbic acid which reduce the oxidation of EGCG [25], and minerals as selenium or chrome [25,26] improves the EGCG bioavailability, enhancing its antioxidant activity.

Due to its hydrophilic nature, EGCGs show homogeneity problems in lipid products, affecting not only its appearance but also its effectiveness. Structural modifications of EGCG via esterification with aliphatic molecules such as long-chain fatty acids have been performed to solve these problems, and they can serve as a useful tool in altering its physical properties [27]. Interestingly, these ester derivatives have shown higher antiviral and antioxidant properties than the parent EGCG molecule and enhance its cellular absorption in vivo [27–29]. Moreover, EGCG derivates were demonstrated to be more effective in neuroprotection that non-modified EGCG in a cellular model of Parkinson [30]. Thus, EGCG esters may be used in nutrition and cosmetics as lipophilic alternatives with no effects in its functional properties.

Human studies evaluating the bioavailability of green tea extracts purified up to 95% in EGCG in different conditions (i.e., after overnight fasting, with additional nutrients, or included into food supplements) are scarce [31]. For that reason, the pharmacokinetic profile of EGCG in humans as well as its bioavailability is still investigated [21,32,33]. Different studies in both animal models and humans show controversial results regarding the bioavailability and also the biological effects elicited by EGCG [31,34]. Teavigo[®] capsules are a purified green tea extract with an EGCG content around 94% for which solubility and stability have been improved from previous products containing green tea extracts. Teavigo[®] is also incorporated into nutritional supplements as FontUp[®], which also contains vitamins (A, C, D, E, K, and B1), minerals (zinc, chrome, selenium, etc.), and fatty acids as omega-3 in order to get better stability and to reduce the potential degradation of the molecule after dilution in various liquids such as milk and water [35]. Therefore, Teavigo[®] is frequently used in clinical trials because it has enabled the use of EGCG with very minor contributions of other green tea catechins. In clinical trials, EGCG concentrations range from 100 mg to 600 mg per day [36]. A daily ration of nutritional supplement usually contains between 200 to 400 mg of Teavigo[®]. Doses higher than 800 mg per day have shown toxic effects in cellular and animal models with no additional benefits [37]. The European Food Safety Agency (EFSA) reviewed recently the safety of EGCG and concluded that there is evidence from interventional clinical trials that intake of doses equal or above 800 mg EGCG/day taken as a food supplement have been shown to induce a statistically significant increase of serum transaminases in treated subjects compared to controls. Other side effects described in this report include dizziness, anemia, hypoglycemia, and kidney problems [38].

A randomized and crossover study was performed in order to evaluate the bioavailability of EGCG in healthy subjects. EGCG concentrations in plasma samples of healthy male and female volunteers were analyzed after the administration of green tea extract Teavigo[®] in three different ways: (1) fasting conditions, (2) combined with a Mediterranean diet breakfast, and (3) in the form of the commercial dietary supplement Fontup[®]. Thus, our results will determine the effect of different nutrients on the absorption and the stability of EGCG.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Participants and Selection Criteria

Twenty-two Caucasian healthy adult volunteers were prospectively recruited in the study. All participants were physically examined before the start of the study to confirm their healthy condition. In the first clinic visit, the anthropometric parameters, gender, age, weight, and height, were collected and body mass index (BMI) was calculated for all individuals.

Exclusion criteria for subjects were a BMI of $\leq 18 \text{ kg/m}^2$ or $\geq 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$; smoking; pregnancy; use of oral contraceptives; any intake of medication; functional food or dietary supplement (including green tea); and any known renal, hepatic, gastrointestinal, hematological, endocrinological, pulmonary, cardiovascular, or malignant disease. Eight volunteers met exclusion criteria. The remaining fourteen subjects were included in the study and randomized by gender under equal conditions.

Sample size was calculated using a two-sided contrast method with a significance level of $\alpha = 0.05\%$ and a statistical power of 80% ($\beta = 0.2$), assuming 10% of missing values. An accuracy value of 40 and a variance of 1000 in the control group were estimated based on blood EGCG values published previously [39]. Finally ten participants, five men and five women aged between 25 and 35 years of age, were selected and included in the study, discarding four participants not included in this age range [17,40,41].

Written informed consent was obtained from all the participants before the start of the study. All the protocols performed in this study were approved by the local ethical committee (CEIC-FSJD: Comitè Ètic d'Investigació Clínica—Fundació Sant Joan de Déu, ref. 2018/PIC-11-18) and were conducted according to the Declaration of Helsinki principles. All methods performed in this study were in accordance with the relevant guidelines and regulations.

2.2. Reagents and EGCG Preparations

Teavigo[®] (94% EGCG, 150 mg of green tea extract, 60 capsules) was provided by Healthy Origins (Pittsburgh, USA). The food supplement FontUp[®] (94% EGCG, 266 mg of concentrated green tea extract plus fats, carbohydrates, proteins, vitamins, and minerals in format sachet; see Table A1) was purchased from Grand Fontaine Laboratories (Barcelona, Spain). The concentration (purity) of the EGCG of each product was stated by the manufacturers.

Acetonitrile high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC-grade), methanol (HPLC-grade), acetone (HPLC-grade), and glacial acetic acid (99.8%) of analytical grade (Scharlab, Barcelona, Spain) were used. Ultrapure water was obtained from a Milli-Q water purification system (Millipore, Bedford, MA, USA). Standards of EGCG and ethyl gallate (internal standard, I.S.), ascorbic acid (A92902) and Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA, E9884) were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). EGCG-free plasma for ultra-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (UPLC-MS/MS) analysis was obtained from the Hospital del Mar blood bank (Barcelona, Spain). Monosodium dihydrogen orthophosphate (NaH₂PO₄:H₂O) was purchased from Merck. All food ingredients for breakfast were purchased from local supermarkets.

2.3. Interventions

The clinical design included the administration of Teavigo[®], Teavigo[®] plus breakfast, and FontUp[®] intake, with a washout period of seven days between interventions. Before starting the crossover study, the sequence of interventions was randomized for each subject. In all cases, the administration was performed after a fasting period of at least 8 h. No subject dropped out of the study.

For Teavigo[®] series, the volunteers ingested 300 mg of green tea extract (two capsules with 140 mg of EGCG) with 100 mL of water. FontUp[®] is a nutritional supplement with a cocoa taste formulated to provide the nutrients contained in a complete diet (188 kcal per ration, see Table A1) considering several comorbidities of subjects having Down syndrome (celiac disease, gluten intolerance, gastrointestinal disturbances, etc.). FontUp[®] (266 mg of green tea extract, minimum 250 mg of EGCG) was dissolved

into 200 mL of semi-skimmed milk (200 kcal) and administered with no additional breakfast. Moreover, in the Teavigo[®] plus breakfast series, two capsules of Teavigo[®] were administered with 30 g of breakfast cereals, 200 mL of semi-skimmed milk with soluble cocoa, and a couple of toasts with 5 mL olive oil, resulting in 480 kcal of caloric intake (Table 1). EGCG preparations were administered to all subjects within 5 min, and no additional food was taken for 6 h.

Nutrient	Weight (g)	% (w/w) ¹	kcal		
Semi-skimmed milk + Soluble cocoa	200	78.4	200		
Breakfast cereals	30	11.8	120		
2 bread toasts + 5 mL Olive oil	25	9.8	160		
Total	255	100	480		
1 w = weight.					

Table 1. Nutrients of the standardized breakfast included in the Teavigo® plus breakfast intervention.

2.4. Blood Collection, Processing, and Plasma Storage Protocol

An 18-gauge shielded IV catheter with injection port $(1.3 \times 33 \text{ mm})$ and three-way stopcock extension (Vasofix[®] Safety, Braun, Kronberg, Germany) for serial extractions was placed in the median cubital vein of the antecubital fossa for all the participants and was left in for 6 h.

Five mL of whole blood was collected into lithium heparin tubes (BD Biosciences, Madrid, Spain) before the intervention and at 30, 60, 90, 120, 180, 240, and 360 min after the ingestion of each EGCG preparation. Immediately after collection, the blood samples were maintained on ice, and within 10 min of blood collection, plasma was separated by centrifugation for 10 min at $1750 \times g$ at 4 °C. Plasma samples (0.350 mL) were stored in Eppendorf low binding tubes (Sarstedt 72.706.600, Nümbrecht, Germany) containing 20 µL of a preserving solution (1.38 g NaH₂PO₄·H₂O, 5 g of ascorbic acid, and 25 mg EDTA in 25 mL milli-Q H₂O, pH 3.8) and kept at -80 °C until further analysis.

2.5. Determination of Free EGCG in Plasma Samples

2.5.1. Preparation of Standard Solutions

Standard EGCG solutions (in methanol at 0.1% HCOOH) were prepared the day before each analytical batch and stored in a dark-glass flask at -18° C to prevent degradation. Working solutions of 0.1, 1, and 10 µg/mL were used to prepare calibration curves each analysis day, which consisted of at least two replicas at seven different concentrations (10, 29, 43, 71, 100, 286, and 429 ng/mL).

2.5.2. Sample Preparation

The evaluation of free EGCG concentration in plasma samples was performed by an extraction procedure described by Martí et al. (2010) with some modifications [42]. Briefly, a solid-phase extraction was done in OASIS hydrophilic-lipophilic-balanced (HLB) μ Elution Plates 30 mm (Waters, Milford, MA, USA) that were conditioned sequentially with 250 μ L of methanol and 250 μ L of 0.2% acetic acid. Before loading to the plate, plasma samples were mixed with 350 μ L of phosphoric acid 4% and centrifuged for 10 min at 4 °C and 16,000× g. Later, plates were washed with 200 μ L of Milli-Q water and 200 μ L of 0.2% acetic acid, and finally, samples were eluted with 100 μ L of acetone/acetic acid solution 2% (70:30, *v*/*v*). Five μ L of the eluted solution was directly injected in the UPLC-MS/MS.

2.5.3. UPLC-ESI-MS/MS

The analytical quantification was performed using an Acquity UPLC system (Waters Associates, Milford, MA, USA) coupled to a triple quadrupole (QuattroPremier, Waters, Milford, USA) mass spectrometer provided with an orthogonal Z-spray-electrospray interface (ESI) (Waters Associates). The chromatographic separation was performed at 55 °C using an Acquity UPLC BEH C18 (100 mm ×
Total time of chromatogram was 6 min.

 $3.0 \text{ mm i.d.}, 1.7 \mu \text{m}$) column at 0.3 mL/min of flow rate. The mobile phase consisted of formic acid 0.1% (A) and acetonitrile with formic acid 0.1% (B), with the following gradient program: from 99.5% B (maintained 1 min.) to 50% B in 1 min. After 2 min, the gradient was back to initial conditions.

The mass spectrometry (MS) used nitrogen as drying and nebulizing gas. The desolvation gas flow was set at 1200 L/h, and the cone gas flow was set at 50 L/h. The selected capillary voltage was 0.4 kV in negative ionization mode. The nitrogen desolvation temperature was 450 °C, and the source temperature was set to 120 °C. The collision gas was argon at a flow of 0.21 mL/min. The detection of the analytes was performed by the selected reaction monitoring (SRM) method. Mass/charge values selected for identification of analytes were as follows: EGCG *m*/*z* 457 \rightarrow 139, 169, and 305; collision energy (CE) 15 eV for all the transitions; and ethyl gallate, *m*/*z* 197 \rightarrow 78, 124, and 169 and CE 30, 10, and 10 eV, respectively.

2.6. Statistical Analysis

Database management and statistical analysis of the pharmacokinetic variables and the anthropometric measurements were performed using SPSS v.22 (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA) and GraphPad software 6.0 (Prism, San Diego, USA). Descriptive statistics were performed using mean, Standard Deviation (SD), and error (Std. Error). T-test was used to compare the distribution of age and gender for the different groups, using the Holm–Sidak correction. The one-way ANOVA and the Bonferroni post hoc tests were used to determine differences between the mean values of the anthropometric and pharmacokinetic variables obtained for the three EGCG series. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05 for all the analyses performed. All pharmacokinetic data were calculated and presented in accordance with internationally accepted and standardized methods [43,44]. The correlations were also analyzed using linear regression analysis (SPSS v.22). Pharmacokinetic analysis was performed in accordance with current industry guidance for orally administered pharmaceutical products [44].

The maximum concentration of EGCG from time 0 to 6 h was defined as C_{max} , with T_{max} being the time required to reach the C_{max} . The concentration of plasma EGCG at the end of the dosing interval was defined as C_{min} , and the mean concentration during the dosing interval was defined as C_{av} . The plasma EGCG elimination half-life ($T_{1/2}$) was calculated based on the formula $T_{1/2} = 0.693/Ke$, where Ke is the slope of the logarithmically transformed (ln) linear regression of the plasma EGCG concentrations. The area under the curve (AUC₀₋₃₆₀) analysis was determined using the linear trapezoidal rule from 0–6 h.

3. Results

3.1. Anthropometric Data of Participants and EGCG Administration

Five healthy men and women were selected from the initial twenty-two volunteers to evaluate the EGCG concentrations in plasma (Figure 1). Sample size was calculated with a significance level of $\alpha = 0.05\%$ and $\beta = 0.2$, obtaining a minimum value of ten subjects to get statistical significance. Previous studies on green tea or EGCG in volunteers were performed with a similar sample size [17,40,41]. The anthropometric data of all participants (age, height, weight, and BMI averages distributed by gender) were measured at baseline of the clinical trial (Figure 1, details in Table 2). Statistical analysis (*t*-test) demonstrated that there was no significant difference in age (*p*-value = 0.57) between men and women. The age average for all participants recruited for this study was 29.7 ± 4. By contrast, height, weight, and BMI data showed expected differences related to gender. For men, averages were height, 176 ± 5 cm; weight, 73.8 ± 11.6 kg; and BMI, 23.7 ± 2.8 (kg/m²). For women, the averages obtained were height, 163 ± 6 cm; weight, 52.8 ± 7.0 kg; and BMI, 19.9 ± 2.1 (kg/m²).



Figure 1. Consort flow chart and schematic representation of the study design and the blood sampling: The experimental design includes the study groups, the timeline of blood extractions after the intake of epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG), and the methodology to analyze the samples. UPLC-ESI-MS/MS = ultra-performance liquid chromatography-electrospray tandem mass spectrometry.

Three series of EGCG delivery randomized for each subject at the beginning of the trial were performed as follows (Figure 1): Teavigo[®] in fasting conditions (without breakfast), administrating two capsules of Teavigo[®] with a standard breakfast (480 kcal, see Table 1), and finally a sachet of FontUp[®] (188 kcal, see Table A1) with semi-skimmed milk (200 kcal) containing at least 250 mg of EGCG. The nutrients included in the breakfast and their kcal are shown in Table 1. All experiments started after at least eight hours of overnight fast.

The selected dosage (300 mg of EGCG) has been previously tested in clinical trials for Down Syndrome [15,45], cardiovascular disease [46], and cancer [47,48], obtaining satisfactory results. In spite of the fact that the daily dose of EGCG can reach 800 mg per day, high doses are frequently administered two times per day: in the morning after overnight fasting and in the evening. Our experimental design has focused on the bioavailability of EGCG in the first daily dose in the morning used in clinical trials (between 200 and 400 mg of EGCG) performing different controlled conditions. Teavigo[®] intake with no additional nutrients was used as the ideal condition for EGCG administration with the least interference from other environmental or nutritional factors.

Table 2. Anthropometric data of the participants included in the study.

Demographic Parameters	Total	Men	Women
N° of participants	10	5	5
Age mean (years)	29.7 ± 4.3	30.6 ± 5.2	28.8 ± 3.6
Height (cm)	169 ± 8.8	176 ± 5.0	163 ± 6.0
Weight (kg)	63.2 ± 14.4	73.8 ± 11.6	52.8 ± 7.0
BMI ¹ (kg/m ²)	21.8 ± 3.1	23.7 ± 2.8	19.9 ± 2.1

¹ BMI = body mass index.

3.2. EGCG Concentration-Time Profiles in Plasma

The plasma EGCG concentrations were measured using ultra-performance liquid chromatographyelectrospray tandem mass spectrometry (UPLC-ESI-MS/MS). This methodology has been previously validated [23,42]. Figure 2 shows analytical chromatograms of control (plasma at baseline) (Figure 2a), a blank spiked with a known concentration of an analytical standard of EGCG (Figure 2b), and a real sample (Figure 2c). No interfering peaks at the retention time of the EGCG peak were observed.

The EGCG plasma concentrations over time considering the three interventions are shown in Figure 3 (individualized following gender) and in Figure 4 (mean values per gender). Concentration values were expressed as ng/mL of EGCG in plasma per kilogram of weight.

The delivery of EGCG in fasting conditions, taking two capsules of Teavigo[®] without breakfast, showed higher concentrations of EGCG in plasma (C_{max} 5.9 for men and 6.7 ng/mL/kg for women) than Teavigo[®] plus breakfast (C_{max} 3.9 for men and 4.5 ng/mL/kg for women) and five-folds higher than the administration of the food supplement FontUp[®] containing EGCG (C_{max} 0.9 for men and 1.3 ng/mL/kg for women), being this difference statistically significant (*p*-value = 0.009 for men and 0.006 for women) (Figure 4, Table 3). Minimum concentrations, C_{min} , after six hours of EGCG intake did not result in statistical differences between Teavigo[®] and Teavigo[®] plus breakfast. In contrast, Teavigo[®] versus FontUp[®] showed significant differences (Table 3). Interestingly, a slightly and nonsignificant trend was observed when differences between men and women were analyzed for C_{max} and C_{min} , observing that the values of EGCG for all women included in this study were always higher than men (Figure A1). Moreover, the concentration–time curves showed a high variability among participants for Teavigo[®] without breakfast with non-dependency by gender (Figures 3 and 4, Table 3). This variability for EGCG concentration was also observed in the delivery of Teavigo[®] plus breakfast. By contrast, the administration of FontUp[®] generated more predictable concentrations in both men and women than the other treatments (Figures 3 and 4, Table 3, and Table A2).

Parameters	G	Teavigo®	Teavigo [®] with Breakfast	FontUp®
AUC ₀₋₃₆₀	്	3.9 ± 4.1	1.5 ± 0.6	0.6 ± 0.1 **
(µg/mL/kg/6 h)	Ŷ	3.3 ± 1.1	2.4 ± 1.1	0.8 ± 0.2 **
$C = (\pi \pi/m I/I_{1}\pi)$	ď	5.9 ± 4.1	3.9 ± 1.3	0.9 ± 0.1 **
C_{max} (ng/mL/kg)	Ŷ	6.7 ± 1.7	4.5 ± 2.1	1.3 ± 0.3 **
$C_{\rm eff}$ (a s/m I (l.s.)	ď	3.0 ± 2.6	1.5 ± 1.5	0.6 ± 0.2 **
Cav (ng/mL/kg)	Ŷ	3.7 ± 2.3	2.1 ± 2.0	0.9 ± 0.4 **
$C = (m \alpha/m I/l(\alpha))$	്	1.5 ± 1.4	0.7 ± 0.4	0.3 ± 0.1 *
C_{\min} (lig/lill/kg)	Ŷ	2.2 ± 1.1	2.2 ± 1.6	0.3 ± 0.0 *
T (min)	ď	154.2 ± 27.9	93.1 ± 36.2 *	191.7 ± 66.4
$1_{1/2}$ (IIIII)	Ŷ	117.2 ± 53.5	111.4 ± 39.1	132.9 ± 27.9
T (min)	ď	120 (90–180)	120 (90-180)	90 (60–90)
max (mm)	Ŷ	90 (60–120)	180 (120–360)	120 (90–120)

Table 3. Plasma kinetic parameters for EGCG after the three preparations.

Values are means ± standard deviations for the 10 participants (n = 10), except for T_{max} (median with the minimum and maximum time observed). * Value is significantly different from the other values in the row at the level of p < 0.05. ** Value is significantly different from the other values in the row at the level of p < 0.05. ** Value is significantly different from the other values in the row at the level of p < 0.001. Abbreviations: G = gender; min = minutes; h = hours; σ = man; φ = women; AUC₀₋₃₆₀ = area under the curve from 0 to 6 h; C_{max} = maximum concentration; C_{av} = average concentration; C_{min} = minimum concentration (at the end of the treatment); T_{1/2} = half-life; T_{max} = time required to reach the maximal concentration.



Figure 2. LC-MS/MS chromatogram of EGCG showing the most specific and sensitive MS/MS transition m/z 457 \rightarrow 169: (**a**) plasma sample from a volunteer at baseline, (**b**) blank of plasma spiked with 428 ng/mL of EGCG, and (**c**) plasma sample from a volunteer at 60 min after Teavigo[®] ingestion (calculated concentration: 289 ng/mL). LC-MS/MS = liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry.



Figure 3. Plasma EGCG concentration–time curves for each of the participants for the three different EGCG preparations: Concentrations for men (**a**,**c**,**e**) and (**b**,**d**,**f**) for women. Teavigo[®] condition is shown by green lines (**a**,**b**), Teavigo[®] plus breakfast is shown by blue lines (**c**,**d**), and FontUp[®] is shown by red lines (**e**,**f**).



Figure 4. Averages of EGCG plasma concentrations over time distributed following EGCG preparation and gender: Teavigo[®] condition is shown in green lines, Teavigo[®] plus breakfast is in blue lines, and FontUp[®] is in red lines. (**a**) EGCG average concentrations for men and (**b**) EGCG average concentrations for women. Error bars represent the standard deviation.

3.3. Pharmacokinetic Parameters of EGCG in Plasma

The resulting values of the EGCG preparations showed differences by gender in the EGCG bioavailability (Figure 4). The peak of EGCG concentrations in plasma for Teavigo[®] plus breakfast and FontUp[®] intake reached later in women, with the T_{max} at 180 and 120 min respectively, than in men with the EGCG peak at 120 and 90 min. Conversely, the values of T_{max} for Teavigo[®] administration were 120 min in men and 90 min in women (Table 3). These differences were analyzed by statistically using one-way ANOVA corrected by the Tukey test for multiple comparisons. Interestingly, only Teavigo[®] plus breakfast versus Teavigo[®] in women had statistical significance (*p*-value = 0.020).

Following a single-compartment modeling, the mean half-life averages ($T_{1/2}$) were for men and women, respectively, Teavigo[®], 154.0 ± 27.9 and 117.2 ± 53.5 min; Teavigo[®] plus breakfast, 93.1 ± 36.2 and 111.4 ± 39.1 min; and FontUp[®], 191.7 ± 66.4 and 132.9 ± 27.9. T_{1/2} showed statistical significance (*p*-value = 0.020) for Teavigo[®] versus FontUp[®] administration in men. These results highlight EGCG administration as FontUp[®] reaches the longest half-life in the body, indicating that EGCG is more stable when is accompanied by vitamins (A, C, D, E, and K), folic acid, the omega-3 fatty acid, and the minerals present in FontUp[®] than EGCG administered on an empty stomach or with a standard breakfast (Figures 4 and 5).

Statistical differences were also observed when C_{av} (ng/mL/kg) was analyzed in Teavigo[®] versus FontUp[®] preparations (Table 3, *p*-value = 0.025 for man and 0.005 for women). However, no statistical significance was observed between Teavigo[®] and Teavigo[®] plus breakfast for C_{av} (*p*-value = 0.34 for men and 0.23 for women, respectively). Teavigo[®] administration showed a C_{av} of 3.0 ng/mL/kg for men and 3.7 ng/mL/kg for women, while Teavigo[®] plus breakfast results were 1.5 ng/mL/kg for men and 2.1 ng/mL/kg for women. Additionally, the average concentration of EGCG contained in FontUp[®] reached 0.6 ng/mL/kg for men and 0.9 ng/mL/kg for women. Considering that the values for all volunteers were corrected by their own body weight, these results showed nonsignificant differences by gender despite the amount of EGCG detected in the circulatory system being higher in women than men for all preparations tested (see Figure A1).



Figure 5. Mean plasma concentration time profiles of EGCG for the three different EGCG interventions by the oral route: Green line represents Teavigo[®], blue line represents Teavigo[®] plus breakfast, and red line represents FontUp[®]. Each value was obtained by HPLC-MS analysis. Error bars represent the standard deviation.

One-way ANOVA analyses with Tukey post hoc test for multiple comparisons were performed to evaluate AUC₀₋₃₆₀ between interventions. AUC₀₋₃₆₀ for EGCG taken as Teavigo[®] capsules in fasting conditions (Table 3) was significantly higher than the AUC₀₋₃₆₀ for EGCG delivery with FontUp[®] (*p*-value = 0.036 for men and 0.001 for women). Moreover, the difference between the AUC₀₋₃₆₀ for Teavigo[®] with breakfast and the AUC₀₋₃₆₀ for EGCG present in FontUp[®] was also statistically significant (*p*-value = 0.030 for men and 0.023 for women) (Table 3). These results indicated that EGCG

delivery in FontUp[®] supplement is the least efficient way to absorb EGCG to the body, compared with Teavigo[®] with or without breakfast.

4. Discussion

In this study, we corroborated previous results regarding EGCG bioavailability depending on its ingestion with or without food [33]. The present study shows a higher bioavailability for the Teavigo[®] intake with no additional food compared to the other two preparations tested taken either with food or with a dietetic supplement. The increased global bioavailability of Teavigo[®] without food shows also a higher interindividual variability (up to 100% in males, based on AUC values). The FontUp[®] product displays the lowest bioavailability, less variability, and higher stability on EGCG plasma concentrations.

EGCG and other green tea polyphenols may have potential therapeutic applications mainly in the prevention of a large variety of human diseases. A large number of clinical studies have demonstrated the benefits of EGCG in patients diagnosed with cancer [49], neurodegenerative diseases [50], Down syndrome [51], and metabolic syndrome [52] by regulating various metabolic, genetic, and epigenetic pathways [53,54]. Several studies have shown important differences regarding the bioavailability of this molecule due to the heterogeneity of the human populations analyzed [21,55] and the differences in stability depending on the delivery strategy [23,35,39]. Additionally, the absorption and stability of EGCG are directly influenced by the combined intake of this molecule with other food products, which determine the environment of EGCG before its absorption and modulates its biological response. Unfortunately, the interactions of specific nutrients with the metabolic processes related to EGCG bioavailability remain unclear [23,31].

EGCG has been tested for therapeutic purposes in a range of doses from 150 to 400 mg per day, being the oral administration the most widely used delivery method in animal models and clinical trials in humans [31,45,56]. The blood concentrations obtained in this study for Teavigo[®] alone or with a Mediterranean diet breakfast (Tables 3 and A2) are consistent with previous works which analyzed the bioavailability of EGCG in a limited number of volunteers [23,36,55] or in a specific condition [21,39]. The present study moves one step forward using different nutritional strategies to deliver EGCG as well as a cohort of volunteers with an adequate sample size to analyze the EGCG dose used in clinical trials [15], taking also into account the gender balance. The objective is to determine the most appropriate conditions for EGCG intake.

EGCG has been administered in the form of green tea extract (Teavigo[®]), in a single dose of 250 mg after overnight fasting, showing significant differences according to the conditions and nutritional supplements used [23]. The intake of Teavigo® after fasting overnight results in the highest peak concentrations (C_{max}) and AUC₀₋₃₆₀ values in both genders (Figure 5). The comparison between Teavigo® and Teavigo® plus breakfast for each participant indicates that a Mediterranean diet breakfast reduces the bioavailability of EGCG (more than 100% in males and 30% in females following AUCs). For that, the green tea extract should be ingested alone after overnight fasting to optimize the gastrointestinal absorption of the EGCG. These results are consistent with previous studies in which the authors proposed that the administration of EGCG alone elicits an attenuated strong response from the stomach and pancreas, minimizing the digestion processes [17,57]. When a capsule containing EGCG with no additional food is ingested after fasting overnight and arrives to the stomach, the gastrointestinal processes are only partially activated just by that small amount of nutrients. Then, the EGCG molecules remain stable due to the propitious acidic environment (pH < 3), where the oxidation of their polar residues is minimized [58]. In addition, the neutralization process by the secretion of bile salts is not activated, which favors and increases their absorption by the enterocytes in the small intestine. Otherwise, the lack of activation of digestion mechanisms reduces the activity of the bacterial microbiota responsible for catabolizing these antioxidant molecules in the large intestine.

As mentioned before, a standard breakfast composed by milk, cocoa, cereals, and toasts with olive oil reduces the bioavailability of EGCG (Figure 5), in accordance with results obtained in other studies [23,35,39]. For example, some authors have concluded that the combined intake of Teavigo[®]

with semi-skimmed milk generates a significant decrease of EGCG bioavailability [23,35,39]. Moreover, Teavigo[®] taken with breakfast and, to a lesser extent, FontUp[®] showed a delay (T_{max}) to reach the higher concentration peak (C_{max}) of bioavailability in plasma (Table 3 and Figures 3–5). The intake of food products delays the rate of gastric emptying, which is critical to determine the absorption rate in the small intestine and influences the bioavailability of orally administered drugs [56]. More likely, the intake of enough amount of nutrients with EGCG activates the gastrointestinal processes and delays the gastric emptying. Consequently, the EGCG molecules spend more time on the basic environment of the small intestine, increasing their degradation. Therefore, the absorption of EGCG with additional nutrients is not only reduced but also delayed as compared to EGCG alone, which is able to pass directly to small intestine to be absorbed.

We also addressed the role of specific nutrients on the bioavailability of EGCG when those are ingested together with this molecule. In this line, the administration of the food supplement FontUp[®] has reported interesting results when it was compared with the intake of Teavigo[®] plus breakfast. It has been previously demonstrated that EGCG is unstable in environments with high temperature [59] and basic pH [60]. Accordingly, all the experiments have been performed using fresh fluids at 4 °C to reduce the degradation of EGCG, water in the case of Teavigo[®] alone, and semi-skimmed milk for the other two series of EGCG administration: FontUp[®] and Teavigo[®] plus breakfast. In reference to pH, when the food arrives to the small intestine, the pancreatic juice neutralizes the hydrochloric acid emptied into the duodenum from the stomach. Most likely, it is even more decisive that there is a lack of activation of gastrointestinal processes from the pH of the fluids and nutrients taken along with EGCG.

Moreover, ascorbic acid has been used in previous studies as a preservative to improve the bioavailability of EGCG by preventing oxidation at an acidic pH [25,57,61]. Vitamin C keeps the polarity of the eight hydroxyl groups and the structural stability of the molecule. The ratio used in FontUp[®] (12 mg of ascorbic acid per 250 mg of pure EGCG, see Table A1) reported the best stability parameters ($T_{1/2} = 163 \text{ min}$) after gastrointestinal absorption compared to Teavigo[®] ($T_{1/2} = 135 \text{ min}$) after fasting and Teavigo[®] plus a breakfast ($T_{1/2} = 102 \text{ min}$). However, the presence of vitamin C in FontUp[®] did not improve the absorption of the molecule as did the presence of either sucrose previously described in literature [25]. Levels of EGCG in blood were 5-fold lower with FontUp[®] ($C_{av} = 0.74 \text{ ng/mL/kg}$) compared to Teavigo[®] alone ($C_{av} = 3.3 \text{ ng/mL/kg}$) and 2.5-fold lower than Teavigo[®] plus breakfast ($C_{av} = 1.8 \text{ ng/mL/kg}$).

Otherwise, omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids from fish oil has been also tested to improve the intestinal absorption of EGCG [24,26,62]; however, its presence in FontUp[®] does not result in an improvement of the EGCG bioavailability compared to Teavigo[®] in fasting conditions or after a standard breakfast.

New delivery technologies to improve the oral bioavailability of EGCG have been raised to expand its application in a lipophilic media. Esterification of the water-soluble EGCG with stearic acid (SA), eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) or replacing the hydroxyls of EGCG with acetyl groups have demonstrated a significant improvement in stability, bioavailability, and bioactivities as antioxidants or antiproliferatives [27,30]. For that, their potential applications in future clinical studies should be analyzed in detail.

In reference to the limitations of our study, in spite of the sample size being calculated to obtain significant results in three series of experiments (n = 10), a higher number of volunteers would be desirable to reduce the interindividual variability related to EGCG disposition. Moreover, the main cause of interindividual variability is the low EGCG bioavailability estimated in humans (0.1%-0.3%) [63,64]. Small changes in this percentage result in significant changes in plasma concentrations beyond the differences among individuals in the genetic background related to EGCG metabolism. For example, a variation of EGCG bioavailability from 0.3% to 0.6% causes an increase of 100% in the EGCG plasma concentration. For these reasons, the present crossover study tries to reduce the impact of interindividual variation due to each volunteer used as its own control.

The oral administration of a green tea extract with a high percentage of EGCG (Teavigo[®]) has been unequivocally demonstrated as the proper form to obtain the higher bioavailability values. In contrast, EGCG accompanied by specific nutrients inside the food supplement FontUp[®] showed the most homogeneous disposition for all participants. Recently, it has been shown that FontUp[®] at doses within the range of those used in clinical studies normalized brain and plasma biomarkers deregulated in Dryk1a transgenic mice (TgBACDyrk1A), without negative effects on liver and cardiac functions [65]. Therefore, FontUp[®] or EGCG alone will be selected for clinical trials depending on the experimental design of the study, the goals, the variables to study, the environmental conditions, and other particular considerations.

5. Conclusions

EGCG is being evaluated as a promising compound for the treatment of human noncommunicable diseases such as cancer and cardiovascular, hepatic, and neurodegenerative diseases. However, the exposure to EGCG required for the treatment of each pathology is still under study. Additionally, it is well known that the EGCG bioavailability shows a high interindividual variability related to the gastrointestinal absorption, the stability of the molecule, the nutritional environment, and the administration conditions. The present research highlights that the use of a green tea extract enriched with EGCG (Teavigo[®], 94% EGCG) after fasting overnight leads to the highest exposure to EGCG both in men and women (AUC₀₋₃₆₀ and C_{max}). Moreover, Teavigo[®] ingested with a Mediterranean diet breakfast shows a reduction in EGCG bioavailability. However, neither are the nutritional supplement FontUp[®] promote such absorption. In contrast, the supplements contained in FontUp[®] are able to favor the stability of EGCG in the gastrointestinal tract, and therefore, its use may be appropriate when the experimental design needs to reduce the interindividual variability and to analyze the efficacy of a stable and similar EGCG concentration in all study participants.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, Ó.G.A., M.D.G.R., V.A.F., and L.A.T.; methodology, V.A.F. and L.A.T.; laboratory analysis, V.A.F. and N.P.L.; analytical quantifications, V.A.F. and N.P.L.; statistical analysis, investigation, V.A.F., L.A.T., and M.S.D.; V.A.F.; writing—original draft preparation, V.A.F. and L.A.T.; writing—review and editing, Ó.G.A., M.D.G.R., R.D.I.T.F., E.N.T., V.A.F., and L.A.T.; visualization, V.A.F.; supervision, Ó.G.A. and M.D.G.R.; project administration, Ó.G.A.; funding acquisition, Ó.G.A. and M.D.G.R. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by grants from Red de Salud Materno-Infantil y del Desarrollo (SAMID) (RD12/0026/0003 and RD16/0022/0002) from Instituto de Salud Carlos III and FEDER (Fondo Europeo de Desarrollo Regional) and from Instituto de Salud Carlos III (PI13/01135, PI12/02112, and PI16/00566).

Acknowledgments: The authors wish to express their gratitude to the Obstetrics Department in Sant Joan de Déu Hospital to support the study with special mention to Mariona Serra, Teresa Ribas, Mireia Pascual, María Aurora Fabiano, Martí Cantallops, Miguel Arráez, Marc Cahuana, and Hugo Escareño for collaborating altruistically in the study intervention.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Appendix A

Average Analysis		Per 100 mL	Per Ration
Energetic value (kJ/kcal)		1606/383	787/188
Fats (g)		11	5.4
	Saturated (g)	4.4	2.2
	Monounsaturated (g)	4.4	2.2
	Polyunsaturated (g)	2.2	1.1
	Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA, mg)	5.4	2.6
Carbohydrates (g)		47	23
	Dietary fiber (g)	16	7.9
	Fructo-oligosaccharides (g)	3.1	1.5
Proteins (g)		16	8
Salt (g)		0.52	0.3
Minerals			
	Na (mg)	206	101
	K (mg)	606	297
	Cl (mg)	395	194
	Ca (mg)	221	108
	P (mg)	209	102
	Mg (mg)	106	52
	Fe (mg)	4.6	2.3
	Zn (mg)	3.1	1.5
	Cu (μg)	0.5	0.2
	Mn (mg)	0.5	0.2
	F (μg)	0.1	0.05
	Se (µg)	10	4.9
	$Cr(\mu g)$	16	7.8
	Mo (µg)	10	4.9
	Ι (μg)	21	10
Vitamins			
	Vitamin A (µg)	251	123
	Vitamin D (µg)	1.9	0.9
	Vitamin E (mg)	4.2	2.1
	Vitamin K (µg)	15.0	7.4
	Vitamin C (mg)	25	12
	Thiamine (B1) (mg)	0.3	0.1
	Riboflavin (B2) (mg)	0.4	0.2
	Niacin (B3/PP) (mg)	4.0	2.0
	Vitamin B6 (mg)	0.4	0.2
	Folic acid (B9) (µg)	80.0	39
	Vitamin B12 (µg)	0.5	0.2
	Biotin (μg)	58.0	28
	Pantothenic acid (B5) (mg)	1.9	0.9
Others			
	Green tea extract (mg) (minimum	543	266
	250 mg EGCG) Osmolarity (mOsm/I)	63	35
		00	

Table A1. Food supplement $\mbox{Font}\mbox{Up}^{\mbox{\mathbb{R}}}$ composition.

Parameters	N	Teavigo®	Teavigo [®] with Breakfast	FontUp®
AUC ₀₋₃₆₀	്	270.4 ± 288.2	108.6 ± 40.7	38.5 ± 5.8 **
(µg/mL/6 h)	Ŷ	233.2 ± 76.1	171.8 ± 77.7	54.7 ± 12.3 **
C _{max} (ng/mL)	്	528.6 ± 472.3	275.3 ± 89.1	63.7 ± 7.7 **
	Ŷ	466.1 ± 116.3	318.7 ± 147.0	94.5 ± 24.5 **
C _{av} (ng/mL)	്	271.4 ± 299.2	108.4 ± 102.3	42.8 ± 16.6 **
	Ŷ	256.0 ± 162.4	144.8 ± 143.2	60.4 ± 27.4 **
C _{min} (ng/mL)	്	148.7 ± 188.1	50.1 ± 30.6	$20.9 \pm 4.8 *$
	Ŷ	155.8 ± 74.7	152.4 ± 112.0	$23.8 \pm 6.8 *$
T _{1/2} (min)	ď	154.2 ± 27.9	93.1 ± 36.2 *	191.7 ± 66.4
	Ŷ	117.2 ± 53.5	111.4 ± 39.1	132.9 ± 27.8
T _{max} (min)	ď	120 (90-180)	120 (90–180)	90 (60-90)
	Ŷ	90 (60-120)	180 (120–360)	120 (90–120)

Table A2. Plasma kinetic parameters for EGCG after the three different series of experiments.

Values are means ± standard deviations for the 10 participants (n = 10), except for T_{max} (median with the minimum and maximum time observed). * Value is significantly different from the other values in the row at the level of p < 0.05. ** Value is significantly different from the other values in the row at the level of p < 0.001. Abbreviations: G = gender; min = minutes; h = hours; σ ² = man; Q= women; AUC₀₋₃₆₀ = area under the curve from 0 to 6 h; C_{max} = maximum concentration; C_{av} = average concentration; C_{min} = minimum concentration (at the end of the treatment); T_{1/2} = half-life; T_{max} = time required to reach the maximal concentration.



Figure A1. Comparison of the EGCG means distributed by delivery method and gender: Concentrations for women are showed by grey lines and, for men, by black lines. (**a**) Teavigo[®] alone, (**b**) Teavigo[®] plus breakfast, and (**c**) FontUp[®]. Each value was obtained by HPLC-MS analysis.

References

- 1. Saito, S.; Gosmann, G.; Pungartnik, C.; Brendel, M. Green Tea Extract-Patents and Diversity of Uses. *Recent Patents Food, Nutr. Agric.* 2009, *1*, 203–215. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 2. Chakrawarti, L.; Agrawal, R.; Dang, S.; Gupta, S.; Gabrani, R. Therapeutic effects of EGCG: A patent review. *Expert Opin. Ther. Patents* **2016**, *26*, 907–916. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 3. Yang, C. Tea and health. Nutrition 1999, 15, 946–949. [CrossRef]

- 4. Zaveri, N.T. Green tea and its polyphenolic catechins: Medicinal uses in cancer and noncancer applications. *Life Sci.* **2006**, *78*, 2073–2080. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Du, G.-J.; Zhang, Z.; Wen, X.-D.; Yu, C.; Calway, T.; Yuan, C.-S.; Wang, C.-Z. Epigallocatechin Gallate (EGCG) Is the Most Effective Cancer Chemopreventive Polyphenol in Green Tea. *Nutrition* 2012, *4*, 1679–1691. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 6. Williams, R.; Spencer, J.P. Flavonoids, cognition, and dementia: Actions, mechanisms, and potential therapeutic utility for Alzheimer disease. *Free. Radic. Boil. Med.* **2012**, *52*, 35–45. [CrossRef]
- Xicota, L.; Rodríguez-Morató, J.; Dierssen, M.; De La Torre, R. Potential Role of (–)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) in the Secondary Prevention of Alzheimer Disease. *Curr. Drug Targets* 2015, *18*, 174–195. [CrossRef]
- 8. Khan, N.; Mukhtar, H. Tea polyphenols for health promotion. Life Sci. 2007, 81, 519–533. [CrossRef]
- 9. Moyers, S.B.; Kumar, N.B. Green tea polyphenols and cancer chemoprevention: Multiple mechanisms and endpoints for phase II trials. *Nutr. Rev.* **2004**, *62*, 204–211. [CrossRef]
- 10. Higdon, J.V.; Frei, B. Tea catechins and polyphenols: Health effects, metabolism, and antioxidant functions. *Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr.* **2003**, *43*, 89–143. [CrossRef]
- Fujiki, H.; Watanabe, T.; Sueoka, E.; Rawangkan, A.; Suganuma, M. Cancer Prevention with Green Tea and Its Principal Constituent, EGCG: From Early Investigations to Current Focus on Human Cancer Stem Cells. *Mol. Cells* 2018, 41, 73–82.
- Chen, D.; Wan, S.B.; Yang, H.; Yuan, J.; Chan, T.H.; Dou, Q.P. EGCG, green tea polyphenols and their synthetic analogs and prodrugs for human cancer prevention and treatment. *Adv. Clin. Chem.* 2011, 53, 155–177. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 13. Zamora-Ros, R.; Forouhi, N.G.; Sharp, S.J.; Gonzalez, C.A.; Buijsse, B.; Guevara, M.; Van Der Schouw, Y.T.; Amiano, P.; Boeing, H.; Bredsdorff, L.; et al. Dietary intakes of individual flavanols and flavonols are inversely associated with incident type 2 diabetes in European populations. *J. Nutr.* **2013**, *144*, 335–343. [CrossRef]
- Zhao, X.; Li, R.; Jin, H.; Jin, H.; Wang, Y.; Zhang, W.; Wang, H.; Chen, W. Epigallocatechin-3-gallate confers protection against corticosterone-induced neuron injuries via restoring extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 and phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase/protein kinase B signaling pathways. *PLoS ONE* 2018, 13, e0192083. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 15. De La Torre, R.; De Sola, S.; Hernandez, G.; Farré, M.; Pujol, J.; Rodriguez, J.; Espadaler, J.M.; Langohr, K.; Cuenca-Royo, A.; Principe, A.; et al. Safety and efficacy of cognitive training plus epigallocatechin-3-gallate in young adults with Down's syndrome (TESDAD): A double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 2 trial. *Lancet Neurol.* **2016**, *15*, 801–810. [CrossRef]
- 16. Arbones, M.L.; Thomazeau, A.; Nakano-Kobayashi, A.; Hagiwara, M.; Arbones, M.L. DYRK1A and cognition: A lifelong relationship. *Pharmacol. Ther.* **2019**, *194*, 199–221. [CrossRef]
- Lee, M.-J.; Maliakal, P.; Chen, L.; Meng, X.; Bondoc, F.Y.; Prabhu, S.; Lambert, G.; Mohr, S.; Yang, C.S. Pharmacokinetics of tea catechins after ingestion of green tea and (–)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate by humans: Formation of different metabolites and individual variability. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomark. Prev.* 2002, 11, 1025–1032.
- 18. Zeng, L.; Ma, M.; Li, C.; Luo, L. Stability of Tea Polyphenols Solution with Different pH at Different Temperatures. *Int. J. Food Prop.* **2016**, *20*, 1–18. [CrossRef]
- 19. Pervin, M.; Unno, K.; Takagaki, A.; Isemura, M.; Nakamura, Y. Function of Green Tea Catechins in the Brain: Epigallocatechin Gallate and its Metabolites. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2019**, *20*, 3630. [CrossRef]
- 20. Lu, H.; Meng, X.; Yang, C.S. Enzymology of methylation of tea catechins and inhibition of catechol-Omethyltransferase by (–)-epigallocatechin gallate. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* **2003**, *31*, 572–579. [CrossRef]
- 21. Scholl, C.; Lepper, A.; Lehr, T.; Hanke, N.; Schneider, K.L.; Brockmöller, J.; Seufferlein, T.; Stingl, J. Population nutrikinetics of green tea extract. *PLoS ONE* **2018**, *13*, e0193074. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 22. Li, N.; Taylor, L.S.; Mauer, L.J. Degradation Kinetics of Catechins in Green Tea Powder: Effects of Temperature and Relative Humidity. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2011**, *59*, 6082–6090. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 23. Naumovski, N.; Blades, B.L.; Roach, P. Food Inhibits the Oral Bioavailability of the Major Green Tea Antioxidant Epigallocatechin Gallate in Humans. *Antioxidants* **2015**, *4*, 373–393. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 24. Shirai, N.; Suzuki, H. Effects of Simultaneous Intakes of Fish Oil and Green Tea Extracts on Plasma, Glucose, Insulin, C-Peptide, and Adiponectin and on Liver Lipid Concentrations in Mice Fed Low- and High-Fat Diets. *Ann. Nutr. Metab.* **2008**, *52*, 241–249. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 25. Peters, C.M.; Green, R.J.; Janle, E.M.; Ferruzzi, M.G. Formulation with ascorbic acid and sucrose modulates catechin bioavailability from green tea. *Food Res. Int.* **2010**, *43*, 95–102. [CrossRef]
- 26. Giunta, B.; Hou, H.; Zhu, Y.; Salemi, J.; Ruscin, A.; Shytle, R.D.; Tan, J. Fish oil enhances anti-amyloidogenic properties of green tea EGCG in Tg2576 mice. *Neurosci. Lett.* **2010**, *471*, 134–138. [CrossRef]
- 27. Zhong, Y.; Shahidi, F. Lipophilized Epigallocatechin Gallate (EGCG) Derivatives as Novel Antioxidants. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2011**, *59*, 6526–6533. [CrossRef]
- 28. Zhong, Y.; Ma, C.-M.; Shahidi, F. Antioxidant and antiviral activities of lipophilic epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG) derivatives. *J. Funct. Foods* **2012**, *4*, 87–93. [CrossRef]
- 29. Zhong, Y.; Shahidi, F. Lipophilised epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG) derivatives and their antioxidant potential in food and biological systems. *Food Chem.* **2012**, *131*, 22–30. [CrossRef]
- Chao, J.; Lau, W.K.-W.; Huie, M.J.; Ho, Y.-S.; Yu, M.-S.; Lai, C.S.-W.; Wang, M.; Yuen, W.-H.; Lam, W.H.; Chan, T.H. A pro-drug of the green tea polyphenol (–)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) prevents differentiated SH-SY5Y cells from toxicity induced by 6-hydroxydopamine. *Neurosci. Lett.* 2010, 469, 360–364. [CrossRef]
- 31. Mereles, D.; Hunstein, W. Epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) for Clinical Trials: More Pitfalls than Promises? *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 2011, 12, 5592–5603. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 32. Chow, H.H.; Cai, Y.; Alberts, D.S.; Hakim, I.; Dorr, R.; Shahi, F.; A Crowell, J.; Yang, C.S.; Hara, Y. Phase I pharmacokinetic study of tea polyphenols following single-dose administration of epigallocatechin gallate and polyphenon E. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomark. Prev.* **2001**, *10*, 53–58. [PubMed]
- Kim, H.-S.; Quon, M.; Kim, J. New insights into the mechanisms of polyphenols beyond antioxidant properties; lessons from the green tea polyphenol, epigallocatechin 3-gallate. *Redox Boil.* 2014, 2, 187–195. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 34. Nagle, D.G.; Ferreira, D.; Zhou, Y.-D. Epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG): Chemical and biomedical perspectives. *Phytochemistry* **2006**, *67*, 1849–1855. [CrossRef]
- 35. Lorenz, M.; Stangl, K.; Stangl, V. Addition of milk prevents vascular protective effects of tea: Reply. *Eur. Hear. J.* **2007**, *28*, 1266–1267. [CrossRef]
- 36. Chow, H.-H.S.; Cai, Y.; Hakim, I.A.; A Crowell, J.; Shahi, F.; A Brooks, C.; Dorr, R.T.; Hara, Y.; Alberts, D.S. Pharmacokinetics and safety of green tea polyphenols after multiple-dose administration of epigallocatechin gallate and polyphenon E in healthy individuals. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2003, *9*, 3312–3319.
- 37. Lambert, J.D.; Kennett, M.J.; Sang, S.; Reuhl, K.R.; Ju, J.; Yang, C.S. Hepatotoxicity of high oral dose (–)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate in mice. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* **2010**, *48*, 409–416. [CrossRef]
- 38. EFSA Panel on Food Additives and Nutrient Sources added to Food (ANS); Younes, M.; Aggett, P.; Aguilar, F.; Crebelli, R.; Dusemund, B.; Filipič, M.; Frutos, M.J.; Galtier, P.; Gott, D.; et al. Scientific opinion on the safety of green tea catechins. *EFSA J.* **2018**, *16*, 05239. [CrossRef]
- Chow, H.-H.S.; Hakim, I.A.; Vining, D.R.; Crowell, J.A.; Ranger-Moore, J.; Chew, W.M.; Celaya, C.A.; Rodney, S.R.; Hara, Y.; Alberts, D.S. Effects of Dosing Condition on the Oral Bioavailability of Green Tea Catechins after Single-Dose Administration of Polyphenon E in Healthy Individuals. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2005, 11, 4627–4633. [CrossRef]
- Roowi, S.; Stalmach, A.; Mullen, W.; Lean, M.E.J.; Edwards, C.A.; Crozier, A. Green Tea Flavan-3-ols: Colonic Degradation and Urinary Excretion of Catabolites by Humans. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 2010, 58, 1296–1304. [CrossRef]
- 41. Stalmach, A.; Troufflard, S.; Serafini, M.; Crozier, A. Absorption, metabolism and excretion of Choladi green tea flavan-3-ols by humans. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **2008**, *53*, S44–S53. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 42. Martí, M.-P.; Pantaleón, A.; Rózek, A.; Soler, A.; Fonayet, J.V.; Macià, A.; Romero, M.-P.; Motilva, M.J.; Romero-Fabregat, M.-P. Rapid analysis of procyanidins and anthocyanins in plasma by microelution SPE and ultra-HPLC. *J. Sep. Sci.* 2010, *33*, 2841–2853. [CrossRef]
- 43. Sauter, R.; Steinijans, V.W.; Diletti, E.; Böhm, A.; Schulz, H.U. Presentation of results from bioequivalence studies. *Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. Toxicol.* **1992**, *30*, 233–256. [PubMed]
- 44. Chen, M.; Shah, V.; Patnaik, R.; Adams, W.; Hussain, A.; Conner, D.; Mehta, M.; Malinowski, H.; Lazor, J.; Huang, S.; et al. Bioavailability and bioequivalence: An FDA regulatory overview. *Pharm. Res.* **2001**, *18*, 1645–1650. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- De la Torre, R.; De Sola, S.; Pons, M.; Duchon, A.; de Lagran, M.M.; Farré, M.; Fitó, M.; Benejam, B.; Langohr, K.; Rodriguez, J. Epigallocatechin-3-gallate, a DYRK1A inhibitor, rescues cognitive deficits in D own syndrome mouse models and in humans. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 2014, *58*, 278–288. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 46. Widlansky, M.E.; Hamburg, N.M.; Anter, E.; Holbrook, M.; Kahn, D.F.; Elliott, J.G.; Keaney, J.; Vita, J.A. Acute EGCG supplementation reverses endothelial dysfunction in patients with coronary artery disease. *J. Am. Coll. Nutr.* **2007**, *26*, 95–102. [CrossRef]
- 47. Dostal, A.; Samavat, H.; Bedell, S.; Torkelson, C.J.; Wang, R.; Swenson, K.; Le, C.T.; Wu, A.H.; Ursin, G.; Yuan, J.-M.; et al. The safety of green tea extract supplementation in postmenopausal women at risk for breast cancer: Results of the Minnesota Green Tea Trial. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* **2015**, *83*, 26–35. [CrossRef]
- Kumar, N.B.; Pow-Sang, J.; Egan, K.M.; Spiess, P.E.; Dickinson, S.; Salup, R.; Helal, M.; McLarty, J.; Williams, C.R.; Schreiber, F.; et al. Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Trial of Green Tea Catechins for Prostate Cancer Prevention. *Cancer Prev. Res.* 2015, *8*, 879–887. [CrossRef]
- 49. Berletch, J.B.; Liu, C.; Love, W.K.; Andrews, L.G.; Katiyar, S.K.; Tollefsbol, T.O. Epigenetic and genetic mechanisms contribute to telomerase inhibition by EGCG. *J. Cell. Biochem.* **2008**, *103*, 509–519. [CrossRef]
- 50. Cano, A.; Ettcheto, M.; Chang, J.-H.; Barroso, E.; Espina, M.; Kühne, B.A.; Barenys, M.; Auladell, C.; Folch, J.; Souto, E.B. Dual-drug loaded nanoparticles of Epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG)/Ascorbic acid enhance therapeutic efficacy of EGCG in a APPswe/PS1dE9 Alzheimer's disease mice model. *J. Control. Release* 2019, 301, 62–75. [CrossRef]
- 51. McElyea, S.D.; Starbuck, J.M.; Tumbleson-Brink, D.M.; Harrington, E.; Blazek, J.D.; Ghoneima, A.; Kula, K.; Roper, R.J. Influence of prenatal EGCG treatment and Dyrk1a dosage reduction on craniofacial features associated with Down syndrome. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* **2016**, *25*, 4856–4869. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 52. Chen, Y.-K.; Cheung, C.; Reuhl, K.R.; Liu, A.B.; Lee, M.-J.; Lu, Y.-P.; Yang, C.S. Effects of green tea polyphenol (–)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate on newly developed high-fat/Western-style diet-induced obesity and metabolic syndrome in mice. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2011**, *59*, 11862–11871. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 53. Borutinskaitė, V.; Virkšaitė, A.; Gudelytė, G.; Navakauskienė, R. Green tea polyphenol EGCG causes anti-cancerous epigenetic modulations in acute promyelocytic leukemia cells. *Leuk. Lymphoma* **2017**, *59*, 469–478. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 54. Gilbert, E.; Liu, D. Flavonoids influence epigenetic-modifying enzyme activity: Structure function relationships and the therapeutic potential for cancer. *Curr. Med. Chem.* **2010**, *17*, 1756–1768. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 55. Ullmann; Haller; Decourt; Girault; Spitzer; Weber Plasma-Kinetic Characteristics of Purified and Isolated Green Tea Catechin Epigallocatechin Gallate (EGCG) after 10 Days Repeated Dosing in Healthy Volunteers. *Int. J. Vitam. Nutr. Res.* **2004**, *74*, 269–278. [CrossRef]
- 56. Chen, L.; Lee, M.J.; Li, H.; Yang, C.S. Absorption, distribution, elimination of tea polyphenols in rats. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* **1997**, *25*, 1045–1050.
- 57. Altland, K.; Schreiner, R.; Hunstein, W. *Of Green Tea, Black Pepper, and Amyloidoses*. 2009. Available online: http://www.ukgm.de/ugm_2/deu/ugi_hum/EGCG_Piperin_engl.pdf (accessed on 5 February 2009).
- 58. Record, I.R.; Lane, J.M. Simulated intestinal digestion of green and black teas. *Food Chem.* **2001**, *73*, 481–486. [CrossRef]
- Wang, R.; Zhou, W.; Jiang, X. Reaction Kinetics of Degradation and Epimerization of Epigallocatechin Gallate (EGCG) in Aqueous System over a Wide Temperature Range. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2008, 56, 2694–2701. [CrossRef]
- 60. Proniuk, S.; Liederer, B.M.; Blanchard, J. Preformulation study of epigallocatechin gallate, a promising antioxidant for topical skin cancer prevention. *J. Pharm. Sci.* **2002**, *91*, 111–116. [CrossRef]
- 61. Hunstein, W. AL-Amyloidosis and Epigallocatechin-3-Gallate: 4 Years and 5 Months Later. 2020. Available online: http://hunstein-egcg.de/en/al-egcg.html (accessed on 13 July 2011).
- 62. Bose, M.; Hao, X.; Ju, J.; Park, S.; Husain, A.; Yang, C.S. Inhibition of intestinal tumorigenesis in ApcMin/+ mice by a combination of (–)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) with fish oil or calcium. *Cancer Res.* **2006**, *66*, 533–534.
- 63. Warden, B.A.; Smith, L.S.; Beecher, G.R.; Balentine, D.A.; Clevidence, B.A. Catechins are bioavailable in men and women drinking black tea throughout the day. *J. Nutr.* **2001**, *131*, 1731–1737. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 64. Nakagawa, K.; Miyazawa, T. Chemiluminescence–High-Performance Liquid Chromatographic Determination of Tea Catechin, (–)-Epigallocatechin 3-Gallate, at Picomole Levels in Rat and Human Plasma. *Anal. Biochem.* **1997**, *248*, 41–49. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 65. Gu, Y.; Moroy, G.; Paul, J.-L.; Rebillat, A.-S.; Dierssen, M.; De La Torre, R.; Cieuta-Walti, C.; Dairou, J.; Janel, N. Molecular Rescue of Dyrk1A Overexpression Alterations in Mice with Fontup®Dietary Supplement: Role of Green Tea Catechins. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2020**, *21*, 1404. [CrossRef] [PubMed]



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

5. DISCUSSION

Alcohol intake during pregnancy results in a phenotypic presentation of the unborn child characterized by fetal growth restriction, facial dysmorphologies, and CNS disorders4. FASD includes all diagnostic categories (FAS, pFAS, ARND, and ARBD), ranging from the complete syndrome (FAS) to partial phenotypes including documented or undocumented PAE (pFAS, ARND, and ARBD)⁵. PAE is an important preventable cause of intellectual disability^{11–13} that poses significant health and economic burden for the society. Diagnostic difficulties, limited knowledge on the teratogenic effect of alcohol, and lack of effective therapies represent a major medical weakness.

The study of the underlying mechanisms of alcohol toxicity and evaluation of therapeutic strategies is possible with FASD-like animal models. Researchers must choose the animal model that best fits their experimental design and research question. Although invertebrates and simple vertebrates offer the possibility to study physical malformations and simple behaviors²⁹³, mammals allow the study of brain structures and complex behaviors²⁶. Murine models are widely used studying FASD, e.g., rodents for assessing dose-dependent alcohol teratogenic effects based on timing and developmental stage, human-like behaviors, or promising therapies. Moreover, mice and humans have similar neurodevelopmental stages, although the third trimester of human pregnancy is equivalent to the postnatal period in mice. Facial dysmorphology appears during the first trimester equivalent of alcohol exposure^{44,69,294}, but brain developmental processes occur continuously throughout the pregnancy. Thus, if PAE occurs at any time during pregnancy, key processes such as proliferation⁵⁷, migration⁵⁸, differentiation⁵⁹, synaptogenesis^{60,61}, gliogenesis, myelination⁶², and apoptosis^{63,64} are altered and may lead to brain and behavioral disorders in the fetus. Fetal growth is also impaired by the harmful effects of alcohol on angiogenesis. Fetal growth restriction may be evaluated through standardized fetal measurements in defined frequency distribution curves⁷⁶ or by assessing the placenta using biomarkers and histopathological analyses^{212,213}. The ultimate goal of animal experimentation is to improve diagnostic strategies, mechanisms of prevention, and therapeutic options for FASD patients.

Other important variables to consider in animal experimentation are the pattern of ethanol exposure, alcohol dose, and route of administration. Some reports support the idea that lower daily doses of alcohol administered in a binge-like pattern result in worse neurological outcomes than higher daily doses delivered in a non-binge-like pattern, although binge-like patterns lead to higher BAC^{35,295}. The route of administration directly affects variables such as the alcohol exposure pattern and amount of alcohol taken. Voluntary ethanol feeding and intragastric gavage are the most physiological methods,

125

but less time-efficient than inhalation⁴³ or injection⁴⁴. Voluntary ethanol feeding is considered the safest technique, while intragastric gavage offers a more accurate control of the doses and timing, and higher BACs are reached compared to voluntary ethanol feeding⁴⁰⁻⁴². In our experimental model, intragastric gavage was performed to ensure precise control of the dose and timing of ethanol exposure. We used continuous PAE during the first and second trimester equivalents simulating the two human drinking patterns (binge versus Mediterranean) to determine the effects of PAE on placental and fetal brain development.

As described in the introduction, multiple pathological effects are induced by PAE depending on the studied organ, region, or type of cell²¹⁶. PAE teratogenic effects include damages caused by oxidative stress and other pathophysiology conditions as dysregulation of the neuroimmune system, neurotransmitter disorders, and epigenetic modifications. Experimental therapies to reduce oxidative stress and epigenetic alterations include the use of EGCG, a natural antioxidant extracted from green tea²⁴⁹. Additionally, EGCG improves neuronal plasticity in Down's syndrome patients by blocking Dyrk1A overexpression, a general inhibitor of neuronal plasticity¹⁷¹. In this thesis, we assessed the impact of EGCG treatment on oxidative stress, fetal growth, placental development, and neurogenesis in a FASD-like mouse model for two human-like drinking patterns (binge versus Mediterranean) during the first and the second trimester equivalents.

The findings reported in the first article of this thesis (Epigallocatechin Gallate Ameliorates the Effects of Prenatal Alcohol Exposure in a Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder-Like Mouse Model), support EGCG as a promising antioxidant therapy to attenuate the consequences of prenatal alcohol exposure. Antioxidant therapy may ensure proper development of the placenta and fetal growth. Additionally, prenatal effects of EGCG on neural maturation and differentiation processes may lead to normal neurodevelopment, improving behavioral and cognitive outcomes in children.

The placenta ensures correct fetal development through the supply of nutrients and waste removal. Thus, normal invasion of uterine spiral arteries by trophoblasts is critical for the establishment of that interface. In this process, small muscular arteries becomes distended, flaccid, high flow-resistance vessels enabling nutrient exchange in the feto-maternal barrier⁷⁷. PAE exerts a negative influence on placental development and fetal growth^{77,296}. Our results show an inverse relationship between fetal growth and PAE, i.e., fetuses exposed to high doses of alcohol show lower fetal weights compared to controls. These results are in line with previous studies that report FGR in fetuses prenatally exposed to ethanol²⁹⁶ and dose-dependent effects of PAE on fetal weight⁷⁷. Angiogenic factors follow a dynamic expression pattern according to the metabolic requirements of

126

each gestational stage. Moreover, PAE leads to imbalances of the expression of these angiogenic factors with the consequent abnormal placental development^{212,213} [34,35]. VEGF-A is a regulator of angiogenesis and vascular permeability. Results from this thesis show downregulation of VEGF-A in placentas from fetuses prenatally exposed to ethanol in both human-like drinking patterns. These findings support the deleterious effect on placental angiogenesis of any type of alcohol consumption during pregnancy. Similarly, PAE-related decreased levels of placental VEGF-A have previously been reported by other authors²¹³. By inhibiting excessive proliferation of endothelial cells, VEGF-R1 acts a negative regulator of embryonic angiogenesis²⁹⁷. Our experiments indicate an increase in VEGF-R1 expression with continuous PAE. Upregulation of this antiangiogenic factor may be responsible for abnormal placental angiogenesis. Other authors reported discordances in VEGF-R1 expression depending on the timing of PAE. Our results are similar to those published by Ventureira et al. when PAE occurs until GD10²¹³; on the other hand, Lecuyer et al. show a down-regulation of placental VEGF-R1 in ethanol-exposed mice during the second trimester equivalent²⁰⁹. Oxidative stress may explain these findings^{213,298}. Conversely, the PLGF is a member of the VEGF family and a key factor in angiogenesis and vasculogenesis (especially during embryogenesis) that is highly regulated depending on the developmental stage²¹². In this work, we found no differences in PLGF levels at GD19 in the different groups after continuous PAE. Upregulation of placental PLGF levels in response to PAE in the early stages of pregnancy may promote placental permeability²¹², with progressive decrease²⁰⁹ in comparison to the controls in later stages of pregnancy (when vasculogenesis is completed), as seen in this work. Changes in VEGF-VEGF-R levels and/or in the VEGF-R1/PLGF ratio lead to important imbalances in angiogenesis²⁹⁹ (as demonstrated in other pathologies such as preeclampsia²⁹⁹), responsible for placental disorders and FGR. In addition, PAE-related oxidative stress may also contribute to angiogenesis deregulation and FGR.

EGCG is a natural antioxidant, as has been shown in studies assessing disorders related to oxidative stress²⁴⁹. Thus, EGCG may be a potential therapeutic tool for FASD. The results in our study indicate that EGCG ameliorates PAE-related FGR and attenuates ethanol-related changes in VEGF-A and VEGF-R1 expression, partially restoring the imbalance produced by PAE. Overall, EGCG exerts positive effects on the placenta and fetal growth in all ethanol exposed groups, more evident in the binge drinking group when VEGF-A, VEGF-R, PLGF, and fetal growth were analyzed. In this context, EGCG may be a therapeutic option to maintain adequate vascularization and promote correct angiogenesis³⁰⁰ for adequate fetal growth.

PAE boosts the production of ROS and dysregulation of antioxidant systems, being one of the leading causes of FASD physiopathology³⁰¹. The nuclear factor erythroid 2related factor 2 (Nrf2) is a transcription factor involved in the expression of antioxidant proteins related to oxidative stress response³⁰². Under oxidative stress conditions, Nrf2 is released from its inhibitor Keap-1 and translocated from the cytoplasm to the nucleus were it triggers the expression of genes encoding antioxidant proteins and detoxifying enzymes as catalase, superoxide dismutase, and the glutathione peroxidase families³⁰³. Hence, we used Nrf2 as a biomarker for oxidative stress in our experimental model. The intake of high doses of ethanol during fetal development increases Nrf2 antioxidant response, being the DG of the hippocampus the target for oxidative stress damage. However, no differences are observed in Nrf2 expression with the Mediterranean-like drinking pattern. Many studies have been carried out on the protective response of Nrf2 towards oxidative in adults, but are limited in fetal life. A previous study shows increased Nrf2 levels in the brains of mice embryos prenatally exposed to ethanol³⁰³, similar to those determined in our binge-like drinking pattern group. Additionally, EGCG upregulates Nrf2 expression after different oxidative stress insults^{302,304}. However, to date no studies have been performed on the prenatal effects of EGCG on Nrf2 after PAE. Surprisingly, in our study, presence of EGCG not only does not increase Nrf2 but it reduces it to physiological levels. Nrf2 activation is not triggered when EGCG and ethanol are given simultaneously during pregnancy and, probably because EGCG mainly prevents ethanol-induced damage through other molecular routes such as the induction of phase II detoxifying enzymes and scavenging ROS²⁸³.

Ethanol-induced neurotoxicity is mainly attributed to oxidative stress and generation of ROS²²⁹. Throughout pregnancy, the CNS has vulnerable periods sensitive to alcohol damage that affect the developmental processes depending on the timing, dose, and pattern of exposure. Data presented in this thesis with the PAE mouse model reflect the loss of mature neurons (measured by the Neuronal Nuclei (NeuN) biomarker) in the DG and cerebellum in fetuses at GD19 for both human-like drinking patterns. Loss of mature neurons in the DG after alcohol exposure has been analyzed in previous studies with contradictory results. After PAE during the second trimester equivalent in a binge model in rats, the number of mature neurons were similar to the controls¹¹⁶; however, similar results to those presented in this thesis were found in adult rats prenatally exposed to ethanol during the first trimester equivalent⁸⁹. Thus, the timing of exposure during fetal development may be a key factor for neuronal maturation processes. According to our results, alcohol-related reduction of mature neurons already occurs during fetal development. Further research is necessary to evaluate neurological and behavioral alcohol-related disorders secondary to neuronal loss in the DG and cerebellum during

neurodevelopment. In the same line, neuronal precursor cells and immature neurons express doublecortin (DCX) in embryonic and adult brain. Our results show increases of DCX+ neurons, particularly in the DG, in Mediterranean and binge-like drinking patterns. Similar findings were reported for different hippocampal regions in a PAE murine model during the second trimester equivalent¹¹⁶. In contrast, lower DCX quantification in the DG has been reported in comparison to the controls in adult mice prenatally exposed to ethanol¹¹⁴. Increased signaling in immature neurons during fetal life may indicate a delay in maturation processes produced by PAE-related oxidative stress damage on organogenesis^{305,306}. As previously discussed, oxidative stress is one of the main molecular pathways of ethanol neurotoxicity in the developing organism; thus, EGCG may be effective for treating ethanol-related effects. EGCG therapy in fetal neurogenesis results in an improvement in maturation and differentiation processes. NeuN and DCX expression in the treated groups is comparable to that in controls, which indicates that EGCG may exert a beneficial effect on fetal neurogenesis. Studies with natural antioxidants in fetal life are scarce. Similar effects were shown on hippocampal neurogenesis in an adult mice neuroinflammation model, where EGCG treatment appears to be beneficial³⁰⁷. Consistently, a study in ethanol exposed adult mice demonstrated the compensatory effect of EGCG therapy on the affected immature neurons³⁰⁷. EGCG also seems to promote proliferation and differentiation, as evidenced by increased Ki67 and neuron-specific enclase expression^{308,309}. These findings support EGCG as a potential therapeutic molecule to prevent delays in neurogenesis processes due to ethanol exposure in fetal life.

Differentiation is another important neurodevelopmental process disturbed by ethanol. GFAP is a glial cell to astrocyte differentiation biomarker used to evaluate disorders in this process. As reported in previous studies³¹⁰, our results show reduced astrocyte differentiation following PAE, reaching statistical significance in fetuses exposed to the human-like binge drinking pattern. Ethanol stimulates the early transformation of radial glia into astrocytes and their migration to ectopic areas³¹¹; thus, in more advanced stages of neurodevelopment, astrocyte differentiation is reduced. EGCG therapy elicited GFAP recovery to levels closer to physiological expression. Although there are no previous studies on the effect of EGCG on astrocyte differentiation in FASD-like animal models, results from other studies on neurodegenerative diseases show a neuroprotective effect of EGCG on astrocyte differentiation processes³¹². In vitro models show EGCG neuronal differentiation involvement through the protein kinase C pathway³¹³, inhibition of the glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) pathway³¹⁴, or modulation of S100B³¹⁵.

The BDNF is involved in cell survival, development, and function of the CNS, representing one of the main biomarkers of neuronal plasticity during early development³¹⁶. Disorders of neuronal plasticity may explain many of the neurobehavioral disorders in FASD individuals, such as learning and memory deficits³¹⁷. EGCG has been selected as a potential pharmacological tool against FASD due to its ability to interact and inhibit neuronal plasticity inhibitors such as Dyrk1A171 and potentiate NGF-induced neurite outgrowth^{318,319}. Our study shows no statistically significant differences of BDNF levels after PAE or EGCG administration. On the contrary, Feng et al. reported a decrease of BDNF in rats prenatally exposed to a binge drinking pattern between GD5 and GD20, but no differences with lower alcohol doses¹⁵³. Similarly, Haun et al. showed down-regulation of BDNF expression after the intake of large doses of alcohol (four-day with not-continuous ethanol administration) in an adult mouse model, and significant ethanol consumption decrease in the same established model of alcohol dependence after BDNF administration¹⁶⁵. Our experimental design ensures continuous alcohol exposure, which leads to habituation to ethanol and therefore no change in BDNF expression. Further research to test the effects of EGCG therapy on BDNF expression in FASD-like models with not continuous ethanol administration are necessary.

To the best of our knowledge, the study "Epigallocatechin Gallate Ameliorates the Effects of Prenatal Alcohol Exposure in a Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder-like Mouse Model", submitted for publication as part of this thesis, is the first preclinical study that shows the potential pharmacological role of EGCG to mitigate a set of effects produced by prenatal alcohol exposure in a FASD-like mouse model. In the study, we show that EGCG treatment has beneficial effects on a wide range of FASD manifestations, such as placental development, fetal growth, oxidative stress, and neurodevelopmental processes. In addition, we compare the effects produced by the two human-like drinking patterns (Mediterranean and binge) on our mouse model. In general, any amount of alcohol produces alcohol-related effects in the offspring, but the most relevant effects are generally produced with higher doses of alcohol. Conversely, fetal growth is probably preserved with the human-like Mediterranean drinking pattern because lower doses of ethanol do not reach the threshold necessary to produce a FASD phenotype.

One of the limitations of our model is the experimental design based on continuous ethanol exposure throughout the pregnancy. This may have led to alcohol exposure adaptation in some critical processes related to FASD pathophysiology; however, we consider continuous ethanol exposure similar to alcohol abuse in humans.

130

Additionally, the experimental design did not allow assessing the effects of PAE that contribute to FASD in the third trimester equivalent.

Overall, the results presented here demonstrate the consequences of PAE considering two patterns of alcohol consumption, and the potential pharmacological role of EGCG during fetal development on a wide range of FASD manifestations (placental development, fetal growth, angiogenesis, oxidative stress, and neurodevelopmental processes). Further studies to evaluate the long-term effects of EGCG therapy on FASD phenotype are necessary.

FASD causes a variety of health care-related costs, imposing an enormous economic burden to society³²⁰. Thus, any novel FASD therapy should deserve special interest. To ensure successful outcomes it is essential to know the safety profile and pharmacokinetic parameters of EGCG³²¹ in humans. Important bioavailability differences have been reported for this molecule due to the heterogeneity of the human populations analysed^{268,322}. The stability of EGCG also differs depending on the delivery strategy^{270,323,324}. Additionally, absorption and stability of EGCG will be influenced when combined with other food products that determine the environment before EGCG absorption and modulate its biological response. Unfortunately, the interactions of specific nutrients with metabolic processes related to EGCG bioavailability remain unclear^{272,325}. In order to determine the most appropriate conditions for EGCG intake we conducted a randomized, crossover study with healthy volunteers under three intake conditions: after overnight fasting, in combination with a Mediterranean diet breakfast, or as a dietary supplement.

Results of the second article of this thesis (Bioavailability of Epigallocatechin Gallate Administered with Different Nutritional Strategies in Healthy Volunteers) show differences in EGCG bioavailability depending on its ingestion under fasting conditions or accompanied with food. The highest bioavailability is obtained when Teavigo[®] (94% EGCG, 150 mg of green tea extract) is taken under fasting condition. Conversely, the lowest interindividual variability and higher stability in plasma concentrations are seen in individuals who are given FontUp[®] (sachets containing 94% EGCG, 266 mg of concentrated green tea extract plus fats, carbohydrates, proteins, vitamins, and minerals).

The highest peak concentrations (C_{max}) and AUC_{0-360} in both genders are obtained with a single 250 mg dose of EGCG (Teavigo[®]) administered under fasting conditions. The Mediterranean diet breakfast reduces EGCG bioavailability (in over 50% in males and 30% in females (AUCs)). Hence, green tea extract should be ingested alone after overnight fasting to optimize its gastrointestinal absorption. These results are consistent with previous studies showing that administration of EGCG alone elicits an

131

attenuated response from the stomach and pancreas, minimizing digestion^{263,265}. Gastrointestinal processes are partially activated when EGCG is taken in the absence of other foods. EGCG remains stable in acidic environments (pH < 3) because its oxidation is reduced under this condition³²⁶. Moreover, the lack of EGCG neutralization by bile salts optimizes EGCG absorption by the enterocytes in the small intestine. Additionally, in the absence of activation of the digestion mechanisms, there is reduction of the gut microbiota responsible for catabolizing these antioxidant molecules in the large intestine. Accordingly, a standard Mediterranean breakfast (milk, cocoa, cereals, and toasts with olive oil) plus FontUp[®] reduces EGCG bioavailability. Significant decreases in EGCG bioavailability were reported in other studies when Teavigo® was taken with semiskimmed milk^{272,323,327}. Furthermore, Teavigo[®] in combination with breakfast, and FontUp[®] delayed the time (T_{max}) to peak plasma concentration (C_{max}) . Simultaneous administration of EGCG with other foods delays the rate of gastric emptying (increased T_{max})³²⁸. On the other hand, EGCG molecules remain for longer periods in the more basic environment of the small intestine, which increases its degradation. Thus, the absorption of EGCG in presence of other nutrients is reduced/delayed as compared to EGCG alone. EGCG passes directly to the small intestine where it is absorbed.

We addressed the role of specific nutrients on EGCG bioavailability when taken simultaneously. We found interesting results when the food supplement FontUp[®] was compared against Teavigo[®] in combination with breakfast. As EGCG is unstable in environments with high temperature³²⁹ and basic pH³³⁰, our experiments were performed using fresh fluids at 4 °C to reduce ECGC degradation, water in the case of Teavigo® alone, and semi-skimmed milk for the other two series (FontUp[®] and Teavigo[®] plus breakfast). Ascorbic acid (vitamin C) has been used as preservative to increase EGCG bioavailability by preventing its oxidation at an acidic pH^{265,271,331}. Vitamin C maintains the polarity of the eight hydroxyl groups and the structural stability of the molecule. The ratio used in FontUp[®] (12 mg of ascorbic acid per 250 mg of pure EGCG) provided the best stability parameters, measured by $T_{1/2}$, after gastrointestinal absorption compared to Teavigo[®] under fasting conditions and Teavigo[®] in combination with breakfast. EGCG blood levels, measured by Cav, were five-fold lower with FontUp® compared to Teavigo® alone, and 2.5-fold lower than Teavigo[®] plus breakfast. Thus, presence of vitamin C in FontUp[®] did not improve EGCG absorption as did the presence of either sucrose²⁷¹. Moreover, omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids from fish oil have also been shown to improve intestinal absorption of EGCG^{270,332,333}. However, their presence in FontUp® does not improve EGCG bioavailability compared to Teavigo[®] under fasting conditions or after a standard breakfast. New delivery modes have been proposed aiming at improving oral EGCG bioavailability to expand its use in a lipophilic environment.

Esterification of the water-soluble EGCG with stearic acid, eicosapentaenoic acid, and docosahexaenoic acid, or replacing the hydroxyls of EGCG with acetyl groups, have led to significant improvements in stability, bioavailability, and antioxidant or antiproliferative bioactivities^{274,276}. Their potential applications in future clinical studies should be analyzed in more detail.

The main limitation of the previously discussed study is the low EGCG bioavailability estimated in humans (0.1%–0.3%)^{260,261} as the primary cause of interindividual variability. In order to reduce the impact of interindividual variations, we designed a crossover study in which each volunteer was its own control. EGCG has been tested for the treatment of several pathologies in a range of doses from 150 to 400 mg per day, being oral administration the most widely used delivery method in animal models and human clinical trials^{325,334,335}. In our study, we determined the optimal conditions for EGCG administration based on the objectives of the research. High experimental concentrations of EGCG are needed. On the other hand, Teavigo[®] taken with a Mediterranean breakfast or FontUp[®] are useful for studies in which reduced interindividual variability is required. Further research on new modes of delivery to improve EGCG oral bioavailability may optimize its disposition.

Overall, this thesis adds new insights to previous evidence regarding FASD therapy. Alcohol-related health problems are a major hot topic because of the social and economic impact. Recent prevalence studies reveal worrying data on prenatal alcohol exposure, with consumption during pregnancy of up to 65% for any amount of alcohol in some populations¹⁶. The results presented in this PhD thesis show that prenatal alcohol use in mouse models simulating the different human-like patterns may produce detrimental effects in the offspring. Alcohol-related effects include alterations in placental disorders that can lead to cognitive disabilities and behavioral disorders in childhood and adult life. Moreover, we show that prenatal use of EGCG may ameliorate FASD. These results encourage further research to find the molecular pathways involved in EGCG protective effects, as well as postnatal studies to evaluate its effects on FASD-related behavioral disorders. Finally, understanding the optimal pharmacokinetic conditions for EGCG treatment will allow its translation to pregnant women as a safe alternative^{336,337} aiming to ameliorate FASD-related health, as well as the social and economic burden.

133

CONCLUSIONS

CONCLUSIONS

6. CONCLUSIONS

- 1. Any type of alcohol drinking pattern (Mediterranean or binge) produces alcoholrelated effects in the offspring.
- 2. There is an inverse relationship between fetal growth and prenatal alcohol exposure. Fetal growth is preserved with the human-like Mediterranean drinking pattern because the ingested alcohol doses do not reach a threshold that causes fetal growth restriction. However, any alcohol drinking pattern leads to imbalances of placental angiogenic factors.
- Any type of alcohol drinking pattern produces losses of mature neurons, delay in neuronal maturation processes, and disorders in astrocyte differentiation. Continuous prenatal alcohol exposure may lead to habituation in some neuronal processes such as neuronal plasticity.
- 4. EGCG may potentially be used for the treatment of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders as it seems to improve placental development and fetal growth, angiogenesis, oxidative stress, and neurodevelopmental processes.
- 5. The highest bioavailability for EGCG is reached in both genders with oral administration under fasting conditions of green tea extracts (Teavigo[®]) with a high percentage of this compound.
- 6. Teavigo[®] taken with a Mediterranean diet breakfast or the food supplement FontUp[®] reduces interindividual variability.

REFERENCES

7. REFERENCES

- Lemoine, Paul, Harousseau, H., Borteyru, J.P., & Menuet JC. Les enfants des parents alcoholiques : anomolies observees à propos de 127 cas (The children of alcoholic parents: Anomalies observed in 127 cases). Quest Med. 1968;25:476– 482.
- 2. Jones K, Smith D. Recognition of the fetal alcohol syndrome in early infancy. Lancet. 1973;302(7836):999–1001. PMID: 4127281
- 3. Sokol RJ, Delaney-Black V, Nordstrom B. Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. JAMA. 2003;290(22):2996–9. PMID: 14665662
- 4. Sampson PD, Streissguth AP, Bookstein FL, Little RE, Clarren SK, Dehaene P, et al. Incidence of fetal alcohol syndrome and prevalence of alcohol-related neurodevelopmental disorder. Teratology. 1997;56(5):317–26. PMID: 9451756
- Hoyme HE, Kalberg WO, Elliott AJ, Blankenship J, Buckley D, Marais A-S, et al. Updated Clinical Guidelines for Diagnosing Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders. Pediatrics. 2016;138(2):e20154256–e20154256. PMID: 27464676
- 6. Sowell ER, Mattson SN, Thompson PM, Jernigan TL, Riley EP, Toga AW. Mapping callosal morphology and cognitive correlates: effects of heavy prenatal alcohol exposure. Neurology. 2001;57(2):235–44. PMID: 11468307
- Sowell ER, Jernigan TL, Mattson SN, Riley EP, Sobel DF, Jones KL. Abnormal development of the cerebellar vermis in children prenatally exposed to alcohol: size reduction in lobules I-V. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1996;20(1):31–4. PMID: 8651458
- Riikonen R, Salonen I, Partanen K, Verho S. Brain perfusion SPECT and MRI in foetal alcohol syndrome. Dev Med Child Neurol. 1999;41(10):652–9. PMID: 10587040
- 9. Riley EP, Court A, Diego S, Warren KR. Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders: An Overview. Neuropsychol Rev. 2011;21(2):73–80. PMID: 21499711
- Kelly SJ, Day N, Streissguth AP. Effects of prenatal alcohol exposure on social behavior in humans and other species [Internet]. Vol. 22, Neurotoxicology and Teratology. Neurotoxicol Teratol; 2000. p. 143–9. PMID: 10758343
- 11. May PA, Gossage JP. Estimating the prevalence of fetal alcohol syndrome A summary. Alcohol Res Heal. 2001;25(3):159–67. PMID: 11810953
- 12. Lange S, Probst C, Gmel G, Rehm J, Burd L, Popova S. Global prevalence of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder among children and youth: A systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Pediatr. 2017;171(10). PMID: 28828483
- Cowan AE. Syndromes of Intellectual Disability. In: Julie P. Gentile, Allison E. Cowan DWD, editor. Guide to Intellectual Disabilities. Springer International Publishing; 2019. p. 203–13.
- 14. May PA, Gossage JP. Estimating the prevalence of fetal alcohol syndrome. A summary. Alcohol Res Health. 2001;25(3):159–67. PMID: 11810953
- Popova S, Lange S, Probst C, Gmel G, Rehm J. Estimation of national, regional, and global prevalence of alcohol use during pregnancy and fetal alcohol syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Glob Heal. 2017;5(3):e290–9. PMID: 28089487
- 16. Gomez-Roig MD, Marchei E, Sabra S, Busardò FP, Mastrobattista L, Pichini S, et

al. Maternal hair testing to disclose self-misreporting in drinking and smoking behavior during pregnancy. Alcohol. 2018;67:1–6. PMID: 29289821

- May PA, Gossage JP, Kalberg WO, Robinson LK, Buckley D, Manning M, et al. Prevalence and epidemiologic characteristics of FASD from various research methods with an emphasis on recent in-school studies. Dev Disabil Res Rev. 2009;15(3):176–92. PMID: 19731384
- May PA, Baete A, Russo J, Elliott AJ, Blankenship J, Kalberg WO, et al. Prevalence and Characteristics of Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders. Pediatrics. 2014;134(5):855–66. PMID: 25349310
- 19. May PA, Gossage JP, Marais A-S, Adnams CM, Hoyme HE, Jones KL, et al. The epidemiology of fetal alcohol syndrome and partial FAS in a South African community. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2007;88(2–3):259–71. PMID: 17127017
- Popova S, Yaltonskaya A, Yaltonsky V, Kolpakov Y, Abrosimov I, Pervakov K, et al. What research is being done on prenatal alcohol exposure and fetal alcohol spectrum disorders in the Russian research community? Alcohol Alcohol. 2014;49(1):84–95. PMID: 24158024
- Landgren M, Svensson L, Stromland K, Andersson Gronlund M. Prenatal Alcohol Exposure and Neurodevelopmental Disorders in Children Adopted From Eastern Europe. Pediatrics. 2010;125(5):e1178–85. PMID: 20385628
- 22. Davis JR, Li Y, Rankin CH. Effects of developmental exposure to ethanol on Caenorhabditis elegans. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2008;32(5):853–67.
- 23. Meyers JR. Zebrafish: Development of a Vertebrate Model Organism. Curr Protoc Essent Lab Tech. 2018;16(1).
- 24. Ali S, Champagne DL, Spaink HP, Richardson MK. Zebrafish embryos and larvae: A new generation of disease models and drug screens. Birth Defects Res Part C Embryo Today Rev. 2011;93(2):115–33. PMID: 21671352
- 25. Loucks E, Ahlgren S. Assessing teratogenic changes in a zebrafish model of fetal alcohol exposure. J Vis Exp. 2012;61:3704. PMID: 22453686
- Schneider ML, Moore CF, Adkins MM. The Effects of Prenatal Alcohol Exposure on Behavior: Rodent and Primate Studies. Neuropsychol Rev. 2011;21(2):186– 203. PMID: 21499982
- Boehm SL, Lundahl KR, Caldwell J, Gilliam DM. Ethanol teratogenesis in the C57BL/6J, DBA/2J, and A/J inbred mouse strains. Alcohol. 1997;14(4):389–95.
 PMID: 9209555
- 28. Sulik K, Johnston M, Webb M. Fetal alcohol syndrome: embryogenesis in a mouse model. Science (80-). 1981;214(4523):936–8. PMID: 6795717
- Yoneyama N, Crabbe JC, Ford MM, Murillo A, Finn DA. Voluntary ethanol consumption in 22 inbred mouse strains. Alcohol. 2008;42(3):149–60. PMID: 18358676
- 30. Abel EL. Alcohol-induced changes in blood gases, glucose, and lactate in pregnant and nonpregnant rats. Alcohol. 1996;13(3):281–5. PMID: 8734843
- Hannigan JH. What research with animals is telling us about alcohol-related neurodevelopmental disorder. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 1996;55(4):489–99.
 PMID: 8981579
- Serbus DC, Young MW, Light KE. Blood ethanol concentrations following intragastric intubation of neonatal rat pups. Neurobehav Toxicol Teratol. 1986;8(4):403–6. PMID: 3762850

- 33. Livy DJ, Parnell SE, West JR. Blood ethanol concentration profiles: a comparison between rats and mice. Alcohol. 2003;29(3):165–71. PMID: 12798972
- 34. Kelly SJ, Pierce DR, West JR. Microencephaly and hyperactivity in adult rats can be induced by neonatal exposure to high blood alcohol concentrations. Exp Neurol. 1987;96(3):580–93.
- Bonthius DJ, West JR. Alcohol-induced neuronal loss in developing rats: increased brain damage with binge exposure. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1990;14(1):107–18. PMID: 1689970
- 36. Dreosti IE. Nutritional factors underlying the expression of the fetal alcohol syndrome. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1993;678:193–204. PMID: 8494262
- 37. Fisher SE. Selective fetal malnutrition: the fetal alcohol syndrome. J Am Coll Nutr. 1988;7(2):101–6. PMID: 3283194
- 38. Sebastiani G, Borrás-Novell C, Casanova MA, Tutusaus MP, Martínez SF, Roig MDG, et al. The effects of alcohol and drugs of abuse on maternal nutritional profile during pregnancy. Vol. 10, Nutrients. MDPI AG; 2018.
- 39. Berman RF, Hannigan JH. Effects of prenatal alcohol exposure on the hippocampus: Spatial behavior, electrophysiology, and neuroanatomy. Hippocampus. 2000;10(1):94–110. PMID: 10706221
- 40. Gil-Mohapel J, Boehme F, Patten A, Cox A, Kainer L, Giles E, et al. Altered adult hippocampal neuronal maturation in a rat model of fetal alcohol syndrome. Brain Res. 2011;1384:29–41.
- Kleiber ML, Wright E, Singh SM. Maternal voluntary drinking in C57BL/6J mice: Advancing a model for fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Behav Brain Res. 2011;223(2):376–87. PMID: 21601595
- 42. Choi IY, Allan AM, Cunningham LA. Moderate fetal alcohol exposure impairs the neurogenic response to an enriched environment in adult mice. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2005;29(11):2053–62. PMID: 16340464
- 43. Pal N, Alkana RL. Use of inhalation to study the effect of ethanol and ethanol dependence on neonatal mouse development without maternal separation: a preliminary study. Life Sci. 1997;61(13):1269–81. PMID: 9324069
- Godin EA, O'Leary-Moore SK, Khan AA, Parnell SE, Ament JJ, Dehart DB, et al. Magnetic resonance microscopy defines ethanol-induced brain abnormalities in prenatal mice: Effects of acute insult on gestational day 7. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2010;34(1):98–111. PMID: 19860813
- 45. Beierle EA, Chen MK, Hartwich JE, Iyengar M, Dai W, Li N, et al. Artificial Rearing of Mouse Pups: Development of a Mouse Pup in a Cup Model. Pediatr Res. 2004;56(2):250–5. PMID: 15181197
- Boehme F, Gil-Mohapel J, Cox A, Patten A, Giles E, Brocardo PS, et al. Voluntary exercise induces adult hippocampal neurogenesis and BDNF expression in a rodent model of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Eur J Neurosci. 2011;33(10):1799–811.
- 47. Gil-Mohapel J, Boehme F, Kainer L, Christie BR. Hippocampal cell loss and neurogenesis after fetal alcohol exposure: Insights from different rodent models. Brain Res Rev. 2010;64(2):283–303. PMID: 20471420
- Allan AM, Chynoweth J, Tyler LA, Caldwell KK. A Mouse Model of Prenatal Ethanol Exposure Using a Voluntary Drinking Paradigm. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2003;27(12):2009–16. PMID: 14691390
- 49. Lieber CS, DeCarli LM. The feeding of alcohol in liquid diets: two decades of applications and 1982 update. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1982;6(4):523–31. PMID: 6758624
- Cassells B, Wainwright P, Blom K. Heredity and alcohol-induced brain anomalies: Effects of alcohol on anomalous prenatal development of the corpus callosum and anterior commissure in BALB c and C57BL 6 mice. Exp Neurol. 1987;95(3):587–604.
- 51. Thiele TE, Crabbe JC, Boehm SL. "Drinking in the dark" (DID): A simple mouse model of binge-like alcohol intake. Curr Protoc Neurosci. 2014;68(SUPP.68):9.49.1. PMID: 24984686
- 52. Bertola A, Mathews S, Ki SH, Wang H, Gao B. Mouse model of chronic and binge ethanol feeding (the NIAAA model). Nat Protoc. 2013;8(3):627–37. PMID: 23449255
- 53. Sidhu H, Kreifeldt M, Contet C. Affective Disturbances During Withdrawal from Chronic Intermittent Ethanol Inhalation in C57BL/6J and DBA/2J Male Mice. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2018;42(7):1281–90. PMID: 29687895
- 54. Maldonado-Devincci AM, Kampov-Polevoi A, McKinley RE, Morrow DH, O'Buckley TK, Morrow AL. Chronic Intermittent Ethanol Exposure Alters Stress Effects on (3α,5α)-3-hydroxy-pregnan-20-one (3α,5α-THP) Immunolabeling of Amygdala Neurons in C57BL/6J Mice. Front Cell Neurosci. 2016;10:40. PMID: 26973459
- 55. Webster WS, Walsh DA, McEwen SE, Lipson AH. Some teratogenic properties of ethanol and acetaldehyde in C57BL/6J mice: implications for the study of the fetal alcohol syndrome. Teratology. 1983;27(2):231–43. PMID: 6867945
- 56. Bonthius DJ, West JR. Blood alcohol concentration and microencephaly: A dose-response study in the neonatal rat. Teratology. 1988;37(3):223–31. PMID: 3368876
- 57. Miller MW. Limited ethanol exposure selectively alters the proliferation of precursor cells in the cerebral cortex. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1996;20(1):139–43. PMID: 8651443
- 58. Miller MW. Migration of cortical neurons is altered by gestational exposure to ethanol. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1993;17(2):304–14. PMID: 8488973
- 59. Vallés S, Sancho-Tello M, Miñana R, Climent E, Renau-Piqueras J, Guerri C. Glial fibrillary acidic protein expression in rat brain and in radial glia culture is delayed by prenatal ethanol exposure. J Neurochem. 1996;67(6):2425–33. PMID: 8931475
- Lancaster F, Delaney C, Samorajski T. Synaptic density of caudate-putamen and visual cortex following exposure to ethanol in utero. Int J Dev Neurosci. 1989;7(6):581–9. PMID: 2603756
- 61. Volk B. Cerebellar histogenesis and synaptic maturation following pre- and postnatal alcohol administration. An electron-microscopic investigation of the rat cerebellar cortex. Acta Neuropathol. 1984;63(1):57–65. PMID: 6730913
- 62. Lancaster FE, Mayur BK, Patsalos PN, Samorajski T, Wiggins RC. The synthesis of myelin and brain subcellular membrane proteins in the offspring of rats fed ethanol during pregnancy. Brain Res. 1982;235(1):105–13. PMID: 7188316
- 63. Hoffman PL, Tabakoff B. To be or not to be: how ethanol can affect neuronal death during development. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1996;20(1):193–5. PMID:

8651453

- 64. Liesi P. Ethanol-exposed central neurons fail to migrate and undergo apoptosis. J Neurosci Res. 1997;48(5):439–48. PMID: 9185667
- Brocardo PS, Gil-Mohapel J, Wortman R, Noonan A, McGinnis E, Patten AR, et al. The Effects of Ethanol Exposure During Distinct Periods of Brain Development on Oxidative Stress in the Adult Rat Brain. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2017;41(1):26– 37. PMID: 27862017
- May PA, Blankenship J, Marais AS, Gossage JP, Kalberg WO, Joubert B, et al. Maternal alcohol consumption producing fetal alcohol spectrum disorders (FASD): Quantity, frequency, and timing of drinking. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2013; PMID: 23932841
- 67. West JR. Fetal alcohol-induced brain damage and the problem of determining temporal vulnerability: a review. Alcohol Drug Res. 1987;7(5–6):423–41. PMID: 3304313
- Sulik KK, Johnston MC. Sequence of developmental alterations following acute ethanol exposure in mice: Craniofacial features of the fetal alcohol syndrome. Am J Anat. 1983;166(3):257–69. PMID: 6846205
- 69. Lipinski RJ, Hammond P, O'Leary-Moore SK, Ament JJ, Pecevich SJ, Jiang Y, et al. Ethanol-induced face-brain dysmorphology patterns are correlative and exposure-stage dependent. PLoS One. 2012;7(8):1–10. PMID: 22937012
- 70. Parnell SE, Holloway HE, Baker LK, Styner MA, Sulik KK. Dysmorphogenic effects of first trimester-equivalent ethanol exposure in mice: A magnetic resonance microscopy-based study. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2014;38(7):2008–14.
- 71. Cao W, Li W, Han H, O'Leary-Moore SK, Sulik KK, Allan Johnson G, et al. Prenatal alcohol exposure reduces magnetic susceptibility contrast and anisotropy in the white matter of mouse brains. Neuroimage. 2014;102:748–55. PMID: 25175539
- Nirgudkar P, Taylor DH, Yanagawa Y, Valenzuela CF. Ethanol exposure during development reduces GABAergic/glycinergic neuron numbers and lobule volumes in the mouse cerebellar vermis. Neurosci Lett. 2016;632:86–91. PMID: 27565053
- 73. El Shawa H, Abbott CW, Huffman KJ. Prenatal Ethanol Exposure Disrupts Intraneocortical Circuitry, Cortical Gene Expression, and Behavior in a Mouse Model of FASD. J Neurosci. 2013;33(48):18893–905. PMID: 24285895
- Kajimoto K, Allan A, Cunningham LA. Fate Analysis of Adult Hippocampal Progenitors in a Murine Model of Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder (FASD).
 Borlongan C V., editor. PLoS One. 2013;8(9):e73788. PMID: 24040071
- 75. Morton RA, Diaz MR, Topper LA, Valenzuela CF. Construction of Vapor Chambers Used to Expose Mice to Alcohol During the Equivalent of all Three Trimesters of Human Development. J Vis Exp. 2014;(89). PMID: 25046568
- 76. Dilworth MR, Kusinski LC, Baker BC, Renshall LJ, Greenwood SL, Sibley CP, et al. Defining fetal growth restriction in mice: A standardized and clinically relevant approach. Placenta. 2011;32(11):914–6. PMID: 21889207
- Gundogan F, Gilligan J, Qi W, Chen E, Naram R, De La Monte SM. Dose effect of gestational ethanol exposure on placentation and fetal growth. Placenta. 2015;36(5). PMID: 25745824
- 78. Karacay B, Mahoney J, Plume J, Bonthius DJ. Genetic Absence of nNOS Worsens Fetal Alcohol Effects in Mice. II: Microencephaly and Neuronal Losses. Alcohol

Clin Exp Res. 2015;39(2):221–31. PMID: 25664654

- Smiley JF, Saito M, Bleiwas C, Masiello K, Ardekani B, Guilfoyle DN, et al. Selective reduction of cerebral cortex GABA neurons in a late gestation model of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. Alcohol. 2015;49(6):571–80. PMID: 26252988
- Coleman LG, Oguz I, Lee J, Styner M, Crews FT. Postnatal day 7 ethanol treatment causes persistent reductions in adult mouse brain volume and cortical neurons with sex specific effects on neurogenesis. Alcohol. 2012;46(6):603–12. PMID: 22572057
- 81. Wilson DA, Masiello K, Lewin MP, Hui M, Smiley JF, Saito M. Developmental ethanol exposure-induced sleep fragmentation predicts adult cognitive impairment. Neuroscience. 2016;322:18–27. PMID: 26892295
- 82. Dobbing J, Sands J. Comparative aspects of the brain growth spurt. Early Hum Dev. 1979;3(1):79–83. PMID: 118862
- 83. Zohn IE, Sarkar AA. Chapter 1 Modeling Neural Tube Defects in the Mouse. In: Current topics in developmental biology. 2008. p. 1–35. PMID: 19186242
- 84. Goodlett CR, Leo JT, O'Callaghan JP, Mahoney JC, West JR. Transient cortical astrogliosis induced by alcohol exposure during the neonatal brain growth spurt in rats. Dev Brain Res. 1993;72(1):85–97.
- 85. Cantacorps L, Alfonso-Loeches S, Moscoso-Castro M, Cuitavi J, Gracia-Rubio I, López-Arnau R, et al. Maternal alcohol binge drinking induces persistent neuroinflammation associated with myelin damage and behavioural dysfunctions in offspring mice. Neuropharmacology. 2017; PMID: 28669901
- 86. Angevine JB, Bodian D, Coulombre AJ, Edds M V., Hamburger V, Jacobson M, et al. Embryonic vertebrate central nervous system: Revised terminology. Anat Rec. 1970;166(2):257–61.
- Reynolds AR, Saunders MA, Berry JN, Sharrett-Field LJ, Winchester S, Prendergast MA. Broad-spectrum protein kinase inhibition by the staurosporine analog KT-5720 reverses ethanol withdrawal-associated loss of NeuN/Fox-3. Alcohol. 2017;64:37–43. PMID: 28965654
- Ji Z, Yuan L, Lu X, Ding H, Luo J, Ke ZJ. Binge Alcohol Exposure Causes Neurobehavioral Deficits and GSK3β Activation in the Hippocampus of Adolescent Rats. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):1–10.
- Klintsova AY, Helfer JL, Calizo LH, Dong WK, Goodlett CR, Greenough WT. Persistent Impairment of Hippocampal Neurogenesis in Young Adult Rats Following Early Postnatal Alcohol Exposure. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2007;31(12):2073–82.
- 90. Livy DJ, Miller EK, Maier SE, West JR. Fetal alcohol exposure and temporal vulnerability: Effects of binge-like alcohol exposure on the developing rat hippocampus. Neurotoxicol Teratol. 2003;25(4):447–58. PMID: 12798962
- 91. Maier SE, West JR. Regional differences in cell loss associated with binge-like alcohol exposure during the first two trimesters equivalent in the rat. Alcohol. 2001;23(1):49–57. PMID: 11282452
- 92. Komada M, Hara N, Kawachi S, Kawachi K, Kagawa N, Nagao T, et al. Mechanisms underlying neuro-inflammation and neurodevelopmental toxicity in the mouse neocortex following prenatal exposure to ethanol. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):4934.
- 93. West JR, Hamre KM, Cassell MD. Effects of Ethanol Exposure during the Third

Trimester Equivalent on Neuron Number in Rat Hippocampus and Dentate Gyrus. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1986;10(2):190–7.

- 94. Redila VA, Olson AK, Swann SE, Mohades G, Webber AJ, Weinberg J, et al. Hippocampal cell proliferation is reduced following prenatal ethanol exposure but can be rescued with voluntary exercise. Hippocampus. 2006;16(3):305–11. PMID: 16425237
- 95. Gil-Mohapel J, Titterness AK, Patten AR, Taylor S, Ratzlaff A, Ratzlaff T, et al. Prenatal ethanol exposure differentially affects hippocampal neurogenesis in the adolescent and aged brain. Neuroscience. 2014;273:174–88.
- 96. Delatour LC, Yeh PW, Yeh HH. Ethanol exposure in utero disrupts radial migration and pyramidal cell development in the somatosensory cortex. Cereb Cortex. 2019;29(5):2125–39.
- 97. Leroy K, Brion JP. Developmental expression and localization of glycogen synthase kinase-3β in rat brain. J Chem Neuroanat. 1999;16(4):279–93. PMID: 10450875
- 98. Coyle-Rink J, Del Valle L, Sweet T, Khalili K, Amini S. Developmental expression of Wnt signaling factors in mouse brain. Cancer Biol Ther. 2002;1(6):640–5.
- Luo J. GSK3β in Ethanol Neurotoxicity. Mol Neurobiol. 2009;40(2):108–21. PMID: 19507062
- Resnicoff M, Sell C, Ambrose D, Baserga R, Rubin R. Ethanol inhibits the autophosphorylation of the insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) receptor and IGF-1-mediated proliferation of 3T3 cells. J Biol Chem. 1993;268(29):21777–82. PMID: 8408032
- O'Rourke NA, Dailey ME, Smith SJ, McConnell SK. Diverse migratory pathways in the developing cerebral cortex. Science. 1992;258(5080):299–302. PMID: 1411527
- Vorhees C V. Principles of Behavioral Teratology. In: Edward P. RileyCharles V. Vorhees, editor. Handbook of Behavioral Teratology. Boston, MA: Springer US; 1986. p. 23–48.
- 103. Stagni F, Giacomini A, Guidi S, Ciani E, Bartesaghi R. Timing of therapies for Down syndrome: the sooner, the better. Front Behav Neurosci. 2015;9:265. PMID: 26500515
- 104. González-Billault C, Del Río JA, Ureña JM, Jiménez-Mateos EM, Barallobre MJ, Pascual M, et al. A role of MAP1B in reelin-dependent neuronal migration. Cereb Cortex. 2005;15(8):1134–45.
- 105. Chen G, Bower KA, Xu M, Ding M, Shi X, Ke ZJ, et al. Cyanidin-3-Glucoside Reverses Ethanol-Induced Inhibition of Neurite Outgrowth: Role of Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3 Beta. Neurotox Res. 2009;15(4):321–31.
- 106. Martinowich K, Hattori D, Wu H, Fouse S, He F, Hu Y, et al. DNA methylationrelated chromatin remodeling in activity-dependent BDNF gene regulation. Science. 2003;302(5646):890–3. PMID: 14593184
- 107. Horike SI, Cai S, Miyano M, Cheng JF, Kohwi-Shigematsu T. Loss of silentchromatin looping and impaired imprinting of DLX5 in Rett syndrome. Nat Genet. 2005;37(1):31–40.
- 108. Zhang P, Wang G, Lin Z, Wu Y, Zhang J, Liu M, et al. Alcohol exposure induces chick craniofacial bone defects by negatively affecting cranial neural crest development. Toxicol Lett. 2017;281:53–64.

- 109. Skorput AGJ, Yeh HH. Chronic Gestational Exposure to Ethanol Leads to Enduring Aberrances in Cortical Form and Function in the Medial Prefrontal Cortex. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2016;40(7):1479–88. PMID: 27242215
- Eagleson KL, Lillien L, Chan A V, Levitt P. Mechanisms specifying area fate in cortex include cell-cycle-dependent decisions and the capacity of progenitors to express phenotype memory. Development. 1997;124(8):1623–30. PMID: 9108378
- 111. McConnell SK. The specification of neuronal identity in the mammalian cerebral cortex. Experientia. 1990;46(9):922–9. PMID: 2209801
- 112. Martín-Ibáñez R, Guardia I, Pardo M, Herranz C, Zietlow R, Vinh N-N, et al. Insights in spatio-temporal characterization of human fetal neural stem cells. Exp Neurol. 2017;291:20–35. PMID: 28131724
- 113. Gage FH. Mammalian Neural Stem Cells. Science (80-). 2000;287(5457):1433–8. PMID: 10688783
- Olateju OI, Spocter MA, Patzke N, Ihunwo AO, Manger PR. Hippocampal neurogenesis in the C57BL/6J mice at early adulthood following prenatal alcohol exposure. Metab Brain Dis. 2018;33(2):397–410.
- Broadwater MA, Liu W, Crews FT, Spear LP. Persistent Loss of Hippocampal Neurogenesis and Increased Cell Death following Adolescent, but Not Adult, Chronic Ethanol Exposure. Dev Neurosci. 2014;36(3–4):297–305. PMID: 24993092
- 116. Elibol-Can B, Dursun I, Telkes I, Kilic E, Canan S, Jakubowska-Dogru E. Examination of age-dependent effects of fetal ethanol exposure on behavior, hippocampal cell counts, and doublecortin immunoreactivity in rats. Dev Neurobiol. 2014;74(5):498–513.
- 117. Hamilton GF, Bucko PJ, Miller DS, DeAngelis RS, Krebs CP, Rhodes JS. Behavioral deficits induced by third-trimester equivalent alcohol exposure in male C57BL/6J mice are not associated with reduced adult hippocampal neurogenesis but are still rescued with voluntary exercise. Behav Brain Res. 2016;314:96–105.
- Rashid MA, Kim H-Y. N-Docosahexaenoylethanolamine ameliorates ethanolinduced impairment of neural stem cell neurogenic differentiation. Neuropharmacology. 2016;102:174–85. PMID: 26586023
- 119. Gobejishvili L, Barve S, Joshi-Barve S, Uriarte S, Song Z, McClain C. Chronic ethanol-mediated decrease in cAMP primes macrophages to enhanced LPSinducible NF-κB activity and TNF expression: relevance to alcoholic liver disease. Am J Physiol Liver Physiol. 2006;291(4):G681–8.
- 120. Hoffman PL, Tabakoff B. Ethanol and guanine nucleotide binding proteins: a selective interaction. FASEB J. 1990;4(9):2612–22. PMID: 2161371
- Rabin RA. Chronic ethanol exposure of PC 12 cells alters adenylate cyclase activity and intracellular cyclic AMP content. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 1990;252(3):1021–7. PMID: 2156988
- 122. Spittaels K, Van den Haute C, Van Dorpe J, Geerts H, Mercken M, Bruynseels K, et al. Glycogen Synthase Kinase-3β Phosphorylates Protein Tau and Rescues the Axonopathy in the Central Nervous System of Human Four-repeat Tau Transgenic Mice. J Biol Chem. 2000;275(52):41340–9.
- 123. Faccidomo S, Besheer J, Stanford PC, Hodge CW. Increased operant responding for ethanol in male C57BL/6J mice: Specific regulation by the ERK1/2, but not

JNK, MAP kinase pathway. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 2009;204(1):135–47.

- 124. Villegas SN, Njaine B, Linden R, Carri NG. Glial-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) prevents ethanol (EtOH) induced B92 glial cell death by both PI3K/AKT and MEK/ERK signaling pathways. Brain Res Bull. 2006;71(1–3):116–26.
- 125. Ahmadiantehrani S, Barak S, Ron D. GDNF is a novel ethanol-responsive gene in the VTA: implications for the development and persistence of excessive drinking. Addict Biol. 2014;19(4):623–33. PMID: 23298382
- 126. Maier HB, Neyazi M, Neyazi A, Hillemacher T, Pathak H, Rhein M, et al. Alcohol consumption alters Gdnf promoter methylation and expression in rats. J Psychiatr Res. 2020;121:1–9.
- 127. Guerri C, Pascual M, Renau-Piqueras J. Glia and fetal alcohol syndrome. Neurotoxicology. 2001;22(5):593–9. PMID: 11770880
- 128. González A, Pariente JA, Salido GM. Ethanol stimulates ROS generation by mitochondria through Ca2+ mobilization and increases GFAP content in rat hippocampal astrocytes. Brain Res. 2007;1178:28–37. PMID: 17888892
- 129. Sáez R, Burgal M, Renau-Piqueras J, Marqués A, Guerri C. Evolution of several cytoskeletal proteins of astrocytes in primary culture: effect of prenatal alcohol exposure. Neurochem Res. 1991;16(7):737–47. PMID: 1944762
- Fletcher TL, Shain W. Ethanol-Induced Changes in Astrocyte Gene Expression during Rat Central Nervous System Development. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1993;17(5):993–1001.
- 131. Goodlett CR, Peterson SD, Lundahl KR, Pearlman AD. Binge-like alcohol exposure of neonatal rats via intragastric intubation induces both Purkinje cell loss and cortical astrogliosis. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1997;21(6):1010–7. PMID: 9309310
- 132. Topper LA, Baculis BC, Valenzuela CF. Exposure of neonatal rats to alcohol has differential effects on neuroinflammation and neuronal survival in the cerebellum and hippocampus. J Neuroinflammation. 2015;12(1).
- 133. Lundgaard I, Wang W, Eberhardt A, Vinitsky HS, Reeves BC, Peng S, et al. Beneficial effects of low alcohol exposure, but adverse effects of high alcohol intake on glymphatic function. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1). PMID: 29396480
- Alfonso-Loeches S, Ureña-Peralta JR, Morillo-Bargues MJ, La Cruz JO De, Guerri C. Role of mitochondria ROS generation in ethanol-induced NLRP3 inflammasome activation and cell death in astroglial cells. Front Cell Neurosci. 2014;8(AUG).
- Marshak DR. S100 beta as a neurotrophic factor. Prog Brain Res. 1990;86:169– 81. PMID: 2087556
- 136. Wilhelm CJ, Hashimoto JG, Roberts ML, Bloom SH, Andrew MR, Wiren KM. Astrocyte Dysfunction Induced by Alcohol in Females but Not Males. Brain Pathol. 2016;26(4):433–51. PMID: 26088166
- 137. Ogony JW, Malahias E, Vadigepalli R, Anni H. Ethanol Alters the Balance of Sox2, Oct4, and Nanog Expression in Distinct Subpopulations During Differentiation of Embryonic Stem Cells. Stem Cells Dev. 2013;22(15):2196–210. PMID: 23470161
- Jacobson M. Formation of Dendrites and Development of Synaptic Connections. In: Mahendra S. Rao; Jacobson M, editor. Developmental Neurobiology. Boston, MA: Springer US; 1991. p. 223–83.
- 139. Kentroti S, Rahman H, Grove J, Vernadakis A. Ethanol neuronotoxicity in the embryonic chick brain in ovo and in culture: interaction of the neural cell

adhesion molecule (NCAM). Int J Dev Neurosci. 1995;13(8):859–70. PMID: 8770659

- 140. Dou X, Menkari C, Mitsuyama R, Foroud T, Wetherill L, Hammond P, et al. L1 coupling to ankyrin and the spectrin-actin cytoskeleton modulates ethanol inhibition of L1 adhesion and ethanol teratogenesis. FASEB J. 2018;32(3):1364– 74. PMID: 29109170
- Miller MW, Luo J. Effects of ethanol and transforming growth factor beta (TGF beta) on neuronal proliferation and nCAM expression. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2002;26(8):1281–125.
- 142. Mahabir S, Chatterjee D, Misquitta K, Chatterjee D, Gerlai R. Lasting changes induced by mild alcohol exposure during embryonic development in BDNF, NCAM and synaptophysin-positive neurons quantified in adult zebrafish. Eur J Neurosci. 2018;47(12):1457–73.
- 143. Miñana R, Climent E, Barettino D, Segui JM, Renau-Piqueras J, Guerri C. Alcohol exposure alters the expression pattern of neural cell adhesion molecules during brain development. J Neurochem. 2000;75(3):954–64.
- 144. Littner Y, Tang N, He M, Bearer CF. L1 Cell Adhesion Molecule Signaling Is Inhibited by Ethanol In Vivo. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2013;37(3):383–9.
- 145. Watson WE. Physiology of neuroglia. Physiol Rev. 1974;54(2):245–71. PMID: 4274277
- 146. Soriano E, Alvarado-Mallart RM, Dumesnil N, Del Río JA, Sotelo C. Cajal-Retzius cells regulate the radial glia phenotype in the adult and developing cerebellum and alter granule cell migration. Neuron. 1997;18(4):563–77. PMID: 9136766
- 147. Cuadros MA, Navascués J. The origin and differentiation of microglial cells during development. Prog Neurobiol. 1998;56(2):173–89. PMID: 9760700
- 148. Oluich LJ, Stratton JAS, Xing YL, Ng SW, Cate HS, Sah P, et al. Targeted ablation of oligodendrocytes induces axonal pathology independent of overt demyelination. J Neurosci. 2012;32(24):8317–30.
- 149. Salzer JL. Schwann cell myelination. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2015;7(8).
- 150. From R, Eilam R, Bar-Lev DD, Levin-Zaidman S, Tsoory M, Lopresti P, et al. Oligodendrogenesis and myelinogenesis during postnatal development effect of glatiramer acetate. Glia. 2014;62(4):649–65.
- 151. Miller RH, Ono K. Morphological analysis of the early stages of oligodendrocyte development in the vertebrate central nervous system. Microsc Res Tech. 1998;41(5):441–53. PMID: 9672426
- 152. Wiggins RC. Myelin development and nutritional insufficiency. Brain Res. 1982;257(2):151–75. PMID: 7049327
- 153. Feng MJ, Yan SE, Yan QS. Effects of prenatal alcohol exposure on brain-derived neurotrophic factor and its receptor tyrosine kinase B in offspring. Brain Res. 2005;1042(2):125–32.
- 154. Moore DB, Madorsky I, Paiva M, Heaton MB. Ethanol exposure alters neurotrophin receptor expression in the rat central nervous system: Effects of neonatal exposure. J Neurobiol. 2004;60(1):114–26.
- Lessmann V, Gottmann K, Malcangio M. Neurotrophin secretion: Current facts and future prospects. Vol. 69, Progress in Neurobiology. Elsevier Ltd; 2003. p. 341–74. PMID: 12787574
- 156. Montesinos J, Pascual M, Pla A, Maldonado C, Rodríguez-Arias M, Miñarro J, et

al. TLR4 elimination prevents synaptic and myelin alterations and long-term cognitive dysfunctions in adolescent mice with intermittent ethanol treatment. Brain Behav Immun. 2015;45:233–44. PMID: 25486089

- 157. Koob GF. Alcoholism: Allostasis and Beyond. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2003;27(2):232–43. PMID: 12605072
- 158. Drissi I, Deschamps C, Fouquet G, Alary R, Peineau S, Gosset P, et al. Memory and plasticity impairment after binge drinking in adolescent rat hippocampus: GluN2A / GluN2B NMDA receptor subunits imbalance through HDAC2. Addict Biol. 2019;e12760. PMID: 31056842
- 159. Fiore M, Laviola G, Aloe L, di Fausto V, Mancinelli R, Ceccanti M. Early exposure to ethanol but not red wine at the same alcohol concentration induces behavioral and brain neurotrophin alterations in young and adult mice. Neurotoxicology. 2009;30(1):59–71. PMID: 19100286
- 160. Aloe L. Alcohol intake during prenatal life affects neuroimmune mediators and brain neurogenesis. Ann Ist Super Sanita. 2006;42(1):17–21. PMID: 16801721
- 161. Freund-Michel V, Frossard N. The nerve growth factor and its receptors in airway inflammatory diseases. Pharmacol Ther. 2008;117(1):52–76. PMID: 17915332
- 162. Kojima M, Mizui T. BDNF Propeptide. In: Gerald Litwack, editor. Vitamins and hormones. Academic Press; 2017. p. 19–28. PMID: 28215295
- 163. Pautassi RM, Suárez AB, Hoffmann LB, Rueda AV, Rae M, Marianno P, et al. Effects of environmental enrichment upon ethanol-induced conditioned place preference and pre-frontal BDNF levels in adolescent and adult mice. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):8574. PMID: 28819238
- 164. Stragier E, Martin V, Davenas E, Poilbout C, Mongeau R, Corradetti R, et al. Brain plasticity and cognitive functions after ethanol consumption in C57BL/6J mice. Transl Psychiatry. 2015;5(12):e696. PMID: 26670281
- 165. Haun HL, Griffin WC, Lopez MF, Solomon MG, Mulholland PJ, Woodward JJ, et al. Increasing Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor (BDNF) in medial prefrontal cortex selectively reduces excessive drinking in ethanol dependent mice. Neuropharmacology. 2018;140:35–42.
- 166. Rivera S, Khrestchatisky M, Kaczmarek L, Rosenberg GA, Jaworski DM. Metzincin Proteases and Their Inhibitors: Foes or Friends in Nervous System Physiology? J Neurosci. 2010;30(46):15337–57. PMID: 21084591
- 167. Liu W-T, Han Y, Liu Y-P, Song AA, Barnes B, Song X-J. Spinal Matrix Metalloproteinase-9 Contributes to Physical Dependence on Morphine in Mice. J Neurosci. 2010;30(22):7613–23. PMID: 20519536
- 168. Yin L, Li F, Li J, Yang X, Xie X, Xue L, et al. Chronic Intermittent Ethanol Exposure Induces Upregulation of Matrix Metalloproteinase-9 in the Rat Medial Prefrontal Cortex and Hippocampus. Neurochem Res. 2019;44(7):1593–601.
- 169. Jégou S, El Ghazi F, De Lendeu PK, Marret S, Laudenbach V, Uguen A, et al. Prenatal alcohol exposure affects vasculature development in the neonatal brain. Ann Neurol. 2012;72(6):952–60.
- Cui SJ, Tewari M, Schneider T, Rubin R. Ethanol promotes cell death by inhibition of the insulin-like growth factor I receptor. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1997;21(6):1121–7. PMID: 9309326
- 171. de la Torre R, de Sola S, Hernandez G, Farré M, Pujol J, Rodriguez J, et al. Safety

and efficacy of cognitive training plus epigallocatechin-3-gallate in young adults with Down's syndrome (TESDAD): a double-blind, randomised, placebocontrolled, phase 2 trial. Lancet Neurol. 2016;15(8):801–10. PMID: 27302362

- 172. De Toma I, Ortega M, Aloy P, Sabidó E, Dierssen M. DYRK1A Overexpression Alters Cognition and Neural-Related Proteomic Pathways in the Hippocampus That Are Rescued by Green Tea Extract and/or Environmental Enrichment. Front Mol Neurosci. 2019;12:272.
- 173. Souchet B, Duchon A, Gu Y, Dairou J, Chevalier C, Daubigney F, et al. Prenatal treatment with EGCG enriched green tea extract rescues GAD67 related developmental and cognitive defects in Down syndrome mouse models. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):3914.
- Solzak JP, Liang Y, Zhou FC, Roper RJ. Commonality in Down and fetal alcohol syndromes. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol. 2013;97(4):187–97. PMID: 23554291
- 175. Wyganowska-Świątkowska M, Matthews-Kozanecka M, Matthews-Brzozowska T, Skrzypczak-Jankun E, Jankun J. Can EGCG alleviate symptoms of down syndrome by altering proteolytic activity? Vol. 19, International Journal of Molecular Sciences. MDPI AG; 2018.
- 176. Bettio L, Thacker JS, Hutton C, Christie BR. Modulation of synaptic plasticity by exercise. Int Rev Neurobiol. 2019;147:295–322.
- 177. Fontaine CJ, Pinar C, Yang W, Pang AF, Suesser KE, Choi JSJ, et al. Impaired Bidirectional Synaptic Plasticity in Juvenile Offspring Following Prenatal Ethanol Exposure. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2019;43(10):2153–66.
- 178. Wong EL, Lutz NM, Hogan VA, Lamantia CE, McMurray HR, Myers JR, et al. Developmental alcohol exposure impairs synaptic plasticity without overtly altering microglial function in mouse visual cortex. Brain Behav Immun. 2018;67:257–78.
- Shivakumar M, Subbanna S, Joshi V BB. Postnatal Ethanol Exposure Activates HDAC-Mediated Histone Deacetylation, Impairs Synaptic Plasticity Gene Expression and Behavior in Mice. - PubMed - NCBI. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol. 2020; PMID: 32170298
- 180. Lee HY, Naha N, Kim JH, Jo MJ, Min KS, Seong HH, et al. Age- and areadependent distinct effects of ethanol on Bax and Bcl-2 expression in prenatal rat brain. J Microbiol Biotechnol. 2008;18(9):1590–8. PMID: 18852517
- Britton SM, Miller MW. Neuronal Loss in the Developing Cerebral Cortex of Normal and Bax-Deficient Mice: Effects of Ethanol Exposure. Neuroscience. 2018;369:278–91.
- Ieraci A, Herrera DG. Nicotinamide protects against ethanol-induced apoptotic neurodegeneration in the developing mouse brain. PLoS Med. 2006;3(4):547– 57.
- 183. McAlhany RE, West JR, Miranda RC. Glial-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) prevents ethanol-induced apoptosis and JUN kinase phosphorylation. Dev Brain Res. 2000;119(2):209–16.
- Astley SJ, Clarren SK. Measuring the facial phenotype of individuals with prenatal alcohol exposure: correlations with brain dysfunction. Alcohol Alcohol. 2001;36(2):147–59. PMID: 11259212
- 185. Anthony B, Vinci-Booher S, Wetherill L, Ward R, Goodlett C, Zhou FC. Alcohol-

induced facial dysmorphology in C57BL/6 mouse models of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. Alcohol. 2010;44(7–8):659–71. PMID: 20570474

- 186. Fang S, Liu Y, Huang J, Vinci-Booher S, Anthony B ZF. Facial Image Classification of Mouse Embryos for the Animal Model Study of Fetal Alcohol Syndrome. Proc Symp Appl Comput. 2009;852–6. PMID: 20502627
- Cartwright MM, Smith SM. Stage-dependent effects of ethanol on cranial neural crest cell development: partial basis for the phenotypic variations observed in fetal alcohol syndrome. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1995;19(6):1454–62. PMID: 8749810
- 188. Chen SY, Periasamy A, Yang B, Herman B, Jacobson K, Sulik KK. Differential sensitivity of mouse neural crest cells to ethanol-induced toxicity. Alcohol. 2000;20(1):75–81. PMID: 10680720
- 189. Sulik KK. Genesis of alcohol-induced craniofacial dysmorphism. Exp Biol Med (Maywood). 2005;230(6):366–75. PMID: 15956766
- 190. Smith SM, Garic A, Flentke GR, Berres ME. Neural crest development in fetal alcohol syndrome. Birth Defects Res Part C - Embryo Today Rev. 2014;102(3). PMID: 25219761
- 191. Ogawa T, Kuwagata M, Ruiz J, Zhou FC. Differential teratogenic effect of alcohol on embryonic development between C57BL/6 and DBA/2 mice: a new view. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2005;29(5):855–63. PMID: 15897731
- 192. Zhou FC, Sari Y, Powrozek T, Goodlett CR, Li T-K. Moderate alcohol exposure compromises neural tube midline development in prenatal brain. Brain Res Dev Brain Res. 2003;144(1):43–55. PMID: 12888216
- Sulik KK. Critical periods for alcohol teratogenesis in mice, with special reference to the gastrulation stage of embryogenesis. Ciba Found Symp. 1984;105:124–41.
 PMID: 6563984
- 194. Murawski NJ, Moore EM, Thomas JD, Riley EP. Advances in Diagnosis and Treatment of Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders: From Animal Models to Human Studies. Alcohol Res. 2015; PMID: 26259091
- 195. Fang S, McLaughlin J, Fang J, Huang J, Autti-Rm I, Fagerlund A, et al. Automated diagnosis of fetal alcohol syndrome using 3D facial image analysis. Orthod Craniofac Res. 2008;11(3):162–71. PMID: 18713153
- Suttie M, Foroud T, Wetherill L, Jacobson JL, Molteno CD, Meintjes EM, et al. Facial Dysmorphism Across the Fetal Alcohol Spectrum. Pediatrics. 2013;131(3):e779–88. PMID: 23439907
- 197. Shen L, Ai H, Liang Y, Ren X, Anthony CB, Goodlett CR, et al. Effect of prenatal alcohol exposure on bony craniofacial development: A mouse MicroCT study. Alcohol. 2013;47(5):405–15. PMID: 23809873
- 198. Caputo C, Wood E, Jabbour L. Impact of fetal alcohol exposure on body systems: A systematic review. Birth Defects Res Part C - Embryo Today Rev. 2016;108(2):174–80. PMID: 27297122
- 199. Tran TD, Stanton ME, Goodlett CR. Binge-like ethanol exposure during the early postnatal period impairs eyeblink conditioning at short and long CS–US intervals in rats. Dev Psychobiol. 2007;49(6):589–605. PMID: 17680607
- 200. Weinberg J, Sliwowska JH, Lan N, Hellemans KGC. Prenatal Alcohol Exposure: Foetal Programming, the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis and Sex Differences in Outcome. J Neuroendocrinol. 2008;20(4):470–88. PMID:

18266938

- 201. Roebuck TM, Mattson SN, Riley EP. A review of the neuroanatomical findings in children with fetal alcohol syndrome or prenatal exposure to alcohol. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1998;22(2):339–44. PMID: 9581638
- 202. Archibald SL, Fennema-Notestine C, Gamst A, Riley EP, Mattson SN, Jernigan TL. Brain dysmorphology in individuals with severe prenatal alcohol exposure. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2001;43(3):148–54. PMID: 11263683
- 203. Hendrickson TJ, Mueller BA, Sowell ER, Mattson SN, Coles CD, Kable JA, et al. Cortical gyrification is abnormal in children with prenatal alcohol exposure. NeuroImage Clin. 2017;15:391–400.
- 204. Kelly SJ, Goodlett CR, Hannigan JH. Animal models of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: Impact of the social environment. Dev Disabil Res Rev. 2009;15(3):200–8. PMID: 19731387
- 205. Marquardt K, Brigman JL. The impact of prenatal alcohol exposure on social, cognitive and affective behavioral domains: Insights from rodent models. Alcohol. 2016;51:1–15. PMID: 26992695
- 206. Wagner JL, Zhou FC, Goodlett CR. Effects of one- and three-day binge alcohol exposure in neonatal C57BL/6 mice on spatial learning and memory in adolescence and adulthood. Alcohol. 2014;48(2):99–111. PMID: 24507877
- 207. Vorhees CV FK. Effects of short-term prenatal alcohol exposure on maze, activity, and olfactory orientation performance in rats. Neurobehav Toxicol Teratol. 1986;8(1):23–8. PMID: 3703092
- 208. Brocardo PS, Boehme F, Patten A, Cox A, Gil-Mohapel J, Christie BR. Anxiety- and depression-like behaviors are accompanied by an increase in oxidative stress in a rat model of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: Protective effects of voluntary physical exercise. Neuropharmacology. 2012;62(4):1607–18. PMID: 22019722
- 209. Lecuyer M, Laquerrière A, Bekri S, Lesueur C, Ramdani Y, Jégou S, et al. PLGF, a placental marker of fetal brain defects after in utero alcohol exposure. Acta Neuropathol Commun. 2017;5(1):44. PMID: 28587682
- 210. Middaugh LD, Boggan WO. Postnatal Growth Deficits in Prenatal Ethanol-Exposed Mice: Characteristics and Critical Periods. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1991; PMID: 1789388
- 211. Tran TD, Cronise K, Marino MD, Jenkins WJ, Kelly SJ. Critical periods for the effects of alcohol exposure on brain weight, body weight, activity and investigation. Behav Brain Res. 2000;116(1):99–110. PMID: 11090889
- 212. Haghighi Poodeh S, Salonurmi T, Nagy I, Koivunen P, Vuoristo J, Räsänen J, et al. Alcohol-induced premature permeability in mouse placenta-yolk sac barriers in vivo. Placenta. 2012;33(10):866–73. PMID: 22884851
- 213. Ventureira MR, Sobarzo C, Argandoña F, Palomino WA, Barbeito C, Cebral E. Decidual vascularization during organogenesis after perigestational alcohol ingestion. Reproduction. 2019;158(1):109–22.
- 214. Gundogan F, Elwood G, Mark P, Feijoo A, Longato L, Tong M, et al. Ethanol-Induced Oxidative Stress and Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Rat Placenta: Relevance to Pregnancy Loss. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2010;34(3):415–23.
- 215. Joya X, Salat-Batlle J, Velezmoro-Jáuregui G, Clavé S, Garcia-Algar O, Vall O.
 Prenatal ethanol exposure and placental hCG and IGF2 expression. Placenta.
 2015;36(8):854–62. PMID: 26031386

- 216. Ornoy A, Ergaz Z. Alcohol abuse in pregnant women: effects on the fetus and newborn, mode of action and maternal treatment. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2010;7(2):364–79. PMID: 20616979
- 217. Sulik KK. Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: Pathogenesis and mechanisms. In: Handbook of Clinical Neurology. Elsevier B.V.; 2014. p. 463–75.
- 218. Zakhari S. Overview: how is alcohol metabolized by the body? Alcohol Res Health. 2006;29(4):245–54. PMID: 17718403
- 219. Wu D, Cederbaum AI. Alcohol, oxidative stress, and free radical damage. Alcohol Res Health. 2003;27(4):277–84. PMID: 15540798
- Dong J, Sulik KK, Chen S yu. The role of NOX enzymes in ethanol-induced oxidative stress and apoptosis in mouse embryos. Toxicol Lett. 2010;193(1):94– 100.
- 221. Heaton M, Paiva M, Mayer J, Miller R. Ethanol-mediated generation of reactive oxygen species in developing rat cerebellum. Neurosci Lett. 2002;334(2):83–6. PMID: 12435477
- 222. Kay HH, Tsoi S, Grindle K, Magness RR. Markers of Oxidative Stress in Placental Villi Exposed to Ethanol. J Soc Gynecol Investig. 2006;13(2):118–21. PMID: 16443505
- 223. Haselbeck RJ, Duester G. ADH4-lacZ transgenic mouse reveals alcohol dehydrogenase localization in embryonic midbrain/hindbrain, otic vesicles, and mesencephalic, trigeminal, facial, and olfactory neural crest. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1998;22(7):1607–13. PMID: 9802548
- 224. Gupta KK, Gupta VK, Shirasaka T. An Update on Fetal Alcohol Syndrome-Pathogenesis, Risks, and Treatment. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2016;40(8):1594–602.
 PMID: 27375266
- Myllynen P, Pasanen M, Pelkonen O. Human placenta: a human organ for developmental toxicology research and biomonitoring. Placenta. 2005;26(5):361–71. PMID: 15850640
- 226. Guerri C, Bazinet A, Riley EP. Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders and Alterations in Brain and Behaviour. Alcohol Alcohol. 2009;44(2):108–14. PMID: 19147799
- 227. Heller M, Burd L. Review of ethanol dispersion, distribution, and elimination from the fetal compartment. Birth Defects Res Part A - Clin Mol Teratol. 2014; PMID: 24616297
- 228. Streissguth AP, Landesman-Dwyer S, Martin JC, Smith DW. Teratogenic effects of alcohol in humans and laboratory animals. Science. 1980;209(4454):353–61. PMID: 6992275
- 229. Wells PG, Bhatia S, Drake DM, Miller-Pinsler L. Fetal oxidative stress mechanisms of neurodevelopmental deficits and exacerbation by ethanol and methamphetamine. Vol. 108, Birth Defects Research Part C - Embryo Today: Reviews. John Wiley and Sons Inc.; 2016. p. 108–30.
- Hoyt LR, Randall MJ, Ather JL, Depuccio DP, Landry CC, Qian X, et al.
 Mitochondrial ROS induced by chronic ethanol exposure promote hyperactivation of the NLRP3 inflammasome ☆. Redox Biol. 2017;12:883–96.
- 231. Yang F, Luo J. Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress and Ethanol Neurotoxicity. Biomolecules. 2015;5(4):2538–53. PMID: 26473940
- 232. Miller-Pinsler L, Wells PG. Deficient DNA repair exacerbates ethanol-initiated DNA oxidation and embryopathies in ogg1 knockout mice: gender risk and

protection by a free radical spin trapping agent. Arch Toxicol. 2016;90(2):415–25. PMID: 25354798

- 233. Wong AW, McCallum GP, Jeng W, Wells PG. Oxoguanine Glycosylase 1 Protects Against Methamphetamine-Enhanced Fetal Brain Oxidative DNA Damage and Neurodevelopmental Deficits. J Neurosci. 2008;28(36):9047–54. PMID: 18768699
- Wells PG, McCallum GP, Chen CS, Henderson JT, Lee CJJ, Perstin J, et al. Oxidative stress in developmental origins of disease: teratogenesis, neurodevelopmental deficits, and cancer. Toxicol Sci. 2009;108(1):4–18. PMID: 19126598
- 235. Chen G, Ke Z, Xu M, Liao M, Wang X, Qi Y, et al. Autophagy is a protective response to ethanol neurotoxicity. Autophagy. 2012;8(11):1577–89. PMID: 22874567
- 236. Luo J. Autophagy and ethanol neurotoxicity. Autophagy. 2014;10(12):2099–108. PMID: 25484085
- 237. Dembele K, Yao XH, Chen L, Nyomba BLG. Intrauterine ethanol exposure results in hypothalamic oxidative stress and neuroendocrine alterations in adult rat offspring. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2006;291(3).
- Petkow VV, Stoianovski D, Petkov VD VI. Lipid peroxidation changes in the brain in fetal alcohol syndrome. Biull Eksp Biol Med. 1992;113(5):500–2. PMID: 1421268
- 239. Chu J, Tong M, Monte SM. Chronic ethanol exposure causes mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in immature central nervous system neurons. Acta Neuropathol. 2007;113(6):659–73.
- 240. Ramachandran V, Perez A, Chen J, Senthil D, Schenker S HG. In utero ethanol exposure causes mitochondrial dysfunction, which can result in apoptotic cell death in fetal brain: a potential role for 4-hydroxynonenal. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2001;25(6):862–71. PMID: 11410723
- 241. Dong J, Sulik KK, Chen S. The role of NOX enzymes in ethanol-induced oxidative stress and apoptosis in mouse embryos. Toxicol Lett. 2010;193(1):94–100.
 PMID: 20026259
- 242. Joya X, Garcia-Algar O, Salat-Batlle J, Pujades C, Vall O. Advances in the development of novel antioxidant therapies as an approach for fetal alcohol syndrome prevention. Birth Defects Res Part A Clin Mol Teratol. 2015;103(3):163–77.
- 243. Xicota L, Rodriguez-Morato J, Dierssen M, de la Torre R. Potential Role of (-)-Epigallocatechin-3-Gallate (EGCG) in the Secondary Prevention of Alzheimer Disease. Curr Drug Targets. 2015;18(2):174–95.
- 244. Graham HN. Green tea composition, consumption, and polyphenol chemistry. Prev Med (Baltim). 1992;21(3):334–50. PMID: 1614995
- Saito ST, Gosmann G, Pungartnik C, Brendel M. Green tea extract-patents and diversity of uses. Recent Pat Food Nutr Agric. 2009;1(3):203–15. PMID: 20653541
- 246. Chakrawarti L, Agrawal R, Dang S, Gupta S, Gabrani R. Therapeutic effects of EGCG: a patent review. Expert Opin Ther Pat. 2016;26(8):907–16. PMID: 27338088
- 247. Yang CS. Tea and health. Vol. 15, Nutrition. Nutrition; 1999. p. 946–9.

- 248. Du G-J, Zhang Z, Wen X-D, Yu C, Calway T, Yuan C-S, et al. Epigallocatechin Gallate (EGCG) Is the Most Effective Cancer Chemopreventive Polyphenol in Green Tea. Nutrients. 2012;4(12):1679–91. PMID: 23201840
- 249. Zaveri NT. Green tea and its polyphenolic catechins: Medicinal uses in cancer and noncancer applications. Life Sci. 2006;78(18):2073–80. PMID: 16445946
- 250. Williams RJ, Spencer JPE. Flavonoids, cognition, and dementia: Actions, mechanisms, and potential therapeutic utility for Alzheimer disease. Vol. 52, Free Radical Biology and Medicine. Free Radic Biol Med; 2012. p. 35–45.
- 251. Khan N, Mukhtar H. Tea polyphenols for health promotion. Life Sci. 2007;81(7):519–33. PMID: 17655876
- 252. Moyers SB, Kumar NB. Green tea polyphenols and cancer chemoprevention: multiple mechanisms and endpoints for phase II trials. Nutr Rev. 2004;62(5):204–11. PMID: 15212320
- 253. Higdon J V., Frei B. Tea Catechins and Polyphenols: Health Effects, Metabolism, and Antioxidant Functions. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2003;43(1):89–143. PMID: 12587987
- 254. Fujiki H, Watanabe T, Sueoka E, Rawangkan A, Suganuma M. Cancer prevention with green tea and its principal constituent, EGCG: From early investigations to current focus on human cancer stem cells. Vol. 41, Molecules and Cells. Korean Society for Molecular and Cellular Biology; 2018. p. 73–82.
- 255. Chen D, Wan SB, Yang H, Yuan J, Chan TH, Dou QP. EGCG, green tea polyphenols and their synthetic analogs and prodrugs for human cancer prevention and treatment. Vol. 53, Advances in Clinical Chemistry. Adv Clin Chem; 2011. 155– 177 p.
- 256. Zamora-Ros R, Forouhi NG, Sharp SJ, González CA, Buijsse B, Guevara M, et al. Dietary Intakes of Individual Flavanols and Flavonols Are Inversely Associated with Incident Type 2 Diabetes in European Populations. J Nutr. 2014;144(3):335–43. PMID: 24368432
- 257. Zhao X, Li R, Jin H, Jin H, Wang Y, Zhang W, et al. Epigallocatechin-3-gallate confers protection against corticosterone-induced neuron injuries via restoring extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 and phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase/protein kinase B signaling pathways. PLoS One. 2018;13(1).
- 258. Arbones ML, Thomazeau A, Nakano-Kobayashi A, Hagiwara M, Delabar JM. DYRK1A and cognition: A lifelong relationship. Vol. 194, Pharmacology and Therapeutics. Elsevier Inc.; 2019. p. 199–221.
- 259. Gan RY, Li H Bin, Sui ZQ, Corke H. Absorption, metabolism, anti-cancer effect and molecular targets of epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG): An updated review [Internet]. Vol. 58, Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition. Taylor and Francis Inc.; 2018. p. 924–41. PMID: 27645804
- 260. Warden BA, Smith LS, Beecher GR, Balentine DA, Clevidence BA. Catechins Are Bioavailable in Men and Women Drinking Black Tea throughout the Day. J Nutr. 2001;131(6):1731–7. PMID: 11385060
- Nakagawa K, Miyazawa T. Chemiluminescence-high-performance liquid chromatographic determination of tea catechin, (-)-epigallocatechin 3-gallate, at picomole levels in rat and human plasma. Anal Biochem. 1997;248(1):41–9. PMID: 9177723
- 262. Ullmann U, Haller J, Decourt J, Girault N, Girault J, Richard-Caudron A, et al. A

Single Ascending Dose Study of Epigallocatechin Gallate in Healthy Volunteers. J Int Med Res. 2003;31(2):88–101. PMID: 12760312

- 263. Lee M-J, Maliakal P, Chen L, Meng X, Bondoc FY, Prabhu S, et al. Pharmacokinetics of tea catechins after ingestion of green tea and (-)epigallocatechin-3-gallate by humans: formation of different metabolites and individual variability. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2002;11(10 Pt 1):1025– 32. PMID: 12376503
- 264. Zeng L, Ma M, Li C, Luo & L. Stability of tea polyphenols solution with different pH at different temperatures. Int J Food Prop. 2016;20(1):1–18.
- 265. Klaus Altland, Rupert Schreiner and WH. Of Green Tea, Black Pepper, and Amyloidoses [Internet].
- 266. Pervin M, Unno K, Takagaki A, Isemura M, Nakamura Y. Function of green tea catechins in the brain: Epigallocatechin gallate and its metabolites. Vol. 20, International Journal of Molecular Sciences. MDPI AG; 2019.
- 267. Lu H, Meng X, Yang CS. Enzymology of methylation of tea catechins and inhibition of catechol-O-methyltransferase by (-)-epigallocatechin gallate. In: Drug Metabolism and Disposition. Drug Metab Dispos; 2003. p. 572–9.
- Scholl C, Lepper A, Lehr T, Hanke N, Schneider KL, Brockmöller J, et al. Population nutrikinetics of green tea extract. Atkin SL, editor. PLoS One. 2018;13(2):e0193074. PMID: 29466429
- Li N, Taylor LS, Mauer LJ. Degradation kinetics of catechins in green tea powder: Effects of temperature and relative humidity. J Agric Food Chem. 2011;59(11):6082–90.
- Shirai N, Suzuki H. Effects of simultaneous intakes of fish oil and green tea extracts on plasma, glucose, insulin, C-peptide, and adiponectin and on liver lipid concentrations in mice fed low- and high-fat diets. Ann Nutr Metab. 2008;52(3):241–9.
- Peters CM, Green RJ, Janle EM, Ferruzzi MG. Formulation with ascorbic acid and sucrose modulates catechin bioavailability from green tea. Food Res Int. 2010;43(1):95–102. PMID: 20161530
- 272. Naumovski N, Blades B, Roach P. Food Inhibits the Oral Bioavailability of the Major Green Tea Antioxidant Epigallocatechin Gallate in Humans. Antioxidants. 2015;4(2):373–93. PMID: 26783711
- 273. Zhong Y, Shahidi F. Lipophilized epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG) derivatives as novel antioxidants. J Agric Food Chem. 2011;59(12):6526–33.
- 274. Zhong Y, Ma CM, Shahidi F. Antioxidant and antiviral activities of lipophilic epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG) derivatives. J Funct Foods. 2012;4(1):87–93.
- 275. Zhong Y, Shahidi F. Lipophilised epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG) derivatives and their antioxidant potential in food and biological systems. Food Chem. 2012;131(1):22–30.
- 276. Chao J, Lau WKW, Huie MJ, Ho YS, Yu MS, Lai CSW, et al. A pro-drug of the green tea polyphenol (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) prevents differentiated SH-SY5Y cells from toxicity induced by 6-hydroxydopamine. Neurosci Lett. 2010;469(3):360–4. PMID: 20026175
- 277. Shi X, Ye J, Leonard SS, Ding M, Vallyathan V, Castranova V, et al. Antioxidant properties of (-)-epicatechin-3-gallate and its inhibition of Cr(VI)-induced DNA damage and Cr(IV)- or TPA-stimulated NF-κB activation. Mol Cell Biochem.

2000;206(1-2):125-32. PMID: 10839202

- Benzie IFF, Szeto YT. Total antioxidant capacity of teas by the ferric reducing/antioxidant power assay. J Agric Food Chem. 1999;47(2):633–6. PMID: 10563944
- Henning SM, Fajardo-Lira C, Lee HW, Youssefian AA, Go VLW, Heber D. Catechin content of 18 teas and a green tea extract supplement correlates with the antioxidant capacity. Vol. 45, Nutrition and Cancer. Nutr Cancer; 2003. p. 226– 35.
- Long L, Li Y, Wang YD, He QY, Li M, Cai XD, et al. The Preventive Effect of Oral EGCG in a Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder Mouse Model. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2010;34(11):1929–36.
- Rice-Evans CA, Miller NJ, Paganga G. Structure-antioxidant activity relationships of flavonoids and phenolic acids. Vol. 20, Free Radical Biology and Medicine. Elsevier Inc.; 1996. p. 933–56. PMID: 8743980
- 282. Weinreb O, Amit T, Mandel S, Youdim MBH. Neuroprotective molecular mechanisms of (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate: A reflective outcome of its antioxidant, iron chelating and neuritogenic properties. Vol. 4, Genes and Nutrition. BioMed Central; 2009. p. 283–96.
- Na HK, Surh YJ. Modulation of Nrf2-mediated antioxidant and detoxifying enzyme induction by the green tea polyphenol EGCG. Food Chem Toxicol. 2008;46(4):1271–8.
- 284. Kim H-S, Quon MJ, Kim J. New insights into the mechanisms of polyphenols beyond antioxidant properties; lessons from the green tea polyphenol, epigallocatechin 3-gallate. Redox Biol. 2014;2:187–95. PMID: 24494192
- 285. Okubo H, Inagaki H, Gondo Y, Kamide K, Ikebe K, Masui Y, et al. Association between dietary patterns and cognitive function among 70-year-old Japanese elderly: A cross-sectional analysis of the SONIC study. Nutr J. 2017;16(1).
- 286. Pervin M, Unno K, Ohishi T, Tanabe H, Miyoshi N, Nakamura Y. Beneficial Effects of Green Tea Catechins on Neurodegenerative Diseases. Molecules. 2018;23(6). PMID: 29843466
- Li Yang, Xiaoqing, Jing Yan, Yu Jin, Wei Yu, Haibin Wu SX. Prevalence of Dementia, Cognitive Status and Associated Risk Factors Among Elderly of Zhejiang Province, China in 2014 - PubMed. Age Ageing. 2016;45(5):708–12. PMID: 27209328
- 288. Homa Rasoolijazi, Mohammad Taghi Joghataie, Mehrdad Roghani MN. The Beneficial Effect of (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate in an Experimental Model of Alzheimer's Disease in Rat: A Behavioral Analysis - PubMed. Iran Biomed J. 2007;11(4):237–43. PMID: 18392085
- 289. Walker JM, Klakotskaia D, Ajit D, Weisman GA, Wood WG, Sun GY, et al. Beneficial effects of dietary EGCG and voluntary exercise on behavior in an Alzheimer's disease mouse model. J Alzheimer's Dis. 2015;44(2):561–72.
- Quintana JLB, Allam MF, Del Castillo AS, Navajas RFC. Parkinson's disease and tea: A quantitative review. Vol. 28, Journal of the American College of Nutrition. J Am Coll Nutr; 2009. p. 1–6. PMID: 19571153
- Gao X, Cassidy A, Schwarzschild MA, Rimm EB, Ascherio A. Habitual intake of dietary flavonoids and risk of Parkinson disease. Neurology. 2012;78(15):1138– 45.

- 292. Catuara-Solarz S, Espinosa-Carrasco J, Erb I, Langohr K, Gonzalez JR, Notredame C, et al. Combined Treatment With Environmental Enrichment and (-)-Epigallocatechin-3-Gallate Ameliorates Learning Deficits and Hippocampal Alterations in a Mouse Model of Down Syndrome. eNeuro. 2016;3(5).
- 293. Bilotta J, Saszik S, Givin CM, Hardesty HR, Sutherland SE. Effects of embryonic exposure to ethanol on zebrafish visual function. Neurotoxicol Teratol. 2002;24(6):759–66. PMID: 12460658
- 294. Parnell SE, O'Leary-Moore SK, Godin EA, Dehart DB, Johnson BW, Allan Johnson G, et al. Magnetic Resonance Microscopy Defines Ethanol-Induced Brain Abnormalities in Prenatal Mice: Effects of Acute Insult on Gestational Day 8. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2009;33(6):1001–11. PMID: 19302087
- 295. Pierce DR, West JR. Differential deficits in regional brain growth induced by postnatal alcohol. Neurotoxicol Teratol. 1987;9(2):129–41. PMID: 3657748
- 296. Lo JO, Schabel MC, Roberts VHJ, Wang X, Lewandowski KS, Grant KA, et al. First trimester alcohol exposure alters placental perfusion and fetal oxygen availability affecting fetal growth and development in a non-human primate model. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2017;216(3):302.e1-302.e8. PMID: 28153658
- 297. Shibuya M. Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF) and Its Receptor (VEGFR) Signaling in Angiogenesis: A Crucial Target for Anti- and Pro-Angiogenic Therapies. Genes and Cancer. 2011;2(12):1097–105. PMID: 22866201
- 298. Coll TA, Chaufan G, Pérez-Tito LG, Ventureira MR, Ríos de Molina M del C, Cebral E. Cellular and molecular oxidative stress-related effects in uterine myometrial and trophoblast-decidual tissues after perigestational alcohol intake up to early mouse organogenesis. Mol Cell Biochem. 2018;440(1–2):89–104. PMID: 28822072
- 299. Helske S, Vuorela P, Carpén O, Hornig C, Weich H HE. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor receptors 1, 2 and 3 in placentas from normal and complicated pregnancies. Mol Hum Reprod. 2001;7(2). PMID: 11160848
- 300. Morbidelli L, Terzuoli E, Donnini S. Use of nutraceuticals in angiogenesisdependent disorders [Internet]. Vol. 23, Molecules. MDPI AG; 2018.
- 301. Shanmugam S, Patel D, Wolpert JM, Keshvani C, Liu X, Bergeson SE, et al. Ethanol Impairs NRF2/Antioxidant and Growth Signaling in the Intact Placenta In Vivo and in Human Trophoblasts. 2019;
- 302. Han XD, Zhang YY, Wang KL, Huang YP, Yang ZB, Liu Z. The involvement of Nrf2 in the protective effects of (-)-Epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) on NaAsO2-induced hepatotoxicity. Oncotarget. 2017;8(39):65302–12.
- 303. Dong J, Sulik KK, Chen SY. Nrf2-mediated transcriptional induction of antioxidant response in mouse embryos exposed to ethanol in vivo: Implications for the prevention of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Antioxidants Redox Signal. 2008;10(12):2023–33. PMID: 18759561
- 304. Sun W, Liu X, Zhang H, Song Y, Li T, Liu X, et al. Epigallocatechin gallate upregulates NRF2 to prevent diabetic nephropathy via disabling KEAP1. Free Radic Biol Med. 2017;108:840–57. PMID: 28457936
- TA S, Z L, X W, KA G, CD K. Chronic Alcohol Drinking Slows Brain Development in Adolescent and Young Adult Nonhuman Primates. eNeuro. 2019;6(2). PMID: 30993181
- 306. Arain M, Haque M, Johal L, Mathur P, Nel W, Rais A, et al. Maturation of the

adolescent brain. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2013;9:449. PMID: 23579318

- 307. Seong KJ, Lee HG, Kook MS, Ko HM, Jung JY, Kim WJ. Epigallocatechin 3 gallate rescues LpS impaired adult hippocampal neurogenesis through suppressing the TLR4 NF-κB signaling pathway in mice. Korean J Physiol Pharmacol. 2016;20(1):41–51.
- 308. Bai Q, Lyu Z, Pan Z, Lou J, Dong T. Epigallocatechin-3-gallate promotes angiogenesis via up-regulation of Nfr2 signaling pathway in a mouse model of ischemic stroke. Behav Brain Res. 2017;321:79–86. PMID: 28042007
- 309. Hossain MM, Banik NL, Ray SK. Survivin knockdown increased anti-cancer effects of (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate in human malignant neuroblastoma SK-N-BE2 and SH-SY5Y cells. Exp Cell Res. 2012;318(13):1597–610.
- 310. Vallés S, Pitarch J, Renau-Piqueras J, Guerri C. Ethanol exposure affects glial fibrillary acidic protein gene expression and transcription during rat brain development. J Neurochem. 1997;69(6):2484–93. PMID: 9375681
- Miller MW, Luo J. Effects of ethanol and transforming growth factor beta (TGF beta) on neuronal proliferation and nCAM expression. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2002;26(8):1281–125.
- 312. Renno WM, Al-Khaledi G, Mousa A, Karam SM, Abul H, Asfar S. (-)-Epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) modulates neurological function when intravenously infused in acute and, chronically injured spinal cord of adult rats. Neuropharmacology. 2014;77:100–19. PMID: 24071567
- Reznichenko L, Amit T, Youdim MBH, Mandel S. Green tea polyphenol (-)epigallocatechin-3-gallate induces neurorescue of long-term serum-deprived PC12 cells and promotes neurite outgrowth. J Neurochem. 2005;93(5):1157–67. PMID: 15934936
- 314. Koh SH, Kim SH, Kwon H, Park Y, Kim KS, Song CW, et al. Epigallocatechin gallate protects nerve growth factor differentiated PC12 cells from oxidative-radicalstress-induced apoptosis through its effect on phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Akt and glycogen synthase kinase-3. Mol Brain Res. 2003;118(1–2):72–81. PMID: 14559356
- 315. Biasibetti R, Tramontina AC, Costa AP, Dutra MF, Quincozes-Santos A, Nardin P, et al. Green tea (-)epigallocatechin-3-gallate reverses oxidative stress and reduces acetylcholinesterase activity in a streptozotocin-induced model of dementia. Behav Brain Res. 2013;236(1):186–93. PMID: 22964138
- 316. Popova NK, Morozova M V., Naumenko VS. Ameliorative effect of BDNF on prenatal ethanol and stress exposure-induced behavioral disorders. Neurosci Lett. 2011;505(2):82–6.
- 317. Medina AE. Fetal alcohol spectrum disorders and abnormal neuronal plasticity. Neuroscientist. 2011;17(3). PMID: 21383101
- 318. Liu M, Chen F, Sha L, Wang S, Tao L, Yao L, et al. (-)-Epigallocatechin-3-gallate ameliorates learning and memory deficits by adjusting the balance of TrkA/p75NTR signaling in APP/PS1 transgenic mice. Mol Neurobiol. 2014;49(3):1350–63. PMID: 24356899
- Gundimeda U, McNeill TH, Schiffman JE, Hinton DR, Gopalakrishna R. Green tea polyphenols potentiate the action of nerve growth factor to induce neuritogenesis: Possible role of reactive oxygen species. J Neurosci Res. 2010;88(16):3644–55. PMID: 20936703

- Popova S, Lange S, Burd L, Rehm J. The Economic Burden of Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder in Canada in 2013. Alcohol Alcohol. 2016;51(3):367–365.
 PMID: 26493100
- 321. Hu J, Webster D, Cao J, Shao A. The safety of green tea and green tea extract consumption in adults – Results of a systematic review. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol. 2018;95(August 2017):412–33. PMID: 29580974
- 322. Ullmann U, Haller J, Decourt JD, Girault J, Spitzer V, Weber P. Plasma-kinetic characteristics of purified and isolated green tea catechin epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG) after 10 days repeated dosing in healthy volunteers. Int J Vitam Nutr Res. 2004;74(4):269–78. PMID: 15580809
- 323. Lorenz M, Jochmann N, von Krosigk A et al. Addition of Milk Prevents Vascular Protective Effects of Tea. Eur Hear J. 2007;28(2):219–23. PMID: 17213230
- 324. Chow H-HS, Cai Y, Hakim IA, Crowell JA, Shahi F, Brooks CA, et al. Pharmacokinetics and safety of green tea polyphenols after multiple-dose administration of epigallocatechin gallate and polyphenon E in healthy individuals. Clin Cancer Res. 2003;9(9):3312–9. PMID: 12960117
- 325. Mereles D, Hunstein W. Epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) for Clinical Trials: More Pitfalls than Promises? Int J Mol Sci. 2011;12(9):5592–603. PMID: 22016611
- 326. Record IR, Lane JM. Simulated intestinal digestion of green and black teas. Food Chem. 2001;73(4):481–6.
- 327. Chow HHS, Hakim IA, Vining DR, Crowell JA, Ranger-Moore J, Chew WM, et al. Effects of dosing condition on the oral bioavailability of green tea catechins after single-dose administration of polyphenon E in healthy individuals. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11(12):4627–33.
- 328. Clifford MN, Jj Van Der Hooft J, Crozier A. Human studies on the absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion of tea polyphenols 1-3.
- 329. Wang R, Zhou W, Jiang X. Reaction kinetics of degradation and epimerization of epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG) in aqueous system over a wide temperature range. J Agric Food Chem. 2008;56(8):2694–701.
- Proniuk S, Liederer BM, Blanchard J. Preformulation study of epigallocatechin gallate, a promising antioxidant for topical skin cancer prevention. J Pharm Sci. 2002;91(1):111–6. PMID: 11782902
- 331. W H. EGCG AL-Amyloidosis and EpiGalloCatechin-3-Gallate: 4 Years and 5 Months Later [Internet]. 2011.
- Giunta B, Hou H, Zhu Y, Salemi J, Ruscin A, Shytle RD, et al. Fish oil enhances anti-amyloidogenic properties of green tea EGCG in Tg2576 mice. Neurosci Lett. 2010;471(3):134–8. PMID: 20096749
- 333. Bose M, Hao X, Ju J, Husain A, Park S, Lambert JD, et al. Inhibition of tumorigenesis in ApcMin/+ mice by a combination of (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate and fish oil. J Agric Food Chem. 2007;55(19):7695–700.
- 334. De la Torre R, De Sola S, Pons M, Duchon A, de Lagran MM, Farré M, et al. Epigallocatechin-3-gallate, a DYRK1A inhibitor, rescues cognitive deficits in Down syndrome mouse models and in humans. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2014;58(2):278–88.
- 335. Chen L, Lee MJ, Li H YC. Absorption, Distribution, Elimination of Tea Polyphenols in Rats - PubMed. Drug Metab Dispos. 1997;25(9):1045–50. PMID: 9311619

- 336. Shi DD, Guo JJ, Zhou L, Wang N. Epigallocatechin gallate enhances treatment efficacy of oral nifedipine against pregnancy-induced severe pre-eclampsia: A double-blind, randomized and placebo-controlled clinical study. J Clin Pharm Ther. 2018;43(1):21–5. PMID: 28726273
- 337. Zhang H, Su S, Yu X, Li Y. Dietary epigallocatechin 3-gallate supplement improves maternal and neonatal treatment outcome of gestational diabetes mellitus: a double-blind randomised controlled trial. J Hum Nutr Diet. 2017;30(6):753–8. PMID: 28266082

APPENDIX I



C.E.E.A (Comitè Ètic d'Experimentació Animal)

Centres Científics i Tecnològics Edifici Florensa, C/Adolf Florensa nº8, 1º planta, despatx F14 08028 Barcelona Telf. 934 034 786 ceea@ccit.ub.edu

COMITÈ ÈTIC D'EXPERIMENTACIÓ ANIMAL (CEEA)

Formulari d'acceptació de procediments

DADES PROCEDIMENT

Estudio comparativo del trastorno del espectro de alcohol fetal en ratones según dos patrones de consumo humano (consumo moderado y consumo agudo) y de la restricción de crecimiento fetal y los efectos de la administración de –(-)epigallocatechin-3-gallate.

Investigador Responsable: LAURA ALMEIDA

Un cop examinada la documentació presentada, en compliment del Decret 214/97 de la Generalitat de Catalunya, el CEEA de la UB ha resolt **ACCEPTAR** el procediment sol·licitat.



Signat pels membres del CEEA que han pres l'acord

Barcelona, 12 de febrer del 2015

NOTA: El CEEA delega en el/la responsable en benestar animal de la Unitat d'Experimentació Animal on s'allotjaran els animals, el seguiment de la realització del procediment d'acord amb el que està establert a la memòria aprovada per aquest comite.

A3R. 2015

Defets

Sec. 1

Sertida: 262/15

Generalitat de Catalunya Departament d'Agricultura, Ramaderia, Pesca i Alimentació Serveis Territorials a Barcelona Secció de Biodiversitat i Activitats Cinegètiques

UNIVERSITAT DE BARCELONA CEEA-UB (Comitè Ètic d'Experimentació Animal)

A/A Álvaro Gimeno Sandig

08028 Barcelona

Generalitat de Catalunya Serveis Territorials d'Asricultura, Ramaderia, Pesca i Alimentació a Barcelona

Número: 0006S/587/2016 Data: 21/01/2016 14:00:56

Registre de sortida Edifici Florensa, c/ Adolf Florensa nº 8, 1ª planta, despatx F14

<u>Assumpte</u> : Comunicació prèvia de procediments d'experimentació animal (expedient B-NPP-372/15)

Senvor

Hem rebut la comunicació prèvia del procediment d'experimentació:

Títol: "Estudio comparativo del trastorno del espectro de alcohol fetal en ratones C57BL/6 según dos patrones de consumo humano (consumo moderado y consumo agudo) y los efectos de la administración de epigallocatechin-3-gallate a corto plazo "

Investigador/a responsable: Laura Almeida Toledano

Aquest procediment té assignat el número d'ordre DARP: 8744.

D'acord amb l'article 32 del Decret 214/1997 de 30 de juliol sobre protecció dels animals utilitzats per a experimentació i altres finalitats científiques, aquest procediment té una validesa fins el 17 de desembre de 2017, sempre i quan no existeixi cap modificació del procediment.

Atentament,

El Cap de la Secció de Biodiversitat i Activitats Cinegètiques

Josep Maria López Martín

Barcelona, 20 de gener de 2016

-	REGISTRE				
~~~	C.E.E.A.				
	Comité Élic d'Experimentació Animal				
	Data: 2 3 GEN, 2016				
	Entrada: 23/16				
	Sortida:				

Avinguda Meridiana, 38 08018 Barcelona Tf. 93 409 20 90 Fax 93 552 48 83 PS 491



Informe Dictamen Favorable Proyecto Investigación Biomédica

C.I. PIC-11-18

6 de marzo de 2018

Dr. Pau Ferrer Salvans Secretario del CEIC Fundació Sant Joan de Déu

## CERTIFICA

1º. Que el CEIC Fundació Sant Joan de Déu en su reunión del día 22/02/2018, ha evaluado la propuesta del promotor referida al estudio:

Título: "Estudio de biodisponibilidad de epigalocatequina-3-galato (EGCG) (FontUp®)" Código Interno: PIC-11-18

IP: Doctora Maria Dolores Gómez Roig

Considera que:

- El proyecto se plantea siguiendo los requisitos de la Ley 14/2007, de 3 de julio, de Investigación Biomédica y su realización es pertinente.

- Se cumplen los requisitos necesarios de idoneidad del protocolo en relación con los objetivos del estudio y están justificados los riesgos y molestias previsibles para el sujeto.

- Son adecuados tanto el procedimiento para obtener el consentimiento informado como la compensación prevista para los sujetos por daños que pudieran derivarse de su participación en el estudio.

- El alcance de las compensaciones económicas previstas no interfiere con el respeto a los postulados éticos.

La capacidad de los Investigadores y los medios disponibles son apropiados para llevar a cabo el estudio.

2º. Por lo que este CEIC emite un DICTAMEN FAVORABLE.

**3º.** Este CEIC acepta que dicho estudio sea realizado en los siguientes CEIC/Centros por los Investigadores:

HOSPITAL SANT JOAN DE DEU. Maria Dolores Gómez Roig.

Lo que firmo en Esplugues de Llobregat, a 6 de marzo de 2018

Fdo:



Dr. Pau Ferrer Salvans Secretario del CEIC Fundació Sant Joan de Déu

# **APPENDIX II**





# Murine Models for the Study of Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders: An Overview

Laura Almeida^{1,2,3†}, Vicente Andreu-Fernández^{1,4,5*†}, Elisabet Navarro-Tapia^{1,3,5}, Rosa Aras-López^{1,6}, Mariona Serra-Delgado³, Leopoldo Martínez^{1,6,7}, Oscar García-Algar^{1,5,8‡} and María Dolores Gómez-Roig^{1,2,3*‡}

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Changlian Zhu, Third Affiliated Hospital of Zhengzhou University, China

#### Reviewed by:

Maurizio Elia, Oasi Research Institute (IRCCS), Italy Joana Gil-Mohapel, University of Victoria, Canada

#### *Correspondence:

Vicente Andreu-Fernández viandreu@clinic.cat María Dolores Gómez-Roig Igomezroig@sjdhospitalbarcelona.org

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

[‡]These authors share last authorship

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Neurology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 09 December 2019 Accepted: 29 May 2020 Published: 15 July 2020

#### Citation:

Almeida L, Andreu-Fernández V, Navarro-Tapia E, Aras-López R, Serra-Delgado M, Martínez L, García-Algar O and Gómez-Roig MD (2020) Murine Models for the Study of Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders: An Overview. Front. Pediatr. 8:359. doi: 10.3389/fped.2020.00359 ¹ Maternal and Child Health and Development Network II (SAMID II), Instituto de Salud Carlos III (ISCIII), Barcelona, Spain, ² Fundació Sant Joan de Déu, Barcelona, Spain, ³ BCNatal Barcelona Center for Maternal Fetal and Neonatal Medicine, Hospital Sant Joan de Déu and Hospital Clínic, Barcelona, Spain, ⁴ Nutrition and Health Deparment, Valencian International University (VIU), Valencia, Spain, ⁵ Grup de Recerca Infancia i Entorn (GRIE), Institut D'investigacions Biomèdiques August Pi i Sunyer (IDIBAPS), Barcelona, Spain, ⁶ Congenital Malformations Lab, Institute of Medicine and Molecular Genetic (INGEMM), Institute for Health Research of La Paz Universitary Hospital (IdiPAZ), Madrid, Spain, ⁷ Department of Pediatric Surgery, Hospital Universitario La Paz, Madrid, Spain, ⁸ Department of Neonatology, Hospital Clínic-Maternitat, ICGON, IDIBAPS, BCNatal, Barcelona, Spain

Prenatal alcohol exposure is associated to different physical, behavioral, cognitive, and neurological impairments collectively known as fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. The underlying mechanisms of ethanol toxicity are not completely understood. Experimental studies during human pregnancy to identify new diagnostic biomarkers are difficult to carry out beyond genetic or epigenetic analyses in biological matrices. Therefore, animal models are a useful tool to study the teratogenic effects of alcohol on the central nervous system and analyze the benefits of promising therapies. Animal models of alcohol spectrum disorder allow the analysis of key variables such as amount, timing and frequency of ethanol consumption to describe the harmful effects of prenatal alcohol exposure. In this review, we aim to synthetize neurodevelopmental disabilities in rodent fetal alcohol spectrum disorder phenotypes, considering facial dysmorphology and fetal growth restriction. We examine the different neurodevelopmental stages based on the most consistently implicated epigenetic mechanisms, cell types and molecular pathways, and assess the advantages and disadvantages of murine models in the study of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder, the different routes of alcohol administration, and alcohol consumption patterns applied to rodents. Finally, we analyze a wide range of phenotypic features to identify fetal alcohol spectrum disorder phenotypes in murine models, exploring facial dysmorphology, neurodevelopmental deficits, and growth restriction, as well as the methodologies used to evaluate behavioral and anatomical alterations produced by prenatal alcohol exposure in rodents.

Keywords: prenatal alcohol exposure, fetal alcohol spectrum disorders, fetal alcohol syndrome, alcohol consumption patterns, facial dysmorphology, neurodevelopmental disorders, fetal growth restriction, models of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders

1

## INTRODUCTION

Alcohol is a known teratogen. Its frequent use during pregnancy impacts the normal development of human fetuses promoting severe developmental alterations and generating a wide range of physical, behavioral, cognitive, and neurological impairments. In 1968, Lemoine et al. established an association between prenatal alcohol exposure (PAE) with certain neurodevelopmental disabilities (1). However, it was not until 1973 when Jones and Smith provided the initial characterization of fetal alcohol syndrome (FAS) (2), defined as growth restriction, facial dysmorphologies (wide-spaced eyes, mid-facial hypoplasia, and a smooth philtrum), and central nervous system (CNS) disorders, resulting in motor, cognitive and behavioral disorders (3). Subsequent observational studies identified and characterized the umbrella term fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD) (4) that includes: FAS (the most deleterious manifestation of FASD), partial FAS (pFAS) (an intermediate phenotype defined by the absence of some FAS characteristics), alcohol-related birth defects (ARBD) (certain physical impairments are exhibited), and alcohol-related neurological disorders (ARND) (behavioral and learning neuropsychological alterations, usually without facial dysmorphology) (5).

Thus, behavioral deficits in FASD subjects associate with structural changes in brain organogenesis: the *Corpus callosum* may lose its structure (agenesis) and generate cognitive deficits linked to attention, executive and psychosocial functions, language, and reading comprehension (6); cerebellum and anterior part of the vermis may suffer hypoplasia and affect motor skills and learning capacity (7). Moreover, proven asymmetry of the hippocampus in FAS children may also affect their memory (8). The degree of structural abnormalities in the brain correlates with the severity of FAS-like facial features, and this in turn, with more serious behavioral problems (9).

According to the World Health Organization, PAE is the main preventable cause of intellectual disability in the western world (10-12). A recent meta-analysis estimated global prevalence of alcohol use during pregnancy to be 9.8% (13). Therefore, PAE-related disorders may lead to major problems for the social environment as well as economic setbacks for the public health system.

Animal models play a key role in the study of FASD by allowing the development of novel diagnostic and therapeutic tools. Researchers have used a great variety of organisms to mimic the physical and behavioral characteristics found in PAE and FASD phenotypes. Inbred strains of rodents are genetically homogenous populations that facilitate result reproducibility and interpretation in studies designed to evaluate the impact of environmental insults such as ethanol. Moreover, the alcohol intake pattern can be more precisely defined (timing and dose), allowing the identification of time-sensitive windows and thresholds of harmful doses during pregnancy. Rodents have been widely used in FASD research to assess the way PAE-related impairments affect metabolic pathways, molecular biology, cell signaling, synaptic plasticity, and cognition during fetal development, promoting the study of variables affected by alcohol exposure at neuroanatomical, neurochemical and behavioral levels (14).

In this review, we focus on rodent FAS-like phenotype neurodevelopmental disabilities, taking into account facial dysmorphology and fetal growth restriction. We examine every stage of brain development, considering changes caused by PAE in different neural cell lineages, molecular pathways and oxidative stress epigenetic variations. We also review the experimental methodologies used to generate rodent FASDlike phenotypes, including advantages and disadvantages of the different routes by which alcohol has been administered. Finally, we revise anatomical and behavioral alterations, as well as the methodologies used to assess these features in murine models.

## FASD-LIKE ANIMAL MODELS

FASD studies in humans have common limitations due to the complexity in correctly measuring certain variables such as maternal diet or health, or the volume and timing of ethanol exposure during pregnancy. These difficulties may be resolved by using animal models, simple, effective, and reliable tools for alcohol research. These models are useful for understanding the molecular mechanisms underlying alcohol teratogenicity and for monitoring cognitive and behavioral changes. Animal models also allow assessing different therapeutic approaches in preclinical studies, for initial screening of the compounds and strategies for future human clinical studies.

The invertebrate Caenorhabditis elegans is a simple model for development and is commonly chosen to study the effects of ethanol on molecular pathways. However, the embryos develop outside the body, exact ethanol concentrations administered cannot be finely controlled (15), and the way alcohol is metabolized differs substantially from that in humans (15). The zebrafish (Danio rerio) has several physiological and genetic similarities with humans (16), which makes it a suitable alternative as model of vertebrate. Regarding the effects of ethanol, there are further advantages: substantial knowledge of all stages of development, short developmental period, and produce large amounts of offspring (17). Zebrafish eggs and embryos are transparent (just like in nematodes) making embryonic development easy to follow, facilitating exposure to alcohol of the embryos during different and precise developmental periods, and easy determination of physical malformations and simple behaviors (16, 18). By contrast, the chorion of the egg acts as a barrier and large volumes of ethanol are necessary to ensure its penetration (17).

Mammals offer significant advantages in the study of brain structures or complex behaviors (19). Although primates could be the gold standard, there are some disadvantages, mainly the long duration of the studies and ethical limitations (19). Rodents are the most employed mammals for FASD research because they are easy to handle, have a short gestational period, and produce large numbers of offspring. Rats offer the advantages of being larger and with a more sophisticated behavior in comparison to mice. Regardless, mice (particularly the C57BL/6 strain) are the most commonly used mammal due to their ease of care, availability of transgenic and disease models, short lifespan, and basic physiology and genetics similar to that of humans. Teratogenic effects of alcohol exposure in mice have been reported, including craniofacial malformations, altered neurogenesis processes, and soft-tissue and skeletal abnormalities (20, 21). The main disadvantage in using rodents for FASD research is that the third trimester equivalent to human development in rodents occurs after birth. Thus, there are differences in the processes of absorption, distribution, metabolism and elimination in rodents in comparison to the human utero, with no influence of the placental barrier. Interestingly, C57BL/6J is the strain with the highest preference for alcohol (22).

In following sections, we discuss details that need to be considered when a murine model is chosen for a FASD study.

### **Alcohol Exposure Patterns**

Drinking patterns are characterized by the amount and frequency of ethanol taken. This is measured by blood alcohol concentration (BAC) and expressed as weight of alcohol per unit of volume of blood.

Kelly et al. showed that binge-like alcohol exposure is more harmful than non-binge exposure in rat brain development after exposure to the same dose of ethanol. The authors administered doses of 6.6 g/kg/day of ethanol to neonatal rats using artificial rearing, following one of two possible patterns. A continuous pattern (24 h per day) for several days, which resulted in an average BAC peak of 79-97 mg/dL or an acute exposure pattern (8 h per day) for the same period of time, resulting in an average BAC peak of 56-415 mg/dL. Lower brain growth was observed in the acute exposure group in comparison to the continuous pattern (23). Other findings support the hypothesis that lower daily doses of ethanol following a binge-like pattern leads to lower brain weight and cell loss in different brain areas than higher non-binge doses. Three groups of ethanol-exposed rat pups were compared. One group was exposed to 4.5 g/kg/day in a condensed pattern (4 h per day), the second group was exposed to the same dose although administered in a less condensed pattern (8 h per day), and the third group was exposed to a higher dose of alcohol (i.e., 6.6 g/kg/day) administered in a continuous pattern (24 h per day). The resulting average BACs peaks were 361, 190, and 39 mg/dL, respectively. The authors found that pups exposed to 4.5 g/kg/day over 4 h had the lowest brain weight, followed by the second group. The animals that ingested highest doses of ethanol throughout the 24 h had the highest brain weights (24). These results demonstrate that ethanol intake under a bingelike pattern is more harmful than higher doses taken for longer periods of time due to higher BAC peaks in shorter periods of time.

## **Control Group**

Several studies have assessed the influence of nutritional intake on the teratogenic effects of alcohol (25, 26). Alcohol can replace other nutrients because of its caloric content and may interfere with the absorption of other nutrients due to its inflammatory effects on the stomach (27).

Pair-fed control has been used in some FASD-like animal model experiments since it acts as a calorie-matched control group. A carbohydrate substance (e.g., maltose dextrin or sucrose) is usually employed to replace ethanol-derived calories in the diet (28). A pair-fed group may also allow monitoring a stress condition. On the other hand, the pair-fed group is considered as an imperfect control group, since the pattern of food consumption in this group is different from a physiological intake. Individuals in pair-fed controls consume the assigned food as soon as it is available, creating additional stress associated to food restriction. In addition, in the pair-fed group it is not possible to match the effect of alcohol on the absorption of other nutrients because of its inflammatory effects. Thus, some researchers have suggested the use of a basal control group known as non-handle, ad libitum, or sham, in which the intake of nutrients resembles the physiological one. This is useful to avoid biases caused by ethanol interference in nutrient absorption (29). Consequently, the use of a pair-fed group and an ad libitum control group should be considered as an alternative when designing a FASD murine model study.

### **Route of Administration and Dosage Forms**

Several modes of ethanol administration methods have been described, particularly in rodent gestation. Ethanol delivery methods directly affect variables such as the alcohol exposure pattern, exact amount of alcohol taken, and generated stress. All these variables must be taken into account during experimental design. Voluntary ethanol feeding and intragastric gavage are the most physiological administration methods. Voluntary ethanol feeding (30, 31) is a safe technique when low stable BAC levels want to be reached. Conversely, intragastric gavage (29) offers a more accurate control of doses and timing, and reaches higher BACs. Inhalation (32) or injection (33) offer some advantages compared to voluntary ethanol drinking and intragastric gavage due to their time efficiency. Artificial rearing is a useful method when the aim of the study is alcohol administration in a third trimester equivalent model (29, 34, 35). Briefly, the choice of method must consider the purpose of the experiment and the researcher's experience. Table 1 [based on a previous review (45)] summarizes the characteristics of the main routes of alcohol administration in rodents and dosage forms, focusing mainly on mice.

## **Blood Alcohol Concentration**

BAC depends on several factors such as dosage, pattern of exposure, metabolic rate, food consumption, tolerance and genetics (46, 47). As mentioned above, BAC peaks are higher when ethanol is administered in a binge-like pattern, even with low doses of alcohol (24). There are several types of methods for measuring BAC: headspace gas chromatography (HS-GC), headspace solid-phase microextraction (HS-SPME), capillary gas chromatography, or enzymatic ADH immunoassays (48). Immunoassays are not as accurate as mass spectrometry and are susceptible to bias by overestimating alcohol concentration due to non-specific interferences. On the other hand, immunoassays are sufficiently accurate, easy to use in any laboratory, and require a small amount of sample ( $\sim$ 100 µL). Immunoassays

Administration route	Characteristics	Reached BAC	Advantages	Disadvantages
Voluntary ethanol feeding	Oral, self-administration. Pre-gestational alcohol consumption is usually introduced (36). Sometimes, ethanol is added to flavored liquid nutritional formulas (Liquid-diet or Sustacal) to allow easy self-administration (37, 38). 10–20% (vol/vol) ethanol solution (36). Possibility of isovolumic and isocaloric pair-fed diet (e.g., maltose-dextrin) in controls (28). Drinking in the dark (DID) procedure mimics binge-like pattern (39).	50–100 mg/dL when ethanol intake is 1–2 g/Kg [10% (vol/vol) ethanol solution]	Prevent the stress caused by other invasive methods. Safe technique. Easy to carry out. Gradual BAC increase. Low, stable BAC levels. Used prenatally.	Lower ethanol BAC achieved compared to other administration routes. Not useful for binge drinking pattern. Difficult control of dose and timing. No proper control of dose in breastfeeding pups. Not recommended postnatally. Lower BAC achieved if saccharin or a sucrose-sweetened solution is added to the alcohol.
Intragastric gavage	Administration of ethanol into the stomach using a gavage needle. Administered volumes <2 mL/100 Kg body weight (40). Allowed alcohol concentration <31.5% (vol/vol) (40). Ethanol dose 2–6 g/Kg/day (28). Ethanol vehicle (water, saline solution, or nutritional formula) (28).	250–300 mg/dL (60 min) for administration doses of 3.8 g/Kg [21% (wt./vol) ethanol solution]	Useful for binge drinking pattern. Accurate control of dose and timing. Reliable high BAC. Useful for pre- and postnatal administration.	Inhibition of suckling behavior in neonates. Stressful procedure for animals. Invasive procedure.
Inhalation	Inhalation chamber filled with ethanol vapor (41). Sometimes, administration of pyrazole to obtain stable BACs (32, 42).	150–250 mg/dl when volatized ethanol (ethanol 95%) is delivered to the chamber at a rate of 10 l/min	Reliable high BAC. Not a stressful technique for animals. Time and labor efficient. Useful for pre- and postnatal administration. Higher BACs in neonates compared to mothers.	Does not mimic the routes of intake in humans. Special equipment required. Interindividual variations.
Intraperitoneal injection	Ethanol solution injection in intraperitoneal space (43). Single or multiple doses for several days during pregnancy.	350–400 mg/dL (60 min) for administration doses of 3.8 g/Kg [21% (wt./vol) ethanol solution]	Rapid increase in BAC. Time efficient. Useful for pre- and postnatal administration. Useful for binge drinking pattern.	Handling-induced stress. Different intake routes in humans. This administration route produces higher BAC in fetuses than other routes using the same PAE. Higher incidence of malformations when used during first trimester equivalent.
Artificial rearing	Intragastric gavage ethanol discharge in pups while being kept in a special setting to mimic maternal environment (29, 34, 44). Placement of gastrostomy catheters.	150 mg/Kg when ethanol solution of 2,5 g/Kg is administered or 420 mg/Kg when ethanol solution of 7,5 g/Kg is administered*	Accurate control of dose and timing. Useful for postnatal administration. Mimics human third trimester.	Invasive and expensive technique. Social factors removed due to isolation of pups.

*Data obtained from experiments with rats (no available data for mice). BAC, blood alcohol concentration; Vol, volume; Wt, weight.

are currently the most commonly used method for determining BACs in peripheral blood.

In animal models, BAC is defined as the amount of ethanol per unit of blood (usually mg/dL), measured when ethanol concentration reaches the highest level in peripheral circulation (49). In rodents, peak concentration is detected between 30 and 150 min (50–100 min in mice and 50–150 min in rats) following administration. The timeline of BAC depends on the administration route, the dosage and the species (rate of ethanol metabolism is 550 and 300 mg/Kg/h in mice and rats, respectively) (50). Severe neurotoxicity is typically linked to binge-like episodes causing higher BACs (i.e., BAC over

300 mg/dl in rats). However, continuous alcohol exposure, reaching lower BAC levels (i.e., BAC below 40 mg/dl in rats) despite higher doses, induces more subtle brain injuries (23, 24).

## DEVELOPMENTAL STAGES OF THE FETAL BRAIN

During the development of the CNS throughout pregnancy, there are vulnerable periods sensitive to environmental insults. PAE affects brain organogenesis differently depending on the dosage, timing, developmental stage (moment), and location of the cell



types involved in the biological stages (**Figure 1**). Key processes such as proliferation (51), migration (52), differentiation (53), synaptogenesis (54, 55), gliogenesis, myelination (56), and

apoptosis (57, 58) are altered by PAE leading to congenital abnormalities and functional deficits in the CNS during fetal development (**Figure 2**) (74, 75).


FIGURE 2 | Harmful effects of prenatal alcohol exposure in mice according to human trimesters equivalents (59). First trimester equivalent: cranial dysmorphologies (60, 61), brain malformations (61, 62) and altered gray and white matter tracts (63). Second trimester equivalent: craniofacial and brain malformations (62, 64, 65), neurodevelopmental disorders (66, 67) and fetal growth restriction (68, 69). Third trimester equivalent: brain abnormalities (70–72), neurodevelopmental disorders (71, 73). GD, gestational day.

The anatomies of human and rodent brains show analogous structures and similar stages of development. However, they also exhibit some anatomical and functional differences. Human pregnancy consists of three pre-natal trimesters in which the brain rapidly grows between week 25 and 38. Several differentiation and proliferations processes occur in the third trimester of gestation, with maximum brain growth rate at birth and gradual decrease in early life (59, 76). Rat and mouse pregnancies are shorter than human pregnancies (rats: 21–23 days; mice: 20–22 days) and newborns undergo substantial brain development following birth (56, 57). The first trimester (59) in human pregnancy corresponds to gestational days (GDs) 1–10/11

in rat and mouse. The second trimester equivalent corresponds to GDs 11–21/22 (mice usually give birth on GD 21 and rats on GD 22), and the third trimester equivalent correlates to postnatal days (PNDs) 1–10. The ontogeny of specific behaviors can be used to draw inferences regarding the maturation of specific brain structures or neural circuits in rodents and humans. Despite the similarities between human and rodent brain development it is important to consider that rodents do not exactly mimic the developmental phases of human gestation (**Figure 1**).

Cellular precursors of the brain and the spinal cord develop through neurulation in early embryogenesis (**Figure 1**). The cellular fate of neurulation is the formation of the notochord, which defines the primitive axis of the embryo and determines the vertebral system. The neural tube closure starts in the hindbrain area above the origin of the notochord, and continues anteriorly and posteriorly, making a caudal-to-rostral gradient in the developing brain. Neural tube formation finishes at gestational day (GD) 10-11 in rodents (77). Early in the second week of pregnancy (GD 7 in mouse, GD 9.5 in rats), neurogenesis and subsequent cell migration shape specific areas of the CNS in the forebrain, midbrain, and hindbrain, promoting distinct series of developmental processes (77). Therefore, the second critical developmental stage for PAE occurs between GD 5 and 11, implying alterations in organogenesis, neural tube formation and proliferation of neuronal precursors in areas adjacent to the neural tube. High levels of alcohol exposure during this stage not only cause major neural tube defects, but also lead to facial dysmorphologies similar to those observed in children affected with FAS.

The second critical developmental stage occurs between GD 11 and 21. During this period, most CNS areas are involved in distinct differentiation processes and several neuronal cell types emerge and migrate to specific areas of the brain (including the cerebral cortex and the hippocampus; Figure 1). The developmental phase of the different cell lineages varies according to its spatial location in separate brain areas. PAE particularly affects the neurulation, proliferation, and migration processes of the neocortex, cerebellum, hippocampus, and the basal ganglia. The last decisive developmental period occurs from GD 18 to postnatal day (PND) 9 and is characterized by the proliferation of astroglial and oligodendroglial cells, synaptogenesis, and dendritic arborization, which produce an increase in brain weight. At the same time, neurogenesis continues in the cerebellum and the dentate gyrus (DG) of the hippocampus. Alcohol exposure during third trimester induces severe neuronal loss, reactive gliosis, impaired myelination, as well as damage to the prefrontal cortex, hippocampal and cerebellar regions (64, 78, 79).

#### Proliferation

Neurogenesis is a highly regulated process whose timing and phases depend on the anterior-posterior gradient in the neuronal axis and the regions of the brain formed during organogenesis. Most cell proliferation processes take place throughout all the stages of neurodevelopment (80), although the most expansive phase occurs in the second half of pregnancy (mice: GD 10–21, rats: GD 11–22). This is a key developmental period due to ethanol toxicity vulnerability of neuronal precursors and brain structures (51), which may cause permanent alterations and profound behavioral deficits. For that reason, the consequences of PAE on proliferation and differentiation processes are assessed not only during fetal development but also later in life. As shown in **Figure 1**, several biomarkers help identify and evaluate neurogenesis and proliferation processes during neurodevelopment.

NeuN is expressed in nearly all post-mitotic neurons representing a reliable marker of mature neurons (81). This protein may also act as a biomarker of neuronal integrity, as it decreases in brain regions such as the hippocampus following ethanol exposure in rats (81–83). Ki67 has been thoroughly analyzed as a proliferation biomarker during neurogenesis in PAE studies.

Several authors have studied the effect of PAE on different regions of the hippocampus with different results. Some have found a reduced number of granular cells in the DG and pyramidal cells in specific regions of the rat hippocampus after GD 1–GD 20 plus PND 4–10 of ethanol exposure (24, 84), and during the third trimester equivalent (24, 83, 84), with no changes in the number of hippocampal neurons after GD 1–20 ethanol exposure (84, 85). Komada et al. showed a reduced proliferation rate (measured by Ki67) in mouse telencephalon after PAE on GD 6–18 (86). Conversely, West et al. showed an increase in the number of granular cells of the DG in rat hippocampus after ethanol exposure during the third trimester equivalent (87). Thus, early disturbances in proliferation after PAE may differ depending on the developmental period in which exposure to ethanol occurs.

Some of the effects of PAE on the hippocampus can be identified from birth, but others are more subtle and difficult to detect in the early stages. The consequences of PAE on hippocampal cell proliferation and survival in young adult animals are not always persistent (29, 35, 88). Interestingly, no changes in hippocampal cell proliferation (assessed by Ki67 and BrdU), but an increase in immature neurons of adult hippocampus in rats prenatally exposed to alcohol, have been described, probably due to a compensatory mechanism against PAE effects (29). Other authors have shown alterations in cell proliferation [measured by Ki67 (35) and BrdU (35, 88)] and increased neuronal maturation in the DG of the hippocampus in young adult rats prenatally exposed to ethanol. More recently, Gil-Mohapel et al. described significant decreases in adult hippocampal neurogenesis in aged rats after PAE (during first and second trimester equivalent), not previously seen in younger animals. These findings suggest a more conserved neurogenesis capacity in the early stages of life (89). Moreover, Delatour et al. analyzed Ki67 levels in pyramidal cells in adolescent mice exposed to ethanol at GD 13.5-16.5 and showed there were no changes when compared to controls (90). Once again, it seems that alterations in hippocampal neurogenesis vary according to the timing of ethanol exposure.

Coleman et al. examined the long-term effects on adult hippocampal neurogenesis after ethanol exposure in PND 7 in male and female mice. Increased Ki67 levels were found in the DG in males but not in females (70). This reveals gender differences regarding susceptibility to PAE.

PAE also affects the activity of enzymes involved in neurogenesis and proliferation, promoting hippocampal function behavioral disorders. Glycogen synthase kinase- $3\beta$  (GSK3 $\beta$ ) is highly expressed during brain development [from GD18 to PND10 in rats (91) and GD16 to PD18 in mice (92)] modulating different developmental processes such as neurogenesis, differentiation and neuronal survival. GSK3 $\beta$  activation sensitizes neurons to ethanol-induced injury, deregulating cell proliferation mechanisms (93). Increased levels of GSK3 $\beta$  post-PAE activates apoptosis in neural progenitor cells, decreasing neurogenesis and differentiation in immature brains. Additionally, ethanol decreases the insulin-like growth factor (IGF) receptor signaling, affecting neural proliferation and decreasing the transcription of c-myc, c-fos, and c-jun51 in cell cultures (94).

Current evidence indicates that prenatal and neonatal alcohol exposure reduces the number of mature and immature neurons. Interestingly, this reduction is subtle when ethanol exposure is not continuous. Nonetheless, the brain region, developmental stage, and cell type are key factors when analyzing results of the biomarkers in proliferation processes.

#### **Migration**

Migration from the ventricular and germinal layers occurs radially in the medial/dorsal neocortex and tangentially in other regions of the forebrain (95). On GD 5, superficial layers are still not clearly defined (96). On GD 14.5 (mice) or GD17 (rats), the first cell lineages reach the area that will form the laminae of the cortical plate. Throughout the rest of the gestation period until adulthood, the cortical plate gets thicker and more cells migrate from the ventricular zone (97). When proliferation is disrupted, migration is also affected (Figure 1). PAE alters proliferation and migration processes (52), affecting neural crest migration and causing cytoskeletal rearrangements. These phenomena destabilize the formation of focal adhesions in cell lineages, reducing their capacity for directional migration. Moreover, the activity of glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3) and cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (cdk5) modulate microtubule-associated protein 1B (MAP1B) phosphorylation, involved in the regulation of microtubules and actin filaments in neurons, needed in migration processes (98). In vitro, ethanol inhibits neurite outgrowth by activating GSK3β (99). Conversely, PAE promotes GABAergic interneuron migration by inducing epigenetic alterations in the methylation pattern of the MeCP2-BDNF/DLX5 pathway. MeCP2 regulates the expression of the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), a marker of neuronal plasticity and cellular survival known to influence GABAergic interneuron migration (100). MeCP2 has been shown to regulate DLX5 transcription, a transcription factor involved in the migration and maturation of GABAergic interneurons in mouse models (101). The human natural killer-1 (HNK-1) carbohydrate is also used as a biomarker in migration processes studies involving cranial neural crest cells (102). Results indicate reduced levels of HNK-1 in a model of chick embryos exposed to 2% ethanol, which suggests that PAE may disrupt cranial neural crest cell migration.

Long-term effects of PAE on migration have also been evaluated. Miller et al. describe the harmful effects of alcohol on proliferation and migration in rats prenatally exposed to alcohol. The authors found a delay in migration of early and lategenerated neurons in rats following PAE between GD 6 and GD 21. Ethanol blocks neuronal migration, probably by leading to a desynchronization of cortical development that interferes with the establishment of a normal neural network (52). Skorput et al. studied the effects of PAE on GABAergic interneurons in mice. They found an increase in BrdU labeling in the medial ganglionic eminence showing an increase in neurogenesis, as well as an increase in parvalbumin-expressing GABAergic interneurons in the medial pre-frontal cortex in adults. These results support the contribution of GABAergic interneuron migration disorders to persistent alterations in cortical development in adulthood (103).

In summary, migration is a set of complex processes regulated by different molecular pathways that are disrupted in several checkpoints when ethanol exposure occurs.

#### Differentiation

Processes of neuroblast differentiation initiate after neuronal precursors have completed their last division and are ready to migrate to a specific area (104–106). Depending on the fate (brain area) of migration, neuronal precursors may differentiate into neurons, astrocytes, or oligodendrocytes (107). The differentiation of the cerebral cortex implies the formation of laminae in the radial domain from the ventricular zone to the pial surface and the subdivision of functional areas in the tangential domain, in rostrocaudal and mediolateral axes. In this process, the laminar fate is determined by cell-to-cell interactions and cell autonomous restriction on their development (104).

Several proteins, used as biomarkers, are involved in the differentiation processes. Doublecortin (DCX) has been studied in depth as an endogenous marker of immature neurons. The effects of pre-natal chronic ethanol consumption on adult neurogenesis (PND 56) has been assessed in C57BL/6J mice, revealing a decrease of DCX in the hippocampus after PAE (82). Quantification of immature neurons labeled with DCX in mouse was lower in the group of individuals exposed to alcohol in the prenatal period compared to controls. Moreover, DCX levels were lower in males than in females (108). Broadwater et al. obtained similar results after PAE by oral gavage on PND28-48, with decreased DCX levels in the DG of adolescent mice. Furthermore, after interrupting ethanol exposure, reduced levels of differentiated neurons in adulthood were found in rats (109). Elibol-Can et al. observed slight changes in the number of granular cells labeled with DCX in hippocampal DG on PND 30. The authors reported a decrease in the volume of the hippocampus in rats after a daily dose of 6 g/Kg ethanol during second trimester equivalent (110). Likewise, Hamilton et al. studied the long term-effects of single or continuous exposure to alcohol during the third trimester equivalent in mice and the effect of voluntary exercise as a therapy. Mice were exposed to ethanol on PND 7 or PND 5, 7, and 9 and DCX measured in adulthood. No differences in DCX levels were found in ethanol exposed groups. Nevertheless, the group exposed to ethanol during PND 5, 7, and 9 showed alterations in the results obtained in Rotarod and passive avoidance behavioral tests, which measure motor coordination and memory, respectively (111). Conversely, Coleman et al. observed increased levels of DCX after ethanol exposure in the DG in adult PND 7 male mice, but not in females (70).

Long-term effects of PAE have also been studied using other biomarkers. Choi et al. assessed the effects of PAE on BrdU levels in adult mice exposed to ethanol during the two trimester equivalents. No differences in neuronal proliferation nor differentiation were found after evaluating BrdU levels (31). Boehme et al. studied BDNF levels of rats exposed to ethanol during the three trimester equivalents. They found no changes in BDNF levels of animals exposed to ethanol in the prenatal period. However, increased BDNF levels were observed in groups assigned to voluntary exercise (35). Gil-Mohapel et al. reported increases in NeuroD levels in adult rats exposed to ethanol during the three trimester equivalents. The increase in differentiation processes are probably due to the increase in immature neurons showed in prenatally exposed groups (29). The changes observed in the differentiation processes in adult rodents exposed to ethanol during the prenatal period vary according to the used biomarker. The increase in neuronal differentiation may occur as a compensation of the cellular loss in fetal life.

Responsive element binding protein (CREB) and cAMP signaling is directly correlated to neurogenesis, differentiation, neuronal connectivity, and plasticity (112). Ethanol exposure disrupts the activity of adenylyl cyclase (AC) reducing cAMP/CREB signaling and therefore altering the differentiation processes during neurodevelopment (112). *In vivo* and *in vitro* studies have shown that acute alcohol exposure enhances agonist-stimulated AC catalytic activity, while chronic alcohol exposure produces adaptive changes in AC (113–115). Additionally, GSK3 $\beta$  over-expression in neural cells disrupts CNS maturation and differentiation processes in mouse at PND 60–120 (116).

The glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) is a growth factor necessary for the development, differentiation, proliferation, and function of midbrain dopaminergic neurons. The GDNF signaling pathway is initiated by the binding of GDNF to its co-receptor, GDNF family receptor-a 1 (GFRa1), which leads to the recruitment of the RET receptor tyrosine kinase. The activation of RET promotes the up-regulation of downstream signaling pathways such as ERK1/2 (117) and P13K (118), firing the activity of dopaminergic neurons. Moderate administration of alcohol increases GDNF expression, exerting a protective function against PAE. However, after acute (binge) ethanol exposure in rats, GDNF expression decreases and its protective function diminished (119). A recent study performed in adult rats exposed to alcohol showed a decrease in DNA methylation as the leading cause of GDNF epigenetic changes following alcohol exposure (120).

Alcohol has deleterious effects on astrocytes despite them being less susceptible than neurons to moderate alcohol consumption (121). Glial cell alterations due to PAE lead to changes in neuron-glia interactions, which causes developmental defects of the brain (122). Glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) is a biomarker of mature astrocytes commonly evaluated in differentiation processes during development. In vitro studies using primary cultures of astrocytes from 21-day old fetuses show initial increased values of GFAP levels post-ethanol exposure (123), although these GFAP values decrease after 3 weeks (123). GFAP levels in rat neonates have been shown to increase following ethanol exposure in different brain areas, e.g., the hippocampus, cerebellum, and cortex as per different administration routes (124-126). The results in in vitro models suggest different effects of ethanol on astrocytes depending on the neurodevelopmental stage. Moreover, some researchers have found increased GFAP expression associated to gliosis after chronic (moderate) and acute low ethanol exposures, in mice (127, 128). These results indicate a high risk of

neurodevelopmental disease in acute PAE or heavy drinkers. Conversely, no changes were observed in GFAP expression after low chronic ethanol exposure (127). S100ß is a classical biomarker astrocytes, as the expression levels of S100^β in these glial cells is very high. During neurite outgrowth, S100ß is also secreted by proliferating astrocytes from cortical neurons. The accumulation of this protein in mature glial cells is associated with microtubule network and neurotrophic activity (129). Reduced levels of S100ß were reported in mice after ethanol exposure (130), indicating a depletion in the number of proliferating astrocytes and an impairment in the differentiation processes. Otherwise, Sox2 and Oct4 transcription factors regulate the embryonic stem cell pluripotency and the fate of cell lineages by a narrow range of dose-effect (131). Excess of Oct4 compared to Sox2 leads cells to mesoendoderm differentiation, while the other way round, i.e., higher levels of Sox2, promotes neuroectoderm formation. Ethanol exposure of embryonic stem cells in early differentiation generates imbalances between Oct4 and Sox2, which modifies the cellular fate from neuroectoderm to mesoendoderm, altering the formation of the ectoderm lineage and its derived progenitors. The Oct4/Sox2 imbalance is considered one of the leading causes of developmental delay and anatomical disabilities of the CNS observed in FAS phenotypes (131).

#### **Synaptogenesis**

The developmental process of synaptogenesis involves biochemical and morphological changes in pre- and postsynaptic components. In rodents, maturation of synaptic connections occurs during the postnatal period (Figure 1) (132) and depends on the physicochemical compatibility of pre- and post-synaptic components and the exclusion of inadequate connections. Less harmful effects of alcohol exposure on synaptogenesis have been observed when administered after birth (54, 55), although during neuronal development ethanol seriously alters some mechanisms related to synaptogenesis (54, 55). In a study using a rat model in which individuals were exposed to ethanol 4 weeks before and during pregnancy, the ultrastructural analysis of the cerebellum at PND 7 showed a delayed synaptogenesis and immature appearance of the presynaptic grid (55). PAE affects the expression levels of synaptic proteins such as synapsin 1 and of other proteins of the pre-synaptic (GAP-43, synaptophysin, synaptotagmin) or post-synaptic machinery (MAP 2 and neurogranin). Moreover, ethanol interferes with the function of adhesion molecules such as NCAM (in chick embryo model) (133) and L1 (in mouse model) (134) involved in cell-cell interactions. During the neural processes of migration and morphogenesis, both proteins are involved in the organization and function of synaptic networks, which determine neuronal plasticity. Several studies in animal models (zebrafish) and cell cultures show decreased levels of NCAM after ethanol exposure (135, 136). In other studies, different patterns of NCAM expression were detected according to the developmental stage on which PAE occurs (133) or the NCAM isoform analyzed. For example, the highly sialylated form of NCAM is overexpressed after ethanol exposure but the NCAM 180 and NCAM 140 isoforms appear down-regulated in a rat model (137). Other studies in animal models (mice and rats) have shown down-regulation of L1 following ethanol exposure (134, 138).

#### **Gliogenesis and Myelination**

Glial cells provide nutrients and physical support to neurons and regulate the presence of different proteins and components in the extracellular fluid surrounding neurons and synapses in the brain. They are essential for a normal development and function of the central nervous system (139). Neuroblast migration occurs through a scaffold provided by radial glia (140). Microglia have macrophage functions and astrocytes preserve the ionic and trophic balance of the extracellular medium (141). Oligodendrocytes synthesize myelin, therefore, this cell lineage preserves the myelin sheath and provides trophic support (142). Schwann cells and oligodendrocytes are in charge of the isolation and myelination of neuronal axons (143). Oligodendrocyte progenitor cells proliferate and differentiate into mature oligodendrocytes capable of myelinogenesis (144). Thus, myelination begins later in neurodevelopment than other processes such as proliferation and migration and progresses throughout adolescence in rodents (145, 146). The development of these cell lineages occurs at the same time as neurogenesis in several areas of the central nervous system (141). These lineages are characterized by distinct developmental stages and sequential expression of different developmental biomarkers such as the nerve growth factor (NGF), neurotrophins (NT-3 and NT-4), the brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), and the IGF-1 and IGF-2 factors. The BDNF is one of the most studied neurotrophins. Alcohol alters the levels of BDNF and its receptor tyrosine kinase B (TrkB). PAE induces decreased levels of BDNF in the cortex and in the hippocampus in rats at PND 7-8 (147). Some studies in rats show that TrkB levels decrease in specific brain regions, e.g., in the hippocampus (147, 148) and increase in the cortex (148). The BDNF and its receptor are targets for ethanol damage. Consequently, imbalances between them may contribute to the development of FASD-like phenotypes, even in cases in which the levels of one of them remain unaltered. In general, the up-regulation of these neurotrophic factors show protective effects during development, promoting myelination, cell survival, and neural regeneration in pathological conditions (149).

Lancaster et al. showed that PAE reduces myelinogenesis and its persistence after birth in a rat model (56). Severe impairments in gliosis and a reduction of proteins related to myelin integrity (myelin-associated glycoprotein, myelin basic protein, myelin proteolipid protein, and myelin regulatory factor) was observed in male adult mice exposed to a binge (acute) pattern of PAE during gestation and lactation. This damage was followed by behavioral alterations in executive function and motor coordination (79). These changes could be associated to the behavioral disabilities observed in FASD individuals. It has also been shown that exposure to alcohol activates toll-like receptor 4 signaling pathways (MAPK, NF $\kappa$ B) in a mouse model, leading to an increased expression of pro-inflammatory mediators (COX-2, iNOS, HMGB1) and cytokines. Inflammation processes cause myelinogenesis imbalances, impairments in synaptic links, and activation of the cell death mechanism (150).

#### **Trophic Support**

CNS remodeling is a continuous process that not only takes place during development, but also throughout adulthood in response to environmental influences or genetically programmed events. Alcohol alters synaptic plasticity and neural function (151). Several proteins used as biomarkers participate in neural plasticity processes. Histone deacetylase 2 alters the GluN2A/GluN2B balance [the major subunits of functional N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors] through changes in GluN2B expression, which leads to memory-impairing effects (152). The neurotrophin family of proteins includes NGF, BDNF, NT-3, NT-4/5, and NT-6. It is well-known that NGF and BDNF play important roles in PAE and FASD pathogenesis. Various studies have shown that PAE disrupts neurotrophin pathways, thus affecting the organogenesis and development of brain structures in rodents (153, 154). NGF and BDNF exert their biological effects by activating some members of the tropomyosin-related kinase (Trk) family. NGF activates TrkA and BDNF binds to TrkB (155). Stressful events, neurological injuries, or neuroendocrine alterations in rats increase blood levels of NGF (156). Thus, NGF expression and the functional activity of NGF-target cells in the CNS are seriously affected by alcohol consumption. BDNF regulates neural cell survival and differentiation as well as several functions related to neural plasticity such as learning and memory (157). A recent study found that BDNF levels in the pre-frontal cortex were significantly lower in the group of mice treated with ethanol in comparison to the control group (158). The study concluded that the impairment in learning and memory observed in mice exposed to ethanol was associated to changes in BDNF levels. Stragier et al. showed that chronic and moderate alcohol consumption in C57BL/6J mice promotes a chromatinremodeling process, leading to up-regulation of BDNF signaling. The authors suggest that this epigenetic regulation is an adaptive process to balance cognitive disorders induced by alcohol (159). Another study in mouse observed a reduction in ethanol dependence after BDNF infusion in the pre-frontal cortex (160), evidencing that BDNF levels in specific brain areas play a role in alcohol dependence. Boehme et al. studied the changes produced by voluntary exercise in hippocampal BDNF levels. Ethanol was delivered by intragastric gavage during the three trimester equivalents and individuals had free access to voluntary exercise on a running wheel during adulthood. Results showed increased BDNF levels in young adult females after voluntary exercise (35). Recent studies suggest that matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9), a  $Zn(2)^+$  dependent extracellular endopeptidase, participates in neuronal plasticity, specifically in memory and learning (161, 162). Acute and chronic ethanol exposure up-regulates the MMP-9 levels in the brain, particularly in the medial pre-frontal cortex and hippocampus, in rats (163). The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is involved in the activity, plasticity and survival of microvessels. Mice prenatally exposed to alcohol have reduced cortical vascular density, affected microvascular structure, and altered expression of VEGF and its receptor. VEGF may prevent microvessel plasticity disorders and death. As a mouse model shows, PAE exerts its deleterious effects on the microvascular network, which suggests that vascular defects contribute to alcohol-induced brain injury (164). In vitro studies show that ethanol also alters the expression and function of IGF-I and IGF-II, leading to birth defects such as low head circumference at birth and microcephaly. These insulin-like growth factors are used by the organism as a general signal of cell survival, so that reduced IGF-I or IGF-II signaling by PAE in neurons activates cell death mechanisms by apoptosis or necrosis (165). Other biomarkers such as DYRK1A act as general inhibitors of neural plasticity. Its over-expression in different brain areas due to environmental insults or stress conditions reduces neural plasticity in neurons promoting cognitive problems and intellectual disability (166-168). Recent studies have demonstrated that some DYRK1A inhibitors such as the antioxidant Epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG) improve longterm outcomes related with memory and executive function in individuals with Down syndrome (166-168). Although it is currently under study, the inhibition of DYRK1A could improve the cognitive performance in pathologies associated to the loss of neuronal functions and plasticity, e.g., FASD, Autism, or Down Syndrome (169). Furthermore, EGCG increases NGF expression by downregulation MMP-9. These proteins have been associated with FASD alterations during neurodevelopment (170).

#### **Synaptic Plasticity**

Synaptic plasticity is the process through which long-term changes in synaptic communication occur (171).

Fontaine et al. studied the effect of prenatal exposure to ethanol in a rat model during the two trimester equivalent and PND 21-28 on long-term potentiation, long-term depression, and depotentiation in the medial perforant path input to the DG of the hippocampus. Impairment of long-term potentiation was seen in both males and females, while long-term depression was only observed in males. The results suggest that PAE causes sex specific impairment in synaptic plasticity in long-term depression (172). Wong et al. focused their study in the contribution of microglia in synaptic plasticity. Using a third trimester equivalent mice model, ethanol was injected following a binge-drinking pattern. The authors found a deficit in experience-dependent synaptic plasticity in the visual cortex with no correlation to microglial function (173). Shivakumar et al. administered ethanol to mice at PND 7, and showed that ethanol exposure produces epigenetic changes that inhibit the activation of several synaptic plasticity genes. Coadministration of trichostatin A prevents learning and memory disorders in adult mice (174).

PAE negatively affects synaptic plasticity. Epigenetic changes, as well as damage to the microglia, may partially explain synaptic plasticity disorders in FASD models.

#### Apoptosis

Apoptosis is a critical pathway in fetal neurodevelopment. Programmed cell death systematically removes a large number of neural precursors in embryonic structures formed during development. PAE activates and deregulates cell death mechanisms leading to the loss of cell lineages in the hippocampus, basal ganglia, or cerebellum and disappearance of critical structures in the brain such as the corpus callosum (57, 58). The activation of apoptosis is produced by an increase of reactive oxygen species (ROS) generated in ethanol metabolism (see section Oxidative Stress). ROS activate intrinsic and extrinsic apoptotic pathways, reducing the expression and function of the anti-apoptotic proteins Bcl-xL and Bcl-2 in a rat model (175). A study using a mouse model shows that the function of the pro-apoptotic effectors Bak and Bax is directly influenced by alcohol due to alterations in mitochondrial membrane fluidity and dysfunctions in mitochondrial respiration, which leads to the activation of the caspase cascade and subsequent generation of the active form of the effector caspase 3 (176). Consequently, some researchers have developed mitochondrial protective strategies to prevent alcohol-induced damage. Certain molecules, e.g., nicotinamide (177), can stabilize mitochondrial membranes while others, e.g., antioxidants, prevent mitochondrial dysfunction induced by the production of ROS following ethanol exposure, in mouse. In addition, ethanol activates specific cell death pathways. More specifically, ethanol induces the phosphorylation of c-jun N-terminal-kinase, a mitogen-activated protein kinase associated with apoptosis and GDNF may interfere with the activation of the c-jun N-terminalkinase molecular pathway to prevent ethanol-induced apoptosis. Unlike other neurotoxic substances, ethanol does not interfere with the phosphorylation of the extracellular signal-regulated kinases involved in the regulation of cell survival (178).

## PATHOPHYSIOLOGY

There are multiple pathological effects derived from alcohol exposure during fetal development depending on the studied organ, region and cell type, as well as the stage of pregnancy in which the fetus is exposed to ethanol (179). The following sections provide a detailed description of the teratogenic effects of PAE.

#### **Oxidative Stress**

Ethanol is metabolized in the liver of adult individuals via the alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH) and aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) families of enzymes (Figure 3), leading to moderate ROS production, e.g., hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) and hydroxyl radicals (OH-). ROS are eliminated by endogenous antioxidant mechanisms directed by catalase, superoxide dismutase (SOD) and the antioxidant molecule glutathione (GSH) (180). After a high intake of alcohol, the catalytic activity of ADH and ALDH becomes saturated and an alternative pathway mediated by the cytochrome P450 2E1 enzyme is up-regulated to metabolize ethanol to acetaldehyde, producing high amounts of ROS. ROS-sensing transcription factors, such as the nuclear erythroid 2-related factor 2, activate the oxidative stress response mechanisms when moderate levels of alcohol-derived ROS are present, up-regulating antioxidant enzymes and proteins involved in DNA repair. Imbalances between ROS-producing pathways (following PAE) vs. the endogenous antioxidant and DNA repair mechanisms promotes down-regulation of detoxification pathways (180, 181). The decrease of the



antioxidant system affects specific regions of the CNS such as the cerebellum, hippocampus and cortex, as well as the placenta (182, 183). The fetal brain is particularly sensitive to PAE because the ADH isoform expressed in this tissue during development is a class II isoenzyme ADH4. This isoform is less efficient for alcohol catabolism than other isoforms expressed in adults (184). The mechanisms involved in antioxidant response are physiologically downregulated during development (185-188), contributing to brain vulnerability by ethanol. The excess of ethanol also activates the lactate pathway in the fetal liver, generating a deficit of glucose in the bloodstream that affects especially the nervous tissues (189). Imbalances of ROS activate the mechanisms of inflammation (190) mediated by cytokines such as IL-6 or the NLRP3 inflammasome, a multi-protein intracellular complex responsible for processing and secreting the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-18 and IL-18 (191).

Tissue homeostasis is also affected by ROS (192), causing changes in critical cell functions as signal transduction related to the metabolism of macromolecules (lipids, proteins, RNA, and DNA) (190). AS an example, ROS promote the modification of 8-oxoguanine in DNA during embryogenesis (193, 194),

which is corrected by the enzyme oxoguanine glycosylase 1 (195). Calcium homeostasis and protein folding, modification and secretion in endoplasmic reticulum are also altered by ROS, as well as mitochondrial respiration, affecting its morphology and function. Moreover, activation of autophagy, programmed (apoptosis) and non-programmed (necrosis) cell death are also promoted by oxidative stress (192, 196, 197).

Some studies have assessed the long-term consequences of PAE on oxidative stress and the intracellular redox state. Dembele et al. found an relation between continuous administration of PAE with increased levels of oxidative stress in adult rats (PND 90), characterized by high levels of protein carbonyls, lipid peroxides, high expression of SOD, and low levels of GSH (198). Similar results have been reported by other authors, who showed an association between chronic PAE at different concentrations with increased levels of distinct oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation markers in adolescent and adult rodents (199, 200). Chu et al. found a correlation between PAE and apoptotic (p53) and DNA oxidation markers (8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine) in adult rats (200). Brocardo et al. reported depressive and anxietylike behaviors and high levels of lipid and protein peroxidation in adult rats (PND60) who were given ethanol throughout the three-trimester equivalents (201). Their findings also indicate an association between voluntary exercise, which increased the endogenous antioxidant pathways in brain, and the reduction of oxidative stress and depressive/anxiety-like behaviors. Similarly, binge drinking model of PAE (GD 17–18) increased the levels of lipid peroxidation and oxidative stress, apoptotic activation via caspase-3 activity, and DNA fragmentation, decreasing antioxidant molecules as GSH (202, 203).

#### **Dysregulation of the Neuroimmune System**

Ethanol exposure activates the innate neuroimmune system, causing brain damage and neurodegeneration (150, 204). Alcohol intake triggers the stimulation of microglia and astrocytes, promoting neuroinflammation with the consequent production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (e.g., TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-2, IL-6, IL-8, Il-10, IL-1RA, IFN- $\gamma$ , or MCP-1) (150, 204).

Toll-like receptor 4 and NOD-like receptors have an important function in glial cell stimulation and alcoholmediated neuroinflammation. Ethanol activates toll-like receptor 4 signaling pathways mediated by NFkB and MAPK, which leads to the up-regulation of cytokines and pro-inflammatory mediators such as HMGB1, COX-2, and iNOS (150). The activation of these inflammation pathways generate severe impairments on synaptic and myelin proteins as well as neural damage (150). Moreover, the increased caspase-3 activity in the prefrontal cortex indicates apoptotic cell death secondary to PAE-related neuroinflammation (205). Regarding myelination and white matter structure, PAE causes neuroimmune changes such as reductions in myelin-associated glycoprotein levels, myelin basic protein and myelin proteolipid protein. Alterations in oligodendrocytes that interfere in the myelination process affecting neural transmission and cognitive development have also been described (79, 205).

#### **Neurotransmitter Disorders**

Neuronal cells and neuroanatomical structures are particularly susceptible to toxic compounds during embryonic development, explained by the high sensitivity of the processes during brain formation. Neuronal damage triggers tissue degeneration by inflammation and massive cell death (apoptosis and necrosis) (182, 206). The loss of some progenitor cell lines seriously affects proliferation, migration, and differentiation of mature neuronal cells, essential to configure the distinct regions of the brain and make them functional (207). The high sensitivity to increases in oxidative stress is the main cause of cell death in these parental lineages. This occurs because they lack the molecules and enzymes required for an antioxidant response, i.e., catalase and superoxide dismutase (181). High levels of ROS affect the mitochondrial function in neurons and leads to the activation of apoptosis (208).

In a prenatal ethanol-exposed brain, differentiation from multipotent glial cells to astrocytes occurs prematurely, preventing the correct completion of migration processes (209). These astrocytes are therefore incorrectly located in the brain, causing motor, and cognitive disorders, promoting cell death of these neuronal groups and triggering harmful effects such as the agenesis of the corpus callosum (209). Moreover, primary cultures of hippocampal neurons exposed to ethanol show reduced levels of the glucose transporter GLU1 necessary for the correct growth and development of most cell types present in the brain whose main carbon source is glucose (210). Alcohol also alters the levels of neurotransmitters, namely serotonin, dopamine, and glutamate (211). Exposure to alcohol delays serotonin synthesis, blocking the stimulation of astrocytes and the release of the growth factors needed for proper neurodevelopment (212). Ethanol reduces the number of glutamate receptors (NMDA), which in turn affects other neurotransmitter routes generating important alterations in the transmission of nerve signals (213). The acetaldehyde produced by the metabolism of local ethanol in fetal hippocampus inhibits neurosteroid synthesis and blocks NMDA receptors in pyramidal neurons, contributing to synaptic dysfunction associated with severe alcohol intoxication (214). Furthermore, a recent in vitro study with rat brain slices exposed to 70 mM ethanol indicates that the combined overexpression of GABA receptors and inhibition of NMDA receptors results in alcohol-induced neurodegeneration during synaptogenesis (215). Consequently, the administration of single doses of an NMDA antagonist in Sprague Dawley rats causes apoptotic neurodegeneration in young animals, although no impairments were identified in adult individuals. Therefore, the NMDA antagonist acts on the CNS in a similar way ethanol does (216).

PAE has neuroapoptotic effects on the up-regulation of GABAergic transmission and deficit of NMDA receptors. The impairment produced by ethanol on developing neurons depends on the specific neural lineage and is age-dependent. A study performed in mice exposed to moderate amounts of alcohol showed that the subunits of NMDA receptors GluN1 and GluN3A are up-regulated after PAE in the DG. The study also found a decrease of GluN2B levels in the synaptic membrane (217).

#### **Epigenetic Modifications**

During fetal development, epigenetic mechanisms establish the whole pattern of gene expression for the tissues, organs and cell types that constitute the complete organism. These mechanisms involve the methylation of DNA, modifications of N-terminal tails in histones, and the regulation of micro and non-coding RNA.

In DNA methylation, methyl groups (CH₃), a product of folate metabolism, are added to the cytosines (C) present in the regions known as CpG islands of the DNA helix. This phenomenon is mediated by methyl-transferases (DNMT) and demethylases such as TET2 (218). DNMT3a and 3b set the complete genome expression patterns during fetal development and DNMT1 maintains this pattern in postnatal stages (219). Usually, the clusters of CpG islands match with promoter regions to regulate the expression of the genes involved in a specific pathway or signaling (220). In general, methylation is associated with gene silencing and demethylation with active transcription. Histones regulate the dynamics of chromatin in remodeling processes between heterochromatin, inaccessible to DNA polymerases, and the expanded chromatin (euchromatin) that allows gene expression. Histone structure and function is regulated through





different post-translational modifications in their N-terminal tail such as methylation, acetylation, and phosphorylation, mainly in the amino acids lysine, arginine, and serine. All these reversible modifications are carried out by different enzymes such as kinases, acetyl-transferases or methyl-transferases depending on the requirements of the cell (221). Otherwise, non-coding and microRNAs regulate protein translation and mRNA stability, acting post-transcriptionally as inhibitors of mRNA by direct interaction (222).

Ethanol and ROS can modify the activity of methyltransferases and demethylases, directly affecting the global DNA methylation pattern during development. A recent study performed in mice after PAE found 118 differentially methylated regions (DMRs) related to transcription factor binding sites (223). The pathways affected by these DMRs were epigenetic remodeling, hormonal signaling, metabolism, and immune response, revealing persistent occurrence of these alterations in all developmental stages (223). Demethylation following ethanol exposure causes a decrease in IGF-2 levels *in utero*, generating an important delay in growth and leading to skeletal malformations (224).

PAE influences the activity of enzymes such as histone acetyltransferase and histone deacetylase, which modify the composition of the amino-terminal tails in histones (225). Moreover, the acetylation of histones H3 and H4 has been directly related to alterations in the development of the cerebellum, cardiac defects, and hepatic damage (226, 227). Cantacorps et al. (228) showed that a binge PAE pattern in mice alters histone acetylation (lysine 5 and 12 in histone H4) in the pre-frontal cortex and the hippocampus. These long-term epigenetic modifications are associated with cognitive and behavioral impairments in offspring. Ethanol exposure alters the expression pattern during development, affecting

non-coding and microRNAs expression (229). PAE generates a decrease in the expression of miR135, miR9, miR21, and miR355. The absence and deregulation of these microRNAs generate early maturation of the progenitor stem cells and an increase in cell apoptosis, producing severe impairments in fetal brain development (230). The high variability of the described epigenetic changes is associated to the dose of ethanol received, the time of exposure and the gestational stage in which alcohol intake occurs.

### **DIAGNOSIS OF FASD**

PAE results in a wide range of phenotypic manifestations and behavioral deficits in the offspring we describe below.

#### **Craniofacial Anomalies**

The key facial features used for a clinical diagnosis of FAS in humans include short palpebral fissures, a thin upper vermilion, and a smooth philtrum (231). Considering previous studies in humans (232, 233), Fang et al. described, for first time in 2009, a validated facial image analysis method based on a multiangle image classification using micro-video images of mouse embryos. This method, validated later by other researchers, allows discerning between embryos that have been exposed or not to ethanol (232, 233). Rodents provide not only a validated model to study how PAE alters morphogenetic processes, but it also allows making an association between a facial feature alteration and the structure/function in the CNS.

Alcohol exposure during essential periods of embryonic development results in craniofacial dysmorphology (Figure 4). Several studies have used chick and murine PAE models to demonstrate the correlation between craniofacial anomalies,

apoptosis induction, and altered migration of neural crest cells (234–236). A series of facial anomalies may present in FASD associated to PAE during the premigratory period of neural crest cells (**Figure 2**). At this stage, ethanol induces calcium transients that activate CaMKII that mediates the loss of transcriptionally active  $\beta$ -catenin, which produces the apoptosis of populations of neural crest cells. Genetic factors play an important role in the vulnerability to alcohol-induced craniofacial dysmorphology. Sonic Hedgehog signaling, platelet-derived growth factor subunit A, Vang-like protein 2, or ribosomal biogenesis genes are of special importance in neural crest development (237). Studies using FASD-like phenotype rodent models, in which dose and timing of ethanol exposure is controlled, show structural alterations in head and face (238, 239) similar to anomalies observed in humans (240).

Several studies have examined the craniofacial anomalies in FASD-like rodent models. According to Godin et al., intraperitoneal administration of two injections of ethanol at 2.9 g/Kg in mice on GD 7 (equivalent to post-fertilization week 3 in humans), generates a series of facial dysmorphologies similar to those seen in FAS children. These defects include median facial cleft, cleft palate, micrognathia, pituitary agenesis, and third ventricular dilatation and heterotopias (33). However, intraperitoneal alcohol exposure of two 25% dosages of ethanol at 2.9 g/Kg delayed to GD 8.5 in mice produces a different pattern of dysmorphologies such as shortening of the palpebral fissures, mild hypoplasia and shortened upper lip, but a preserved philtrum (60). Variations in FAS-like facial phenotypes depend on exposure timing, implying different facial features when considering this variable (Figure 2). New techniques for FASD diagnosis include methods to identify potentially at-risk individuals based on the identification of subtle and subclinical facial characteristics (241). Scientists have developed a computerized system for detecting facial characteristics using three-dimensional facial imaging and computer-based densesurface modeling (241, 242). This approach has been compared against standard dysmorphology physical examination for FAS diagnosis revealing high similarities (243). More recently, new techniques based on MicroCT 3D scan performed on pups prenatally exposed to alcohol have been developed (244). This method showed that craniofacial bones might be a reliable and sensitive indicator of PAE in mouse pups exposed to 4.2% alcohol v/v for 2 weeks before the pregnancy and GD 7-16. The same study also confirmed that the neurocranium (cranial skeleton) is more sensitive to alcohol than the viscerocranium (facial skeleton). Other researchers characterized concurrent face-brain phenotypes in mouse fetuses exposed to two 25% intraperitoneal dosages of ethanol at 2.9 g/Kg on GD 7 or GD 8.5 and using MRI imaging and dense surface modelingbased shape analysis (60). Differences in facial phenotype linked to GD of ethanol exposure were found, being more subtle when the exposure was on GD 8.5. Both phenotypes were associated with unique volumetric and shape abnormalities of the septal region, pituitary, and olfactory bulbs. These findings illustrate the need of increasing the current diagnostic criteria to better capture the full range of facial and brain dysmorphology in FASD.

#### **Brain and Neurobehavioral Deficits**

Brain organogenesis is the most severely affected process by alcohol exposure (245) and there is a general consensus in relation to the effects of PAE on the hippocampus, cerebellum, and the *corpus callosum* (246, 247). Important asymmetry of the hippocampus is observed in FAS children, with the left lobe being smaller than the right lobe (8). The cerebellum, associated with balance, coordination and learning capacity, and the anterior part of the vermis develop hypoplasia when exposed to ethanol (7).

The corpus callosum is particularly vulnerable to ethanol exposure and, in some cases, may lead to total (agenesis) or partial (hypoplasia) loss of structure (248). The most affected areas of the corpus callosum areas are the front (genu) and back (splenium and isthmus), appearing smaller and displaced from the usual spatial location in the brain (6). Basal ganglia is responsible for motor and cognitive abilities, presenting a smaller size in patients with FAS, particularly the area of the caudal nucleus associated to cognitive abilities such as spatial capacity (249). A recent study using three-dimensional surface MRI techniques showed abnormalities in the cortical folding (gyrification) of FASD children. These findings are directly correlated with IQ (250). Future research with MRI techniques to evaluate rodent gyrification may prove to be useful to increase the knowledge on the relationship between cortical development involvement and cognitive disorders in humans.

Broadly, the timing of the ethanol exposure (251) has a clear impact on the CNS and elicits specific brain and behavioral deficits and disorders in motor and cognitive functions (14) (**Figure 2**).

Different standardized tests in rodents have been used to assess FASD-related abnormalities. As the hippocampus is one of the most damages structures when exposed to ethanol, most studies assessed hippocampal function. Spatial learning is commonly evaluated to demonstrate hippocampal disorders (45, 79, 252). Different authors describe longterm motor coordination impairments, learning and memory deficiencies in adult male mice prenatally exposed to alcohol (79), behavioral effects in rats following short-term PAE (253), or depressive-like behaviors in adult rats exposed to ethanol across the three-trimester equivalents (201). To identify the outcomes of gestational alcohol exposure, a summary of behavioral characteristics after alcohol exposure is needed. **Table 2** summarizes the standardized behavioral tests used in rodents to analyze the harmful effects of PAE.

#### **Fetal Growth Restriction**

Ethanol interference with maternal nutrition may differ. As a source of energy, alcohol blocks the absorption of other nutrients, including proteins, and hinders intestinal transport of essential nutrients. Due to its effects on liver, alcohol causes metabolic and nutrient utilization alterations. PAE causes maternal nutritional deficiencies that result in fetal growth deficiencies (26).

PAE also impairs placental angiogenesis (269) and consequently fetal growth restriction (FGR) (270). The growth curves defined by Dilworth et al. are a useful tool to define the frequency distribution of mouse weight. Any fetus with a weight below the fifth centile was considered growth restricted (68).

TABLE 2 | Standardized experimental methodologies for assessing behavioral effects of prenatal alcohol exposure in murine models.

Skills affected by PAE	Disorders	Behavioral test	Description
Motor skills Cerebellum (Purkinje cells) (254)	Motor hyperactivity, poor motor coordination, altered accuracy of saccadic eye movements, and deficits in postural balance are impaired motor skills observed in individuals exposed to ethanol during early life. PAE-related motor deficits are more apparent in early life than in adulthood.	The rotarod (79)	For this test, a bar that can rotate at an accelerated or a fixed speed is used. The latency of the fall of the rodent placed in the bar is measured. Measurements provide an idea of motor coordination.
		Swimming test (255)	It consists of a Perspex tank where rodents are placed and must swim to an escape platform. The sequence is recorded and later analyzed to assess the latency to reach the platform and the number of fore and hind limb strokes.
		Raised beam test	Rodents are placed on the bar and their ability to cross it is measured along with paw slips and traverse time. It provides an indication of their balance.
		Footprint analysis	After their paws are painted or dipped in ink, rodents leave a trail of footprints when they walk or run along a corridor to a goal box. Measurements of stride length, base width, and fore and hind paws overlap give an indication of gait. Automated versions of the task use video processing of footage taken from below the rodents.
Learning and memory Hippocampus (dentate gyrus) (256, 257)	Hippocampal cell loss, altered neuronal morphology, decreased synaptic density, and reduced trophic support.	Simple maze task (258, 259)	A T-maze (or the variant Y-maze) is a simple maze used in animal cognition experiments. It is shaped like the letter T (or Y), providing the subject, typically a rodent, with a straightforward choice. T-mazes are used to study how rodents function with memory and spatial learning by applying different stimuli. The different tasks, such as left-right discrimination and forced alternation, are mainly used with rodents to test reference and working memory.
		Morris water maze (71, 252)	MWM is a test of spatial learning for rodents that relies on distal cues to navigate from a start point around the perimeter of an open swimming box to locate a submerged escape platform. The test allows measuring spatial learning and reference memory.
		Fear conditioning (260)	This test is a form of Pavlovian learning based on the conditioning of an innate response to fear consisting in a complete lack of movements. During an initial phase, the animal is exposed to a conditioned stimulus paired with an aversive experience (unconditioned stimulus). The test measures the fear response in mice replaced in the same location with and without the previous stimulus.
		Object recognition (79, 261)	In an initial session, the rodent is presented with two similar objects. One of the objects is replaced by a new object in the second session. The test measures the amount of time taken to explore the new object.

(Continued)

16

#### TABLE 1 | Continued

Skills affected by PAE	Disorders	Behavioral test	Description
Executive function frontal cortex and extra-frontal cortex (262)	Disorders in cognitive control of behavior, including basic cognitive processes such as attentional control, cognitive inhibition, inhibitory control, working memory, and cognitive flexibility.	Passive avoidance (263)	Mice learn to inhibit the natural tendency to explore new environments where a negative stimulus was previously obtained. The test consists of a chamber divided in two compartments separated by a gate. Animals are allowed to explore both compartments in the initial phase. In the following phase, they obtain a negative stimulus in one of the compartments. Animals will learn to associate certain properties of the chamber with the negative stimulus. The test measures the latency to cross the gate between the two compartments when the animal is placed in the compartment where no aversive stimulus were obtained.
		Simple maze task (258, 259)	See description in learning and memory.
		Morris water maze (71, 252, 264)	See description in learning and memory.
		Prepulse inhibition (265)	PPI is a neurological phenomenon in which a soft pre-stimulus (pre-pulse) inhibits the reaction of the animal to a subsequent strong stimulus (pulse) often using the startle reflex. Stimuli may be acoustic, tactile, or luminous.
Social behavior (251)	Poor social skills and inappropriate social interactions.	Observation (251)	Feeding difficulties in neonates and lack of parental care. Aggressive behaviors in adults and reversed behaviors between males and females.
Affective behavior (201)	Anxiety- and depressive-like behaviors (201)	Elevated-plus maze (266)	The device is made up of open arms and closed arms, crossed in the middle perpendicularly to each other. Mice have access to all of the arms. The number of entries into the open arms and the time spent in each arm are used as a measure of anxiety-like behavior.
		Forced-swim test (267)	The test is based on the assumption that an animal placed in a container filled with water will try to escape. However, it will eventually exhibit immobility that may be considered a measure of depressive-like behavior.
Olfaction (253)	Injury of the olfactory circuits.	Classical conditioning tasks (268)	An odor is paired with a tempting or aversive stimulus and the response of the animal to the odor is followed by the tester.

PAE, prenatal alcohol exposure.

Middaugh et al. characterized the impaired growth of C57BL/6 mice prenatally exposed to alcohol (271) showing the influence of alcohol on fetal growth when administered in the second and third trimester equivalents (271, 272).

Other authors have described the effects of ethanol on trophoblasts and placental permeability. Gundogan showed an altered branching morphogenesis in the labyrinthine zone and the suppression of invasive trophoblastic precursors. This altered process compromised fetal growth and placentation in a doseresponse manner (69). The permeability inducer VEGF was up-regulated in mouse placenta after acute alcohol exposure. Permeability was also affected by altered structures in the barriers that separate feto-maternal blood circulation (273). Therefore, altered growth factors in conjunction with malformations of the placental barrier may contribute to placental malfunction and permeability alterations in the feto-maternal barrier.

#### **Biomarkers for PAE**

A biomarker is objectively measured and assessed as an indicator of a normal biological or pathogenic process, or a pharmacologic response to a therapeutic intervention (274). Here we will use the term biomarker as the molecular or genetic indicator that identifies prenatal exposure to ethanol. In murine models, the researcher controls the dose and timing of alcohol exposure and eliminates other variables (e.g., other drugs) that may skew the results. This, and the possibility of getting multiple matrices from the rodents, will allow to obtain appropriate biomarkers for PAE detection.

Some authors have demonstrated a significant decrease of alpha-fetoprotein, a perinatal stress biomarker, in the amniotic fluid of B6J litters exposed to alcohol on Day 8 of gestation, although no differences were found in the B6N substrain (275). Other biomarkers, such as fatty acid ethyl esters (FAEEs), a product of non-oxidative ethanol metabolism and a validated biomarker for PAE, have been detected in mouse heart, liver, placenta, and fetal tissues, 1 h after maternal ethanol exposure. FAEEs were shown to persist for at least seven days in the placenta of the mice and at least 14 days in fetal rat organs (276). Unfortunately, FAEEs cannot be measured in neonatal rodents due to the lack of neonatal hair. By contrast, guinea pigs allow a good approximation since they are born with hair (277). Some authors have shown that FAEE concentrations in exposed offspring samples taken at PND 1 were more than 15-fold higher than their control counterparts (278).

On the other hand, changes in selective neurotransmitters from fetal brains of prenatal alcohol-treated C57BL/6 mice were also observed. Authors showed significant reductions in dopamine, norepinephrine, epinephrine, serotonin, and GABA levels in E13 fetal brains. These results would explain the main causes of abnormalities in brain function and behavior found in fetal alcohol spectrum disorders (279).

In recent years, epigenetic studies in rodents highlight the potential of DNA methylation, histone modification, or noncoding RNA species as biomarkers of PAE. Most of these studies have evaluated general changes for each epigenetic modification. DNA methylation has been the most analyzed marker for PAEinduced epigenetic dysregulation, showing that PAE promotes a global pattern of hypomethylation on fetal DNA during pregnancy affecting critical genes such as bdnf (280). Haycock et al. demonstrated that genomic imprinting was also deregulated by PAE, in mouse embryos (281). Low levels of igf2 expression correlates with PAE due to a specific CpG hypomethylation found in its promoter region (224). Pomc expression in neurons, related to stress response, is also reduced by CpG hypermethylation in its promoter (282). The authors suggest that this alteration can be transmitted to offspring, raising the hypothesis that the effect of PAE not only occurs when the fetus is exposed to alcohol but also throughout its whole life and future progeny. Hence, the use of these epigenetic changes using CpG methylations as biomarkers of PAE may be a challenge to consider.

Regarding histone modifications, several studies have found PAE-specific alterations on PAE on H3K9ac, H3K4me2, H3K27me3, and H3K9me2, particularly in the brain. These changes are related to alcohol response mechanisms, e.g., H3K9ac, which has been shown to increase after PAE downregulates genes related to alcohol response (283, 284). Moreover, the increase of H3K4me2 promotes the up-regulation of genes related to alcohol response (284). A general increase of H3K27me2 was observed in the brain in response to PAE (285), more specifically in the hippocampus and neocortex. H3K9me2 also increased after alcohol exposure suggesting persistent alterations in the expression pattern for a long period, and as such has it being considered as a potential biomarker of PAE (286).

Alterations in non-coding RNA expression following PAE have been assessed in rodents. Results show that PAE causes the suppression of several miRNA such as miR-21 and miR335 in fetal neuronal and progenitor stem cells (230, 287). PAE also suppresses the expression of miR-9 and miR-153 and increases the levels of miR-10a during pregnancy (287, 288). Similar results have been reported in zebrafish after PAE (289) and in a rodent model of alcohol use disorder (290). However, due to the heterogeneity, the low reproducibility and the lack of correlations in the results from the different studies, no consensus has been reached for non-coding RNA, showing the complexity of epigenetic interactions when they are altered by PAE.

Animal models play an important role in the identification and validation of new candidate biomarkers, e.g., selective neurotrasmitters, igf1, igf2, and miRNA. In humans, only the direct biomarkers fatty acid FAEEs, ethyl glucuronide, ethyl sulfate, and phosphatidylethanol in biological matrices are validated to detect PAE (291). The low levels of igf2 expression after PAE (224) in mouse are in line with the results of a recent publication that compared the levels of IGF I and IGF II in the FASD pediatric population with children objectively non-exposed to ethanol (292). These results highlight the potential use of IGF-I and IGF-II as surrogate biomarkers of the damage induced by PAE. Furthermore, BDNF levels in rodent models are known to be disrupted during acute/chronic and prenatal alcohol consumption (293). Thus, changes of BDNF levels in the meconium, cord blood, or in the mother's/infant's serum are used as potential biomarkers of PAE in humans based on rodents results (293, 294). Moreover, magnetic resonance spectroscopy studies in rodents have shown that neurotransmitter biomarkers of FAS including choline, acetyl choline, N-acetyl aspartate, and glutamate, a precursor for the synthesis of GABA, are significantly reduced in FAS (295). Reduced levels of glutamate, taurine, and N-methyl D-aspartic acid receptor have also been observed in FAS children (296, 297). PAE alters the methionine-homocysteine pathway in rodents and humans. Thus, s-adenosylmethionine, which acts as donor of methyl groups to DNA methylases, may be a promising clinical biomarker of FASD (298).

#### DISCUSSION

FASD is a growing problem in our society. Diagnostic difficulties, limited knowledge on the underlying mechanisms of ethanol toxicity, and absence of effective strategies to treat this pathology is a serious medical matter. There is a wide range of FASDlike animal models, and researchers must be very precise and choose the one that suits best the objective of the study. Invertebrates and simple vertebrates allow alcohol exposure and the assessment of physical malformations and simple behaviors at different developmental periods (299). However,

when studying brain structures or complex behaviors, mammals offer significant advantages compared to the above mentioned models (19). Further insights on FASD is possible with murine models as they allow evaluating the specificity of dose-dependent alcohol teratogenic effects, the timing and developmental stage of fetuses, brain structures, and complex behaviors. Rodents are useful for exploring promising treatments that may help minimize the effects of PAE. C57BL/6 mice are one of the most commonly used mammals in FASD research because they are easy to handle when searching for malformations or complex behaviors after alcohol exposure. A wide range of precise methodologies and experimental protocols have been performed using these animal models. In this review, we have described and compared these protocols to provide a framework that allows researchers to make the correct choice of animal model in their research project.

Rodents and humans have similar stages of brain development, differing in birth timing. The third trimester equivalent in rodents is postnatal. It seems clear that facial dysmorphology appears when ethanol exposure occurs during first trimester equivalent (33, 60, 236, 300). However, it is difficult to establish the optimal period for ethanol exposure when brain and behavioral alterations are explored, because brain developmental processes occur continuously throughout the second and third trimester equivalent. The criteria to choose an appropriate FAS-like model will depend on the experimental design and research questions, for which different patterns of alcohol exposure, tissue analysis, molecular mechanisms, or cell types assessment will be needed.

The pattern of ethanol exposure and dosages are important parameters. Some studies support the hypothesis that a lower daily dose of alcohol administered in a binge-like pattern results in lower brain weight and greater cell loss than a higher daily dose administered in a non-binge-like pattern, as binge-like patterns lead to higher BAC peaks (24, 301).

It is essential to identify FASD manifestations in the experimental models to reach the objectives of the research. Different biomarkers are involved in the distinct stages of brain development (summarized in Figure 1), which can be of help when studying the effects of ethanol intake during pregnancy. FAS biomarkers are useful to evaluate the effects of experimental therapies. There is a wide spectrum of techniques to assess facial dysmorphology, e.g., the validated facial image analysis method based on a multi-angle image classification using micro-video images of mouse embryos (233), and other experimental novel techniques based on MicroCT 3D (244). To assess neurodevelopment and behavior of FASD-like rodent models, several standardized behavioral measurements have been described (302, 303) (summarized in Table 2), which allow evaluating the different spheres affected by PAE. When choosing the most appropriate test, the skills the researcher wants to analyze must be taken into consideration. The Morris water maze allows an accurate evaluation of a set of cognitive and motor behaviors affected by PAE. It is necessary to underline the existence of other useful alternatives to evaluate these behaviors.

Fetal growth is impaired by the harmful effects alcohol exerts on angiogenesis. Fetal growth restriction may be evaluated through standardized fetal measurements in defined frequency distribution curves (68), or by assessing the placenta using biomarkers and histopathological analysis.

The use of animal models results essential in pre-clinical studies to evaluate the toxicity of potential pharmacological tools. Animal models also provide an insight into the molecular mechanisms altered by alcohol as per the developmental timing of exposure, pattern of exposure, and dosage. Thus, any experimental breakthrough may be directly applied in clinical care to improve the diagnosis and treatment of FASD patients.

This review contains updated information on FAS-like model in rodents, aiming to be a useful reference for researchers working with FASD-like murine models. This is not a systematic review, although we have performed an in-depth narrative review on the topic. We have reviewed methodologies and protocols as per the objectives of the study in order to obtain robust conclusions for future studies. This work will facilitate decision-making when designing a FASD experiment in rodents by exploring and summarizing the currently available information on prenatal alcohol effects in each pregnancy equivalent trimester.

Additional knowledge on cellular, biochemical, genetic and molecular mechanisms, and pathways altered by PAE is necessary. This will allow further experimental research with murine models aiming to improve diagnostic strategies, prevention and treatment for alcohol-related problems.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

LA and VA-F drafted the initial manuscript and conceptualized the topics, tables, and figures. MG-R, OG-A, VA-F, and LM conceptualized, designed, and coordinated the review. EN-T, LA, RA-L, and MS-D revised the different versions of the manuscript and prepared the figures and tables. All authors critically reviewed the manuscript and approved the final version for publication.

# FUNDING

This work was supported by Red de Salud Materno-Infantil y del Desarrollo (SAMID) (RD12/0026/0003 and RD16/0022/0002) from Instituto de Salud Carlos III and the PI15/01179 grant from Instituto de Salud Carlos III.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

English language review/editing supplied by Dainora Jaloveckas (Ciencia Traducida—https://cienciatrad.wordpress.com/). We also want to thank Mrs. Luisa Martínez Colom for her support.

# REFERENCES

- Lemoine P, Harousseau H, Borteyru JP, Menuet JC. Les enfants des parents alcoholiques : anomolies observees à propos de 127 cas (The children of alcoholic parents: anomalies observed in 127 cases). *Quest Med.* (1968) 25:476–82. doi: 10.1097/00007691-200304000-00002
- 2. Jones K, Smith D. Recognition of the fetal alcohol syndrome in early infancy. *Lancet.* (1973) 302:999–1001. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(73)91092-1
- Sokol RJ, Delaney-Black V, Nordstrom B. Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. JAMA. (2003) 290:2996–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.290.22.2996
- Sampson PD, Streissguth AP, Bookstein FL, Little RE, Clarren SK, Dehaene P, et al. Incidence of fetal alcohol syndrome and prevalence of alcohol-related neurodevelopmental disorder. *Teratology*. (1997) 56:317–26. doi: 10.1002/ (SICI)1096-9926(199711)56:5<317::AID-TERA5>3.0.CO;2-U
- Hoyme HE, Kalberg WO, Elliott AJ, Blankenship J, Buckley D, Marais A-S, et al. Updated clinical guidelines for diagnosing fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. *Pediatrics*. (2016) 138:e20154256. doi: 10.1542/peds.2015-4256
- Sowell ER, Mattson SN, Thompson PM, Jernigan TL, Riley EP, Toga AW. Mapping callosal morphology and cognitive correlates: effects of heavy prenatal alcohol exposure. *Neurology*. (2001) 57:235–44. doi: 10.1212/WNL.57.2.235
- Sowell ER, Jernigan TL, Mattson SN, Riley EP, Sobel DF, Jones KL. Abnormal development of the cerebellar vermis in children prenatally exposed to alcohol: size reduction in lobules I-V. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (1996) 20:31– 4. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.1996.tb01039.x
- Riikonen R, Salonen I, Partanen K, Verho S. Brain perfusion SPECT and MRI in foetal alcohol syndrome. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (1999) 41:652– 9. doi: 10.1017/S0012162299001358
- Riley EP, Court A, Diego S, Warren KR. Fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: an overview. *Neuropsychol Rev.* (2011) 21:73–80. doi: 10.1007/s11065-011-9166-x
- May PA, Gossage JP. Estimating the prevalence of fetal alcohol syndrome a summary. Alcohol Res Heal. (2001) 25:159–67.
- Lange S, Probst C, Gmel G, Rehm J, Burd L, Popova S. Global prevalence of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder among children and youth: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2017) 171:948– 56. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2017.1919
- Cowan AE. Syndromes of intellectual disability. In: Gentile JP, Cowan AED, Editors. *Guide to Intellectual Disabilities*. Springer International Publishing. (2019). p. 203–13. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-04456-5_15
- Popova S, Lange S, Probst C, Gmel G, Rehm J. Estimation of national, regional, and global prevalence of alcohol use during pregnancy and fetal alcohol syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Glob Heal*. (2017) 5:e290–9. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(17)30021-9
- Marquardt K, Brigman JL. The impact of prenatal alcohol exposure on social, cognitive and affective behavioral domains: insights from rodent models. *Alcohol.* (2016) 51:1–15. doi: 10.1016/j.alcohol.2015.12.002
- Davis JR, Li Y, Rankin CH. Effects of developmental exposure to ethanol on caenorhabditis elegans. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (2008) 32:853– 67. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2008.00639.x
- Meyers JR. Zebrafish: development of a vertebrate model organism. Curr Protoc Essent Lab Tech. (2018) 16:e19. doi: 10.1002/cpet.19
- Ali S, Champagne DL, Spaink HP, Richardson MK. Zebrafish embryos and larvae: a new generation of disease models and drug screens. *Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today Rev.* (2011) 93:115–33. doi: 10.1002/bdrc.20206
- Loucks E, Ahlgren S. Assessing teratogenic changes in a zebrafish model of fetal alcohol exposure. J Vis Exp. (2012) 61:3704. doi: 10.3791/3704
- Schneider ML, Moore CF, Adkins MM. The effects of prenatal alcohol exposure on behavior: rodent and primate studies. *Neuropsychol Rev.* (2011) 21:186–203. doi: 10.1007/s11065-011-9168-8
- Boehm SL, Lundahl KR, Caldwell J, Gilliam DM. Ethanol teratogenesis in the C57BL/6J, DBA/2J, and A/J inbred mouse strains. *Alcohol.* (1997) 14:389–95. doi: 10.1016/S0741-8329(97)87950-5
- 21. Sulik K, Johnston M, Webb M. Fetal alcohol syndrome: embryogenesis in a mouse model. *Science*. (1981) 214:936–8. doi: 10.1126/science.6795717
- Yoneyama N, Crabbe JC, Ford MM, Murillo A, Finn DA. Voluntary ethanol consumption in 22 inbred mouse strains. *Alcohol.* (2008) 42:149– 60. doi: 10.1016/j.alcohol.2007.12.006

- 23. Kelly SJ, Pierce DR, West JR. Microencephaly and hyperactivity in adult rats can be induced by neonatal exposure to high blood alcohol concentrations. *Exp Neurol.* (1987) 96:580–93. doi: 10.1016/0014-4886(87)90220-2
- 24. Bonthius DJ, West JR. Alcohol-induced neuronal loss in developing rats: increased brain damage with binge exposure. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (1990) 14:107–18. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.1990.tb00455.x
- Dreosti IE. Nutritional factors underlying the expression of the fetal alcohol syndrome. Ann N Y Acad Sci. (1993) 678:193–204. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1993.tb26122.x
- Fisher SE. Selective fetal malnutrition: the fetal alcohol syndrome. J Am Coll Nutr. (1988) 7:101–6. doi: 10.1080/07315724.1988.10720225
- Sebastiani G, Borrás-Novell C, Casanova MA, Tutusaus MP, Martínez SF, Roig MDG, et al. The effects of alcohol and drugs of abuse on maternal nutritional profile during pregnancy. *Nutrients.* (2018) 10:1008. doi: 10.3390/nu10081008
- Berman RF, Hannigan JH. Effects of prenatal alcohol exposure on the hippocampus: Spatial behavior, electrophysiology, and neuroanatomy. *Hippocampus*. (2000) 10:94–110. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1098-1063(2000)10:1<94::AID-HIPO11>3.0.CO;2-T
- Gil-Mohapel J, Boehme F, Patten A, Cox A, Kainer L, Giles E, et al. Altered adult hippocampal neuronal maturation in a rat model of fetal alcohol syndrome. *Brain Res.* (2011) 1384:29–41. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2011.01.116
- Kleiber ML, Wright E, Singh SM. Maternal voluntary drinking in C57BL/6J mice: advancing a model for fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. *Behav Brain Res.* (2011) 223:376–87. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2011.05.005
- Choi IY, Allan AM, Cunningham LA. Moderate fetal alcohol exposure impairs the neurogenic response to an enriched environment in adult mice. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (2005) 29:2053–62. doi: 10.1097/01.alc.0000187037.02670.59
- 32. Pal N, Alkana RL. Use of inhalation to study the effect of ethanol and ethanol dependence on neonatal mouse development without maternal separation: a preliminary study. *Life Sci.* (1997) 61:1269– 81. doi: 10.1016/S0024-3205(97)00672-3
- 33. Godin EA, O'Leary-Moore SK, Khan AA, Parnell SE, Ament JJ, Dehart DB, et al. Magnetic resonance microscopy defines ethanol-induced brain abnormalities in prenatal mice: effects of acute insult on gestational day 7. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. (2010) 34:98–111. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2009.01071.x
- Beierle EA, Chen MK, Hartwich JE, Iyengar M, Dai W, Li N, et al. Artificial rearing of mouse pups: development of a mouse pup in a cup model. *Pediatr Res.* (2004) 56:250–5. doi: 10.1203/01.PDR.0000132753.81333.39
- 35. Boehme F, Gil-Mohapel J, Cox A, Patten A, Giles E, Brocardo PS, et al. Voluntary exercise induces adult hippocampal neurogenesis and BDNF expression in a rodent model of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. *Eur J Neurosci.* (2011) 33:1799–811. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2011.07676.x
- Allan AM, Chynoweth J, Tyler LA, Caldwell KK. A mouse model of prenatal ethanol exposure using a voluntary drinking paradigm. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (2003) 27:2009–16. doi: 10.1097/01.ALC.0000100940.95053.72
- Lieber CS, DeCarli LM. The feeding of alcohol in liquid diets: two decades of applications and 1982 update. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (1982) 6:523– 31. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.1982.tb05017.x
- Cassells B, Wainwright P, Blom K. Heredity and alcohol-induced brain anomalies: effects of alcohol on anomalous prenatal development of the corpus callosum and anterior commissure in BALB c and C57BL 6 mice. *Exp Neurol.* (1987) 95:587–604. doi: 10.1016/0014-4886(87)90301-3
- Thiele TE, Crabbe JC, Boehm SL. Drinking in the dark (DID): a simple mouse model of binge-like alcohol intake. *Curr Protoc Neurosci.* (2014) 68:9491. doi: 10.1002/0471142301.ns0949s68
- Bertola A, Mathews S, Ki SH, Wang H, Gao B. Mouse model of chronic and binge ethanol feeding (the NIAAA model). *Nat Protoc.* (2013) 8:627– 37. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2013.032
- Sidhu H, Kreifeldt M, Contet C. Affective disturbances during withdrawal from chronic intermittent ethanol inhalation in C57BL/6J and DBA/2J male mice. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (2018) 42:1281–90. doi: 10.1111/acer.13760
- Maldonado-Devincci AM, Kampov-Polevoi A, McKinley RE, Morrow DH, O'Buckley TK, Morrow AL. Chronic intermittent ethanol exposure alters stress effects on (3α,5α)-3-hydroxy-pregnan-20-one (3α,5α-THP) immunolabeling of amygdala neurons in C57BL/6J

Mice. Front Cell Neurosci. (2016) 10:40. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2016. 00040

- Webster WS, Walsh DA, McEwen SE, Lipson AH. Some teratogenic properties of ethanol and acetaldehyde in C57BL/6J mice: implications for the study of the fetal alcohol syndrome. *Teratology.* (1983) 27:231– 43. doi: 10.1002/tera.1420270211
- Bonthius DJ, West JR. Blood alcohol concentration and microencephaly: a dose-response study in the neonatal rat. *Teratology*. (1988) 37:223– 31. doi: 10.1002/tera.1420370307
- Gil-Mohapel J, Boehme F, Kainer L, Christie BR. Hippocampal cell loss and neurogenesis after fetal alcohol exposure: Insights from different rodent models. *Brain Res Rev.* (2010) 64:283– 303. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2010.04.011
- 46. Abel EL. Alcohol-induced changes in blood gases, glucose, and lactate in pregnant and nonpregnant rats. *Alcohol.* (1996) 13:281–5. doi: 10.1016/0741-8329(95)02056-X
- Hannigan JH. What research with animals is telling us about alcohol-related neurodevelopmental disorder. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav.* (1996) 55:489– 99. doi: 10.1016/S0091-3057(96)00251-1
- Zailer E, Diehl BWK. Alternative determination of blood alcohol concentration by 1H NMR spectroscopy. J Pharm Biomed Anal. (2016) 119:59–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jpba.2015.11.030
- Serbus DC, Young MW, Light KE. Blood ethanol concentrations following intragastric intubation of neonatal rat pups. *Neurobehav Toxicol Teratol.* (1986) 8:403–6.
- Livy DJ, Parnell SE, West JR. Blood ethanol concentration profiles: a comparison between rats and mice. *Alcohol.* (2003) 29:165–71. doi: 10.1016/S0741-8329(03)00025-9
- Miller MW. Limited ethanol exposure selectively alters the proliferation of precursor cells in the cerebral cortex. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (1996) 20:139– 43. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.1996.tb01056.x
- Miller MW. Migration of cortical neurons is altered by gestational exposure to ethanol. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (1993) 17:304–14. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.1993.tb00768.x
- Vallés S, Sancho-Tello M, Miñana R, Climent E, Renau-Piqueras J, Guerri C. Glial fibrillary acidic protein expression in rat brain and in radial glia culture is delayed by prenatal ethanol exposure. *J Neurochem.* (1996) 67:2425– 33. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.1996.67062425.x
- Lancaster F, Delaney C, Samorajski T. Synaptic density of caudate-putamen and visual cortex following exposure to ethanol in utero. *Int J Dev Neurosci.* (1989) 7:581–9. doi: 10.1016/0736-5748(89)90017-8
- Volk B. Cerebellar histogenesis and synaptic maturation following pre- and postnatal alcohol administration. An electron-microscopic investigation of the rat cerebellar cortex. *Acta Neuropathol.* (1984) 63:57– 65. doi: 10.1007/BF00688471
- Lancaster FE, Mayur BK, Patsalos PN, Samorajski T, Wiggins RC. The synthesis of myelin and brain subcellular membrane proteins in the offspring of rats fed ethanol during pregnancy. *Brain Res.* (1982) 235:105– 13. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(82)90199-8
- Hoffman PL, Tabakoff B. To be or not to be: how ethanol can affect neuronal death during development. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (1996) 20:193– 5. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.1996.tb01065.x
- Liesi P. Ethanol-exposed central neurons fail to migrate and undergo apoptosis. J Neurosci Res. (1997) 48:439–48. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-4547(19970601)48:5<439::AID-JNR5>3.0.CO;2-F
- West JR. Fetal alcohol-induced brain damage and the problem of determining temporal vulnerability: a review. *Alcohol Drug Res.* (1987) 7:423–41. doi: 10.1080/09595238880000141
- Lipinski RJ, Hammond P, O'Leary-Moore SK, Ament JJ, Pecevich SJ, Jiang Y, et al. Ethanol-induced face-brain dysmorphology patterns are correlative and exposure-stage dependent. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e43067. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0043067
- Sulik KK, Johnston MC. Sequence of developmental alterations following acute ethanol exposure in mice: craniofacial features of the fetal alcohol syndrome. *Am J Anat.* (1983) 166:257–69. doi: 10.1002/aja.1001660303
- 62. Parnell SE, Holloway HE, Baker LK, Styner MA, Sulik KK. Dysmorphogenic effects of first trimester-equivalent ethanol exposure in mice: a magnetic

resonance microscopy-based study. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. (2014) 38:2008–14. doi: 10.1111/acer.12464

- Cao W, Li W, Han H, O'Leary-Moore SK, Sulik KK, Allan Johnson G, et al. Prenatal alcohol exposure reduces magnetic susceptibility contrast and anisotropy in the white matter of mouse brains. *Neuroimage*. (2014) 102:748–55. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.08.035
- Nirgudkar P, Taylor DH, Yanagawa Y, Valenzuela CF. Ethanol exposure during development reduces GABAergic/glycinergic neuron numbers and lobule volumes in the mouse cerebellar vermis. *Neurosci Lett.* (2016) 632:86– 91. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2016.08.039
- El Shawa H, Abbott CW, Huffman KJ. Prenatal ethanol exposure disrupts intraneocortical circuitry, cortical gene expression, and behavior in a mouse model of FASD. J Neurosci. (2013) 33:18893–905. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3721-13.2013
- Kajimoto K, Allan A, Cunningham LA. Fate analysis of adult hippocampal progenitors in a murine model of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD). *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e73788. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0073788
- Morton RA, Diaz MR, Topper LA, Valenzuela CF. Construction of vapor chambers used to expose mice to alcohol during the equivalent of all three trimesters of human development. J Vis Exp. (2014) 89:51839. doi: 10.3791/51839
- Dilworth MR, Kusinski LC, Baker BC, Renshall LJ, Greenwood SL, Sibley CP, et al. Defining fetal growth restriction in mice: a standardized and clinically relevant approach. *Placenta*. (2011) 32:914–6. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2011.08.007
- Gundogan F, Gilligan J, Qi W, Chen E, Naram R, De La Monte SM. Dose effect of gestational ethanol exposure on placentation and fetal growth. *Placenta*. (2015) 36:523–30. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2015.02.010
- Coleman LG, Oguz I, Lee J, Styner M, Crews FT. Postnatal day 7 ethanol treatment causes persistent reductions in adult mouse brain volume and cortical neurons with sex specific effects on neurogenesis. *Alcohol.* (2012) 46:603–12. doi: 10.1016/j.alcohol.2012.01.003
- Karacay B, Mahoney J, Plume J, Bonthius DJ. Genetic absence of nNOS worsens fetal alcohol effects in mice. II: microencephaly and neuronal losses. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (2015) 39:221–31. doi: 10.1111/acer.12615
- Smiley JF, Saito M, Bleiwas C, Masiello K, Ardekani B, Guilfoyle DN, et al. Selective reduction of cerebral cortex GABA neurons in a late gestation model of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. *Alcohol.* (2015) 49:571– 80. doi: 10.1016/j.alcohol.2015.04.008
- Wilson DA, Masiello K, Lewin MP, Hui M, Smiley JF, Saito M. Developmental ethanol exposure-induced sleep fragmentation predicts adult cognitive impairment. *Neuroscience*. (2016) 322:18–27. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.02.020
- Brocardo PS, Gil-Mohapel J, Wortman R, Noonan A, McGinnis E, Patten AR, et al. The effects of ethanol exposure during distinct periods of brain development on oxidative stress in the adult rat brain. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (2017) 41:26–37. doi: 10.1111/acer.13266
- May PA, Blankenship J, Marais AS, Gossage JP, Kalberg WO, Joubert B, et al. Maternal alcohol consumption producing fetal alcohol spectrum disorders (FASD): quantity, frequency, and timing of drinking. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. (2013) 133:502–12. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2013.07.013
- Dobbing J, Sands J. Comparative aspects of the brain growth spurt. Early Hum Dev. (1979) 3:79–83. doi: 10.1016/0378-3782(79)90022-7
- Zohn IE, Sarkar AA. Modeling neural tube defects in the mouse. *Curr Top Dev Biol.* (2008) 84:1–35. doi: 10.1016/S0070-2153(08)00601-7
- Goodlett CR, Leo JT, O'Callaghan JP, Mahoney JC, West JR. Transient cortical astrogliosis induced by alcohol exposure during the neonatal brain growth spurt in rats. *Dev Brain Res.* (1993) 72:85–97. doi: 10.1016/0165-3806(93)90162-4
- Cantacorps L, Alfonso-Loeches S, Moscoso-Castro M, Cuitavi J, Gracia-Rubio I, López-Arnau R, et al. Maternal alcohol binge drinking induces persistent neuroinflammation associated with myelin damage and behavioural dysfunctions in offspring mice. *Neuropharmacology*. (2017) 123:368–84. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2017.05.034
- Angevine JB, Bodian D, Coulombre AJ, Edds MV, Hamburger V, Jacobson M, et al. Embryonic vertebrate central nervous system: revised terminology. *Anat Rec.* (1970) 166:257–61. doi: 10.1002/ar.1091660214

- Reynolds AR, Saunders MA, Berry JN, Sharrett-Field LJ, Winchester S, Prendergast MA. Broad-spectrum protein kinase inhibition by the staurosporine analog KT-5720 reverses ethanol withdrawal-associated loss of NeuN/Fox-3. *Alcohol.* (2017) 64:37–43. doi: 10.1016/j.alcohol.2017. 05.006
- Ji Z, Yuan L, Lu X, Ding H, Luo J, Ke ZJ. Binge alcohol exposure causes neurobehavioral deficits and GSK3β activation in the hippocampus of adolescent rats. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:3088. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-21341-w
- Klintsova AY, Helfer JL, Calizo LH, Dong WK, Goodlett CR, Greenough WT. Persistent impairment of hippocampal neurogenesis in young adult rats following early postnatal alcohol exposure. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (2007) 31:2073–82. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2007.00528.x
- Livy DJ, Miller EK, Maier SE, West JR. Fetal alcohol exposure and temporal vulnerability: effects of binge-like alcohol exposure on the developing rat hippocampus. *Neurotoxicol Teratol.* (2003) 25:447–58. doi: 10.1016/S0892-0362(03)00030-8
- Maier SE, West JR. Regional differences in cell loss associated with binge-like alcohol exposure during the first two trimesters equivalent in the rat. *Alcohol.* (2001) 23:49–57. doi: 10.1016/S0741-8329(00)00133-6
- Komada M, Hara N, Kawachi S, Kawachi K, Kagawa N, Nagao T, et al. Mechanisms underlying neuro-inflammation and neurodevelopmental toxicity in the mouse neocortex following prenatal exposure to ethanol. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:4934. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-0 4289-1
- West JR, Hamre KM, Cassell MD. Effects of ethanol exposure during the third trimester equivalent on neuron number in rat hippocampus and dentate gyrus. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (1986) 10:190–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.1986.tb05070.x
- Redila VA, Olson AK, Swann SE, Mohades G, Webber AJ, Weinberg J, et al. Hippocampal cell proliferation is reduced following prenatal ethanol exposure but can be rescued with voluntary exercise. *Hippocampus*. (2006) 16:305–11. doi: 10.1002/hipo.20164
- Gil-Mohapel J, Titterness AK, Patten AR, Taylor S, Ratzlaff A, Ratzlaff T, et al. Prenatal ethanol exposure differentially affects hippocampal neurogenesis in the adolescent and aged brain. *Neuroscience*. (2014) 273:174–88. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.05.012
- Delatour LC, Yeh PW, Yeh HH. Ethanol exposure in utero disrupts radial migration and pyramidal cell development in the somatosensory cortex. *Cereb Cortex.* (2019) 29:2125–39. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhy094
- Leroy K, Brion JP. Developmental expression and localization of glycogen synthase kinase-3β in rat brain. J Chem Neuroanat. (1999) 16:279– 93. doi: 10.1016/S0891-0618(99)00012-5
- Coyle-Rink J, Del Valle L, Sweet T, Khalili K, Amini S. Developmental expression of Wnt signaling factors in mouse brain. *Cancer Biol Ther.* (2002) 1:640–5. doi: 10.4161/cbt.313
- Luo J. GSK3β in ethanol neurotoxicity. Mol Neurobiol. (2009) 40:108– 21. doi: 10.1007/s12035-009-8075-y
- Resnicoff M, Sell C, Ambrose D, Baserga R, Rubin R. Ethanol inhibits the autophosphorylation of the insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) receptor and IGF-1-mediated proliferation of 3T3 cells. J Biol Chem. (1993) 268: 21777–82.
- O'Rourke NA, Dailey ME, Smith SJ, McConnell SK. Diverse migratory pathways in the developing cerebral cortex. *Science*. (1992) 258:299– 302. doi: 10.1126/science.1411527
- Vorhees C V. Principles of behavioral teratology. In: Riley EP, Vorhees CV Editors. *Handbook of Behavioral Teratology*. Boston, MA: Springer US. (1986). p. 23–48. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4613-2189-7_2
- Stagni F, Giacomini A, Guidi S, Ciani E, Bartesaghi R. Timing of therapies for down syndrome: the sooner, the better. *Front Behav Neurosci.* (2015) 9:265. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00265
- González-Billault C, Del Río JA, Ureña JM, Jiménez-Mateos EM, Barallobre MJ, Pascual M, et al. A role of MAP1B in reelin-dependent neuronal migration. *Cereb Cortex.* (2005) 15:1134–45. doi: 10.1093/cercor/ bhh213
- Chen G, Bower KA, Xu M, Ding M, Shi X, Ke ZJ, et al. Cyanidin-3-glucoside reverses ethanol-induced inhibition of neurite outgrowth: role of glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta. *Neurotox Res.* (2009) 15:321– 31. doi: 10.1007/s12640-009-9036-y

- Martinowich K, Hattori D, Wu H, Fouse S, He F, Hu Y, et al. DNA methylation-related chromatin remodeling in activity-dependent BDNF gene regulation. *Science*. (2003) 302:890–3. doi: 10.1126/science.1090842
- Horike SI, Cai S, Miyano M, Cheng JF, Kohwi-Shigematsu T. Loss of silentchromatin looping and impaired imprinting of DLX5 in Rett syndrome. *Nat Genet.* (2005) 37:31–40. doi: 10.1038/ng1491
- 102. Zhang P, Wang G, Lin Z, Wu Y, Zhang J, Liu M, et al. Alcohol exposure induces chick craniofacial bone defects by negatively affecting cranial neural crest development. *Toxicol Lett.* (2017) 281:53–64. doi: 10.1016/j.toxlet.2017.09.010
- 103. Skorput AGJ, Yeh HH. Chronic gestational exposure to ethanol leads to enduring aberrances in cortical form and function in the medial prefrontal cortex. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (2016) 40:1479–88. doi: 10.1111/acer.13107
- Eagleson KL, Lillien L, Chan A V, Levitt P. Mechanisms specifying area fate in cortex include cell-cycle-dependent decisions and the capacity of progenitors to express phenotype memory. *Development*. (1997) 124:1623–30.
- McConnell SK. The specification of neuronal identity in the mammalian cerebral cortex. *Experientia*. (1990) 46:922–9. doi: 10.1007/BF01939385
- Martín-Ibáñez R, Guardia I, Pardo M, Herranz C, Zietlow R, Vinh N-N, et al. Insights in spatio-temporal characterization of human fetal neural stem cells. *Exp Neurol.* (2017) 291:20–35. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2017.01.011
- 107. Gage FH. Mammalian neural stem cells. *Science.* (2000) 287:1433-8. doi: 10.1126/science.287.5457.1433
- Olateju OI, Spocter MA, Patzke N, Ihunwo AO, Manger PR. Hippocampal neurogenesis in the C57BL/6J mice at early adulthood following prenatal alcohol exposure. *Metab Brain Dis.* (2018) 33:397–410. doi: 10.1007/s11011-017-0156-4
- 109. Broadwater MA, Liu W, Crews FT, Spear LP. Persistent loss of hippocampal neurogenesis and increased cell death following adolescent, but not adult, chronic ethanol exposure. *Dev Neurosci.* (2014) 36:297– 305. doi: 10.1159/000362874
- 110. Elibol-Can B, Dursun I, Telkes I, Kilic E, Canan S, Jakubowska-Dogru E. Examination of age-dependent effects of fetal ethanol exposure on behavior, hippocampal cell counts, and doublecortin immunoreactivity in rats. *Dev Neurobiol.* (2014) 74:498–513. doi: 10.1002/dneu.22143
- 111. Hamilton GF, Bucko PJ, Miller DS, DeAngelis RS, Krebs CP, Rhodes JS. Behavioral deficits induced by third-trimester equivalent alcohol exposure in male C57BL/6J mice are not associated with reduced adult hippocampal neurogenesis but are still rescued with voluntary exercise. *Behav Brain Res.* (2016) 314:96–105. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2016.07.052
- 112. Rashid MA, Kim H-Y. N-Docosahexaenoylethanolamine ameliorates ethanol-induced impairment of neural stem cell neurogenic differentiation. *Neuropharmacology*. (2016) 102:174– 85. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2015.11.011
- 113. Gobejishvili L, Barve S, Joshi-Barve S, Uriarte S, Song Z, McClain C. Chronic ethanol-mediated decrease in cAMP primes macrophages to enhanced LPS-inducible NF-κB activity and TNF expression: relevance to alcoholic liver disease. Am J Physiol Liver Physiol. (2006) 291:G681– 8. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00098.2006
- 114. Hoffman PL, Tabakoff B. Ethanol and guanine nucleotide binding proteins: a selective interaction. *FASEB J.* (1990) 4:2612–22. doi: 10.1096/fasebj.4.9.2161371
- Rabin RA. Chronic ethanol exposure of PC 12 cells alters adenylate cyclase activity and intracellular cyclic AMP content. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. (1990) 252:1021–7.
- 116. Spittaels K, Van den Haute C, Van Dorpe J, Geerts H, Mercken M, Bruynseels K, et al. Glycogen synthase kinase-3β phosphorylates protein tau and rescues the axonopathy in the central nervous system of human four-repeat tau transgenic mice. J Biol Chem. (2000) 275:41340– 9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M006219200
- 117. Faccidomo S, Besheer J, Stanford PC, Hodge CW. Increased operant responding for ethanol in male C57BL/6J mice: specific regulation by the ERK1/2, but not JNK, MAP kinase pathway. *Psychopharmacology*. (2009) 204:135–47. doi: 10.1007/s00213-008-1444-9
- 118. Villegas SN, Njaine B, Linden R, Carri NG. Glial-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) prevents ethanol (EtOH) induced B92 glial cell death by both PI3K/AKT and MEK/ERK signaling pathways. *Brain Res Bull.* (2006) 71:116–26. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2006.08.014

- Ahmadiantehrani S, Barak S, Ron D. GDNF is a novel ethanol-responsive gene in the VTA: implications for the development and persistence of excessive drinking. *Addict Biol.* (2014) 19:623–33. doi: 10.1111/adb.12028
- Maier HB, Neyazi M, Neyazi A, Hillemacher T, Pathak H, Rhein M, et al. Alcohol consumption alters Gdnf promoter methylation and expression in rats. J Psychiatr Res. (2020) 121:1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2019.10.020
- 121. Guerri C, Pascual M, Renau-Piqueras J. Glia and fetal alcohol syndrome. *Neurotoxicology*. (2001) 22:593–9. doi: 10.1016/S0161-813X(01)00037-7
- 122. González A, Pariente JA, Salido GM. Ethanol stimulates ROS generation by mitochondria through Ca2+ mobilization and increases GFAP content in rat hippocampal astrocytes. *Brain Res.* (2007) 1178:28– 37. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2007.08.040
- 123. Sáez R, Burgal M, Renau-Piqueras J, Marqués A, Guerri C. Evolution of several cytoskeletal proteins of astrocytes in primary culture: effect of prenatal alcohol exposure. *Neurochem Res.* (1991) 16:737–47. doi: 10.1007/BF00965682
- Fletcher TL, Shain W. Ethanol-induced changes in astrocyte gene expression during rat central nervous system development. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (1993) 17:993–1001. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.1993.tb05654.x
- 125. Goodlett CR, Peterson SD, Lundahl KR, Pearlman AD. Binge-like alcohol exposure of neonatal rats via intragastric intubation induces both Purkinje cell loss and cortical astrogliosis. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (1997) 21:1010– 7. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.1997.tb04246.x
- 126. Topper LA, Baculis BC, Valenzuela CF. Exposure of neonatal rats to alcohol has differential effects on neuroinflammation and neuronal survival in the cerebellum and hippocampus. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2015) 12:160. doi: 10.1186/s12974-015-0382-9
- 127. Lundgaard I, Wang W, Eberhardt A, Vinitsky HS, Reeves BC, Peng S, et al. Beneficial effects of low alcohol exposure, but adverse effects of high alcohol intake on glymphatic function. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:2246. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-20424-y
- 128. Alfonso-Loeches S, Ureña-Peralta JR, Morillo-Bargues MJ, La Cruz JO De, Guerri C. Role of mitochondria ROS generation in ethanol-induced NLRP3 inflammasome activation and cell death in astroglial cells. *Front Cell Neurosci.* (2014) 8:216. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014.00216
- 129. Marshak DR. S100 beta as a neurotrophic factor. Prog Brain Res. (1990) 86:169–81. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(08)63175-1
- Wilhelm CJ, Hashimoto JG, Roberts ML, Bloom SH, Andrew MR, Wiren KM. Astrocyte dysfunction induced by alcohol in females but not males. *Brain Pathol.* (2016) 26:433–51. doi: 10.1111/bpa.12276
- 131. Ogony JW, Malahias E, Vadigepalli R, Anni H. Ethanol alters the balance of Sox2, Oct4, and nanog expression in distinct subpopulations during differentiation of embryonic stem cells. *Stem Cells Dev.* (2013) 22:2196– 210. doi: 10.1089/scd.2012.0513
- 132. Jacobson M. Formation of dendrites and development of synaptic connections. In: Rao MS, Jacobson M, Editors. Developmental Neurobiology. Boston, MA: Springer US. (1991). p. 223–83. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4757-4954-0_6
- 133. Kentroti S, Rahman H, Grove J, Vernadakis A. Ethanol neuronotoxicity in the embryonic chick brain in ovo and in culture: interaction of the neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM). *Int J Dev Neurosci.* (1995) 13:859– 70. doi: 10.1016/0736-5748(95)00065-8
- 134. Dou X, Menkari C, Mitsuyama R, Foroud T, Wetherill L, Hammond P, et al. L1 coupling to ankyrin and the spectrin-actin cytoskeleton modulates ethanol inhibition of L1 adhesion and ethanol teratogenesis. *FASEB J.* (2018) 32:1364–74. doi: 10.1096/fj.201700970
- 135. Miller MW, Luo J. Effects of ethanol and transforming growth factor beta (TGF beta) on neuronal proliferation and nCAM expression. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (2002) 26:1281–125. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2002. tb02668.x
- 136. Mahabir S, Chatterjee D, Misquitta K, Chatterjee D, Gerlai R. Lasting changes induced by mild alcohol exposure during embryonic development in BDNF, NCAM and synaptophysin-positive neurons quantified in adult zebrafish. *Eur J Neurosci.* (2018) 47:1457–73. doi: 10.1111/ejn.13975
- 137. Miñana R, Climent E, Barettino D, Segui JM, Renau-Piqueras J, Guerri C. Alcohol exposure alters the expression pattern of neural cell adhesion molecules during brain development. J Neurochem. (2000) 75:954–64. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2000.0750954.x

- Littner Y, Tang N, He M, Bearer CF. L1 cell adhesion molecule signaling is inhibited by ethanol *in vivo*. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (2013) 37:383– 9. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2012.01944.x
- 139. Watson WE. Physiology of neuroglia. Physiol Rev. (1974) 54:245-71. doi: 10.1152/physrev.1974.54.2.245
- 140. Soriano E, Alvarado-Mallart RM, Dumesnil N, Del Río JA, Sotelo C. Cajal-retzius cells regulate the radial glia phenotype in the adult and developing cerebellum and alter granule cell migration. *Neuron.* (1997) 18:563–77. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80298-6
- 141. Cuadros MA, Navascués J. The origin and differentiation of microglial cells during development. *Prog Neurobiol.* (1998) 56:173–89. doi: 10.1016/S0301-0082(98)00035-5
- 142. Oluich LJ, Stratton JAS, Xing YL, Ng SW, Cate HS, Sah P, et al. Targeted ablation of oligodendrocytes induces axonal pathology independent of overt demyelination. *J Neurosci.* (2012) 32:8317–30. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1053-12.2012
- Salzer JL. Schwann cell myelination. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. (2015) 7:a020529. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a020529
- 144. From R, Eilam R, Bar-Lev DD, Levin-Zaidman S, Tsoory M, Lopresti P, et al. Oligodendrogenesis and myelinogenesis during postnatal development effect of glatiramer acetate. *Glia.* (2014) 62:649–65. doi: 10.1002/glia.22632
- 145. Miller RH, Ono K. Morphological analysis of the early stages of oligodendrocyte development in the vertebrate central nervous system. *Microsc Res Tech.* (1998) 41:441–53. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0029(19980601)41:5<441::AID-JEMT10>3.0.CO;2-N
- 146. Wiggins RC. Myelin development and nutritional insufficiency. Brain Res. (1982) 257:151–75. doi: 10.1016/0165-0173(82)90016-9
- 147. Feng MJ, Yan SE, Yan QS. Effects of prenatal alcohol exposure on brainderived neurotrophic factor and its receptor tyrosine kinase B in offspring. *Brain Res.* (2005) 1042:125–32. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2005.02.017
- 148. Moore DB, Madorsky I, Paiva M, Heaton MB. Ethanol exposure alters neurotrophin receptor expression in the rat central nervous system: effects of neonatal exposure. *J Neurobiol.* (2004) 60:114–26. doi: 10.1002/neu.20010
- Lessmann V, Gottmann K, Malcangio M. Neurotrophin secretion: current facts and future prospects. *Progr Neurobiol.* (2003) 69:341– 74. doi: 10.1016/S0301-0082(03)00019-4
- 150. Montesinos J, Pascual M, Pla A, Maldonado C, Rodríguez-Arias M, Miñarro J, et al. TLR4 elimination prevents synaptic and myelin alterations and long-term cognitive dysfunctions in adolescent mice with intermittent ethanol treatment. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2015) 45:233– 44. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2014.11.015
- 151. Koob GF. Alcoholism: allostasis and Beyond. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. (2003) 27:232–43. doi: 10.1097/01.ALC.0000057122.36127.C2
- 152. Drissi I, Deschamps C, Fouquet G, Alary R, Peineau S, Gosset P, et al. Memory and plasticity impairment after binge drinking in adolescent rat hippocampus: GluN2A/GluN2B NMDA receptor subunits imbalance through HDAC2. Addict Biol. (2019) 25:e12760. doi: 10.1111/adb.12760
- 153. Fiore M, Laviola G, Aloe L, di Fausto V, Mancinelli R, Ceccanti M. Early exposure to ethanol but not red wine at the same alcohol concentration induces behavioral and brain neurotrophin alterations in young and adult mice. *Neurotoxicology*. (2009) 30:59–71. doi: 10.1016/j.neuro.2008.11.009
- 154. Aloe L. Alcohol intake during prenatal life affects neuroimmune mediators and brain neurogenesis. *Ann Ist Super Sanita*. (2006) 42:17–21.
- 155. Freund-Michel V, Frossard N. The nerve growth factor and its receptors in airway inflammatory diseases. *Pharmacol Ther.* (2008) 117:52–76. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2007.07.003
- 156. Aloe L. Alcohol intake during prenatal life affects neuroimmune mediators and brain neurogenesis. *Ann Ist Super Sanita*. (2006) 42:17–21.
- Kojima M, Mizui T. BDNF propeptide. In: Litwack G, Editor. Vitamins and Hormones. Academic Press. (2017). p. 19–28. doi: 10.1016/bs.vh.2016.11.006
- 158. Pautassi RM, Suárez AB, Hoffmann LB, Rueda AV, Rae M, Marianno P, et al. Effects of environmental enrichment upon ethanol-induced conditioned place preference and pre-frontal BDNF levels in adolescent and adult mice. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:8574. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-08795-0
- 159. Stragier E, Martin V, Davenas E, Poilbout C, Mongeau R, Corradetti R, et al. Brain plasticity and cognitive functions after ethanol consumption in C57BL/6J mice. *Transl Psychiatry.* (2015) 5:e696. doi: 10.1038/tp. 2015.183

- 160. Haun HL, Griffin WC, Lopez MF, Solomon MG, Mulholland PJ, Woodward JJ, et al. Increasing brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in medial prefrontal cortex selectively reduces excessive drinking in ethanol dependent mice. *Neuropharmacology*. (2018) 140:35–42. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2018.07.031
- 161. Rivera S, Khrestchatisky M, Kaczmarek L, Rosenberg GA, Jaworski DM. Metzincin proteases and their inhibitors: foes or friends in nervous system physiology? J Neurosci. (2010) 30:15337–57. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3467-10.2010
- Liu W-T, Han Y, Liu Y-P, Song AA, Barnes B, Song X-J. Spinal matrix metalloproteinase-9 contributes to physical dependence on morphine in mice. J Neurosci. (2010) 30:7613–23. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1358-10.2010
- 163. Yin L, Li F, Li J, Yang X, Xie X, Xue L, et al. Chronic intermittent ethanol exposure induces upregulation of matrix metalloproteinase-9 in the rat medial prefrontal cortex and hippocampus. *Neurochem Res.* (2019) 44:1593– 601. doi: 10.1007/s11064-019-02783-8
- 164. Jégou S, El Ghazi F, De Lendeu PK, Marret S, Laudenbach V, Uguen A, et al. Prenatal alcohol exposure affects vasculature development in the neonatal brain. Ann Neurol. (2012) 72:952–60. doi: 10.1002/ana.23699
- 165. Cui SJ, Tewari M, Schneider T, Rubin R. Ethanol promotes cell death by inhibition of the insulin-like growth factor I receptor. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (1997) 21:1121–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.1997.tb04262.x
- 166. de la Torre R, de Sola S, Hernandez G, Farré M, Pujol J, Rodriguez J, et al. Safety and efficacy of cognitive training plus epigallocatechin-3-gallate in young adults with down's syndrome (TESDAD): a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 2 trial. *Lancet Neurol.* (2016) 15:801–10. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(16)30034-5
- 167. De Toma I, Ortega M, Aloy P, Sabidó E, Dierssen M. DYRK1A overexpression alters cognition and neural-related proteomic pathways in the hippocampus that are rescued by green tea extract and/or environmental enrichment. *Front Mol Neurosci.* (2019) 12:272. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2019.00272
- 168. Souchet B, Duchon A, Gu Y, Dairou J, Chevalier C, Daubigney F, et al. Prenatal treatment with EGCG enriched green tea extract rescues GAD67 related developmental and cognitive defects in Down syndrome mouse models. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:3914. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-40328-9
- 169. Solzak JP, Liang Y, Zhou FC, Roper RJ. Commonality in down and fetal alcohol syndromes. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol. (2013) 97:187– 97. doi: 10.1002/bdra.23129
- 170. Wyganowska-Swiatkowska M, Matthews-Kozanecka M, Matthews-Brzozowska T, Skrzypczak-Jankun E, Jankun J. Can EGCG alleviate symptoms of down syndrome by altering proteolytic activity? *Int J Mol Sci.* (2018) 19:248. doi: 10.3390/ijms19010248
- 171. Bettio L, Thacker JS, Hutton C, Christie BR. Modulation of synaptic plasticity by exercise. Int Rev Neurobiol. (2019) 147:295–322. doi: 10.1016/bs.irn.2019.07.002
- 172. Fontaine CJ, Pinar C, Yang W, Pang AF, Suesser KE, Choi JSJ, et al. Impaired bidirectional synaptic plasticity in juvenile offspring following prenatal ethanol exposure. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (2019) 43:2153– 66. doi: 10.1111/acer.14170
- 173. Wong EL, Lutz NM, Hogan VA, Lamantia CE, McMurray HR, Myers JR, et al. Developmental alcohol exposure impairs synaptic plasticity without overtly altering microglial function in mouse visual cortex. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2018) 67:257–78. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2017.09.003
- 174. Shivakumar M, Subbanna S, Joshi VBB. Postnatal ethanol exposure activates HDAC-mediated histone deacetylation, impairs synaptic plasticity gene expression and behavior in mice. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2020) 23:324–38. doi: 10.1093/ijnp/pyaa017
- 175. Lee HY, Naha N, Kim JH, Jo MJ, Min KS, Seong HH, et al. Age- and areadependent distinct effects of ethanol on Bax and Bcl-2 expression in prenatal rat brain. *J Microbiol Biotechnol.* (2008) 18:1590–8.
- 176. Britton SM, Miller MW. Neuronal loss in the developing cerebral cortex of normal and bax-deficient mice: effects of ethanol exposure. *Neuroscience.* (2018) 369:278–91. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2017. 11.013
- 177. Ieraci A, Herrera DG. Nicotinamide protects against ethanolinduced apoptotic neurodegeneration in the developing mouse

brain. PLoS Med. (2006) 3:547–57. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.00 30101

- 178. McAlhany RE, West JR, Miranda RC. Glial-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) prevents ethanol-induced apoptosis and JUN kinase phosphorylation. *Dev Brain Res.* (2000) 119:209– 16. doi: 10.1016/S0165-3806(99)00171-6
- Ornoy A, Ergaz Z. Alcohol abuse in pregnant women: effects on the fetus and newborn, mode of action and maternal treatment. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2010) 7:364–79. doi: 10.3390/ijerph7020364
- Zakhari S. Overview: how is alcohol metabolized by the body? Alcohol Res Health. (2006) 29:245–54. doi: 10.1159/000095013
- Wu D, Cederbaum AI. Alcohol, oxidative stress, and free radical damage. Alcohol Res Health. (2003) 27:277–84.
- Heaton M, Paiva M, Mayer J, Miller R. Ethanol-mediated generation of reactive oxygen species in developing rat cerebellum. *Neurosci Lett.* (2002) 334:83–6. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3940(02)01123-0
- 183. Kay HH, Tsoi S, Grindle K, Magness RR. Markers of oxidative stress in placental villi exposed to ethanol. J Soc Gynecol Investig. (2006) 13:118– 21. doi: 10.1016/j.jsgi.2005.11.007
- 184. Haselbeck RJ, Duester G. ADH4-lacZ transgenic mouse reveals alcohol dehydrogenase localization in embryonic midbrain/hindbrain, otic vesicles, and mesencephalic, trigeminal, facial, and olfactory neural crest. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (1998) 22:1607–13. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.1998. tb03955.x
- Gupta KK, Gupta VK, Shirasaka T. An update on fetal alcohol syndromepathogenesis, risks, and treatment. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (2016) 40:1594– 602. doi: 10.1111/acer.13135
- Myllynen P, Pasanen M, Pelkonen O. Human placenta: a human organ for developmental toxicology research and biomonitoring. *Placenta*. (2005) 26:361–71. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2004.09.006
- Guerri C, Bazinet A, Riley EP. Foetal alcohol spectrum disorders and alterations in brain and behaviour. *Alcohol Alcohol.* (2009) 44:108– 14. doi: 10.1093/alcalc/agn105
- Heller M, Burd L. Review of ethanol dispersion, distribution, and elimination from the fetal compartment. *Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol.* (2014) 100:277–83. doi: 10.1002/bdra.23232
- Streissguth AP, Landesman-Dwyer S, Martin JC, Smith DW. Teratogenic effects of alcohol in humans and laboratory animals. *Science*. (1980) 209:353– 61. doi: 10.1126/science.6992275
- 190. Wells PG, Bhatia S, Drake DM, Miller-Pinsler L. Fetal oxidative stress mechanisms of neurodevelopmental deficits and exacerbation by ethanol and methamphetamine. *Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today Rev.* (2016) 108:108–30. doi: 10.1002/bdrc.21134
- 191. Hoyt LR, Randall MJ, Ather JL, Depuccio DP, Landry CC, Qian X, et al. Mitochondrial ROS induced by chronic ethanol exposure promote hyper-activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome. *Redox Biol.* (2017) 12:883– 96. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2017.04.020
- 192. Yang F, Luo J. Endoplasmic reticulum stress and ethanol neurotoxicity. Biomolecules. (2015) 5:2538–53. doi: 10.3390/biom5042538
- 193. Miller-Pinsler L, Wells PG. Deficient DNA repair exacerbates ethanolinitiated DNA oxidation and embryopathies in ogg1 knockout mice: gender risk and protection by a free radical spin trapping agent. Arch Toxicol. (2016) 90:415–25. doi: 10.1007/s00204-014-1397-1
- 194. Wong AW, McCallum GP, Jeng W, Wells PG. Oxoguanine glycosylase 1 protects against methamphetamine-enhanced fetal brain oxidative DNA damage and neurodevelopmental deficits. J Neurosci. (2008) 28:9047– 54. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2557-08.2008
- 195. Wells PG, McCallum GP, Chen CS, Henderson JT, Lee CJJ, Perstin J, et al. Oxidative stress in developmental origins of disease: teratogenesis, neurodevelopmental deficits, and cancer. *Toxicol Sci.* (2009) 108:4– 18. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfn263
- 196. Chen G, Ke Z, Xu M, Liao M, Wang X, Qi Y, et al. Autophagy is a protective response to ethanol neurotoxicity. *Autophagy*. (2012) 8:1577– 89. doi: 10.4161/auto.21376
- Luo J. Autophagy and ethanol neurotoxicity. *Autophagy*. (2014) 10:2099– 108. doi: 10.4161/15548627.2014.981916
- 198. Dembele K, Yao XH, Chen L, Nyomba BLG. Intrauterine ethanol exposure results in hypothalamic oxidative stress and neuroendocrine alterations

in adult rat offspring. Am J Physiol - Regul Integr Comp Physiol. (2006) 291:R796-802. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00633.2005

- 199. Petkow VV, Stoianovski D, Petkov VD VI. Lipid peroxidation changes in the brain in fetal alcohol syndrome. *Biull Eksp Biol Med.* (1992) 113:500–2.
- 200. Chu J, Tong M, Monte SM. Chronic ethanol exposure causes mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in immature central nervous system neurons. Acta Neuropathol. (2007) 113:659–73. doi: 10.1007/s00401-007-0199-4
- 201. Brocardo PS, Boehme F, Patten A, Cox A, Gil-Mohapel J, Christie BR. Anxiety- and depression-like behaviors are accompanied by an increase in oxidative stress in a rat model of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: protective effects of voluntary physical exercise. *Neuropharmacology*. (2012) 62:1607– 18. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2011.10.006
- 202. Ramachandran V, Perez A, Chen J, Senthil D, Schenker S. *In utero* ethanol exposure causes mitochondrial dysfunction, which can result in apoptotic cell death in fetal brain: a potential role for 4-hydroxynonenal. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (2001) 25:862–71. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2001. tb02292.x
- Dong J, Sulik KK, Chen S. The role of NOX enzymes in ethanol-induced oxidative stress and apoptosis in mouse embryos. *Toxicol Lett.* (2010) 193:94–100. doi: 10.1016/j.toxlet.2009.12.012
- 204. Bjørkhaug ST, Neupane SP, Bramness JG, Aanes H, Skar V, Medhus AW, et al. Plasma cytokine levels in patients with chronic alcohol overconsumption: relations to gut microbiota markers and clinical correlates. *Alcohol.* (2019) 85:35–40. doi: 10.1016/j.alcohol.2019.10.002
- Alfonso-Loeches S, Pascual M, Gómez-Pinedo U, Pascual-Lucas M, Renau-Piqueras J, Guerri C. Toll-like receptor 4 participates in the myelin disruptions associated with chronic alcohol abuse. *Glia.* (2012) 60:948– 64. doi: 10.1002/glia.22327
- 206. Cartwright MM, Smith SM. Increased cell death and reduced neural crest cell numbers in ethanol-exposed embryos: partial basis for the fetal alcohol syndrome phenotype. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (1995) 19:378– 86. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.1995.tb01519.x
- 207. Dunty WC, Chen SY, Zucker RM, Dehart DB, Sulik KK. Selective vulnerability of embryonic cell populations to ethanolinduced apoptosis: implications for alcohol-related birth defects and neurodevelopmental disorder. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (2001) 25:1523–35. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2001.tb02156.x
- Marin-Garcia J, Ananthakrishnan R, Goldenthal MJ. Mitochondrial dysfunction after fetal alcohol exposure. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (1996) 20:1029–32. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.1996.tb01942.x
- Miller MW, Robertson S. Prenatal exposure to ethanol alters the postnatal development and transformation of radial glia to astrocytes in the cortex. J Comp Neurol. (1993) 337:253–66. doi: 10.1002/cne.903370206
- Hu IC, Singh SP, Snyder AK. Effects of ethanol on glucose transporter expression in cultured hippocampal neurons. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (1995) 19:1398–402. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.1995.tb00998.x
- 211. Maier SE, Chen WJA, West JR. Prenatal binge-like alcohol exposure alters neurochemical profiles in fetal rat brain. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav.* (1996) 55:521–9. doi: 10.1016/S0091-3057(96)00282-1
- 212. Zhou FC, Sari Y, Powrozek TA. Fetal alcohol exposure reduces serotonin innervation and compromises development of the forebrain along the serotonergic pathway. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (2005) 29:141–9. doi: 10.1097/01.ALC.0000150636.19677.6F
- 213. Ikonomidou C, Bittigau P, Ishimaru MJ, Wozniak DF, Koch C, Genz K, et al. Ethanol-induced apoptotic neurodegeneration and fetal alcohol syndrome. *Science*. (2000) 287:1056–60. doi: 10.1126/science.287.5455.1056
- 214. Tokuda K, Izumi Y, Zorumski CF. Locally-generated acetaldehyde contributes to the effects of ethanol on neurosteroids and long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. *Neurol Clin Neurosci.* (2013) 1:138– 47. doi: 10.1111/ncn3.39
- 215. Sanderson JL, Donald Partridge L, Fernando Valenzuela C. Modulation of GABAergic and glutamatergic transmission by ethanol in the developing neocortex: an in vitro test of the excessive inhibition hypothesis of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. *Neuropharmacology.* (2009) 56:541– 55. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2008.10.012
- 216. Farber NB, Heinkel C, Dribben WH, Nemmers B, Jiang X. In the adult CNS, ethanol prevents rather than produces

NMDA antagonist-induced neurotoxicity. Brain Res. (2004) 1028:66-74. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2004.08.065

- 217. Brady ML, Diaz MR, Iuso A, Everett JC, Valenzuela CF, Caldwell KK. Moderate prenatal alcohol exposure reduces plasticity and alters NMDA receptor subunit composition in the dentate gyrus. J Neurosci. (2013) 33:1062–7. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1217-12.2013
- Li E, Bestor TH, Jaenisch R. Targeted mutation of the DNA methyltransferase gene results in embryonic lethality. *Cell.* (1992) 69:915–26. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(92)90611-F
- 219. Watanabe D, Suetake I, Tada T, Tajima S. Stage- and cell-specific expression of Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b during embryogenesis. Mech Dev. (2002) 118:187–90. doi: 10.1016/S0925-4773(02) 00242-3
- Rodenhiser D, Mann M. Epigenetics and human disease: translating basic biology into clinical applications. CMAJ. (2006) 174:341–8. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.050774
- 221. Kouzarides T. Chromatin modifications and their function. Cell. (2007) 128:693-705. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.02.005
- Resendiz M, Mason S, Lo C-L, Zhou FC. Epigenetic regulation of the neural transcriptome and alcohol interference during development. *Front Genet*. (2014) 5:285. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00285
- 223. Lussier AA, Bodnar TS, Mingay M, Morin AM, Hirst M, Kobor MS, et al. Prenatal alcohol exposure: profiling developmental dna methylation patterns in central and peripheral tissues. *Front Genet.* (2018) 9:610. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2018.00610
- 224. Downing C, Johnson TE, Larson C, Leakey TI, Siegfried RN, Rafferty TM, et al. Subtle decreases in DNA methylation and gene expression at the mouse Igf2 locus following prenatal alcohol exposure: effects of a methyl-supplemented diet. *Alcohol.* (2011) 45:65–71. doi: 10.1016/j.alcohol.2010.07.006
- 225. Mandal C, Halder D, Jung KH, Chai YG. *In utero* alcohol exposure and the alteration of histone marks in the developing fetus: an epigenetic phenomenon of maternal drinking. *Int J Biol Sci.* (2017) 13:1100-8. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.21047
- 226. Zhong L, Zhu J, Lv T, Chen G, Sun H, Yang X, et al. Ethanol and its metabolites induce histone lysine 9 acetylation and an alteration of the expression of heart development-related genes in cardiac progenitor cells. *Cardiovasc Toxicol.* (2010) 10:268–74. doi: 10.1007/s12012-010-9081-z
- 227. Guo W, Crossey EL, Zhang L, Zucca S, George OL, Valenzuela CF, et al. Alcohol exposure decreases CREB binding protein expression and histone acetylation in the developing cerebellum. Cai H, editor. *PLoS ONE.* (2011) 6:e19351. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0019351
- Cantacorps L, Alfonso-Loeches S, Guerri C, Valverde O. Longterm epigenetic changes in offspring mice exposed to alcohol during gestation and lactation. J Psychopharmacol. (2019) 33:1562–72. doi: 10.1177/0269881119856001
- 229. Laufer BI, Mantha K, Kleiber ML, Diehl EJ, Addison SMF, Singh SM. Longlasting alterations to DNA methylation and ncRNAs could underlie the effects of fetal alcohol exposure in mice. *DMM Dis Model Mech.* (2013) 6:977–92. doi: 10.1242/dmm.010975
- 230. Sathyan P, Golden HB, Miranda RC. Competing interactions between micro-RNAs determine neural progenitor survival and proliferation after ethanol exposure: evidence from an *ex vivo* model of the fetal cerebral cortical neuroepithelium. *J Neurosci.* (2007) 27:8546– 57. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1269-07.2007
- 231. Astley SJ, Clarren SK. Measuring the facial phenotype of individuals with prenatal alcohol exposure: correlations with brain dysfunction. *Alcohol Alcohol.* (2001) 36:147–59. doi: 10.1093/alcalc/36.2.147
- 232. Anthony B, Vinci-Booher S, Wetherill L, Ward R, Goodlett C, Zhou FC. Alcohol-induced facial dysmorphology in C57BL/6 mouse models of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. *Alcohol.* (2010) 44:659–71. doi: 10.1016/j.alcohol.2010.04.002
- 233. Fang S, Liu Y, Huang J, Vinci-Booher S, Anthony B ZF. Facial image classification of mouse embryos for the animal model study of fetal alcohol syndrome. *Proc Symp Appl Comput.* (2009) 2009:852–6. doi: 10.1145/1529282.1529463
- 234. Cartwright MM, Smith SM. Stage-dependent effects of ethanol on cranial neural crest cell development: partial basis for the phenotypic variations

observed in fetal alcohol syndrome. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (1995) 19:1454–62. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.1995.tb01007.x

- Chen SY, Periasamy A, Yang B, Herman B, Jacobson K, Sulik KK. Differential sensitivity of mouse neural crest cells to ethanol-induced toxicity. *Alcohol.* (2000) 20:75–81. doi: 10.1016/S0741-8329(99)00058-0
- Sulik KK. Genesis of alcohol-induced craniofacial dysmorphism. *Exp Biol MedJ*. (2005) 230:366–75. doi: 10.1177/15353702-0323006-04
- Smith SM, Garic A, Flentke GR, Berres ME. Neural crest development in fetal alcohol syndrome. *Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today Rev.* (2014) 102:210–20. doi: 10.1002/bdrc.21078
- Ogawa T, Kuwagata M, Ruiz J, Zhou FC. Differential teratogenic effect of alcohol on embryonic development between C57BL/6 and DBA/2 mice: a new view. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (2005) 29:855– 63. doi: 10.1097/01.ALC.0000163495.71181.10
- 239. Zhou FC, Sari Y, Powrozek T, Goodlett CR, Li T-K. Moderate alcohol exposure compromises neural tube midline development in prenatal brain. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res.* (2003) 144:43– 55. doi: 10.1016/S0165-3806(03)00158-5
- 240. Sulik KK. Critical periods for alcohol teratogenesis in mice, with special reference to the gastrulation stage of embryogenesis. *Ciba Found Symp.* (1984) 105:124–41. doi: 10.1002/9780470720868.ch8
- 241. Murawski NJ, Moore EM, Thomas JD, Riley EP. Advances in diagnosis and treatment of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: from animal models to human studies. *Alcohol Res.* (2015) 37:97–108.
- 242. Fang S, McLaughlin J, Fang J, Huang J, Autti-Rm I, Fagerlund A, et al. Automated diagnosis of fetal alcohol syndrome using 3D facial image analysis. Orthod Craniofac Res. (2008) 11:162–71. doi: 10.1111/j.1601-6343.2008.00425.x
- Suttie M, Foroud T, Wetherill L, Jacobson JL, Molteno CD, Meintjes EM, et al. Facial dysmorphism across the fetal alcohol spectrum. *Pediatrics*. (2013) 131:e779–88. doi: 10.1542/peds.2012-1371
- 244. Shen L, Ai H, Liang Y, Ren X, Anthony CB, Goodlett CR, et al. Effect of prenatal alcohol exposure on bony craniofacial development: a mouse MicroCT study. *Alcohol.* (2013) 47:405– 15. doi: 10.1016/j.alcohol.2013.04.005
- Caputo C, Wood E, Jabbour L. Impact of fetal alcohol exposure on body systems: a systematic review. *Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today Rev.* (2016) 108:174–80. doi: 10.1002/bdrc.21129
- 246. Tran TD, Stanton ME, Goodlett CR. Binge-like ethanol exposure during the early postnatal period impairs eyeblink conditioning at short and long CS–US intervals in rats. *Dev Psychobiol.* (2007) 49:589–605. doi: 10.1002/dev.20226
- 247. Weinberg J, Sliwowska JH, Lan N, Hellemans KGC. Prenatal alcohol exposure: foetal programming, the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and sex differences in outcome. J Neuroendocrinol. (2008) 20:470– 88. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2826.2008.01669.x
- 248. Roebuck TM, Mattson SN, Riley EP. A review of the neuroanatomical findings in children with fetal alcohol syndrome or prenatal exposure to alcohol. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (1998) 22:339–44. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.1998.tb03658.x
- 249. Archibald SL, Fennema-Notestine C, Gamst A, Riley EP, Mattson SN, Jernigan TL. Brain dysmorphology in individuals with severe prenatal alcohol exposure. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2001) 43:148– 54. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2001.tb00179.x
- 250. Hendrickson TJ, Mueller BA, Sowell ER, Mattson SN, Coles CD, Kable JA, et al. Cortical gyrification is abnormal in children with prenatal alcohol exposure. *NeuroImage Clin.* (2017) 15:391–400. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2017.05.015
- Kelly SJ, Goodlett CR, Hannigan JH. Animal models of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: impact of the social environment. *Dev Disabil Res Rev.* (2009) 15:200–8. doi: 10.1002/ddrr.69
- 252. Wagner JL, Zhou FC, Goodlett CR. Effects of one- and three-day binge alcohol exposure in neonatal C57BL/6 mice on spatial learning and memory in adolescence and adulthood. *Alcohol.* (2014) 48:99– 111. doi: 10.1016/j.alcohol.2013.12.001
- 253. Vorhees CV FK. Effects of short-term prenatal alcohol exposure on maze, activity, and olfactory orientation performance in rats. *Neurobehav Toxicol Teratol.* (1986) 8:23–8.

- 254. Maier SE, Miller JA, Blackwell JM, West JR. Fetal alcohol exposure and temporal vulnerability: regional differences in cell loss as a function of the timing of binge-like alcohol exposure during brain development. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (1999) 23:726–34. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.1999.tb04176.x
- 255. Caldwell KK, Sheema S, Paz RD, Samudio-Ruiz SL, Laughlin MH, et al. Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder-associated depression: evidence for reductions in the levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in a mouse model. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav.* (2008) 90:614–24. doi: 10.1016/j.pbb.2008.05.004
- 256. Lv K, Yang C, Xiao R, Yang L, Liu T, Zhang R, et al. Dexmedetomidine attenuates ethanol-induced inhibition of hippocampal neurogenesis in neonatal mice. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* (2020) 390:114881. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2020.114881
- Hiller-Sturmhöfel S, Spear LP. Binge drinking's effects on the developing brain-animal models. *Alcohol Res.* (2018) 39:77–86.
- Waddell J, Mooney SM. Choline and working memory training improve cognitive deficits caused by prenatal exposure to ethanol. *Nutrients*. (2017) 9:1080. doi: 10.3390/nu9101080
- 259. Shoji H, Hagihara H, Takao K, Hattori S, Miyakawa T. T-maze forced alternation and left-right discrimination tasks for assessing working and reference memory in mice. J Vis Exp. (2012) 2012:e3300. doi: 10.3791/ 3300
- Hunt PS, Jacobson SE, Torok EJ. Deficits in trace fear conditioning in a rat model of fetal alcohol exposure: dose-response and timing effects. *Alcohol.* (2009) 43:465–74. doi: 10.1016/j.alcohol.2009.08.004
- Leger M, Quiedeville A, Bouet V, Haelewyn B, Boulouard M, Schumann-Bard P, et al. Object recognition test in mice. *Nat Protoc.* (2013) 8:2531– 7. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2013.155
- 262. Patten AR, Fontaine CJ, Christie BR. A comparison of the different animal models of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders and their use in studying complex behaviors. *Front Pediatr.* (2014) 2:93. doi: 10.3389/fped.2014.00093
- 263. Hamilton GF, Hernandez IJ, Krebs CP, Bucko PJ, Rhodes JS. Neonatal alcohol exposure reduces number of parvalbumin-positive interneurons in the medial prefrontal cortex and impairs passive avoidance acquisition in mice deficits not rescued from exercise. *Neuroscience*. (2017) 352:52– 63. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2017.03.058
- Vorhees C V, Williams MT. Morris water maze: procedures for assessing spatial and related forms of learning and memory. *Nat Protoc.* (2006) 1:848–58. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2006.116
- 265. Woolfrey KM, Musisca NJ, Hunt PS, Burk JA. Early postnatal ethanol administration does not affect prepulse inhibition in rats. *Physiol Behav.* (2005) 84:747–52. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2005.03.003
- 266. Komada M, Takao K, Miyakawa T. Elevated plus maze for mice. J Vis Exp. (2008) 2008:1088. doi: 10.3791/1088
- 267. Yankelevitch-Yahav R, Franko M, Huly A, Doron R. The forced swim test as a model of depressive-like behavior. J Vis Exp. (2015) 2015:52587. doi: 10.3791/52587
- 268. Akers KG, Kushner SA, Leslie AT, Clarke L, van der Kooy D, Lerch JP, et al. Fetal alcohol exposure leads to abnormal olfactory bulb development and impaired odor discrimination in adult mice. *Mol Brain.* (2011) 4:29. doi: 10.1186/1756-6606-4-29
- 269. Lecuyer M, Laquerrière A, Bekri S, Lesueur C, Ramdani Y, Jégou S, et al. PLGF, a placental marker of fetal brain defects after in utero alcohol exposure. Acta Neuropathol Commun. (2017) 5:44. doi: 10.1186/s40478-017-0444-6
- 270. Gomez-Roig MD, Marchei E, Sabra S, Busardò FP, Mastrobattista L, Pichini S, et al. Maternal hair testing to disclose self-misreporting in drinking and smoking behavior during pregnancy. *Alcohol.* (2018) 67:1– 6. doi: 10.1016/j.alcohol.2017.08.010
- 271. Middaugh LD, Boggan WO. Postnatal growth deficits in prenatal ethanol-exposed mice: characteristics and critical periods. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (1991) 15:919–26. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.1991. tb05189.x
- 272. Tran TD, Cronise K, Marino MD, Jenkins WJ, Kelly SJ. Critical periods for the effects of alcohol exposure on brain weight, body weight, activity and investigation. *Behav Brain Res.* (2000) 116:99–110. doi: 10.1016/S0166-4328(00)00263-1
- 273. Haghighi Poodeh S, Salonurmi T, Nagy I, Koivunen P, Vuoristo J, Räsänen J, et al. Alcohol-induced premature permeability

in mouse placenta-yolk sac barriers *in vivo. Placenta.* (2012) 33:866–73. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2012.07.008

- 274. Atkinson AJ, Colburn WA, DeGruttola VG, DeMets DL, Downing GJ, Hoth DF, et al. Biomarkers and surrogate endpoints: preferred definitions and conceptual framework. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* (2001) 69:89– 95. doi: 10.1067/mcp.2001.113989
- 275. Datta S, Turner D, Singh R, Ruest LB, Pierce WM, Knudsen TB. Fetal alcohol syndrome (FAS) in C57BL/6 mice detected through proteomics screening of the amniotic fluid. *Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol.* (2008) 82:177–86. doi: 10.1002/bdra.20440
- 276. Bearer CF, Gould S, Emerson R, Kinnunen P, Cook CS. Fetal alcohol syndrome and fatty acid ethyl esters. *Pediatr Res.* (1992) 31:492– 5. doi: 10.1203/00006450-199205000-00017
- 277. Kulaga V, Caprara D, Iqbal U, Kapur B, Klein J, Reynolds J, et al. Fatty acid ethyl esters (FAEE); comparative accumulation in human and guinea pig hair as a biomarker for prenatal alcohol exposure. *Alcohol Alcohol.* (2006) 41:534–9. doi: 10.1093/alcalc/agl048
- Caprara DL, Brien JF, Iqbal U, Reynolds JN, Klein J, Koren G. A guinea pig model for the identification of in utero alcohol exposure using fatty acid ethyl esters in neonatal hair. *Pediatr Res.* (2005) 58:1158– 63. doi: 10.1203/01.pdr.0000185201.83801.ed
- 279. Sari Y, Hammad LA, Saleh MM, Rebec G V., Mechref Y. Alteration of selective neurotransmitters in fetal brains of prenatally alcohol-treated C57BL/6 mice: quantitative analysis using liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry. *Int J Dev Neurosci.* (2010) 28:263–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2010.01.004
- Maire SE, Cramer JA, West JR, Sohrabji F. Alcohol exposure during the first two trimesters equivalent alters granule cell number and neurotrophin expression in the developing rat olfactory bulb. *J Neurobiol.* (1999). 41:414–23. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-4695(19991115)41:3<414::AID-NEU9>3.0.CO;2-F
- 281. Haycock PC, Ramsay M. Exposure of mouse embryos to ethanol during preimplantation development: effect on DNA methylation in the H19 imprinting control region 1. *Biol Reprod.* (2009) 81:618– 27. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.108.074682
- 282. Govorko D, Bekdash RA, Zhang C, Sarkar DK. Male germline transmits fetal alcohol adverse effect on hypothalamic proopiomelanocortin gene across generations. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2012) 72:378–88. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.04.006
- Kim J-S, Shukla SD. Histone H3 modifications in rat hepatic stellate cells by ethanol. *Alcohol.* (2005) 40:367–72. doi: 10.1093/alcalc/agh170
- Pal-Bhadra M, Bhadra U, Jackson DE, Mamatha L, Park PH, Shukla SD. Distinct methylation patterns in histone H3 at Lys-4 and Lys-9 correlate with up- & down-regulation of genes by ethanol in hepatocytes. *Life Sci.* (2007) 81:979–87. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2007.07.030
- 285. Subbanna S, Nagre NN, Shivakumar M, Umapathy NS, Psychoyos D, Basavarajappa BS. Ethanol induced acetylation of histone at G9a exon1 and G9a-mediated histone H3 dimethylation leads to neurodegeneration in neonatal mice. *Neuroscience.* (2014) 258:422–32. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.11.043
- 286. Veazey KJ, Parnell SE, Miranda RC, Golding MC. Dose-dependent alcoholinduced alterations in chromatin structure persist beyond the window of exposure and correlate with fetal alcohol syndrome birth defects. *Epigenetics Chromatin.* (2015) 8:39. doi: 10.1186/s13072-015-0031-7
- 287. Balaraman S, Winzer-Serhan UH, Miranda RC. Opposing actions of ethanol and nicotine on microRNAs are mediated by nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in fetal cerebral cortical-derived neural progenitor cells. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (2012) 36:1669–77. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2012.01793.x
- 288. Wang L-L, Zhang Z, Li Q, Yang R, Pei X, Xu Y, et al. Ethanol exposure induces differential microRNA and target gene expression and teratogenic effects which can be suppressed by folic acid supplementation. *Hum Reprod.* (2009) 24:562–79. doi: 10.1093/humrep/den439
- 289. Tal TL, Franzosa JA, Tilton SC, Philbrick KA, Iwaniec UT, Turner RT, et al. MicroRNAs control neurobehavioral development and function in zebrafish. *FASEB J.* (2012) 26:1452–61. doi: 10.1096/fj.11-194464

- 290. Nunez YO, Truitt JM, Gorini G, Ponomareva ON, Blednov YA, Harris RA, et al. Positively correlated miRNA-mRNA regulatory networks in mouse frontal cortex during early stages of alcohol dependence. *BMC Genomics*. (2013) 14:725. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-14-725
- 291. Bager H, Christensen LP, Husby S, Bjerregaard L. Biomarkers for the detection of prenatal alcohol exposure: a review. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (2017) 41:251–61. doi: 10.1111/acer.13309
- 292. Andreu-Fernández V, Bastons-Compta A, Navarro-Tapia E, Sailer S, Garcia-Algar O. Serum concentrations of IGF-I/IGF-II as biomarkers of alcohol damage during foetal development and diagnostic markers of foetal alcohol syndrome. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:1562. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-38041-0
- 293. Silva-Peña D, García-Marchena N, Alén F, Araos P, Rivera P, Vargas A, et al. Alcohol-induced cognitive deficits are associated with decreased circulating levels of the neurotrophin BDNF in humans and rats. *Addict Biol.* (2019) 24:1019–33. doi: 10.1111/adb.12668
- 294. Carito V, Ceccanti M, Ferraguti G, Coccurello R, Ciafrè S, Tirassa P, et al. NGF and BDNF alterations by prenatal alcohol exposure. *Curr Neuropharmacol.* (2019) 17:308– 17. doi: 10.2174/1570159X15666170825101308
- 295. O'Leary-Moore SK, McMechan AP, Galloway MP, Hannigan JH. Neonatal alcohol-induced region-dependent changes in rat brain neurochemistry measured by high-resolution magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (2008) 32:1697–707. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2008.0 0747.x
- 296. Olney JW, Wozniak DF, Jevtovic-Todorovic V, Farber NB, Bittigau P, Ikonomidou C. Glutamate and GABA receptor dysfunction in the fetal alcohol syndrome. *Neurotox Res.* (2002) 4:315–25. doi: 10.1080/1029842021000010875
- 297. Chandrasekar R. Alcohol and NMDA receptor: current research and future direction. *Front Mol Neurosci.* (2013) 6:14. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2013.00014
- Chater-Diehl EJ, Laufer BI, Singh SM. Changes to histone modifications following prenatal alcohol exposure: an emerging picture. *Alcohol.* (2017) 60:41–52. doi: 10.1016/j.alcohol.2017.01.005
- 299. Bilotta J, Saszik S, Givin CM, Hardesty HR, Sutherland SE. Effects of embryonic exposure to ethanol on zebrafish visual function. *Neurotoxicol Teratol.* (2002) 24:759–66. doi: 10.1016/S0892-0362(02)00319-7
- 300. Parnell SE, O'Leary-Moore SK, Godin EA, Dehart DB, Johnson BW, Allan Johnson G, et al. Magnetic resonance microscopy defines ethanol-induced brain abnormalities in prenatal mice: effects of acute insult on gestational day 8. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. (2009) 33:1001–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2009.0 0921.x
- 301. Pierce DR, Differential West JR. deficits in regional growth brain induced by postnatal alcohol. Neurotoxicol (1987) 10.1016/0892-0362(87)90 Teratol. 9:129-41. doi: 089 - 4
- 302. Carter RJ, Morton J, Dunnett SB. Motor coordination and balance in rodents. In: Wiley A, Editor. *Current Protocols in Neuroscience*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley and Sons, Inc. (2001). p. 8.12. doi: 10.1002/0471142301.ns0812s15
- Brooks SP, Dunnett SB. Tests to assess motor phenotype in mice: a user's guide. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2009) 10:519–29. doi: 10.1038/ nrn2652

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Almeida, Andreu-Fernández, Navarro-Tapia, Aras-López, Serra-Delgado, Martínez, García-Algar and Gómez-Roig. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# **APPENDIX III**

# Other articles published during the development of this thesis

- Navarro-Tapia E, Almeida-Toledano L, Sebastiani G, Serra-Delgado M, García-Algar Ó, Andreu-Fernández V. Effects of Microbiota Imbalance in Anxiety and Eating Disorders: Probiotics as Novel Therapeutic Approaches. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2021 Feb 26;22(5):2351. doi: 10.3390/ijms22052351. PMID: 33652962; PMCID: PMC7956573.
- Navarro-Tapia E, Sebastiani G, Sailer S, Almeida Toledano L, Serra-Delgado M, García-Algar Ó, Andreu-Fernández V. Probiotic Supplementation During the Perinatal and Infant Period: Effects on Gut Dysbiosis and Disease. *Nutrients.* 2020 Jul 27;12(8):2243. doi: 10.3390/nu12082243. PMID: 32727119; PMCID: PMC7468726.
- Ribas-Prats T, Almeida L, Costa-Faidella J, Plana M, Corral MJ, Gómez-Roig MD, Escera C. The frequency-following response (FFR) to speech stimuli: A normative dataset in healthy newborns. *Hear Res.* 2019 Jan;371:28-39. doi: 10.1016/j.heares.2018.11.001. Epub 2018 Nov 9. PMID: 30448690.
- Fernández Arias M, Mazarico E, Gonzalez A, Muniesa M, Molinet C, Almeida L, Gómez Roig MD. Genetic risk assessment of thrombophilia in patients with adverse obstetric outcomes. *PLoS One.* 2019 Feb 27;14(2):e0211114. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0211114. PMID: 30811416; PMCID: PMC6392221.
- Sabra S, Malmqvist E, Almeida L, Gratacos E, Gomez Roig MD. Differential correlations between maternal hair levels of tobacco and alcohol with fetal growth restriction clinical subtypes. *Alcohol.* 2018 Aug;70:43-49. doi: 10.1016/j.alcohol.2018.01.001. Epub 2018 Jan 4. PMID: 29778069.
- Aras-López R, Almeida L, Andreu-Fernández V, Tovar J, Martínez L. Anti-oxidants correct disturbance of redox enzymes in the hearts of rat fetuses with congenital diaphragmatic hernia. *Pediatr Surg Int.* 2018 Mar;34(3):307-313. doi: 10.1007/s00383-017-4201-5. Epub 2017 Oct 27. PMID: 29079903.

 Cortes L, Almeida L, Sabra S, Muniesa M, Busardo FP, Garcia-Algar O, Gomez-Roig MD. Maternal Hair and Neonatal Meconium to Assess Gestational Consumption and Prenatal Exposure to Drugs of Abuse and Psychoactive Drugs. *Curr Pharm Biotechnol.* 2018;19(2):136-143. doi: 10.2174/1389201019666180405163612. PMID: 29621962